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About this report

The Finnair Group'’s mam field of business 1s the provision of air tran-
sport and travel services The purpose of the Annuat Report 15 to
measure and account for the financial, economuic, social and environme-
ntal performance of this enterprise, and to identify and explain the stra-
tegic business ramuficattons of this performance Shareholders, investors,
analysts, media, customers, employees, other mterested stakeholders and
the general public at large comprise the report’s intended audience

Finnair sees sustainability as a cntical and strategic aspect of business
performance, thus the Annual Report embeds matenal sustamnabihity
disclosures in its annual reporting framework The scope of the report
15 defined according to the Finnair Group's matenal activities tn 2014
across all its umits For more information on how materiality i1s deter-
mined, see the materiality and stakeholder matrix on pages 14-16
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We had three focus areasin 2014 the .ﬁn._ﬁ_oa &

&
of our cost-reduction program in cooperation with
our personnel, the practical implemeritation of our
commerctal strategy — for example, Emnr“w form of
product renewal intiatives — and restoring the

company’s profitability.

We achieved success in the first of these three objec-
tives we took significant strides E..WHM.& In2014

in developing our operations and §vethauling our
cost structure. In 2014, we also achigved — and even
shightly exceeded — the total costitéduction target of
200 million euros we set in 2011 mﬂﬁa_u By the end
of the year, we had accumulated 277 mullion euros

n annual cost savings compared to the cost level of
2010 The effect of our cost-reduction program will be
seen i full in 2015, with a further signtficant propor-
tion of the savings agreed with personnel to be real-
tsed from 2016 onwards We expect our untt costs
excluding fuel to continue to decrease 1n 2015

Iam particularly pleased that we were able to reach
cost saving agreements with all of our personnel
groups Cost-consciousness has become a part of
everythung we do, and 1t creates a solid foundation for
our work as we begin to pursue revenue growth Thus
puts us i a good position to work together to build
the Finnair of the future and strengthen Finnau's
culture. For this, | would like to express my warmest
thanks to our personnel, who have a strong comnut-
ment to Finnair

We also worked very hard to improve the services we
provide to our customers The most pronuncnt of our
product and service renewals, namely the SkyBistro
service on European flights, the Economy Comfort
product in long-haul traffic, and the full flat seats 1n

o

_w:m_:nm%ﬂ_&wy«:m—_u:_aﬁn avefall 38%.“»:

.dnn_u%_ w%.c:_. vmwww.._mm S(fm prou; Euéwﬁ
been able to mamtain ourfgperational quahity even

in a period of difficult costfreduction programs we
were the most punctual aitlinelin Europe in 2014, and
Finnaur was named Northern)Europe’s Best Auline for
the fifth consecutive tim Trax's World Airhne
Awards Our passenger Vglumes grew and our aircraft

load factors were tugherthzn]in the previous year.

We are also pleased to hay loped our reporting on
envuronmental responsibil e Carbon Disclosure
Project (CDP) awarded Einnaiga posttion on The A
List The CDP Climate Rerfetmance Leadershup Index
2014, for actions to reducelcarbon emissions and
mutigate the business niksloffchmate change. Finnair
15 the only airline awarded'an'A grade Our efforts in
the area of responsibility 1n 2014 were also recogrused
in January 2015 when Finnair became one of the first
two arrlines to be certified as a Stage 2 operator in the
1ATA (International ?nﬂﬂumvo_.xxﬂcn.muna Fnwi-
ronmental Assessment (IEnvA) program The system
15 designed to independently uhnwﬂ_ Improve an
atrline’s environmental management. Our aim s to
develop contmmously by impr ur operations in
terms of all of the vanous responsibility indtcators we
measure In September, we were thelonly airline to fly
to New York for the UN Climate Sdmput using a more
environmentally fnendly biofuel m that was
partly manufactured from recycled coolung o1l

Qur third objective, a profitable resultdwas one that we
did not achicve The full-year operational result, -36 5
mulhion euros, was a disappointment tojus at Finnair A
substantial factor contributing to the loss was a dechne
in turnaver by 4 8 per cent compared to the previous
year This dechine in revenue was maindy attributable




to a substantial decrease in unit revenues in passenger
and cargo traffic, particularly in the first half of the
year Further factors in the dechine were the contrac-
tion i the sales of Aurinkomatkat-Suntours, and the
loss of external turnover resulting from the restruc-
tunng of aviation services, such as the divestment of
Finncatering and the arport shops of Finnair Travel
Retail However, this trend appeared to take a turn for
the better in the fourth quarter, when our umt revenue
showed growth for the first time since the first quarter
of 2013

We can also be satisficd with the fact that our balance
sheet remains strong and our financial positton 1s good

I am optimistic about the future, although there 1s

still alot of uncertamty with regard to the demand for
passenger and cargo traffic, and competition 1n the
industry remains tight. Fuel prices have decreased
significantly, which 1s very good news for our industry
We expect our turnover 1n 2015 to be at the same level

asmn 2014, but the lower price of jet fuel and the full
cifects of the completed cost-reduction program wall
support Finnair’s financial performance in 2015

The year 2015 marks a new beginning for us we will
seek revenue growth through the product renewals
introduced in recent months as well as new services
for additional fees We wall continue to launch new
services 1n 2015 that we expect to increase revenue as
well as improve customer satisfaction

We will be the first European airline to roll out the
new Airbus A350 XWB aircraft in our long-haul
traffic The first scheduled A350 flight 1s planned

for late October 2015 The new arrcraft will offer

our passengers a next-generation travel expertence
whule facilitating the growth of our business we will
immediately obtain additional capacity in cargo and
passenger traffic, despite the fact that the first arrcraft
to be delivered are replacement investments The new
awrcraft wall also improve the customer experience In

Heading toward
growth and the
most modern
long-haul fleet in
Europe.

two years’ ime, we will have the most modern long-
haul fleet in Europe, comprised entirely of A330 and
A350aircraft This is a source of insptration to all of
us at Finnair

I hope that our good cooperation and dialogue with
our various stakeholders will continue 1n 2015, and I
thank you all for your trust in Finpair

Pekka Vauramo
CEO

B @pekkavau
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Highlights 2014

A year of significant reforms improved cost-competitivensss and aflowed ns to focns on core business as
we seek to grow revennes and improve profitability.

New routes, new frequendies

In 2014 Finnarr began operations to
Tromsg n Norway, and mncreased
winter flights to Fanesh tapland,
particlar to Kittda, tvalo and
Kuusamo, for more connections
between Asia and Lapland s letsure
destinations Fianarr also began
service to Kazan, Nizhny Novgorod and
Samara in the Russian Federation,
each being served three times a week
Finnair also opened a new direct
service to Miam

Cost savings program completed
Finnar completed its 200 midlion euro
cost savings program that 1t began in
August 2011 Finnair reached conclusi-
ve labour agreements with its various
employee groups, mcluding those
representing pilots and cabmn crew
which wiil allow Finnair together with
its employees to open a new chapter
and focus now on achieving grofitable
growth

Sostainable developments
Personnel, media, loyal customers and
corporate clients got a close ook at the
brand new Arbus A350 XWB aircraft,
which visited Helsiki on a route-proving
mission. The atrcraft has receved type
certification and wall begin service on
Finnair routes in October 2015,
consuning approximately 25 per cent
lass fuel over the araraft o will replace

Finnar used biofuel made from recydad
cookmg of on its flight to New York an
the day of the UN Climate Summit on
september 23 Together with partners m
the fuet supply cham, Finnair s currently
nvestigating the possibiity of estab-
ishing a biofuel hub at Helsinki Argort.

Finnair s the enty arfine globally named
tn the Carbon Disclosure Progect’s “A List™
of compamnes falang active measures to
reduce thewr carbon footpnnt. in the
beginnmg of 2015 Finnarr also became one
of the two airfines to be certified for Stage
2 [ErwA, the cauttmg-edge ermwonmental
managemant system for the anfine sector

Jolnt businesses grow and add
astomer valoe

In Apnl 2014, Finnair entered a joint
business with oneworfd partners
Britrsh Airways and lapan Airlines,
providing customers value with
expanded schedules and connections
between Japan and the EU US Arways’
merger with American Airfines meant
that it joined the Atlantec Joint
Business (wath Finnar, American
Airlines British Awrways and lberia) on
traffic between the EU and North
America - adding 28 transatlantic
routes to the jomi business

All but three Finnair widebody aircraft
= which are due to be retired from
service gradually - now feature full flat
seats in Business Class The cabin
retrofit of the long haul fleet was part
of an ongaing product upgrade drive.
Read more about the product
development in page 22.

oneworld expansion

The onewarld afliance, which Finnair
Jowned 1n 1999, completed a major
expanston drive with new members
SriLankan Awrfines, TAM Aurfines and
American Airlines’ merger partner US
Alrways. Fnnair § customers can now
eam and redeem Finnair Plss points
traveiling to nearly 1,000 destinations
around the globe 11 more than 150
countries.

Strong balance sheet

Finnair completed the sale and
leaseback of four Atrbus A330 aircraft
n its long-haul fleet, announced sate
and leasebacks of three Embraer 190
and six ATR 72 aircraft and also
completed the sale outright of three
Embraer 170 arcraft that had been
leased to and operated by other
airhines

LSG Sky Chefs exercised its option to
acquire Finnair s Frnncatering umit,
whife Finnair Travel Retail sold its
airport shop operations to World Duty
Free Group These arrangements
helped Finnair consohdate its financal
position, manage risk focus on core
bustness and set the stage for future
sustainable growth
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STRATEGY &
VALUE
CREATION

The fastest connections
between North-East Asia

and Europe.
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Strategy and
value creation

The cornerstone of Flnnalr’s strategy Is leveraging
its geographical competitive advantage and the
fastest connections in the growing market of alr
traffic between Asta and Enrope.

The creation of value for Finnair’s shareholders and
other stakeholders 1s based on the company's ability
to operate and grow its route network resource-
efhaiently and profitably, the way it treats custumers,
employees and other stakeholders and commuts them
to the company, and the abihity to take the environ-
mental and other impacts of operations inta consid-
eration Ultimately, critical factors in the creation of
value are the cffectiveness of the processes used at
Finnair, and the ability of Finnair's management to
develop the company and manage the nsks associated
with operations

Finnair’s network - the smoothest
comnections between Asia and Europe
Finnair's business model s that of a network carrer,
and it specialises in traffic between Asia and Europe
Helsinki’s geographical location provides Finnair with
a natural competitive advantage, as the most direct
air routes between many cities in Europe and Asia
happen to go through Finmish airspace Helsink s
therefore a natural transfer hub We also fly from the
Baluc region (Finland, Scandinawia, the Baltic coun-
tries and Russia) to North America

Our membership 1n the oneworld athance increases
the size of our network to nearly one thousand desti-
natigns around the wortld. Close cooperation with

alliance partners on North Amencan and Japa-

nese traffic m particular 15 a prionity for Finnair We
entered a joint business for flights between Europe
and North America in 2013 and a joint bustness for
flights between Europe and Japan in 2014 The joint
busincsscs benefit our customers in many ways,
sigmuficantly expanding the choice of destinations and
offering more flexible routing and pricing options
For airlines, joint businesses are a way to gain bene-
fits typically associated with consolrdation in a hughly
competitrve industry without actual mergers, acqui-
sitions, or equuty transfers between partners Alliance
partnerships and joint businesses have a sigmificant
impact on Finnair'’s revenue, and the expansion of the
alliance 1n 201415 estumated to have a positive impact
on the company’s long-term profitability

Finnair's abibty to operate its network safely and
punctually from one of the world’s northernmost air
traffic hubs 15 integral to value creation The transfer
of passengers, baggage and cargo to connecting fhights
15 ensured through efficient processes and coopera-
tron with airport authorities

Finnair's operational actwvittes are described in more
detail starting from page 28

The Fleet - A350 XWB alraraft

starts anewera

Finnair’s fleet strategy 1s critically important to both
revenue growth and cost management The common-
ality of an ali-Aurbus flect helps to optimize the usc
and tramning of flight personnel and maintenance

Deltw * Starting 2015

Helsinki’s
geographical
location is

a structural
competitive
advantage.
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In 2014, Finnair flew
9.6 million customers
and carried nearly
150,000 tonnes of
cargo.

way we serve our customers before, during and after
flights affects customer loyalty and the price they are
prepared to pay for our services

costs, while also factlitating efficient use of the fleet
and flexability 1 scheduled traffic

“The introduction of next-generation Airbus A350
XVWB awccraft to our scheduled traffic from October
2015 onward marks the beginning of a new era
for Franair We will be the first European awrhne to
operate these arcrafts Awrbus A350 XWB awcraft
will substantially improve travel comfort and enable
the company to offer new value-added services to
customers The improved fucl efficiency and lower
emsstons of the new aircraft will increase cost
competitiveness and meet the growing demand for
more environmentallv fnendly and sustatnable air
trafhe The new arrcraft will also mcrease Finnair's
passenger and cargo capacity in long-haul traffic

In recent years, we have developed our servicesin a
vaniety of ways to offer our customers an increasingly
enjoyable customer experience

These renewal efforts related to passenger and cargo
trafhc are described 1n more detail starting from page 21

We take pride in having committed
personnel
The airhine business is a labour-tntensive mdustry
and our success depends significantly on our ability
to commut our personnel to the company and recruit
ndustry professionals to achieve our goals Fhight
personnel and ground service employees play a
big role in operating our network and creating the
customer experience, but equally important to value
creation 15 the capacity of our experts to develop our
product, negotiate traffic rights and manage partner-

The Finnatr fleet and the Airbus A350 XWB aircraft
are described in more detail on pages 34 and 62

Designed for you - our customer promise
We pursue business and leisure travellers as well as
cargo customers in fast-growing Asian economies, shups
Finland and particularly those European cities that do
not have direct connections to Asia A major propor-
tion of the added value generated by our business
operations 1s created at the customer interface The

In 2013 and 2014, Finnair carried out complex nego-
tiations with various employee groups to reduce
personnel costs In 2014, we concluded impertant

Finnair’s mission, strategic
objectives and strengths

Finnalr's mission is:

« To offer the smoothest connections in the northern hemisphere via Helsinki
and the fastest and best netwark to the world 1n its home market
« Yo create value for shareholders by providing an attractve return on

investment

Finnatr's strategic objectives are to:

= Double Asian revenues by 2020 from the 2010 level

- Grow traffic via Helsinki by utilising Finland s geographic locaton
« Create shareholder value and be an attractive mvestment

Finnatr's strategic strengths are:

« Competitive advantage due 1o geographical location

« Excellent operational qualty and efficiency

= Top-class service - Northern Europe's best airling*

« Modern, fuel-efficient fleet

Goaed financing position for implementing future fleet nvestments

The quality of Helsinki Awport and its capacity to grow m dine with growth in

traffic demand

+

.

“ Source Skytrax World Awlne Awards report published i surmmer 2014
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savings agreements with our flight personnel, which
made us one of only a few network carners that have
reached agreements with all employee groups on
savings that substantally improve the company’s
financial position without industnal action

Finnawr's personnel, wellbeing at work and key
projects affeching personnel are described starting
from page 46

Environmental impacts

The airline business has many environmental impacts,
the most significant of which are carbon dioxade
emissions and noise The infrastructure requured by
arr traffic also places a load on the environment. At
the same time, the airline business benefits society by
providing connections and creating jobs

The most stgmficant way to reduce the environmental
impacts of flying 1s wvesting in next-generation
arrcraft, such as the Arbus A350 XWB In addition to
fleet mvestments, Finnair has improved fuel efficiency
through operatronal measures and by making better
use of infrastructure.

The environmental impacts of Finnair's operations are
described starting from page 36

Helsinki hub - a permanent geographical
competitive advantage

QOur home airpart plays an important role in the crea-
tion of value for customers and Finnish society A
substantial proportion of the value we create 15 denived
from the efficient operation of Helsinki Aurport.
Cambined with our own expertise, it ensures the punc-
tuahity of thghts, good customer service, and a relia-
bilitv rating of over 98 per cent for connecting flights

FINNAIR ANNUAL REPORT 2014 9




External factors influencing airlines

The airline business s cychical by nature and heavily
mfluenced by external factors Tymcally reveaues are high
during economic upswings and considerably lower during
periads of economic downturn For indivwedual airlines, the
yield also fluctuates based on the holiday and business
seasons

Awrlines must make dectsions on sigmficant fleet tnvestments
years betore price-and-quality conscrous traveflers make
their purchase decisions Awrcraft delivery times may take
years which means that airlines have to plan thew business
for the long term often at least 10 years ahead, especially in

N
Fuel price

(o Changes In consumer
preference, expectations, @

.../f,..aov purchasing patterns
and demographics
4

long-hau! traffic This mcludes, among other things a plan
for future destinations and netwark, the type of aircraft
required, and the regulattons they must comply with

It 15 often very difficult to foresee how the market will
change between the order and delivery of an aircraft With
the low margins in the airline business and the high capital
expenditure needed for operating an awrhne, 1t 15 crucial to
optimise all aspects of bustness operations to succeed 1tis
also crucial to build resilieace and fexibility for unexpected
changes n the market environment

Global economic cycles

a
3

Pt
=

Natural disasters, ¢

pandemics or other /A@

external shocks &°
¥

)%\ M —m]\ —
m w : Seasonal leisure and
Exchange rates ( business travel

The geographical location of our home airport gives
us a permanent competitive advantage compared

to Eurepean airports located more to the west and
south Helsinki's geographical location relatve to
nartheast Asia means that almost all of Finnair’s long-
haul routes can be operated as round trips within 24
hours This reduces travel time, improves scheduling
and enables a very hugh flect utihisation rate along
with a high capital efficiency Shorter fights also
mean lower fuel consumption and lower emissions

Finnair’s network strategy makes Helsinki Airport

an active hub of iternational air traftic and logistics
Finnair’s current route network and its future expan-
sion ensures that Finland will have more dwect fight
connections to other parts of the world than domestic
demand alone could support  This has a significant
impact on the travel opportunities of Finns and on
the Finrush business sector Aviation accounts for
almost 4 per cent of Finnish GDP®, and according to
an analysis conducted i autumn 2014 by ETLA, the
Research Institute of the Finmish Economy, Finnair

1s the 10th most sigmficant company for the Finnsh
economy ** One of Finnaur's strategic goals 1s to
contmue to grow ar traffic through Helsink) by lever-
aging Finland’s geographical location

* Oxtord Economucs “Econosmc Benehits from Arr Transport 1n
Fnland™ hip./fwww 12,2 0rg/policy/Documents/Benetits-of Aviation

Finland 2011 pdt
** ETLA Brief 268 hitp.//pub etla fI/ETLA susstin-Breef 28 pot

Management measures must ensure
competitiveness

Finnatr’s goal 1s to generate shareholder valee by
focusing on 1ts core business, improving its cost
competitiveness, and increasing revenue The most
important duty of Finnair's management 1s to ensure
a successful future for the company The policies,
guidelines and processes used at Finnair assist the
management in managing and developing opera-
tions The management 11 also responsible for 1den-
tifyang changes and risks in the operating environ-
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ment and making decisions to improve Finnair's
competitiveness

Finnair has undergone a significant structural change
In recent years to improve its compelitive position
This has shaped Finnair mto an airline that 1s focused
on 1its core business and has entered 1nto partnershups
for aviation support services These strategic partner-
shaps have allowed Finnair to simultaneously improve
the quality of its operations and, on the other hand,
achieve cost reductions important for 1ts competitive-
ness The structural changes and the successful imple-
mentation of a cost reduction program totalling 200
mullion euros between 2011 and 2014 have improved
Finnatr’s capacity to adapt to the changes in the
market, but the company must cotitinue to improve
its competitiveness

Finnair's inanuial performance 1s described starting
from page 57 and Finnair’s governance 1s described
starting from page 121

A changing operating environment

Based on ICAQ statistics and Airbus’ forecast,
revenue passenger kilometres have doubled every 15
years and will likely continue to do so * Airbus further
forecasts that air traffic between emerging Asia and
Western Europe will grow at an average rate of 4 0 per
cent annually between 2013 and 2033, and between
China and Western Europe at an average rate of 5 6
per cent annually over the same period This wall
provide Finnair with substantial opportunibies for
growth Today, approxamately 23 mullion people travel
annually between Finnair's current Asian and Euro-
pean destinations, and an estimated 45 per cent of

these are transfer passengers without direct connec-
tions to therr final destination ** Asian trafhic already
represents approximately half of Finnair’s passenger
traftic, and Japan 1s currently Finnair'’s second-largest
market after Finland In the future, the share of traffic
to and from Chuna 1s expected to grow

The airline industry 15 highly competitive, and with
the growth of the industry, the competitors have not
just changed, but also multiphed Finnair's compet:-
trve landscape can be roughly divided into two parts
short haul point-to-point traffic and Asian fong haul
transfer traffic In short haul point-to-pomnt trathe,
awrhines with the lowest cost structures typically have
the strongest competitive positions, and compe-
tition 1s mainly driven by price On the long haul
transfer traffic scenc, awrlines with the largest network
providing smoath and efficient end-to-end journeys
typically have the strongest positions

European network carniers, Finnair included, have
revised their operating methods and adjusted their
cost base in recent years 1n response to competi-
tion from low-cost airlines and airhines based in the
Middle East. Intense competition has led to mare
consohidation, albances and joint ventures in the
industry, with the aim of improving capacity disci-
pline and profitability

* Source- ICAQ Arbus Global Markes Forecast 2014

** Frgures are Finnawr s estimates The estimates are based on oneway
passengers and on MIDT data collected on the sales volumes of traves
agenctes and Finnawr s estimates of awkines sales through ther own
sales channels soch as websites Humbers reflect destination aites
rather than airports and exclude seasonal routes

Air traffic
doubles every
15 years.
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Megatrends affecting Finnair

Shift in economic and political focus

from the United States and Europe to
developing commtries

The gradual shift in economic and political focus from
the United States and Europe to developing coun-
tries, and Asia i particular, 15 the strongest of the
megatrends affecting the aviation industry Asian
corporations are becoming globahsed and their signifi-
cance n the world market 15 growmng  The rmiddle class
15 growing rapidly 1n many Asian countnes

Asian travel will increase, and competition will inten-
sify, as Asian airlines expand theiwr operations to
mtercontinental flights At the same tume, airlines
and governments will also have to negotiate for

more traffic rights Asian customers determine the
expected standard of quality for service and products,
and non-Asian airhnes must increase their under-
standing of Asian culture and customers

Urbanisation

Migration flows from rural areas to cities continue to
accelerate, particularly in China and other developing
countnes Especially in Asia, the number of cities
with more than five milhon inhabitants will grow, as
will the number of connections between such cities
New markets will be created for airlines as traffic
between these megacities grows Competition will
intensify as regional airhines begin to operate on these
routes

Technological progress, increase In

the significance of network connections

and digitalisation

Technological progress 1s leading to changes n
purchasing behaviour, the comparability of prices and
services online, and immediate feedback Consumers

want and expect network connections everywhere
they go Social media spreads news rapidly and
requires businesses to react quickly

Airlines must anticipate changes, adapt to them and
provide opportunities for buying, using services and
sending feedback online Consumers want network
access before, during and after their fhghts They
increasingly want digital entertainment services
during fights More advanced customer identifica-
tion wall also allow airlmes to offer taillored services
and a personalised customer experience

increasing significance of responsibility
Political decision-makers, consumers and other stake-
holders require businesses to operate more respon-
sibly and transparently Regulation and reporting
obhgations will increase, and businesses are required
to be more diligent in monitering the ethical dimen-
sions of their supply chains Consumers momitor the
responsibility of companies’ operations and give feed-
back on social media

The airline industry wall face stricter regulations

on emussions and nose, with increased regulation
resulting 1n added costs such as tax-lhke payments
Aurlines must increasmgly cooperate on issues related
to safety, emissions, noise and passenger rights

impact on the industry
Megatrend and Flonalr
The shift Ineconomic | - Traffic between Asia and
and political power to Europe grows
Asla

« Iniease competition
continues

« Increased importance
of understanding Astan
markets

New markets are created
Intenstfying competition
+ Increasing significance of

online services and network
connections

H

:

t« New opportunities for
i serving customers

- In¢rease in regulation and
reporting reguirements

= Increasing significance of
open communication

Renewal of the new generation
long-haul fleet from 2015 onwards

New Asian destinations
additional fhights

Increasing FInnair’'s
understanding of Aslan markets

Good stakeholder relations

Fastest route between Asia and
Eurgope

Developing online services

Developing mflight entertaimment
systems

Developing the service experience

Designed for You concept

Investments in a more
environmentally friendly and
efficient fleet and operations

Developing our operations
towards greater efficiency and
responsibility

Monitoring the supply chain

Participating (n jount
sustamability progects m the
industry

Developing our reporting and
stakehotder communications
related to responsibihity
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Key performance indicators

indleator (XP1) and target level ! Actions taken ln 2014 ! performance in 2014
ﬁ - =

| FIMANCIAL INDICATORS . sl L L -

i .

= Operational result at least 6% of revenye « Seeking additional revenue through
product and service develocpment

Read more on page 18 onward

X Operational result -1 6% of revenue

.
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- Optimisation of the fleet and route network

- Positive economic added value 1 excess of % of the cost of Read more on page 28 oaward

capital (WACC pre-tax)

X Negative operational resuil

+ Implementation of the cost reduction programs commenced
in 2011 and 2012
Read more on pages 49 and 60

X ROCE-65%

« Adjusted gearing no more than 140%
+ fleet financing arrangements carried out t 2014 to
marntain a strong balance sheet
Read more on page 62 :

+ To pay. on average, at least one-third of the earnings per
share as a2 divtdend during an economic cycle The aim s to
also take 1nto account the company's earnings trend and
outiook financial situation and capital needs for any given
perad

= Transfer to full Airbus fleet Read more on pages 34 and 62

= CASK (Cost per Avaslable Seat Kilometre) excluding fuel
decreases from 2013 level

- Increase i RASK (Revenue per Available Seat Kitpmetre) from
2013 level,

« X RASK declined by 2 2% compared to 2013
: Currency neutral RASK declined by 1 9% compared {o 2013

- /
| OTHER BUSINESS RIDICATORS ‘ 4o

L

+  Fuel consumption per available seat kilometre (ASK) wall
decrease

= Transfer to full Airbus fleet

¥ Fuel consumption / ASK decreased by 0 03% compared to 2013
Read more on pages 34 and 62

= Reducing emissions
Read more on page 39 :

¥ 0zemissions / ASK decreased by 0 03% compared to 2013

[

X NOxemissions / ASK increased by 3 0% compared to 2013

» Developing the product, service and network
to better meet customer reeds
Read more on page 22

+  Management programs and
training programs
Read more on page 55

«  Customer satisfaction, read more on page 27

- The 4D wellbeing at work index Read on page 47

« Detrease i abseaces due to siCkness X Absence rate due (o sickness was 4 6% in 2014, same as 1n 2013

ceemes's cmem 4 msemmee dapmammmesa
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Financial, soctal and environmental sustainability

ts ntegral to Finnair's overall business strategy and
operations We want to be responsible world citizen
and response to our stakeholder needs also from
the CR perspective We report annually on vanous

ty at Finnair

11t might not be relevant to even expect or pursue
drrect financial results from the CR actuvities,
however, stakeholder interest 1n responsibility may
be reflected i higher customer loyalty and better
cooperation with partners and other stakeholders

sustainability indtcators tn a consistent manner, based  Investing in corporate responsibility needs to be

on the GRI gwmdelines This helps us to meamingfully

measute our performance and, i business, what gets

measured, gets improved

Many aspects of sustainability are clearly important
to both our external stakeholders and our personnel.

kinked to the business goals and values — CR strategy
needs to coherent with these and important part of
the overall all company strategy

In recent years the notion "Shared value” has
emerged Tn many cases corporate responsibility does

The wellbeing and safety of passengers and employees  benefit many groups and goals at the same time A

are the tughest priorities in our materiality analysis/
questionnaire They are followed by fuel efficiency,
future competstiveness, environmental legisla-

tion, business continuity and cost efhciency Stake-
holders are also very interested in chimate change
and working conditions Lobbying, public policy and
noise pollution are Iittle bit less meaningful for both
stakeholders and management Nevertheless, even
these 1ssues are sigmificant pniontics for all and are

good example of a successful partnership that benefits
all parties concerned 1s the Unicef project launched

tn 2014, that enables the online-donation to Unicef
while booking the flight Thanks to a new product
developed n partnership with Amadeus, providing
this support 1s easier and thes important 1ssue can
achieve greater visibihity More information on this
project is on page 23

thus given due attention in Finnaur’s deciston-making ~ [n cooperation with our partners we always strive to

and communications

In addition to transparent communications and
reporting, it is important to make sustamabihty an
integral part of our product and the Finnair brand
Stakeholders need to be hstened when designing
the sustainability elements We must show that the
choices we make will be meaningfully reflected on
customers and other stakeholders Responsibility in

operations rarely leads directly to revenue Instead, it

justifies the company's growth and future operations
in the market, and is part of the reputation and nsk
management.

mnvolve vanous stakeholders and bundie and benefit
different parties of socicty 1n a larger scale. By downg
this we are able to create added value through sustain-
abibity activities We are calling for active dialogue
also in the future enabhing us also collect information
of the success and importance of our CR work

Kat1 lhamiiki
VP, Sustainable Development

G @Katihamak

4

Responsiveness to
stakeholders helps

us create added,
sustainable value.
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Materiality matrix
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~ r;@ and safety and bnbery
/.T@W
~
e /&Mﬁ‘\. e Employee safety e Ethical code
o
h=! S
Wu N Economic responsibility
— - -
- O ®
- ~ - e Strategic strengths and
M ~ ~ @ Future competitiveness eak
s - . e 05 o weaknesses
m A N\
o ~ h@N’ \ Busimess continuity e Economuc performance
T
P
2 2% 0¢ \
E Y, \ Business strategy and
- /\vo.e @ 1 Cost-cifictency e 1ts connection to corpo-
\% rate responsibih
N \ P ty
@ 0
v\ 4 \ Environmental responsibility
.00 .
\ M@ | Efhicient air trafhc
~ - 3 Fuel efficiency
~3 s, ! management
INOQ \ 1 Environmental
P
\% | | . legislation and . Energy
&N- | ] regulation
—_ Importance to amq."mﬁm_.:m__n "

FINNAIR ANNUAL REPORT 2014 15




Stakeholder engagement

How Finnair communicates and cooperates with stakeholders

Sabjects Channels

Castomers

Aviation sector

Authorities and
government

NGOs and companies with
sustainability approach

Suppliers

Media

General public

Surveys, research, written feedback, Finnair websites, social media, customer events Blue Wings
magazine, customer service encounters at every stage of the journey messages to Finnair Plus
customers

The travel experience, customer service 1ssues, product guality on time performance
emissions and norse reduction, safety, recycling. responsible tourism, chanty and
corporate responstbility projects via Finnair Plus

Occupational! health and welibeing at work, target setting, Code of Conduct
and ethical issues. changes to rmprove productivity, increasing trust, reducing
environmental impact on the job. career assistance for employees made redundant

Intraret, internal blogs theme weeks personnel events, 40 Wellbeing At Work survey
otcupational health unit performance dialogue sessions, discusstons with labour orgamisations,
Career Gate

Stock exchange bulletins of periodic and on-going information regarding financral development
including interim reports, financral statements, report of the Board of Drectors and Corporate

Governance Statement stock exchange bulletins, Annual General Meeting, investor, analyst and
media meetings and events, corporate webstte, Carbon Disclasure Project

Membership in IATA and AEA, membership in STLN for sustasnable tourssm oneworld alliance
member Joint Businesses cooperation with Finavia and other airport operators sector semnars
and working groups, manufacturers

Safety, enussions trading, air traffic management, supply chain responsibility, Dialogue with Frnmish and foreign authorities and governments, events and other cooperation with
economuc contributions of aviatson, tmpact of operations en environment and noise, Finmsh Consumer Agency, Flight Safety Autharity (TraF1), embasstes and other relevant Finnish
traffic contrntnty brofuels employee relattons and foreign actors

Market environment and competitive landscape, company s operations, goals,
strategy and financial posstion

Safety, emissions reduction, emissions trading, air traffic management, biofuel
supply chatn development, sustainable tourism, economic impact of sector

i m b d—————— ed—mrsasmma————oo e T T T T TPy Ry b gy gy rrerrnm——

1
1
]
+
H
+
.
+
1
3
.
.
M
2
.
.
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¥
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Cooperation with Finnish Asseciation for Nature Conservation, Baltec Sea Action Group UNICEF
Finnish Red Cross and other NGOs Member of the Carbon Disclosure Project Parinerships with
sustainable design firms such as Tikau, U6 and GlobeHope

Greenhouse gas emissions reduction, environmental remediation public health
measures, disaster relief, wildlife protection, common interest projects for
sustainabihity and development cooperation, supply chain responsibility

Centractual cooperatton, Finnatr procurement guidelines and Suppher Code of Conduct, extranet

Cooperation efferts to reduce emisstons and other environmental impacts,
monitoring of responsibility everywhere in the value chain

Press releases, press conferences visits by reporters, press trips, interviews, websites, media
desk, soctal meda Blie Wings magazine

Daily operations and irregularittes, company strategy and business, emissions
reduction, personnel refations, financial sustainability, economic contributions of
awviation, eihics, chantable cooperation projects, trends in traffic, biofuels, emission
trading, rorse impact of awatson on local economy and mobility

Communications via media websites e-mail and lectures, sotial media including blogs, Facebook
Twitter and Sina Welbo

Customer service, product quality, labour relatsons, economic contributions of
aviation, ethics, emissions reduction, presence sn local economies, charstable
cooperation projects, corporate Qtizenship

B L L B T e L R Sy S
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CUSTOMERS

Finnair is a service
company. We listen to
customers’ wishes.

GRI:
PR3, PRS, 501
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Active listening improves
the customer experience

In developing the customer expertence, Finnarr first
looks inward and bwilds on its mherent strengths

a convenient and compact hub, efficient and punc-
tual operations, a modern fleet, and professtonal and
knowledgeable employees But Finnair must also be
alert to external changes in the market and to larger
trends As a service company Finnair must meet
customer needs, and listen to customers very carefully
Customer satisfaction 1s one of our key measures

To meet the needs of customers, we sought to Q
e LeUSTOMEr

improve the product development process,

grate 1t within our marketing operations so that %gﬂﬁomo\.-aoamaﬁ@

market outreach activities are closely informed by the

real customer experience and vice versa We carrted Oom ° : & e 0‘.0

out a detailed survey of nearly 8,000 of our customers

in both Europe and Asia That resulted in several w
our key

product upgrades, which are outhned in the case on

page 22 3& *\anﬁ\.o&
New commercial strategy m:&mﬁwa HQ.-;-@ °

Apart from product development, we identified
several other areas for improvement tn our new
commercial plan, which we spent much of 2014
implementing Among other achivities this involved

+ Raising revenue management science to a new
standard with new tools and revised work-
flows

+ Introducing world-class business analytics tools
to support decision-making

+ Implementing a new capacity optimisation
process to fill more aircraft and drive sigmificant
extra revenue
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+ Creating an e-commerce plan and starting to
build Digital Finnair

+ Reviewing overbooking practices to optimise
revenue and drive up passenger load factors

Digital Finnair

The final plank in the new commeraal strategy 1s the
urgency with whuch the organisation 1s buitding Digital
Finnair This entails everything from being present and
helpful in soc1al media to increasing automation to
providing wireless Internet access on board

Finnair supports the goals of IATAs Fast Travel, an
automation program covermg check-in, baggage
drop, document check, boarding, fhght rebooking
and bag recoverv Finnair n fact 1s a Fast Travel Gold
atrhne (as designated by IATA) for its automated
processes for all of these activittes at Helsinks Airport
and manv outstabions, reducing queues at arports
and gnang customers more options for self-service
duning their journey

In 2014 Finnatr built on its automatic capabilities by
making mobile boarding passes (at all airports where
these are permutted, including Helsinki Asrport) alse
available in the Passbook of Apple 105 devices In
May Finnair and Finnish airport operator Finawia also
introduced self-service bag drop kiosks at Helsinks,
Oulu and Turku arrports These units allow customers
to tag and drop their checked baggage without assis-
tance, provided that they have checked in onbne or at
a self-service kiosk Of course, customers who require
assistance can still recerve personal service from the
regular baggage drop counters, which remain open as
usual

In social media, Finnair engages with customers

on various platforms { Twatter, Facebook, Pinterest,
YouTube, Sina Weibo} in six languages Englesh,
Finnush, Swedish, Chinese, Japanese and Korean The
company's objective with this dialog 1s to histen and
learn, improve brand awareness, support sales and -
last but certainly not least — answer customers’ ques-
tions Helping customers and solving problems 15
especially vital when customer’s travel plans change
or operations are subject to a disruptton During
summer 2014 Finnair gradually implemented chat
service both 1n Finnish and 1n English to support
customers while booking online on Finnair web

Another key component of Engital Finnar 15 the
mobule application launched late in the year for
Apple 105 devices — and rolling out on other mobile
platfortns tater — which aims to be the custom-

er’s personal digital assistant at every stage of their
Journey More information on this is detasled in the
case on page 22

Finally, in 2014 Finnair commutted to providing wire-
less Internet access (Wi-Fi) on board 1ts Aurbus A350
long-haul aircraft, whach enter service in the second
half of 2015 We are also studying very closely the
possibility of adding Wi-Fi capabulity to the rest of our
fleet 1n both long-haul and short-haul operations

onewartd completes historic wave

of expansion

The Finnair Plus program and the value it gener-

ates for customers has taken on new meaning, as
oneworld has grown significantly m membership and
provides Finnair Plus customers cven more benefits

In social media,
Finnair engages
with customers
in swx languages.

Revenue passenger kilometres
by trafficarea

Distribution of passenger revenue

% %

03 asa s1% T Asia 44%

B Europe 39% M Europe 43%

W North Attantic 6% W North Atlantic 5%
M Domestic 4% B Domestic 8%
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oneworld gives

Finnair Plus members

access to the route
networks of 15 world-

class airlines and

thewr affiliates.

and more opportunities to “earn and burn” points on
the route networks of 15 world-class arrhines and their
affihates

SriLankan Aurlines jomned the alhance 1n May,
completing a two-year wave of intense growth at
oneworld, which since Air Berlin's entrance in March
2012 has also seen the addition of Malaysia Airlines,
Qatar Airways, TAM Arrlines and American Airhnes’
merger partner US Airways The result 1s a combined
fleet 50 per cent larger thanin 2011 This amounts

to a substantial boost to Finnair’s network feed and a
quality customer expenence across 2 collection of the
leading airhnes from each global region

We also began codesharing with new oneworld
member SrtLankan Airlines to its hub in Colombo,

making the fast-growing tourism and leisure facthities
n St Lanka more available to Finns and Scandina-
vians

Joint businesses off to

agood start

Finnair has also taken steps to shore up rela-

tions within the alliance, delivering more value to
customers and creating more revenue synergies [n
April Finnarr successfully integrated into the Stbenian
Joint Business (S]B) with fellow oneworld members
Japan Arrlines and British Airways The S]B - an
agreement to share revenue and coordinate pricing
on traffic between Japan and Europe — makes Finnair
part of the largest player mn this market and trans-
forms our possibilities to grow in Japan This means
that on any itinerary between Japan and the EU (plus

Choose your own
adventure

Many of Finair's more purely tounist-ortented destinations in the
past were available enly as charters by tour operators selling package
tours, as in Finland that was the consumer preference However those
attitudes have been changing, and in 2614 Finnair began maving
many of its leisure destinations over to regularly scheduled service
The change also enables some of these holiday destinations to take
on more transfer passengers from Finnair's scheduled services,
particularly from Scandinavia, the Baltics and Russia

As a result, flight-only tickets to popular holidays destinations 1n Europe
hka the Canary Islands, Crete Cyprus Mallorca and Madewra as well as
Krabr and Phuket in Thailand and He Chi Minh City in Vietnam, are now
availlable to book on Finnair com or via travel agents

Finnair's tour operator subsidrary Aunnkomatkat (Suntours) continues
to offer full package tours, and other tour operators of course alse
remain free to book blocks of seats on these and all other Finnair
scheduled traffic This change merely puts the customer in charge,
free to design thetr own bespoke holiday or let a tour operator take
care of all the details for them
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Norway and Switzerland), Finnair sells jointly and
operates on a metal-neutral basis We treat all S]B
customers as if they were our own

2014 also marked a milestone for our ather jotnt busi-
ness, the Atlantic Joint Business (AJB) with Amenican
Axrhines, British Airways, Iberia and now US Airways,
which jomned after its merger with American Finnair's
new partner adds more than 50 destinations to the
oneworld and AJB maps, including new hubs in Phil-
adelphia, Charlotte and Phoenix From the Finland
point of sale, now even more North Amenican desti-
nations are only a one-stop itinerary away, providing
maore value stil to the customer proposition.

Finnawr
Cargo is one
of the first
carriers

to operate
with IATA’s
Pharma
certificate.

Cargo contributes to Asian growth

Finnarr Cargo i the Nordec region’s largest ar cargo carrier
transportmg more than 150,000 tonnes of freight and man annually
manly between Europe and Asia, with cargo logistics hubs in Helsmi
and Brussels as well as an extensive General Sales Agent network in
47 countnes

Most of Finnarr Cargo’s capacity 1s belly freight on passenger aircraft
The belly freight capacity will double in the corming years, with the
arrwval of Finnair's new Airbus A350 XWB arrcraft, which play a key
role also m the growth of Finnair's cargo business

The fast cargo connections offered by Finnair reach practicaily all
markets i Europe and are especially suited for high-value products,
such as high-tech products, time-sensitive components,
pharmaceuticals and pershables tn 2014 Finnair Cargo was
responsible for 19 per cent of revenue an Finnair's long-haul

passenger routes a proportion which has grown thanks to the
secondary Cargo hub in Brussels which has boosted cargo revenue
growth between Central Europe and Asia by 35 per cent since being
intreduced in Apnil 2013

Brussels 1s also important as a key delivery hub for pharmaceuticals
- a growth opportunity for Finnatr, as European pharmaceuticals such
as vacunes and biotech medicines become more in demand in China
and other Asian countries Finnair Cargo takes part in 1ATA's Center of
Exceflence for Independent Vahdators in Pharmaceutical Handling
programme (CEWV Pharma), and aims to receive 1ATA's Pharma
certificate in the first hatf of 2015 Pharmaceuticals are among the
mast delicate products transported as air carga, and it 1s essential to
ensure thetr transport in a standardised way, following strict
temperature control requirements
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Highlights in product development in 2014

Based on extensive customer research we implemented several product renewals for smoother air travel.

Fmnai has two travel classes,
Economy and Business, and this
division will prevail in the foture We
learned though that some of our
customers would hike to enjoy more
comfort w long haul Economy when
Busmness Class travelling 1s not an
cption We wanted to answer
customers needs and we created
Economy Comfort for long haul fights
The Economy Comfort starts at 45 EUR,
and includes four inches of extra
legroom, a better headrest, quality
headphones and a personal amenity
kst. The seats went on sale in October,
and so far revenue performance 1s tn
line with expectations

Sky Blstro

Finnair mtroduced a new buy-on-board
Sky Brstro offering i Economy class on
European routes 8y offermga
high-quality, mix-and-match selection
of warm meal opttons - bought on
board or tailored in advance {(Pre-order
meals) at finnair com - we aim to
increase customer satrsfaction by vast
selection of items and open an
umportant new revenue stream as well
Sky Bistro was introduced m November
and early feedback is encouraging

In December 2014 Finnair launched the
Finnair mobile app, which aims to be
the customer $ personal conclerge or
asststant along every step of their
Journey, providing personalised flight
information, upgrade offers and
Finnair Plus account services The app
was rolled out for 105 devices at the
end of 2014, and other platforms will
follow

Entertainment system
we refreshed the interface for
long-hav! in-flight entertainment
system with better navigation and
more content, mcluding magazines and
newspapers

Loonges

0On the ground, both Finnair lounges at
Hefsink) Arrport were also renovated
and expanded, with more than 40 per
ctent more lounge capacity in the
Scthengen-area founge and a new
Premium Lounge annex - reserved for
top tier Finnarr Plus carcholders and
oneworld equivalents only - adjoining
the Finnarr Lounge in the non-
Schengen area Both lounge
renovations were designed by dSign
vertt Kvi & Co

Fufl flat seats In Business Class

In 2014 Finnair completed the cabin
retrofit of its Jong haul fleet This means
that 12 of Finnair's 15 long-haul aircraft
now feature seats im Business Class that
convert to fully flat beds The remaining
three awcrafi without the new seating
arrangements are due to be retired from
service gradually
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Finnair and long-term partners

Long-term partnership and the option to donate points all year round give the best results

.

Online donations to benefit children
Finnair and UNICEF have cooperated
for 20 years, which makes UNICEF
Finnair's oldest partner The cooperat-
on entered a new phase in October
when the travel service information
system provider Amadeus added a
donation option to Finnair 5 online
booking engine When booking flitghts,
customers can now donate one five or
ten euros to the UNICEF Schools for
Asia Inibatve which aims to change
the lves of children through education
n 11 Asran countrres Donations are
accepted on afl of Finnair s 37 local
websites

The mireduction of the new donatton
method brings to an end the former
practice of collecting cash donations
for the Change for Good campaign on
year-end flights, but there are still
currency donation boxes in Finnair's
lounges at Helsinky Airport and
employee fzolities.

Friends of Children’s Hospitals
Finnair has worked with the Association
of Friends of the University Childrens
Hospitals smce 1995 Qver the years, the
partnership has imvolved Finnair
employees, as well as customers
donaung points

In 2013, we launched a trauma mattress
fundrassmg campargn at cur 90th
annmversary celebrabion. We promssed the
association that Fnair would match
empiovee donabons for trauma
mattresses. We kept our promise and the
trauma mattresses were donated i May

+

Punainen Risti

Red Cross

1n many past years, Finnair has
assisted the Finnesh Red Cross dunng
emergencies by donating its logistics
expertise and transport services
Finaair customers can also support this
partnership by donating points to the
Disaster Rehief Fund

//
-,

e
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Pink Ribbon

Finnasr has been a supporter of the
Cancer Society of Fnland s Pink Ribbon
campaign for four years Finnair's
customer service personnel pm pink
ribbons on their lapels for the month
of October We use the ribbons and our
commuznications to spread breast
cancer awareness and promote the
collection of donations for the Pink
Ribban fund We also arrange
information sesstons and campaign for
healthy hifestyles and habits tnternally
in the company

Over the course of several years of
coaperation, we have observed that
donations of ponts increase
substantially during the campaign
month Thke pink ribbons on Finnair
employees lapels are an effective
message to our custemers

Yikan - Design helps

Tikau s a Finnish company that works
together with Its sister orgamsation,
Tikau Share, in rural India to educate
and employ disadvantaged
communities with the aim of
empowering them and ending the cycle
of poverty One of Tikaw's operating
locations 15 a small village in the
Gdisha region The education and
assistance projects are aimed at
teaching the willagers to produce
handmade products that are in line
with the principles of sustainahle
development, thereby prowiding a
livelihood for themselves

Finnatr hetps Tikau with legisucs and
fundrarsing, and has donated items to
the willagers, including blankets that
are no longer used on Finnawr fights

Forestation project in Madagascar
Finnair's multi-year partnership with
the Finrish Association for Mature
Conservation s related to the
conservation of lakes, mires and rivers
as well as promoting biodiversity Most
recently Finnair and uts customers
supported the Manondroala forestation
project to expand ran forests in
Madagascar

Finnair chose to support this project
amed at promoting bodwersity
despite not operating flights to
Madagascar or nearby areas

Support for the Baltic Sea

The Baltic Sea Action Group 15 an
ndependent nonprofit foundation that
engages in concrete efforts to save the
world s most poltuted sea, the Baltic
Sea Finnaw has supported the
foundation in various ways over the
years, with customers points
donations to the foundation now
established as a permanent aspect of
the partnership
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Social indicators

501

Nature, scope and effectiveness of any programs and practices that
assess and manage the impacts of operations on communities,
inctuding entering, operating and exiting

As a company, Finnair 15 not deemed to have a significant direct impact
on local commumties outside Finland For this reason, no detailed
programs relating to the assessment and management of the impacts

of operations on local communities have been considered necessary
However, the impacts are monitored and assessed as part of the mom-
toring of the subcontracting chain and the Group’s ethical programs

In 2010, Finnair joined the international Sustainable Travel Leadershup
Network, which promotes sustainable tourism Finnair and the tour
operators and travel agencies belonging to it have signed the Helsink
Declaration, which aims to promote sustainable tounism

However, Finnair recogmises that the tourism 1ndustry has sigmficant
impacts on local communities around the world Of Finnair's subsidi-
artes, the tour operator Auninkomatkat-Suntours and the travel agency
Finland Travel Bureau Ltd, in particular, occupv a special position 1n
respect of their opportunities for influence in this field

Finland Travel Bureau supported tn a Car to Nepal movie
Finland Travel Bureau supported In a Car to Nepal — a Movie of Dreams,
which 15 Finland’s first-ever fully crowdfunded film production The
subject of the charity film 1s Juho, a man with a dream of a more equ-
table world Juho previously worked in Asia, where the poor living conds-
trons of the casteless people of Nepal left a strong imprint in lus muind

He wanted to find a way to help the casteless and decided to drive a car
to Nepal to bring back 5,000 pieces of jewellery made by the residents of
a women's safe house to be sold 1n Finland His desire to help grew mnto a

plan to drive a van to Nepal, and a chanty film to document the journey

Fundraising activities around the journey helped the In a Car to Nepal
team bunld two schools in Nepal and renovate a further three schools,
hure three teachers for one year, and raise more than EUR 70,000 1n
funds A company named Store of Hope was established for the purpose

of selling the jewellery, with the proceeds going to fund the operations of
safe houses for women and street children 1n Kathmandu

Aurinkomatkat-Suntours supports projects in holiday destinations
Aunnkomatkat-Suntours has various support recipients and projects at
its holiday destinations, which are described below in more detail They
allow Aurinkomatkat-Suntours to give its customers a concrete opportu-
tuty to support local residents

Helping low-income families In Langkawl

In Tangkawn, we supported the chartable orgamisation The Chanity Club
Langkawi. The organusatton supports the life of low-income families i Lang-
kawn The proceeds from batik bags and cookbooks sold by Aurinkomat-
kat-Suntours were used to directly suppart the organisabon’s activities

Dominican Republic, Puerto Plata: Donations to a school and
children's home

On our Rural life in the Dominican Republic excursion, we take people to
wisit a local school, among other places With the help of our customers,
we have donated arts and crafts supplies for use by the younger chil-
dren The older pupils have received rulers, pencil sharpeners and note-
pads as donations Our partner Out Back Safan supports the school we
visit on our excursion as well as the local family whose home we visit
Through our partner, we have also supported a children’s home m Puerto
Plata Casa Albergue de Martina 1s home to girls who have either been
orphaned or whose parents are not capable of taking care of them

India, Goa: Mother Teresa orphanage
We visit the Mother Teresa orphanage in Panap on our Namaste Hindu-
stan’ excursion

Cambodia: Tonle Sap school preject

For several years, we have worked with a local school, which we visit on
our Tonle Sap excursion The school’s pupils are from low-income fam-
lies With the help of our customers, we have donated items such as
school uniforms and various school supplies In addition to basic necessi-
ties, we have also given the school toys to the delight of the pupils

3
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Aurinkomatkat
gives its
customers

a concrete
opportunity to
support local
resiwdents.
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Morocco, Agadir: Donations to an orphanage
Our local partner Time Travel Morocco has delighted the chuldren at an
orphanage connected to the Hassan Il hospital in Agadir at Christmas
m 2013 and 2014 The children’s home was established at the hospital in
1967 It s currently home to 90 children aged 0-23 Some of the children
have developmental disabibiies Lions Club Tilila in Agadir began to look
after the orphanage 1n the 1990s and established the non-profit organi-
sation Tazzamne Before Christmas, Time Travel orgamised a celebration
for the children and Aurinkomathkat-Suntours played a part in spreading
Chnistmas cheer At our Independence Day celebration, we collected

' a voluntary coffee contnibution that was donated to the orphanage
Customers can also partictpate in helping the children by depositing
their left-over dirhams with a Time Travel representative at the airport,
with the money then donated to the orphanage

Thailand, Khao Lak: Donations of school supplies to a local school
In Khao Lak, our excursion takes us to Suttin Anusorn, a local school in
the vtainity of our holiday destination. Customers who go on the excur-
sion can bring school supphies to donate to the chuldren

Thatland, Phuket: Children’s Project

We work with our partner, the English-Tha1 company Siam Safar Nature
Tours, on a children’s project The project helps children from low-1n-
come rural families in schools and orphanages on the outskarts of Phuket
Customers who wish to help can bring along clean used clothing, toys,
notepads and other supplies suitable for children

Thailand, Pattaya and Hua Hin: All Around Asia

Durning their stay customers can donate clean clothes, shoes, toys and

other supplies to low-income residents The supplies can be given to the
i guide who delivers them to local temple All Around Asia distributes the
suppltes to those 1n need.

Vietnam, Nha Trang: Bringing joy to a tocal day-care centre

On our Nha Trang city tour, we visit a small local day-care centre that
takes care of children aged 3-6 We play games and sing songs with the
children. Qur customers can also donate colouring books, pens or other
supplies that they bring along In partnershup with its local represent-
ative, Auninkomatkat-Suntours has also purchased furniture for the
day-care centre

vietnam, Phan Thiet: Donatlons to an orphanage and old-age home
as well as a local school

On our Phan Thiet excursion, we visit a small state-owned orphanage
and old-age home that takes care of babies as well as elderly people who
have no farmily to look after them Our customers have the opportu-

nity to donate clothes and other supplies to the orphanage On antoher
excursion, we visit a small local school located in a nut growing region
The school has some 200 pupils from low-income farmilies On the visit,
our customers have the opportunity to donate school supphes, which the
teachers then distribute to those in need

Links (in Finnish):
http //www aurinkpmatkat.fi/

http /fwww smal fif (Helsinki Declaration)
http //www sustainabletravelinternational or

{an international cooperation network for sustainable travel in which
Finnaur 15 involved)

PR3

Type of product and service information required by procedures,
and information requirenents

Finnair's operations are regulated by numerous official regulations and inter-
national agreements For the customer, the most important product infar-
mation issues relate to the condittons of carnage and customer's nghts

Donations to
schools and
orphanages.

The duty to disclose relating to the conditions of carniage 1s based on the
Montreal Convention, and the content of the Convention has also been
codificd n official regulations Finnair's General Conditions of Carriage
are enclosed with travel and cargo documents, and are also available on
the company website The special conditions for package tours are based
on the EU Directive 90/314/EEC  The conditions relating to package
tours provided by Finnair are to be found in tour operators’ travel docu-
ments, travel brochures and websites

The arrline has a duty to commumcate the passenger's rights ifa
passenger 1s denaed access to a flight, the passenger’s fhght 1s cancelled
or the flight 1s delayed This duty 1s based on EC Regulation 261/2004 At
the same time, the arrline must inform customers of whom they can file
a complaint waith Finnair complies wath these regulations in its customer
service operalions
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A customer’s protection of pnivacy 1s prescribed by the Finnush Personal
Data Act 22 4 1999/523

Links:
Finnair's General Conditions of Carriage

ndittons-of

Finnair Notice on Passenger Rights
htt, www.finnair.com/go/documents/PDFs/Finnat-Notice-on-Passen

Rights-2012.pdf

Cargo guidelmes and conditions of carriage
htt

htt rinkomatk matkaehdot (Aurnkomatkat general
conditions of travel in Finnish)
oa-matkalle (FT8 information for travellers, in Finarsh)

Minmum Air Transport Passenger Rights when passengers are denred boarding
agamst their wall or a flight 1s cangelled or delayed

Finmsh Personal Data Act
h www finfex. fi/en/lakt

PRS

Practices related to customer satisfaction, induding resuits of
surveys measuring customer satisfaction

Finnair momtors the customer feedback 1t recewves and reports on the
feedback to the department concerned at least once per month In urgent
matters the feedback 1s forwarded immedately Especially in 2014,
customer feedback was monitored after new product launches and what
were our customer's reactions Based on feedback we have developed
customer experience at the airports and 1n the cabin, as well as develop-
ment areas has been the check-tn and lounge services, the cabin enter-
tainment and the serving in cabin Proactive customer compensation in
awrport service has also been developed further One of our man goals
remains 1mproving the overall customer experience based on feedback
Customer feedback 1s also important for the motivation of customer
service personnel

Finnair monitors customer satisfaction daily on its scheduled fhghts,
and the results are reported moenthly The customer satisfaction survey
covers afl of Finnair's scheduled traffic destinations and also part of the
scheduled traffic destinations operated by Flybe Customer satisfaction
1s monitored by means of a web-based survey sent to a random sample
of customers 1-7 days after their flight The survey’s key indicators arc
the general rating of the flight experience as well as ratings of vartous
elements such as booking, airport services and in-flight services On
Asan and Eurapean routes, Finnair also participates tn IATAs compet-
1tor monutoring surveys, which track the quality of service experienced
by the customer in comparison to the most important competitors

Overall, Finnair's customer satisfaction remains close to the level seen
in recent years, achueving the previously set target Of all customers
completing the survey 1n 2014, 77 per cent rated their experience
between 8 and 10 on a scale 1-10 (76 per cent in 2013) The strengths of
the service included efficient and smooth ground services and effective

77

of customers rated
their experience
between 8 and 10 on
a scale of 1 to 10.
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transfers at Helsinki-Vantaa Airport. Customers also appreciate Finnair's
cabin environments and friendly in-flight service Development areas
include in-fhght entertainment and meals

In 2014 Finnair launched a suite of product upgrades and a mobile apph-
cation as part of a larger drive to comprehensively renew the customer
expenience both on the ground and 1n the ar

On long-haul flights, product upgrades included the Economy Comlort
package, a new offering in the front of the Economy Class cabin featuring
at least four inches of extra legroom, comfy headrests, high-quality
headphones and personal amenity kits The meal service in long-

haul Economy Class was updated with an addihonal comphmentary
md-flight snack on day-time flights, a new wine selection and compli-

mentary sparkhng wine

Throughout both Business and Economy, the inflight entertainment
systemn has been redesigned with a fresher, more intwitive look and feel
and a greater selection of movies, TV shows, newspapers, magazines and

books

On short-haul fights in Economy Class, Finnair introduced Sky Bistro,

a wider mux-and-match selection of seasonal, lugh-quality foods and
beverages combtning the best tastes of Europe and Asia Meals can be
tailored 1n advance at Finnair com or bought onboard during the flight.
Skv Bistro, which 1s available on nearly all European flights, replaced the
comphmentary cold snack service that had been offered on European
flights lasting longer than two hours On all flights 1n all classes, coffee
and tea remain complimentary — as does Finnair's signature refreshment,
blueberry juice

Finnair's mobile appltcation, rolled out tnitially for Apple 1OS devices and
arriving on other mobile platforms later, 15 designed to be the customer’s
compamion throughout the customer journey, providing personalised,
up-to-the-munute flight information and storing the customer’s mobile
boarding passes The app can be used to check in, select seats, purchase
upgrades, receive relevant offers and check Finnair Plus point status

Other product developments included new seats in Business Class that
convert to fully flat beds on almost all longhaul aircraft, a sauna and new
shower suites at the Finnair Lounge at Helsinki Airport non-Schengen
area and the new Premuum Lounge, an exclusive lounge annex for Finnair
Plus Gold and Platinum members and other oneworld top uer customers
only Also the newly renovated Finnair Lounge at Helsinkt Aarport
Schengen area now offers more seating space, new shower suites and a
small play area for kads

Finnair's customer satisfaction surveys also cover the services of LSG Sky
Chefs Finland !n additton to customer satisfaction surveys at the group
level, Finnair’s subsidiaries also commussion thewr own customer satisfac-
tion surveys

Finnair's customer satisfaction with filght as a whole In 2014

Intercontinental Business Class
Intercontmental Economy Class
Europe Business Class

Europe £conomy Class

] ! I | ! '
0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% S0%
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OPERATIONS

Operational efficiency
serves our customers and
enahles our strategy.

GRi:
EN1, EN3, ENG, EN5, ENG, ENS, EN14,
EN16, EN19, EN20, EN22, EN23, EN26
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Practical excellence enables

network strategy

In a tight-margin business such as commercial avia-
tion, operational efficiency plays a key role man
arline s survaval and success Finnarr focuses on
Europe-Asia transfer traffic, flying around 97,000
fights per year, and operates the world's northern-
most hub for international transfer traffic  To be able
to run this operation successfully, we must focus
mtensively on operational efficiency and have in
place a world-class operating model, processes, tools,
metrics and competencies

Key operational performance indicators include Cost
per Avaitable Seat Kilometre (CASK), fuel burn/

CO3 emissions, arcraft utihsation, on time perfor-
mance, connection reltability and bags left behind (see
table) High performance in each of these areas makes
Finnair’s Asian strategy practucally feasible while also
driving cost-competitiveness Although Finnair already
15 one of the leading airlines based on operational
performance, we have chosen operational excellence as
one our key focus areas for future development.

Safety first

When developig flight operations the first and fore-
most consideration 1s always safety As the founda-
tion for the company’s and indeed the sector’s success
as a whole, safety and nisk prevention are built into
Finnair's operating culture, and numerous official
regulations bind the group’s activities, starting with
European Union OPS-1 regulations governing the
operation of commercial aircraft Additronally, asa
member of the International Air Transport Assoct-
ation {(1ATA)}, Finnair adheres to IATA Operational

Safety Audit requirements, which are to some extent
stricter than the European OPS regulattons Compl-
ance with regulations of all of the airline’s opera-
trons s monitored on a daily basis and ensured by an
annual audit, and possible deviations from require-
ments are designated for rapid correction

Although regulations create the framework for flight
safety, an effective arrline needs a comprehensive
safety culture IATA's Safety Management System
(SMS) methodology forms a framework within whach
also Finnawr builds, monitors and systematically
improves the different areas of safety

One of the most important elements in safety 1sa
functioning reporting culture Personnel — trads-
tionally pilots in partaicular but also other workers —
report the risks associated with their work and events
that occur The company applies a safety reporting
system in which reports on air safety, maintenance
safety, ground safety and cabin safety are produced

Reporting 1s widely encouraged, as the company
wants to collect information on any deviations or
exceptional situations A report made of a case that
was a “close call” can help to address the root cause
behind 1t and thus prevent stmilar situations i the
future Human ship-ups and errors are permtted, but
intentional violation of regulations 15 unacceptable
Finnair's entire safety phulosophy 1s based on the 1dea
that no single human error causes an accident, rather
safety mechanisms built into the system are able to
catch etrors and mitigate themr impact.

Safety is the
foundation for
the aviation
sector’s success.

Cost per avarlable seat kilometre (CASK

'

Fuel burn per seat :

Transfer reliability {In Helsink)) "

6 37 EUR

259 g/ASK
14 4 hiday
8 2 h/day

*On time performance = percentage of fhights that arrived at their
destinations within 15 minutes of the scheduted time
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Safety, reliability and fuel-efficiency

meet in flight planning

Flight planmng 1s one of the core functions of an arrhine, and its purpose 1S Lo create
for each operation a safe, relable and cost efficient fMight plan that meets the
requirements set by authoritres as well as company-specific requirements

Each fight 15 planned separately, and flight plans are delwered to the air navigation
service providers in all countries the Aight plan touches Pilots get the final
suggestion for the fight plan an hour before the scheduled departure, and the final
responsibihity for the plan s with the captain, who dectdes how much fuel 15 taken
on board, based on the flight plan and their own experience

Finnair uses the Lufthansa Systems Lide flight planning system The required data
for a flight plan mclude schedule, aircraft performance data, technrcal status of the
aircraft, weather condibions at ongin desbination alternative airports along the
route, and payload including passengers, luggage cargo and equipment. The route
15 planned taking mto account published arways, navigation costs himitations set
by high terrain, imitations set by fight permts, and officral aeronavtical
information including Notices to Airmen {NoTAM) The firght route and fight time to
each dessination vary day by day based on weather conditions and avadable
airspace In addition, the arrine can decude to avord certan airspace or airports for
operative or other reasons In 2014, Finnair made adjustments to its routes due to
the situation 1n eastern Ukraine

Planning of short-haul fights 1s automated at Finnair, and the fight dspatcher
oversees the system and interferes in the planning only in situatiens where, for
example, air control restrictions cause delays In long-haul fight planming the flight
drspatcher adjusts and optimises the plan, going through all guidance from
authortties related to the Hight Also, operation of tong-haul fisghts with twin enging
aircraft requires adhenng to ETOPS (Extended range Twin Operations)
requirements, which means that there must be clearly defined sutable alternative
airports along the route and sufficient fuel reserve to reach them safely in all
arcumstances even with a sigle engme in case of an engine fadure

Safety and reliability are factors en which Finnam ciever compromises But careful
fiight planning does also impact on fuel efficiency and emissions When Finnair flies
approximately 97 0C0 flights per year, even a seemingly small - say 100 euro -

improvement in fuel efficiency of a flight will be accumulated and have a clear
impact on fuel costs, which account for approximately one third of Finnarr s total
costs Also the impact on carbor dioxide emissions 1s significant for each extra ton
of jet fuel carned on a 10 hour long haul flight, approximately 350 kilograrms of jet
fuel 1s burned, resulting in carbon dioxide emissions of more than one ton The
target therefore 15 safe operation wth an optimal fue! level

Certain fuel buffers are built-in within the flight plan, which mcludes taxung fuel,
trip fuel, contingency fuel, fuel for alternative airports possible addibional fuel for
ETOPs requrements, and final reserve fuel

) Each extra ton of jet fuel
carried on a 10-hour

— flight burns about 350
kg of fuel.

Also navigation costs for flying over different countries contnibute to the costs, and
form a conssderable cost item for an arline  Navigation costs vary country by
country, and they are optimised along with fuel costs Finnair’s target at all times s
safe, relizble and economical operations taking into account all relevant factors
Fhe flight plan can be adjusted during the flight, if needed For long-hau! Mights
Finnarr 1s adopting a practice where a new calculation is created for each operation
during the flight, to account for the latest weather information and to ensure an
optimal flight
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Varnous protection mechamsms in the company's
operating systems are designed with the key objec-
tive of stopping the advance of a possibly damaging
course of events and the matenalisation of risk

According to Just Culture pnnciples, those making
reports suffer no consequences on the basis of safety
reporting, because the aim 15 to learn from events

and further develap safety processes A safety report
cannot, however, be used to wash one’s hands of safety
violations - intentional violations are unacceptable.

At Finnar all safety reports are interpreted and grven
a risk classification according to the seriousness of
the event. Events that seriously jeopardise safety are
rare and almost without exception a separate safety
tnvestigation is launched in respect of them A safety
mvestigation may be carnied out by the authority
concerned, such as the Acaident Investigation Board
of Finland Even if authonties decide not to carry out
an vestigation, Finnair performs an mternal safety
investigation [n cascs related to flying, the safety
investigator 1s always an experienced pilot specially
tramned in the subject The safety investigator (or
mvestigators) always carries out the inveshgation
independently and the company’s management has
nho opportunity to influence the course of the invest-
gation or its results

Another key element tn our operations is manage-
ment of operatronal risks Finnarr follows reported
informatien, signals and notices from Finnish and
foreign authonties, and information from aircraft
manufacturers We also actively investigate events
in the aviation industry that we see would be even
remotely possible in our own operating environment
Possible nisks are evaluated from the Finnair point

of view, and when necessary, Finnair makes adjust-
ments to 1ts own operating procedures based on the
risk analysis

Fue] efficiency and a modem fleet

A commitment to safety and comfort entails more
than regulations, process and culture, it 15 also
embodied in a modern, energy and cost-efficient
fleet Arhines that take enviruonmental matters sen-
ously want to operate young fleet representing the
lates aircaft genereation The avereage age of Finnair
fleet was 10 2 at the end of 2014, close to the IATA
overall average of 109 years The average age of the
fleet operated by Finnair will decrease considerably
in 2015 with the arrival of new Airbus A350 XWB
arrcrafts

In the first half of 2014 Finnair made important
progress toward the twin goals of cost-competitive-
ness and greener operations when 1t retired the last of
its Boeing 757 aircraft and replaced them with Airbus
A321 arrcraft equipped with new, fuel-saving Sharklet
wing tip devices The first deliveries of these aircraft
took place in 2013 The A321 Sharklet has the lowest
fuel burn, operating cost, emissions and noise footprint
mitsclass It 1s more comfortable for passengers and
about 7 per cent more fuel-effictent per seat than the
Boeing 757 The new aircraft enable more flexibitity
and interoperability on European routes, drving up
arrcraft utihisation and improving returns on the flect
mvestment The new aircraft also complete Finnair’s
shuft to all-Airbus operattons The commonality and
simplified maintenance regime of an all- Aarbus fleet
further helps achieve excellence in on-time perfor-
mance, connection reliability and other operational
KPlIs — all of which are cructal as we focus on network
traffic through Helsinki in line with our strategy

Transfer
reliability
A o' exceeded

98,

for 2014.

Jet fuel consumption Direct CO, emissions in passenger traffic
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Recycling of aircraft

when an aircraft & removed from our Reet there are usually clear alternatives available for its next phase Typically it can
be returned to the lessor and re-leased or sold to another airline, or it can be converted to freighter service But when it is
finally time for an aircraft to retire from the skies the asrcraft 1s dismantted and recycled The majority of materials and
dewvices n an aircraft can be recovered, reused or recycled According to AFRA (Aircraft Fleet Recyching Assotiation), 80-85
per cent of an aircraft s currently recycled, and AFRA aims at increasing this number to 90 percent by the end of 2016

Aircraft used for testing or .
converted to freighter service
Aircraft returned to tessor / sold
or re-teased to another airline
i ’
———— . i

Alrcraft no longer flies

" SBddD,
.1 T
1) Re-used
e.g. kitchen equipment, seats or windows
3) safely disposed of /\r
e g fuels, oils, electrical wires, 2) Recycled

composite components e g alumimum parts for
E ma beverage cans

Even more sigmificantly, however, in 2015 Finnair

will receive its first Airbus A350 XWB arrcraft, a
completely new arrcraft type of which Finnair will

be the European launch customer Around 25 per
cent more fuel efficient than the A340 acrcraft it

15 set to replace, the A350 XVWB will also boost
passenger and cargo capacity while raising the bar
for passenger comfort After exhaustive testing, the
arrcraft has acquired EASA and FAA type certifica-
tion 1n November 2014 and Finnair aneworld alh-
ance partner Qatar Airways had a commercial launch
of the aicraft type in January 2015 Finnair 1s currently
focusing on preparing to take delivery of the first of
19 A350s Operations will begin in the second half of
2015 {see more on page 34}

Partners in quality

To ensure swift turnarounds of aircraft and smooth
connections, Finnair personnel work round the cleck
looking after the status of all aircraft and customers
In 2014 Finnair renewed its Operations Control
Centre at Helsinki Airport, combining 1n one large
transparent space the Network Control Centre, Flight
Planning Centre, Disruption Management and Fhght
Support Office, Defect Control and IT functions The
goal was to improve cooperation, quality and cost-ef-
fectiveness The renewed OCC 1s Finnair’s true nerve
centre, focused on ensuring smoath operations for
Finnair custemers every day and mght of the year

Several external partners and stakeholders also play a
role in smooth operations Well-functioning working
relationships with the Finnish Border Guard and
Finavia, the operator of Helsinki Airport which guar-
antees a miumum connectton time of 35 minutes,
also keep our passengers flowing through the airport

Strategic vendors play a key role in Finnair'’s opera-
tional quality as well Finnair has now expenenced
two full years of operations with eutsourced apron,
catering, and engine and component maintenance
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Finnair
operates around

97,000

flights Eﬁ. year.

services — functions which previously had been
performed for Finnair in house In choosing world-
class partners for these functions — Swissport, LSG
Sky Chefs and SR Techmics respectively — Finnair has
increased quality and achieved record levels of oper-
ational performance while reducing costs at the same
time

The awrline has achieved a sitnular result with its
*thin route” Embraer and ATR flight operations —
about one third of its European traffic — which are
handled by strategic partner Flybe Finland, the oper-
atronal subsidiary of Flybe Nordic, the Flybe-Fin-

narr joint venture that the two airhnes established in
2011 Finrush Competition and Consumer Authonty
approved the sale of Flybe UK Ltd s 60 per cent
ownership of Flybe Nordic to StaffPoint Holding Ltd
and G W Schlberg I td in January 2015 The transac-
t1on 15 1n process to be finalised and the flights oper-
ated by Flybe Finland continue normally Finnair and
the new owners will evaluate different optrons to
cost efficient reglonal flying Regronal feeder traffic
15 important to Finnair long haul tratfic It enables to
have both extensive domestic and European network

Finnair's operational model in which it works in
cooperation with strategic supplers is not without
nisk In the previous era with most operations in
house, Finnair largely had “no one to blame but itself”
n the event of a significant disruption or opera-
tional difficulty Now, however, if a key vendor m our
wider ecosystem 1s facing operational difficulties for
whatever reason, those difficulties are likely to be

felt by Finnair as well, which then must take ultimate
responsibility This risk 1s mitigated to a large extent
by close cooperation, coordination and performance
review with mission-cntical partners, and by the fact
that whule key partners each excel in different core
competences, they all share the same ulumate busi-
ness objective of serving passengers with a quality air
travel expenience

When disruptions do occur, Finnair works to ensure
that the least inconveruence is felt for the greatest
number of passengers in the network, with a
particular prionty on transfer passengers This world
provides precious few guarantees, but with the track
records established by Finnair and other key partners,
passengers can feel reasonably confident that if they
are transferning through Helsink, they can counton a
safe, hassle-free and pleasant air travel experience On
many days the transfer connection rate 1s 100 per cent
— for the whole year, more than 98 per cent

Improving safety and
reducing effluents from
deicing and anti-icing

Whenever there 15 precipitation at freezing or near-freezing
temperatures, awrlines deice and anti-ice aircraft to ensure safe
operation Deicing removes any contaminants from the surfaces of
the awrcraft afterward, the anti-icing process covers these surfaces
once again with a protectve flnd that keeps the arcraft free of
contaminates

buring the most recent winter season (2014-2015) Finnair tested and
began implementing important changes to its deicing and ant-icing
process Developed by the Finnish firm Vasala, the CheckTime
decision-support system adopted by Finnar uses precision weather
measurement eguipment and real-time environmental data to provide
dynamic information to the pilot in the cockpit an the state of the
deicing and anti-icing Auids on the arcraft

The information, updated once per minute removes guesswork and
eliminates the need to consult holdover timetables to determine how
long aircraft surtaces are sufftciently protected aganst cing before a
safe departure The new process widens safety margins, improves
operational efficiency and reduces unnecessary chemical use
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Preparing for A350 XWB operations

The first A350
XWB will join
the fleet in
autumn 2015.

Finarr 15 one of the very first customers - and the first customer i Europe - of
the next-generatton Arbus A350 XWB, a new aircraft type that rarses the bar for
environmental performance and passenger comfort and represents a step-change
n long-haul operating economics

As the fargest fleet investment in Finnaw s history, 19 A350 XWB are on order The
aircaft 1s set to be the backbone of Finnair s long-haul fleet for years to come

Given this profound strategic importance, Finnair has been focusing on ensuring
that 1t takes delvery of each aircraft in an optimal way with seamless mtegration
nto the flight network This entails rot just plenty of traming for pilots, cabin crew
and other personnel but a thorough review cof the traffic plan, all ground handling
procedures, IT and data requirements, maimtenance schedules and needs.
regulatory matters and airport infrastructure

The umique demands of the A350 XWE an the turnaround process, which are at the
centre of Finnair's network sirategy of smooth connections via Helsinkg, have been
mapped n detail The aircraft's airframe s made of more than 50 per cent
composite material, which necessitates many changes in how aircraft are handled
and how apron services are performed By careful preparation for the transition,
Finnatr ensures a smooth introduction of the new aircraft «nto the Finnair network

Getting ready to operate a completely new wide-body aircraft type involves many
funcirons and hundreds of highly skilled personnel But when the first Finnair A350
XWBs arrive in the second half of 2015, we will be prepared

more capacity, or
approximately

40 additional seats
per aircraft.
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The World of Finnair

Checkin
via Intermet
e
(g
Finnair offers R e 14
customers several
optons for chedking in
= Check-1n kiosk
« Baggage drop

by the check-n kiosks

when Finnair Cargo manmrses aircraft
payload we can fly with fuller planes,
which reduces emissiens per tonne of
transported goods.

®

Thanks to waste management agreement made m 2014,
Finnair s able to reutilise all cabin waste, meaning st
was either reused as matersal or incinerated for use as
energy Plastic and glass botties from cabin are recycled

®
®

Finnawr's Operations Control Center works 24 hours a day to
ensyre accurate and smooth flight operations

We seek ways to reduce heat, electncity and water constimption
nour offices We also sort bwa-, paper and energy waste for

®

Employee well-being and work capacity are monitored by Finnair
Health Services, which 1s also responsible for providing awiation
medical services and regular check-ups for fiying personnel

collectson and recyding. L
| S, L
DA —
Finnaw aircraft land with a
Continuows Descent Approach
Checkin e (CDAYwhenever possible CDA
via text message landings reduce noise, fuel 1k
\h m-? . m 2 consumption and emisstons r J
-/ii-l\l‘\- e SR

]

Well-maintained and clean engines consume less fuel
and emit fewer greenhouse gases Finnair

Technical Operations works under an environmental
permit and aims to reduce the environmental impact
from, tor example, the use of chemicals tn aircraft

maintenance
»

Finnawr has an ambitious target to reduce
the use of detcing and anti-iang effluents by
40% by 2016

When 1kg of fuel s burned, 3 15 kg of (02 »s discharged into the atmosphere Greenhouse gas envssions

are by far an airfme’s largest environmental impact. Finnair
tmproves fuel efficency and reduces emussions

by technological, operational, infrastructural and economic means.
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Environmental
indicators 2014

EN1

Materials used by weight or volume

The emphasts of Finnair's use of materials 1s mamly on transport fuels,
particularly jet fuel In this report, fuels will be treated mainly as energy
and the consumption of fuels 1s reported 1n section EN3 In addition to
flight operations and fuel burn, material flows that are signuficant from
our perspective are created in Finnair's subcontractor LSG Sky Chefs
Finland as well as the Finnair subsidiaries Finnatr Technical Services and
Finnair Cargo

Meal services for Finnair flights from Helsink) are supplied by Finnair's
partner LSG Sky Chefs Finland As one of Finland's largest kitchens,

LSG Sky Chefs represents the majonity of the matenal consumption in
Finnair's supply chain The raw materals used 1n Catering consist mainly
of foodstufls and the materials required for packaging them. Most of the
catering materials used are renewable.

Finnarr continuously develops its service concepts In 2014, Business
Class customers were served meals designed by Pekka Terdva and Tom:
Bjiirck, two of Finland’s most renowned chefs Terdva's meals for Finnair
use Finnish nature as the starting point and primanly feature Finnish
game and fish as the main ingredients As part of the development of
service concepts, Finnair introduced a paid Sky Bistro concept onits
European flights in November The Sky Bistro replaced free snack and
beverage service The early signs indicate that Sky Bistro will contribute
to reducing the amount of waste gencrated on flights

In Finnair Cargo, the majonty of matenal consumption 1s related to the
storage of cargo as well as preparing and protecting cargo for transporta-
tion Cargo to be transported 15 weather-protected using plastic, because
the loading and unloading of awrcraft and the transport of cargo between
the terminal and the aircraft takes place outside

Finnair’s Procurement Services department increased 1ts use of elnvoicing
m 2014, with approximately 70 per cent of invoricing during the year done 0
electronscally and only 30 per cent by PDF attachments or paper mvoices &

of invoicing

Aurcraft de-1cing 15 a significant area of material use in Finnawr's oper-
atrons In cold weather, ice and frost form on the fuselage and wings of
arrcraft as well as falling snow These must be removed before take-off for
flight safety reasons A muxture of propylene glycol (hereafter referred to as
glycol) and hot water 1s used for de-1cing In 2014, the total consumption
of glycol was approximately one milhon hitres, and the water mixed with
glvcol amounted to approximately 1.5 mallion litres The primary reason
for the decrease n glycol consumption 1n 2014 compared to the previous
year was the exceptionally nuld and relatively snowless wanter Combined
ramnfall and snowfall was close to normal, but the majonty of it fell as ramn
rather than snow, which meant that de-1cing was not necessary The glycol N
consumption figure includes afl glycol purchased by the company Some of \
the total amount was used for de-1cing awrcraft operated by other airhnes N\
More informatton on de-icing agents 1s given in sectrion EN21

is done
electronically.

The early signs
indicate that
_ Sky Bistro will
contribute to
reducing the
amount of

The spare parts and components needed for the mamtenance of arcraft was H& ene Qogﬂﬁaﬁ

are to a large extent reparrable In hne with industry practice, asrcraft " on m % }8
equipment and components are repaired whenever safety considerations N *

and official regulations allow 1t, because the components are very expen- ~

sive This means that the hfecycle of aircraft components is typically long -
The amounts of components and spare parts are not reported, however,

because no uruversal or meaningful comparable data are available on them

Finnair Technucal Services’ most important environmental impacts relate
to the use of spare parts and chemicals Due to the use of chemicals,
Technical Services has an environmental permat In 2014, the operations
of Finnair Technical Services were again scaled back considerably, which
was reflected in a substantial decrease in chemucals consumption
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Plastic : ;
Paper (notoftic) i R
Cardoard i T3 Py
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Boad . U S S S Paper usage
Loading pallets twood) L b e decreased by
Office paper (reams) , : 27 29 : ' -
Propylencglycdl i T T "
Foodpurchasests 1 230 S A .w “&
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* This figure does not include metals used by Finnair Technical Services, because the statistics system used for metal raw matenial consumed in Technical Services
cannot provide comparable data Finnair Techniczl Services does not marufacture products, however, so as a user of raw matenals it 15 not a significant player on an
ndusinal scate

**The decrease in the figure for food purchases is due to reporting water, juice and dairy products separately as litres, unlike in previous years.

Finnair Technical Services’ use of chemicals 2010-2014, in toanes T hﬂo.zs:aﬁ.s. @.h “
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EN3

Direct energy consumption by primary energy source

Finnaur’s primary energy consumption consists of the use of transport
fuels Aviation is very energy-intensive and Finnaur's largest environmental
load anses from flying and particularly from the use of fossi jet fuel

1n 2014, Finnair's total consumption of jet fuel decreased by nearly 7

milhon kilograms, or approximately one per cent, compared to the
prevtous year

Fianair's primary esergy consumption 2012-2014

Jet fuel 2014 . 2013 2012
Jet fuel (Jet A-1), 735,060 | 741,883 ; 785.176
1,000 kg : :
wwn T aaami soams2i 9445665
@ U namesti 32129469, 34004395
Change®s P 09, s5i as
Groundvedes 77
Petrol, 1,000 | : 9 10} 21
s e e e et
Changess . a2, s24. 252
biesel,Looot  + 3 m: 7
uwh T T T T m
© 1376 1,483 | 2771
.%_m.... ..... T T T T aes T eia
sl Taeer

Change®

qo_n_:-.

MWh ! 8,843,314:  B925455: 9,449,308
o T T Tmen . szuanesr.  3a017,509
Changes . 08 &8 2

In 2014, Finnair’s ground vehicles consumed shightly less of fuel as in the
previous year

In addition to Finnair’s fleet's energy and fuel consumption, the compa-
ny's energy balance sheet also includes the transportation capacity that
Finnair Cargo purchases from other companies In 2014, transport of the
cargo entrusted to Finnair Cargo by other arrhines required 24,517 tonnes
of jet fuel in total Thus 15 equal to approxasmately 1,057,916 G] The amount
inchudes cargo fights that were operated solely due to Finnair Cargo

Fuel consumption and fuel efficiency of Finnalr atreraft
2009-2014

. 2014% 2013: 2012: Z011: 2010 2000
Consumpuon, § 735,060 | 741,883 § 785,176 800,449 | 704,885 ] 712,487
tonnes ; : : i : i
g/RPx* ! 32 322! 338 363° 31! 36
g/ASK* P /Y 59! N@am 26 mm 27| 273
g/RTK ; 267 27107 2812 2971% 283: 3135
2/ATK !o178.7 178 1822 1837: 1847 1837
Passenger and payload traffic fuel efficlency 2010-2014
tuelXg/L0ORTK fuel kg/100A5K
fued Iz I00ATK fuel kg/100PK
2 40
n— T 37 35
b} 5 30
x 355 25
» 20
2 15
0 10
B ———— ver .
% 0
10 1 12 13 14
Whuelkg/100RPK* BB fuel Kg/00ASK® 8 fuel kg/IOORTK W fuel kg/100ATK

e -

/

\ Finnair’s total
" consumption of
Jet fuel decreased

by nearly

~

~. million kg.

* Fuel consumption adjusted to
passenger traffic

RPX = revenue passenger kilometres
ASK = available seat kilometres

RTK = revenue tonne kilometres, t e
capacity use according to payload
weight

ATK = available tonne kilometres, t e
capacity according to payload weight

RPK and ASK describe passenger
traffic performance and RTK and ATK
describe performance according to
payload capacity

{passengers + baggage + cargo)
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EN4

Indirect energy consumption by primary source

In 2014, Finnair's indirect energy consumption amounted to 90,797
MWh Of this amount, electricity consumption accounted for 39,811
MWh, while heating energy accounted for 50,986 MWh Both electncity
and heating consumption declined by approximately 10 per cent from the
previous year This reduction tn energy consumption was primanly the
result of the company relocating to a newly constructed energy-effictent
bwlding, the House of Travel and Transportation (HOTT), 1n June 2013
Geothermal energy accounts for 80 per cent of HOTT's energy consump-
tion The building 1s categorised in Energy Class A and it recerved LEED
Platinum environmental certification in 2014 LEED certfication 1s based
on determining the building’s pecformance based on its operating envi-
ronmeat, and it also takes into account the hifecycle requirements set for
the building HOTT's modern warkspaces, motion sensor based hghting
and Energystar-labelled computers and displays have significantly
reduced the total energy consumption of Finnair’s office premuses

Emergy consamption of Finnalr's properties in 2011-20138

indirect energy P 2018 2013 2012
consumption . . : .

Efectricity : Uwh 39.811:  46,104% 52,584
....... T TR TG Tlasan0 165970 189302
Changess G i mei w3l 39
et ©7 uwn,  s0986. 562000 63002
T T T T Te ieasso: 202320° 413re
et 33 dos. 58
Yot “ T uwn 90797 102304 115586
T T ey Taeke9 0 368204 416110
Changee T P me s Taws. i

Change from 2007, % . '

Of the heat energy consumed by Finnatr, 88 per cent was consumed

in the operating locattons situated at Helsinki Airport Of the district
heating used, 44 per cent was produced by natural gas, 56 per cent by
coal and 0 04 per cent by heavy fuel il The CO, enussions created from
the production of heat energy in 2014 amounted to 22,177t/CO,

Finnair buys electricity from the electricity derivatives market via the
Finmish national grid According to the company that maintains the gnd,
most of the production ts carbon neutral, but part 1s produced by fossil
fuels The different energy sources and their relative proportions are not
known, nor 1s the amount of primary energy required to produce the
electncity

Owing to the
nature of its

-
B resulting costs,
Energy saved due to conservation and efficiency improvements . .
QOwng to the energy-intensive nature of its operations and the resulting ,A mnair :g a
costs, Finnaur has a strong motivation to make 1ts operations more
energy efficient, particularly by striving to reduce jet fuel consumption
The single most significant measure by whrch Finnair has reduced its
energy consumption 1s 1ts fleet modermisation Next-generation aircraft
consume approximately 20 per cent less fuel than their predecessors The
carbon dioxide emissions of the aircraft have also dechined by a corre-
sponding amount.

to make its
operations more
energy efficient.

The modernisation of Finnair’s fleet continued in 2014 with the addition
to the fleet of the remaining aircraft from the five A321 Sharklet aircraft
ordered These new awrcraft replaced old Boeing 757 aircraft

In addition to fleet modermisation, Finnair strives to continuously
improve fuel efficiency by other means The ongoing fuel conservation
program has achieved a reduction of several per cent in jet fuel consump-
tion mn recent years A two per cent increase in fuel efhaency in Finnair'y
traffic corresponds to approximately 15 million kilograms of fuel, which
n turn corresponds to a reduction of nearly 50 milkion kilograms of CO,
The most significant factor affecting the fuel consumption of an aircraft
15 its weight The use of new technology and hugh-quality lightweight
matertals have enabled Firnair to reduce the empty weight of its awrcraft
For example, Finnair replaced all baggage containers used in 1ts narrow-
body aircraft with hghtweight composite containers in 2014 Weight

15 one of the key considerations in all procurement activities related to
arrcraft equpment

Finnair has also invested n fuel efficiency 1n its operational functions
For example, single engine taxung i1s used whenever possible, and the use
of APU engines (the awxshary power unit, or APU, generates electniaaty
and pressurised air for vartous aircraft systems) has been optimised to
reduce emusstons and noise These measures alone result in annual fuel
savings of several mulion kdograms
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In addition to various fuel efficiency projects, Finnair continued its
econormucal flying training program itroduced in 2012 and aimed at all
Finnair pilots The aim of the training 1s to implement consistent oper-
ating practices and dissemunate nformation on the factors that influ-
ence overall fight economy These include optimal airspeed and altitude,
as well as continuous descent approach (CDA) Finnair’s flight planning
15 also atmed at achieving optimal fuel effictency by selecting the most
economical route alternatives

The Finmish arrspace reform implemented 1n late 2014 enables even more
cfficient usc of arspace, which has a positive impact on fuel efficicncy
and flight times In addition, international cooperation continued on
multiple fronts with the aim of increasing the efficiency of awrspace use
and introducing new flight paths on routes used by Finnaur to improve
fucl efficiency

In March, Finnair participated 1n the international Earth Hour for the
third time by switching off its advertising hghts at the airport and in
various properties for a whole weekend and informung personnet of ways
to conserve energy at work as well as off duty

In October, Finnair ergarused its annual energy conservation week,
dunng which information and energy conservation tips were dissem-
mated through the company’s internal commurcation channels

Every day of the week had its own theme, and in relation to each theme
personnel were encouraged to discuss and consider the sigmificance of
energy conservation as well as new ways to save energy

Finnawr Facilites Management ts part of an energy efficiency agreement
between the Confederation of Finmish Industrtes, the Finmsh Ministry of
Employment and the Economy and industry asseciations The parties to the
agreement are commutted to reducing properties’ energy consumption by
nine per cent from the 2007 level by 2016 Thus target was already exceeded
m 2014. The reduction in the energy consumption of properties 1s the result
of continuous cnergy cificiency improvement measures at vanous proper-
ties, as well as the decommussionung of the oldest arrcraft hangars in parallel
with the focusing of the operations of Finnair Technical Services

Finnair's partner LSG SkyChefs reviewed and adjusted the operating
times and speeds of air conditioning equipment as an energy conserva-
tion measure The energy savings will hkely materialise only over longer-
term comparisons

In December 2014, Finnair Cargo implemented a vacuum hfter to facil-
itate the hifting of boxes of salmon on to loading pallets Every week,
Finnair transports some 200 tonnes of satmon to the Far East as air cargo,
and the vacuum lifter allows 90 per cent of fish shipments to be loaded 1n
the cargo hold of aircraft without wooden pallets, which would otherwise
need to be placed under the boxes of fish This conserves fuel, as wooden
pallets weigh approximately 18 kifograms each The new method signuf-
icantly reduces Finnair Cargo’s wood consumption Another technical
improvement that has reduced the use of loading pallets 1s a special fork-
hft that features side clamps instead of a lifting fork The special truck
can hft as many as 30 boxes of fish at a time

In 2014, approximately 100,000 coptes of the 150-page Aurinkomatkat
Suntours Holiday Guide were printed, and 150,000 copies of an eight-page
S-bonus supplement, on environmentally niendly eco-labelled paper

ENG

Initiatives to provide energy-efficient or renewable energy-based
products and services, and reductions in energy requirementsas a
result of these initiatives

In 2015, Finnair wall take delivery of the first of the 19 Airbus A350 XWB
wide-body arcraft it has ordered The aircraft will replace Finnair's
current Airbus A340 aircraft The next-generation Arrbus A350 offers
an entirely new level of travel comfort and energy efficiency compared
to current aircraft. The A350 15 approximately 20 per cent more fuel effi-
cient than the wide-body aircraft in the current fleet

On 23 September 2014, world leaders met in New York at the UN
Climate Summit to discuss cimate change Finnair's flight from Helsinks
to New York on the same day was operated using a more environmen-
tally friendly biofurel maxture that was partly manufactured from used
cooking o1l Finnar first operated flights using biofuel in 2011 Broker-
osene produced from cooking o1l used by restaurants 1s a good example
of an alternative aviatton fuel that signeficantly reduces greenhouse gas
emisstons, does not compete with food production and does not pose a
threat to biodiversity

Finnair 15 also evaluating the possibility of establishing a biofuel hub at
Helsmkr Atrport Itis part of a project led by the Finrush Ministry of
Transport and Communtcations that also includes Finavia and Neste Oil
as partrers Finland 1s very well posiioned to be among the first countries
n the world to introduce biofuels in broader and continucus use in avia-

We operated

our third biofuel
flight to New York
on the day of UN
Climate Summit.

FINNAIR ANNUAL REPORT 2014

40




tion The survey conducted by the project identified renewable bio-based
diesel as a potential alternative to biokerosene, due to the lower investment
requured for continwtous production, and therefore lower costs Renew-
able io-based diesel has not yet recerved internaticnal approval for use as
aviatton fuel, but the approval process 15 underway Estimates indicate that,
if the approval process progresses smoothly, renewable bio-based diesel
could be approved for awiation use in 2016

Finnair is also an active member of the Nordic Instiative for Sustainable
Awiation working group compnsed of Nordic airlines, airport opera-
tors and government mirstries who are working together with aarcraft
manufacturers to expedite the development of biofuel in the aviation
industry It 1s important for Finnair to find an ecologically, financially
and socially sustainable fuel solution  The projects that are currently
undcrway play a sigmuficant role in this development

ENS

Total water withdrawal by source

In 2014, the water used by Finnair was taken from the munucipal water
supply network The primary water source is Lake Payanne

Finnalr's water consumption 2012-2014

Water consumption : 014" 2013 ; 2012

Water, m3 i 70968  B9.587: 100,098

Change % : 208 105! -139
EN14

Strategies, current actions, and future plans for managing Impacts
on biodiversity

International cargo operations by both air and sea adhere to the Interna-
tional Standards for Phytosanitary Measures prescnbed by the Food and
Agnculture Orgamsation (FAQ), which regulate, among other things, the
quahity and charactenstics of imber used in logistics Timber must be
treated so that no parasites or insect pests are transported along with it.
Correctly-treated tumber is also stamped 1n the manner required by the
standard.

Nature and biodiversity 15 a signuficant attractiveness factor in the oper-
ations of Aurinkomiatkat-Suntours Ltd, a tour operator that 15 part of
Finnair Group In planning its destination programs, Aurinkomat-
kat-Suntours carefully evaluates thewr potential effects on the environ-

ment and biodiversity The operations aim to avoid excursions to sites
where visits could pose a threat to biodiversity Customers are informed
at destinations on appropriate conduct to preserve biodiversity In Israel,
Aurnnkomatkat Suntours works wath Eilat Loves Animals, an animal
protection organisation that operates on donated funds Cats play an
umportant role in keeping the streets of Eilat clean, as without them,
there would be rats, snakes and scorpions on the streets However, the
city does not look after injured cars or orphaned kittens Eilat Loves
Ammals takes care of these cats and Aurmkematkat Suntours supports
1ts work 1n cooperation with customers by assisting the organisation in
different ways

EN16

Total direct and indirect greenhonse gas emissions

Nearly all of Finnair Group's greenhouse gas emissions arise from flight
operations Flying prnimanly causes two hinds of direct greenhouse gas
emissions carbon dioxide and water vapour Water vapour 1s the most
important greenhouse gas i the atmosphere, but it s not generally
examined directly as a human-derived greenhouse gas emission, because
the water vapour 1n the atmosphere 15 mainly the result of natural evap-
oration Aur transport can in this respect be constdered to be in a special
position, because the water vapour generated by the engines 15 released
tugh in the atmosphere, which increases the atmosphere’s H,0 content
above the cloud layer However, not much 1s yet known about the poten-
tial impacts of water vapour emussions from aviation

As part of the implementation of sts new IEnvA environmental system,
Finnair has updated its ambitious CO, reduction target Finnairis
committed to reducing its CO, emissions by 20 per cent per one hundred
tonne kilometres flown from the 2009 level by 2017 Tn 2014, the green-
house gas emussions of Finnair’s own fleet amounted to approximately
2,315,439 tonnes of carbon dioxtde Ths figure does not include wet
lease operations, which refers to Finnair fhights operated with leased
aircraft and crew in circumstances where the company's own equipment
15 unavailable

These figures also include the capacity acquired from other operators
by Finnair Cargo In 2014, this cargo capacity produced approxamately
77,229 tonnes of carbon dioxide 1n total The amount includes cargo
flights that were operated solely due to Finnair Cargo

Finnair is
committed to
reducing its
CO;emissions by
20% per one
hundred tonne
kilometres flown
from the 2009
level by 2017.
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Information on truck transport used by Finnatr Cargo1s absent from this
report. Finnair Cargo purchases transport services from truck compa-
nies, and the statistical practices of these companies do not allow actual
emussions to be calculated at present. Finnair Cargo's maen partners in
truck traffic use vehicles classified as EURO 4 at a muntmum

Unit-specific CO, emissions, relative to
passenger and payload traffic 2010-2014
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Finnair's direct and indirect greenhouse gas emissions 2012-2014
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* Vantaa Energy 5 published figures for 2013 are being used for €07 emission Factor for etectnic and thermal energy

Electricity
consumption
in buildings
decreased
approximately
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EN19

Emissions of ozone-depleting substances

The Finnair Group docs not usc agents that destroy the ozone layer in the
upper atmosphere Aircraft fire extinguishing systems, which use halon
fire-extingwishing agents, constitute an exception Halon must be used

1n aircraft fire-extinguishing systems, as alternative agents approved for
avil anation use are not yet available on the market The types of halon
used in Finnaur aircraft are Halon 1301 and Halon 1211

In 2014, two extinguishers contaimng Halon 1301 and three extin-
gushers containing Halon 1211 gas were sct off, resulting in 81 kidograms
of halon being released into the atmosphere

Halons released into the 2018 2013 ; 2012
atmosphere ' X :

Haton 1211 : 3.73 145 0
Wl . 7es w0 104
Total T T sess nas. 104
CFCequivalentTotal T e 10435 1 104

The ODP {ozone depleting potential) of halon 1211 1s 3 and that of halon
130115 10 The ODP of a chemucal compound 15 the relative amount of
degradation to the ozone layer 1t can cause, using the ozone depleting
potential of a CFC compound as the reference point.

FN24
Nitrogen and sulphur oxides (NO , 50 ), and other significant air
emissions
1n 2014, the total mtrogen oxide emissions from Finnair fhght operations
increaced by approximately 6 per cent compared to the previous year
The increase 1s due to increased flying The figure also excludes the NO_
emussions caused by wet lease operations

Bestdes carbon dioxide, nitrogen oxides (NO,) are the most significant air
emussion ansing from flying NO_emissions anse in combustion processes
that take place at tugh temperatures Nitrogen oxides contribute to the
formation of ozone 1n the lower atmosphere, but destroy methane, which
15 a powerful greenhouse gas, in the atmosphere The impact of nitrogen
oxides ts complex and in many respects shll not fully understood

The basis of the calculation of NO_emussions produced by the engines of Finnair
awrcraft are emission figures in relation to route lengths reported by engine

and arrcraft manufacturers In Finnair, these values are appled to actual fuel
consumption figures separately for each indmidual route In addition, the figures
are compared with documents based on engine certifications mamtamed by the
UN’s [nternatonal Civil Aviatron Organisation (ICAQ)

NO, em!issions arising from Finnalr fiight operations 2012-2014
P 1018 2013
m.w.“

NOx-emissions Mkg ' 56!

2012
56

In additron to NO_ emissions, Finnair's operations give nise to volatile
orgamue compound (VOC) emissions VOC enussions are harmful to the
environment by, for example, contributing to the formation of ozone 1n
the lower atmosphere Lower-atmosphere ozone, moreaver, is harmful

to both human and animal health and flora Finnair's VOC emussions are
derived mainly from hydrocarbons that remain uncombusted during the
combustion of transport fuels as well as from chemtrcals used in Techmical
Services Finnair Techmucal Services’ environmental permit specifies an
upper annual hmit for VOC emissions and Technical Services’ emissions
are considerably lower than this Due to substantial scahing down of oper-
ations, the VOC emussions of Finnair Technical Services declined by more
than half in 2014 compared to the previous year

Finnatr Technical Services’ VOC emissions in 2018

Chemical greap
Paints and varnishes

Glues and sealing agents

Solvents

Unit-specific NO, emissions, relative to
passenger and payload traffic 2010-2014
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RKP = revenue passanger kilometres

ASK = available seat kilometres
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ATK = available tonne alometres, 1 e capacity
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RPK and ASK describe passanger traffic performance
and RTK and ATK describe performance according to
payload capacity {passangers + baggage + cargo)
Adjusted to passenger traffic
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Development of use of solvent-contalning
chemicals and VOC emissions in Finnalr
Technical Services 2010-2014

kg

100,000

4,389
L]
10 11 12 13 14
1 VOC ernssuons
M Solvent-contamning chem:cals
EN22

Total weight of waste by type and disposal method

The total amount of waste generated by Finnair decreased by nearly 15 per
cent, or shghtly over 700 tonncs, from the previous year The reduction 1n
waste velume 1s pnmanly attributable to the contraction of production
operations 1n Finnair Technical Services and the divestment of the busi-
ness operations of Finnair's subsidiary Finncatering Oy

The company also placed even more focus on waste recovery and sorting
In spring 2014, Ekokem Oy Ab was selected as Finnair's new waste
management partner [n comunction with this, Finnair set waste manage-
ment objectives of increasing waste recovery, cost fficiency and safety, as
well as reducing the volume of waste In practice, this means that waste
will be utilised as esther energy or material As a rule, waste generated

by Finnair’s operations 1s no longer disposed of 1n landfills The combi-
nation of mixed waste and energy waste 15 made possible by the thermuc
processing of waste at Ekokem’s power plants in Ruhimik: Unhike before,
food waste onginaung from outside of the EU that 15 subject to the EU
by-products Regulation can now also be directed to thermic processing,
allowang it to be utilised with other waste 1n generating district heating
and electncity

Waste generated by Finnalr according to final disposat method 2012-2013
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* Other waste means re-utihsed waste that goes to a third party for further
processimg The proportions of each waste segment are not known Other
waste 15 considered recyclable waste here The increase in quantity 15 due to
demohition waste of old Finpair Techincal Serwvices’ hangars.

The majority of Finnair's hazardous waste 1s generated by Finnair Tech-
nical Services In 2014, the amount of hazardous waste generated by
Technical Services declined to less than half of the previous year’s level
This was a result of structural changes in Technical Services and the
downsizing of operations

Finnalr Technical Services’ harardons waste 2012-2014

! 2018} 2013 2012; 2011 2010
NoAhm 104 :_mwm 1172

--------- A S T

851! i 495 153

239 297

* Reutibsable hazardous waste includes waste kerosene, which 1s used as
a co-combustion agent i processing hazardous waste, and part of solvent
waste, which Finnair's partner cleans and returns to Technical Services for
reuse

Amounts of waste and utllisation
percentage 2010-2014
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Finnair Technical Services’ hazardous
waste 2010-2014
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ENB

Total mimber and volume of significant spills

In October 2014, foam cannons went off in a fault madent in an awrcraft
hangar, leading to the release of approximately 4,000 bitres of foam m the
hangar, the apron and drams Approxamately 1,000 hitres of this amount was
recovered. Approxamately 3,000 litres of fire extingushing agents ended up in
sewer system. The substance contains perfluoninated alkyl compounds (PFOS),
some of whuch are very long-lasting and broaccumulatory A sample analysss of
the ermission could not entirely exclude the possibility that the foam contamed
banned PFOS compounds that could have ended up m the sewer system. Even
m the worst case scenano, the total amount of the compound released into the
sewer system would not have exceeded 030 grams

26

Initiatives to mitigate envirommental impacts of products and services,
and extent of impact mitigation

One typical adverse cnvironmental cffect of air transport 1s noisc. The nowse
produced by aircraft 1s mainly engine noise and aerodynanmuc noise. The level of

engine noise 15 greater in takeoffs, while the level of aerodynamic noise grows
dunng approaches.

In the Finnair Group, nowse pollutron i5 reduced by modernsing the arcraft fleet
and by planning takeoffs and landings at less undesirable tmes from a noise

perspective. However, Finnarr also operates flights in the eveningsand at raght,
at whach trmes notse 15 percerved to be more disruptive.

In the Canary Islands (Fuerteventura, Gran Canara and Tenenfe),
Aurinkomatkat Suntours participates in a campagn organised by 1ts local
partner, the chantable organtsation Fundacio Seur, to coflect hard plastic bottle
caps The procreds received from recyding companies are used for the medical
care of ctuldren from low-mncome farmities and the purchasing of requured equip-
ment. Aurinkematkat Suntours customers can hand bottle caps collected durng
therr holiday to staff, who will then have them delivered to coflection pownts Thas
grves Aunnkomatkat Suntours and its customers the opportunity to support the
medical treatment of local dhuldren as well as environmental protection.

[n Crete, Aunnkomatkat Suntours supports the Noah's Ark stray animal centre.
Abandoned pets are a growing problem in Crete, which 1s why agsistance ts
necessary Customers of our service office in Hania can donate money as well
as itemns such as used towels and aamal food to the stray animal centre. Some
animals have even fourid a new hotne in Finland.

The istand of Santonm has a major problem with stray dogs and abandoned
donkeys The Santorm: Antmal Welfare Association, or Sawa, works in coopera-

Finnair fleet nofse development
{cumutatve margm to Chapter 3 EPNAB limit)
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ton with volunteers and a local vetermanan to distribute information amed at preventing
the stray dog problem. Travellers who are fond of animals can help by volunteening at the
assoaation’s dog pound. Aurinkomatkat Suntours customers can also make donabons to
the dog pound, such as money, used beach towels, dog food and other supphes for dogs.

Among Finnair's subsidianes, the FTB travel agency 15 also actively involved in responsible
business projects The company 1s represented in several Finnush corporate responsibility
orgarusations and the Global Business Traveller Associaon’s (GBTA) ICARUS project,
which includes a CO, group aimung to produce comparable carbon footprint mdicators
for vanous service products in the business travel market.

FTB trains its personnel and provides assistance and guidance to customers on environ-
mentally fnendly business travel The popularity of these services has increased, and the
product range was reviewed in 2014 FTB offers, independently or in cooperation with
its partners, vanous emussions calculators concerning air travel, hotef accommodation
and events to allow its customers to momitor thesr carbon footprint. Customers can also
offset their carbon footprint through FTB thanks to Finmish Nordic Offset cooperation
Events booked through FTB can be implemented 1n an emironmentally friendly manner.
Emnronmental considerattons are taken mnto account according to customer wishes with

regard to transportation, meeting facilibes, meal and beverage service, event program-
mung and other services

FTB also offers its customers extensive consulting services on emvaronmentally friendly
travel. The consulting involves analysing the customer's current travel processes and their
environmental impacts, and presents opportunthes for reducing the carbon footpnnt
through sensible travel policy deastons,

In Finnair
notse pollution
is reduced by
modernising
the fleet and by
planning takeoffs
and landings at
less undesirable
times from

a noise
perspective.
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EMPLOYEES

Finnair employees are
proud of their work and
committed to it.

GRI:
LA1,LA2, LAG, LAY,
LAS, LA9, LA10O, LALL, LAL3
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Employees by group

From winds of change ,,
to building the future

An airhine’s service 1s delivered by its people Finnair
personnel have gone through large and dificult
changes, as the company has focused on core func-
trons and sought cost savings te secure 1ts competi-
tiveness Finnair employees have played a key role m
the completien of the cost savings program and they
are also essential as the company embarks now on 2

Y cabin Crew (SLSY) 30% B Aviaton Employees

B Pilgts (SLL) 15% (5LY) 4%
new phase increasing revenues, renewing the fleet B WhiteCollar Employees 3 Techmical Employees
and growing the business (FYD12% (FT) 4%

B Abroad 10% 0 Management 2%

B Travel Gudes 2%
The role of Human Resources is to enable the imple- B Technical Serwices
fih . b (1AU} 7% W tngineers (FIRY) 1%

mentation of the company's strategy by ensuring B Ground Services ~ Travel Agency
employees can successfully do thewr work It all starts (AU 6% Professionals 1%
with understanding the geals Every Finnair person [ Travel Agency Staff 5%
needs to understand what role they play in strategy
implementation In a changing environment, leader- Employee wellbeing in 2014
ship and culture development, competence develop-
ment and employee wellbeing are also important. 9%

Finnair measures emplovee wellbeing by conducting
an annual 4D survey, where employees are ashed to
express ther opinion about four aspects of work

my hine manager, my work communty, my personal
aspect and my health and wellbeing In addition, we
carry out a smaller 4D Pulse survey every autumn
The results of these surveys are used to develop well-
being at work in the whole company, and 1n addi-
tion teams use the team specific results for their own
action plans

igentifying future competencies

{7 1=Vverypoor 2 1%

W2-109%
In a rapidly changing warld, identifymmg future Wi-221%
competence areas and constantly maintainung and Wa-444%

developing the professional skill set are keys to B 5 =Excellent 11 3%
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A special project develops
payroll management

Finnatr outsourced its payrofl management to Zalans Oy In spring
2013 tn 2012, there were several problems in payroll management,
related mainly to the payment of different salary supplements and
the payment of holtday pay

In autumn 2014, Finnair started a development project that goes
through the different areas of payroll administratwon, clarifies roles,
responsibifities and interfaces, and addresses the root causes of the
payroll issues The target 1s 1o ensure refiable, faultless and smooth
payment of salaries The project reports to the SVP Human
Resources.

In leadership
development
Finnair focuses
on manager

skzlls.

success for both the company and its employees
Process understanding, sales and marketing,
customer service development and utilisation of
digital channels are examples of areas that Finnair
wants to invest 1n also 1n the future An annual talent
mapping is one of the tools Finnair uses to identify
future talent and competence needs

The first of our new A350 X\WB aircraft will join our
fleet in the second half of 2015, and the fleet renewal
entails plenty of tratning needs The training of pilots,
technical staff and cabin crew supports the smooth
integration of the new aircraft type into the Finnarr
fleet When the Arrbus A350 XWB test awrcraft visited
Helsink: Awrport in August 2014, also Finnair staff
had the chance to see the aircraft and its cabin and
cockpit

Toward an open culture

In leadershup development Finnair focuses on
manager skills and supporting an open discus-
sion cufture The target is that Finnair leadership
15 goal-onented, fair, developing, encouraging and
canng, and the realisation of these attributes in the
daily work 1s evatuated for example 1n the personal
development discusstons

An open discussion culture and a practice of working
together 1s crucial, as we build team spint and trust,
both of whtch are needed to be able to move to the
next phase of Finnair and create growth

Wellheing at HOTT

since Finnatr moved many of its functions to the new House of Travel
and Transportation (HOTT) near Helsinki Airport in 2013, one of the
bunlding amenities most popylar with employees s the HOTT Gym on
the first floor

The gym 15 3 key element of Finnair s drive to ensure wellbemg at
work and features a wide range of fitness equipment, free weights,
exercise bikes, treadmills and cross trainers Open every day
including weekends from 05 00 to 23 00, changing rooms and
showers are also provided Access 1s free for all Finnair Group
employees

Finnair also arranges fitness classes for a nominal fee in the gym s
exercise room There are at least two classes almost every day of the

workweek

HOTT also provides changing rooms and shower facilities for
commuter cychsts
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In autumn 2014, we arranged a senes of workshops
where together with the personnel we discussed
the changes i the company and defined the “new
normal” of Finnair Thus work continues in 2015,
when the focus moves to building a common value
base for the future

An importamt part of an open discussion culture 1
the development of the company’s internal comma-
mcations channels, and encouraging open dialogue
across the organization Open dialogue withun the
company builds trusts and a sense of community,
and fosters also creativity, as ideas can be shared and
developed together

international team as an asset

Finnair has approximately 5,000 employees, and 90
per cent of them are based in Finland Qur customers,
however, represent many different nationalities, and
our global sales team and our Asian cabin crew play a
key role in bulding Finnair business and servang our
customers Finnair’s growth comes from outside of
our home market, and our international team 15 a key
asset for us as we develop our business

An orgamization lives and evolves only if it has a
spark Identifying and fostering this spark 1s vital for
Finnair’s future Finnair employees have a genume
pnde for their work and they are commutted to devel-
oping it. The personnct have strong desire to be heard
and they have a lot to offer for bnlding the future of
the company After years filled with changes, Finnair
now faces a new era, and we must be able to renew
the company together and turn our eyes on future

Costs savings agreements reached
with key personnel groups

Dunng 2014 Finnair fimshed the implementation of 1ts cost saving
program, and the focus was on achieving permanent savings
personnel costs

Finnair conducted negotiations with the labor unions representing
difterent personnel groups, wath the aim of reaching market-level
wages and costs, pnmanly by improving productmty and renewing
wage and work lime structures Our target was to reach such a cost
level that would enable us to seek growth with cur own personnel

Finnair has six collectve labor agreements in place, and the personnel
are represented by five different labor unions Dunng 2014 we reached
savings agreements with all of the unions

Agreements included cost savings agreements with Finnair Techmical
Services, Finnalr s employees at Helsinki Arrport, a collective
settlement with semor staff and engineers, and new collectrve labor
agreements with pilets and cabin crew

In September Finnaw reached a major milestone when it signed a
collective labor agreement with the Finnish Airlne Pots Association
The agreement brings Finnair permanent annuoal costs savings of 17
million euros in the corming years

Negotiations with the Finrash Cabm Crew Union on cost savings on
cabin personnel related costs ended without a result in summer 2014
and Fmnnair was forced to preceed with outsourcing plans for a part of
its cabin service However, the negotiations resumed again in the
autumn, and in Qctober Finnair stgned a collective labor agreement
for cabin crew that brings the company permanent annual savings of
18 mullion euros in the coming years As a result of this, Finnatr
stopped the planned outseurcing of cabm service, and will implement
only the two outsourcing agreements that were signed before the
agreement was reached This was considered in the new agreement
with the cabin crew
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Social indicators 2014

(7.4 1

Tota! workforce by employment type, employment

contract and region

The number of Finnair employees decreased sigmificantly in 2014 as a
result of the structural change in progress at the company At the end of
2014, the number of Finnair's employees was 4,461 which is 1,342 fewer
than in the previous year Geographucally, the greater part of personnel
work 1n Finland, the majority at Helsinks Airport or 1n its immediate
vicinity

There were 567 Fmnair employees working outside Finland at the end of
2014 Ofthese, 198 were employed in sales 2nd customer service duties
for Finnair's passenger and cargo traffic A total of 141 people worked

for financial services based 1n the Baltic countries 86 people worked as
gwdes at Aurinkomatkat Suntours” holiday destinations Personnel based
abroad are included in the total number of Finnair employees

In additton, 195 people worked for travel agencies and tour opera-
tors in the Baltic countries and are not included in the totaf number of

employees”
Fixed-term and permanent employees as of 31 December 2014

“ Arrhine . Travel | Other :

:  busiess | services :  functions : Total
..... T et : ami el 33 asel
" Foedtermoe) . 3: of T2 T 3
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‘FulHime and part-time employees as of 1 December 2014

Total * 3772 376 ; 33 4,461

 earttmerw): 11 si 3 2
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Full-tume staff accounted for 99 per cent of Finnair employees, and 97
per cent of staff were employed on a permanent basis The average age of
employees was 45 years

At the end of
2014, the numb

of Finnair’s
employees was

LA2

Total number and rate of employee turnover by age group,

gender and region

Number and proportion of those who ended their employment (volun-
tarily, made redundant, retired or as a result of a fatality)

Fixed-terma and pertsanent employees 31 December 2014

Arltne ! Travel Other *
busiess ! services | functions Total

e esmsasdamasors v mmskmeosarsama sreds = mme  emw o+

4,461

Turnover, 9% ¢

Turnover figures do not include changes in personnel numbers due to
outsourcing and the ending of fixed-term employment contracts Finnar
personnel working abroad are incltded in the figures Finnair does not
maintan turnover statistics in relation to gender, age group or other
diversity aspects

LAG

Percentage of total workforce represented In formal joint
management worker health and safety committees that help
monitor and advise on occupational health and safety programs

At Finnair, cooperation on occupational health and safety is organised
in comphiance with Finnish occupational health and safety legislation
Personnel have representation 1n official occupational health and safety
commuttees at the company level or the busimess unit level The occupa-
tional health and safety of Finnair's personnel abroad 1s also taken into
consideration in the work of the commuttees
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The oocupational health and safety commuttees operate at the company level,
representing vanous personnel groups In large subsidianes, employees are
also represented by occupational health and safety delegates at the depart-
ment level, whase task is to participate in occupational health and safety
actvity in pairs with the employer’s representatives at the job level. Occupa-
tional health and safety delegates are selected via elections for terms of two
years at a time. The previous term commenced at the beginnung of 2014 and
wil] conclude at the end of 2015 At the end of 2015, employees will organse
occupational health and safety elections for the 2016-2017 term.

The number of occupational health and safety delegates and thear oper-
ating areas were adjusted at the end of 2013 to correspond with the
significant structural changes in the organisation  The changes were
aimed at facilitating and improving the efficiency of occupational health
and safety activities by bridging the gap between the employer's repre-
sentatives and the employee delegates The goals set for the changes were
achieved, as the development of occupational health and safety acavities
in fixed cooperation between employee delegates and employer's repre-
sentatives, as well as through open dialogue between occupational health
and safety delegates and line management, has continued to improve

Employee health and safety issues are also handled by Finnair's informal
Trust Forum Members of the Executive Board, HR management, dele-
gates and occupational health and safety organusations are invited to jotn
the forum The forum provides background information on and discusses
matters such as equality and non-discrimination, planming and changes
pertaming to employees on a broad basis

LAZ

Rates of injury, occupational diseases, lost days and absenteeism,
and total number of work-related fatafities by company and function
Finnair Techincal Services’ had 2 suspected case of occupational disease in 2014
There were no fatafities wn 2014 (the most recent fatalty was in 2005)
Work-related acadents are deaded mto workplace acaidents and busingss trep
accidents

Sickness days due to work-related acadents. This figure inctudes days of sickness
absence caused by acadents that eccurred in 2013 where the duration of the
incapacity to work was at least ope day in addition to the day of the acadent The
day of the acaident is not tncluded o the calculation

workplace accrdent frequency = number of workplace accidents per one miflion
working hours. Workplace accidents include all accidents that incurred treatment
expenses and occurred at the workplace or during work

Atrline’s ground personnel = Group management, HR, support services, ground
crew and aperative ground personnel
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The figures do not include Finnair's leased employees or subcontractors
LAS
Education, training, counselling, prevention and risk-control i i
programs in place to assist workforce members, thelr families, or — P / .
community members regarding serious diseases 5 ~ T

Occupational heatth services and wellbeing-at-work activities

At Finnair, the company’s own Finnair Health Services unit is responsible
for occcupational health services Finnair Health Services, Finnair Aero-
medical Centre FAeMC {subsequently referred to as Health Services)
coordinates and 1s responsible for the implementation of occupational
health care in the entire Finnair group

Finnair Health Services 15 also one of Finland's leading expert orgamisa- \
tions i the fteld of anation medicine, and as an anthonsed aviation meds- )
cine centre, Finnair Health Services provides aviabion medical examina- »
tions for the company's pilots, cabin crew and external aviators In 2014, ™
the services were actively marketed to recreational pilots A total of 56

recreahional pilots used Finnair Health Services for medical examina-

tions rclated to pilot certafication The operations, services and methods of

Employee

issues are also
discussed by
Finnaw’s Trust
Forum.
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Fmnair Health Services are based on industry best practices, customer-fo-
cused work, leading expertise and the active production and application
of rescarch evidence as well as effectrve processes Finnair Health Services”
main research cooperation partners are the Finrush Institute of Occupa-
tignal Health and the National Institute for Health and Welfare

The operational and service quality of Finnair Health Services 1s based on
the European Foundation for Quality Management’s EFQM Excellence
Model The quality system 15 used to ensure that the requirements for
good occupational health care practice 1n both aviation healthcare and
aviatron medicine services are met The quality manual covering occupa-
tional health care and aviation medicine was updated 1 2014

Occupational health activities

Preventive occupational health care activitics include influcncing
employees’ health-related habits, identifying nisk factors to health,
providing advice and guidance for health-promoting choices and
protecting oneself from health problems, diseases and reduced work
capacity before symptoms or problems anise Occupational health care
engages in proactive cooperatton with the occupational health and safety
organisation

In its activities, Finnair Health Services has focused in particular on
developing screening and care practices for ilinesses that compromise
and affect working capacity Workplaces and occupational health care
have cooperated in many ways to improve operating practices that help
employees to continue to work and remain 1n working hfe despite indi-
vidual health restricttons and ageing These practices nclude referral to
rehabthitation, trial work placements, the hghtening of workloads, job
modification, flexible working hours and the use of part-time sick leave
supported by part-time sick leave allowance from the Social Insurance
Institution of Finland Finnair uses an early intervention operating model
for the management of risks related to working capacity The operating
model 1s included n group-level operating gutdelines

Finnair s substance abuse program sets out operating principles intended
to contribute to an infoxicant-free workplace and work communuty
Identifying substance abuse problems, early intervention, treatment

and rehabilitation help reduce the negative health effects of substance
abuse and influence service quality, productivaty, occupational safety and
working atmosphere This also contributes to fhght safety

Occupational health matters are actively communicated using the
Groups nternal commusnication channels and by arranging informa-
tion sessions on occupational health, as well as theme days on health and
wellbeing at work

Promoting employee health and working capacity throngh various
career stages

Employees are invited to medtcal check-ups every three to five years,
depending on their work-related exposure to risk factors, their duties
and their age, in order to promote their health and working capacity
Medical examinations were carrted out for a total of 845 employees

11 2014 The examunations have a broad focus on various health risks
(including diabetes and cardiovascular diseases) as well as musculoskel-
etal disorders, psychological disorders and other serious tllnesses that
may compromuse working capacity, operating capacity and the connec-
tion between work and health Preplacement medical examinations are
conducted for new recruits and employees whose jobs, working cond-
tions or work-related medical requirements change Returning examina-
tions are also conducted for employees returning to work after extended
periods of incapacity to work

Medical examunations pertaining to exposure at work include exami-
nations concentrating on the effects of cosmic radiation, carcinogenic
substances, solvents and other chemcals, noise, vibration and working
night shufts In minimising exposure to such work-related health hazards,
the primary focus is on implementing working methods and procedures
that involve minimal exposure to hazards Cosmic radtation assessments
were conducted for a total of 14 pregnant members of flight persannel in
2014 All fhght personnel can check their cumulative radiation exposure
by accessing a browser-based system that provides information on actual
hours of flight duty performed and a mathematical calculation of accu-
mulated cosmuc radiation exposure Finnair Health Services has mon-
tored the radiation exposure of all flight personnel on a quarterly basis
Radiation exposure levels have not exceeded the annual maximum level

The cooperation between occupational health care services and the
workplace 15 based on a workplace survey Workplace surveys detersmune
the content of occupational health care services to a significant extent
Workplace surveys are aimed at surveying work and working condstions
and assessing their sggnificance to health In 2014, occupational health
nurses and physicians conducted workplace surveys in ceoperation with
occupatianal health and safety experts and an occupational physiother-

Finnair

Health Services
is one of
Finland’s
leading expert
organisations
in the field

of aviation
medicine.
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apist Workplace surveys were conducted in conjunction with commas-
SIONING New premises, catrying out internal relocations and repairs of
business premises, problems dentificd in the work environment, and in
relation to changes to work or operations The majonty of the workplace
visits cartied out by the occupational physictherapist were related to
ergonomics surveys and investigating prablems associated with occupa-
tronal ergonomics The wisits included guidance and counsclling related
to working methods, working positions and exercise to support recovery
from work The services of an occupational optometrist were used for
Mﬂganﬂ m—u:n%m on <._M=H— ﬁﬂWOBOB_ﬂM

Finnair Health Services offers employees inoculations aganst work-re-
lated infectious diseases and influenza The Health Services unit actively
monitors the epidemiological situation of various infectious diseases
and 1ssues instructions to employees as necessary Inaddition, Health
Services continuously monitors the epidemtological situation and other
r1sks in Finnair's destination countries [n 2014, the spread of the Ebola
virus was monitered and operating procedures were prepared for all
personnel for contingencies such as a suspected case of Ebola infection
among passengers A Group-level Ebola contingency plan was drafted in
cooperation with the safety organisation

Finnair Health Services, the occupational safety orgarusation and
employee delegates produced an ergonomics guide for use by cabin
personnel The guide includes information on the physical load factors
associated with work and how to prevent related symptoms The aim of
the guide 15 to promote the musculoskeletal health of personnel and to
reduce musculoskeletal symptoms and tlinesses

Representatives of Finnair Health Services participate in the develop-
ment of workplace meals and crew meals for flight personnel Occupa-
tional health care services have been supplemented by the services of a
nutritional therapist, and in special cases employees have the opportu-
nity to obtain a referral from occupationat health services for personal
counselling visits by a nutntional therapist.

As 1n previous years, rehabilitation to maintain working capacity was
carried out in cooperation with workplaces, the Social Insurance Insti-
tution of Finland and Avire Oy In 2014, a total of five rehabilitation
courses customused to the requirements of specific jobs bepan, with 10
participants selected by occupational health care in each The courses
targeted customer service personnel, experts and supervisors, Tech-

nical Services employees, as well as pilots and cabun service personnel In
2014, Finnarr alse launched separately funded vocational rehabilitation
(Finnainn Ammatillinen kuntoutus, FIAK) aimed at supporting profes-
sional reorientation while the process of applying for vocational rehabih-
tation through the employment insurance provider is still ongoing or has
not yet begun

Finnair Health Services has supported employees, work commumi-
tres and supervisors 1n coping with changes Support has been actively
offered to indvidual laid-off employees to help them find a new direc-
tion in hife, and to work communities to help them cope with changes
Occupational health nurses have been responsible for group- and ind:-
vidual-fevel support measures related to the structural changes 1n thesr
respective areas of responsibility, and for ensunng the adequacy and
avalability of occupational health care services

In addiron to lectures on change support, occupational health services
provided indrvidual and group gmdance and counselling on matters related
to work, working conditions, the work community, working capacity and
rehabilitation In 2014, occupational health services also participated in
trawung, imcluding “Teknnkan uusi arki™ workshops for supervisors

Finnasr Health Services also continued student cooperation with
Metropoha University of Apphed Sciences, with optometry students
organising five screening days under the arrangement in 2014

Wellbeing-at-work program

The principles of Finnair’s wellbeing-at-work program for the period
2011-2015 apply to all business units and employees The aim of the
program is to promote the cffectivencss and functionality of the work
community and to ensure the wellbeing of personnel through all career
stages The program also contributes to employee productivity, the
company’s competitiveness and attractiveness as an employer as well as
the implementation of the social component of corporate responsibility

The members of the wellbeing-at-work steering group tn 2014 were the
Director of Finnair Health Services, Finnair’s Head of Occupational
Safety, Finnair Cargo’s HR manager and the group's director in charge of
human resource development The steering group met 10 times in 2014

Three wellbeing-at-work program projects were launched in 2014 An
extensive study of wellbeing at work among pilots and a development

Finnair Health
Services supports
employees, work
communities

and supervisors
in coping with
changes.
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project focused on the ergonomucs of shift work at Helsinki-Vantaa
Aarport were both launched in cooperation with the Finnish Insti-

tute of Occupational Health Occupational health nurses from Finnair
Health Services also completed tramning on conducting heart rate varia-
bility analysis, interpreting the results and providing feedback on them
In 2014, a total of 64 wellbeing surveys based an heart rate variability
analysis were carried out. The use of the method for purposes such as
assessing the physical and mental load of work will be developed further
in 2015

Exercise program in 2014

In 2014, exercise among work commumties and teams was supported by
discretionary TEAM exercise allowances Fimnair's HOTT office bulding
has a modern fitness centre available to all employees From the begin-
rung of 2014, the fitness centre has offered approximately 10 hours per
week of mstructor-led group exercise sessions

Three START fitness groups were launched n 2014, one with a focus on
exercise, one focused on weight management, and one for people with
neck symptoms The programs were implemented i cooperation with
Finnair's partner Avire Oy and with support from the Social Insurance
Institution of Finland A total of 48 Finnair employees participated 1n the
fitness groups

Finnair has two different forms of support for group exercise The discre-
tonary CREW/TEAM allowances remained in place in 2014 FINNAIR
TEAM exercise allowance 1s intended for the promotion of work
community development, wellbeing and communality

Both allowances are granted in part or in full based on separate apphea-
trens and are avaifable to all employees The TEAM allowance is used to
fund exercise actmities—for example, in conjunction with team development
days—whale the CREVW allowance is used to fund vartous events, such as
marathons and other mass sporting events In 2014, Finnair employees used
the CREV allowarnce to participate in events including Yrtysmaraton 2014
(Company Marathon 2014) and Midrught Run

LAY

Health and safety topics covered in formal agreements

with trade unions

Finnair's prumary occupational safety forums are the joint occupational
health and safety commuttees of persannel and the employer

The development of occupational health and safety 1s based on the
occupational health and safety action plan, the focus areas of which are
updated annually

‘The focus areas in 2014 were

« Assessing the current status of occupational safety and presenting a
plan and action proposals for the development of operations
Establishing specific operating methods
- An operating model for preventing inappropriate
conduct and harassment

- Early intervention aperating madel
- Providing traiming on, and speaifving in greater detail,
the responsibilittes of supervisors in the line organusation
Developing the reporting of work-related accidents to meet actual
needs fast, rehable and goal-onented
« Reassessing reporting systems and carrying out a competitive
brdding process
+ Harmonmsing processes used i hazard identification and risk assess-
ment procedures as well as workplace risk assessments

»

.

Developing shared occupational safety practices for workplaces,

taking the occupational safety perspectives of subcontracting chains

and supplier networks into account in guidelines and agreements

+ Including occupational safety as part of normal supervisory and
managenal work {matenals, competence)

+ Developing occupational safety traiming, induction tramming and

communications

‘The current state of occupational safety was evaluated at the unit level in
2013 This was done by risk assessment surveys using 3T Development
efforts continued for the idenbified development areas, mcluding harmo-
nusing occupattonal health and safety activities between units and the
development of consistent statistical practices and reporting The unit-spe-
cific development areas were related to, among other things, the need to
revise and update risk assessments, developmg supervisors’ occupational
safety expertise and improving communicatton with personnel Some

of the actions were implemented according to the 2013 action plan, and
some according to the 2014 action plan Increasing supervisors’ awareness
of occupational safety and responsibilittes related to occupational safety
was one of the main themes in 2014 High-quality managenial work plays a
key role in successful occupational safety efforts The goal 1s to strengthen
the role of supervisors in accupational safety, and particularly in proac-

d=ji:

Finnaiwr’s HOTT
office building
includes a
modern fitness
centre avatlable
to all employees.
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tive safety work As part of the process, each supervisor was made aware of
their responsibihibies related to occupational health and safety

The development of shared occupational safety rules for workplaces
continued in 2014 through cooperation between the various actors at the
arport and by assessing and supporting the safety efforts of subcontrac-
tors and updating the relevant rules and procedures The key coopera-
tion partner was Finavia and the cooperation took place via a forum that
Finnaur’s representatives also participated in.

As an aviation industry employer, Finnair actively develops the occu-
pattonal safety of its employees in cooperation with representatives of
labour market organisations in a transport and logistics group coordi-
nated by the Centre of Occupational Safety The working group promotes
occupational safety, occupational health and safety cooperation and the
development of working hife in aviatton industry workplaces

Average hours of training per year per employee by employee cate
In 2014, Finnawr provided training for its employees via the Finnair Avia-
tion Academy amounting to 114,345 student hours in total Relative

to company’s total number of personnel, this corresponds to 25 6 per
employee The figures do not include courses arranged within depart-
ments nor training provided by parhes outside the company

Stedent hours ¢ 13005, 17996: 82,620 : 7241 114,345

persons per 659. 1,400 2,308 : 98! 4,465
personnel ' ' ' '
group . “ _

Average hours : 1971 29} 358 74} 56
perperson  ; ; : : :

2011

203,899

Average student hours 56 . 273

per person

LALL

Programs for skills management and Iifelong learning that support
the continued employability of employees and assist them in
managing career endings

Employee competence 15 a cornerstone of the implementation of our
strategy Traiming and development needs are surveyed in the company's
vanous business units and subsidiaries and 1n conjunction wath perfor-
mance and development reviews This helps us ensure the continued
development of aviation competencies that are 1n short supply in Finland

Strategic personnd development requnres coopetation between several
different parties Solutions are sought for development needs not only ona
Group-wide basis, but also at the unit, team and indnadual levels In addi-
tion to tradibienal classroom training, e-learning, workshops, learning en
the job, coaching and mentoring are also used as development methods

Development solutions for professional training tn the areas of flight,
safety and service training are produced 1n cooperation with Finnair
Fhght Academy Oy Finnair Technical Services manages its own profes-
sional training operations  The personnel development team produces
solutions primarily for strategy-oriented competence development. The
main focal areas in 2014 were

A Development of managerial and supervisory work

+ Manager Induction centinued for all new supervisors

+ Management Team Development

« Project competence project manager certification, round 2

+ Process competence online course on process trainng for all new
employees and supervisors continued

« Aurhne business competence onlime course for all Finnair Plc emplo-
yees

» Partnership management training continued for specific key
personnel

« “Teknukan uusi arki” supervisor traiming continued

« Termination training for supervisors

B Customused personnel development solutions and projects
» Change management and personnel competence development
under the 5B (Siberian Joint Business) project
« "Teknukan uusiarks” workshops for all technical services personnel
continued
« The Sales Induction project was completed and the pilot phase began

Employee
competence is

a cornerstone
of the
implementation
of our strategy.
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« Sales traiming continued and was extended to Asian destinations in
autumn 2014

« Change support programs for turning points related to organisa-
tional changes

« The Cargo "Must Win Battle” project carried out a competence
survey pilot in the international sales organisation and facilitated
development workshops in the Cargo Terminal Operations unt

« Finnair on the Customer’s Path, an eLearning program for customer
service personnel

« Coordination support for the A350 Readiness "Must Win Battle”
project as various units prepare to take delivery of the new type of
aircraft

C Team development and coaching

+ Indwvidual coachung programs for key mdividuals continaed

+ Group coaching program launched for leaders of the Chinese sales
urut

» The Network project continued with the aim of providing tools for
supervisors and teams to ymplement changes in the sparit of respon-
sibility and to discuss rules and procedures when working methods
are revised

D Professional competence development and induction traing
+ WeWin inductron tramming for new recruits
+ SAP-HR system traimng for new users
+ Finnair Traintng Portal induction training for supervisors

The permanent themes include making the airport a safe workplace,
developing occupational safety trainung in the aviatton industry, occu-
patronal health awareness for supervisors, and occupational safety card
tramung Other professtonal traiming organused 1n 2014 included outsta-
tion trainung, first aid and emergency training, basic and recurrent
tramning, systems training and cooperation wath Helimu Business College

The Finnair Aviation Academy, founded in 1964, 1s a special vocational
educatronal establishment maintatned by Finnair Plc, which operates as
a special educational establishment under the Act on Vocational Adult
Education (631/1998) Its task is to arrange further vacational traiming
leading to a vocational or spedial vocational qualification as well as other
further vocational trairung requured for the practice of Finnair Plc's

and its subsidiaries’ operations (Further Vocational Training Arrange-

ment Permit 551/530/2006, 13 December 2006) As a privately-owned
educational establishment, the Aviation Academy funds its operations in
accordance with government aid practices and it 1s a member of Business
Education Establishments ELO (Ehinkeinoelaman oppilaitokset Elo ry)

LA13

Composition of governance bodies and hreakdown of employees per
category by gender, age group, minority group membership and
other Indicators of diversity

At the end of 2014, 57 per cent of Finnair's personnel were women and
43 per cent were men Three of the seven members of Finnaur's Board of
Directors are women

The average age of Finnair's personnel 1n 2014 was 45 years Of the
personnel, 28 per cent were aver 50 years of age, while four per cent were
under 30 years of age The employees’ average number of years in service
was 17 Employees who have worked for Finnair for over 20 years account
for 40 per cent of persannel, while 10 per cent have worked for Finnair for
over 30 years Finnair does not maintam stattstics on ethnic minorities

All persoanel

Gender structure %
Women T 57
Men e a
Agestructgre %
Under30yearsold I i
WSRO o
oversoyearsod 2

Senlor management (assistant directors, department directors,
Executive Board)

Gender structure %
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FINANCE

We target 6%
operational EBIT.

GRI:
EC1, EC2,EC3, EC4,EC6, ECY
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Key figures

*Comparatwve trgures for 2013 have been restated due to change m accounting princples related to treatment of overhauks.

Formulas for calcudating key rabws are presented on page 59
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Distribution of operating expenses
€2,339.2 million

%
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Alrline business: RASK & CASK
development in 2018

change 2014 vs. 2013. %
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* Comparative hgures tor 2013 have been restated due Lo change i accountmg princmles related to ireatment of overhauts

Formitlas for caktdating key ratirs are presented on page 59

Caplital expenditure and net cash flow
from operations
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The Report of the Board of Directors 2014

Business Environment

Growth in Finnair's main markets was conservative despite substantial changes in business environ-
ment Measured in Available Seat Kilometers the market capacity between Helsinki and Finnair’s
European destnations grew by 6 7 per cent in 2014, and the market capacity between Finnair's Asian
and European destinations increased by 1 7 per cent Finnair increased 1ts market share in European
trathe (point-to-pont) cleaily to 54 4 per cent (51 1}, whereas in Asian traffic Finnair's market share
decreased shightly to 5 0 per cent {54) *

The weakness of the Finnish cconomy was reflected in the home market demand for passenger
trafhc throughout the yeay Cargo trafhe volumes in Finnair’s main markets grew despite the negative
mmpact the weak economuc situation in the eurozone had on European cargo demand

Changes in exchange rates had a negative effect on Finnair's revenue development throughout the
year, which was refleeted in the weaker revenue development of both passenger and cargo trafhe In
terms of average exchange rates, the eure appreciated substantially agamst the yen in 2014 compared
to 2013 The euro also appreciated against the Swedish crown and Chinese yuan, while the Korean
won appreciated against the euro The average dollar-curo exchange rate did not change sigmifi-
cantly compared to 2013 The appreciation of the dollar aganst the euro, which began in the second
half of the year, nevertheless dilutes the advantage gained by airlines from the substantial decrease
m the price of jet fuel that began 1n autumn 2014 The US dollar 15 a significant expense currency in
Finair's operations, while the Japanese yen 1s a significant income currency

Strategy implementation and partnerships

In May, Finnair'’s Board of Directors approved the company's strategic targets as part of Finnair’s
annual strategy work Finnair’s strategic objectives are to double Asian revenues by 2020 from the
2010 level, grow traffic via Helsinki by fully exploiting Finland’s geographic location, and create
shareholder value and be an attractive nvestment The long-term return objective set for the
company by Finnan’s Board of Directors 15 an operating profit maigm of six pet cent, which would
enable investments i growth and business development

Joint businesses

On | April 2014 Finnair entered the joint business estabhished 1 2012 by fellow oneworld alli-

ance partners Japan Airlines and British Airways for traffic between Europe and Japan Finnair had
previously, in July 2013, jomned the transatlantic joint business founded by fellow oneworld alhance
members American Arlines, British Airways and Iberia These joint businesses have started well and
their performance so far has been in line with expectations

* Figures are Finnair's estimates The esiimates are based on MIDT data collected on the sales valumes of travel agencres and Finnair s esti
mates of airlings sales through their own sales channels such aswebsites Numbers reflect destination cities rather than airports and ex
clude seasonal routes

Regional flying
In November 2014, Finnair and Flybe UK Ltd announced that the Flybe Nordic AB shares owned by
Flybe UK Ltd will be sold to a new majority shareholder or to Finnair Flybe Nordic owns fully the
Finmish subsidiary Flvbe Finland 1 td, which 15 1n charge of Finnair's regtonal airline operations Flybe
Finland operates approximately onc third of Finnair s narrow-body flect on a contract flying basis

The Finnish Competition and Consumer Authority approved the sale of Flybe UK Ltd s 60 per cent
ownership of Flybe Nordic to StaffPoint Holding Ltd and G W Sohlberg Ltd in January 2015 The
tiansaction price was one euro Following completion of the sale, Staftpoint’s ownership in the joint
venture 15 45 per cent, GWS's 15 per cent and Finnair's 40 per cent Flybe Finland and 1ts Board of
Directors will now jointly develop the company's business model and improve the cthciency and
profitability of regronal flymng

In 1ts 2014 financial statements, Finnair recognised a write-down of a subordinated loan 1ssued
to Flybe Finland and interest on the loan, amounting to 10 8 mullion euros combined, and a total of
11 3 million euros 1n advance payments and other operational recevables from Flybe Finland The
write-down of the subordinated loan and its interest 1s recogmised in financial expenses and the
write-down of advance payments and ather operational receivables in non-recurring items Alter
the write-downs, Finnar sttll has runming advance payments and other operational receivables from
Flybe Finland, and Finnair continuously monitors the accuracy of the valuation of items related to the
Flybe Finland cooperation

Progress of the structural change and cost reduction program

Sales of business operations
At the end of February, Finnair sold uts subsidiary Finncatering Oy to LSG Lufthansa Service Europa/
Afrka GmbH (LSG) The transaction did not have a signuficant impact on Finnarr’s operating result
for 2014

At the beginning of October, Finnatr completed the sale of its subsidiary Finnair Travel Retail's
shops at Helsinki Airport to World Duty Free Helsink: Oy, the Finnsh subsidiary of World Duty
Free Group The transaction does not concern inflight sales The transaction had a positive impact of
12 7 mithon euros on Finnair’s operating result in 2014

Both of the arrangements were part of Finnair's restructuring program, in which Finnair aims to

focus on its core airhne busmess

200 million euro cost reduction program

By the end of 2014, Finnair had achieved a total permanent annual cost reduction of approximately
217 million euros compared to the unit cost level in 2010 The cost reductton target was 200 million
euros The cost reductions will be reflected n full tn Finnai’s result in 2015, and their positive impact
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on the result for 2014 was approximately 180 mullion curos The achicved cost reductions of
217 million euros include approximately 15 million euros in savings negotiated with various
employee groups in 2014 based on collective labour agreements

Unit costs excluding fuel have declined by 13 4 per cent from the 2010 level by the end 0of 2014 Atthe
same time, Finnatr has been able to move a substantial share of fixed costs to volume-based vatiable costs
Going forward, Finnair will continue to maintain tight control over costs in all of its cost categories

Cost reduction negotiations with personnel
In May 2014, Finnair signed a company-spectfic cost reduction agreement pertaiming to Finnarr
Technucal Services, which 1s within the scope of the Fmmish Aviation Union (IAU) The agreement
achieved the direct cost reduction targets set for the Technical Services’ IAU collective labour agree-
ment and 1t also includes commitments to future-onented measures to improve productivity As part
of the agreement, Finnair commutted to protection aganst umlateral termination until 31 December
2015 in the area within the scope of the collective labour agreement 1n question Finnair also signed a
cost savings agreement with the Helsinki Airport employees within the scope of the IAU

Finnair and 1ts semor salaried employees and engineers (FYT) reached an agreement in May on
collective wage settlement Finnair will achieve approximately six per cent greater efficiency and
related savings through this agreement within the scope of FYT Extending working hours was a key
element in the savings achieved

Finnarr and the Finnish Air Line Pitots’ Association (SLL) reached an agreement in early
September on permanent annual cost reductions of 17 muilion euros Approximately 11 million euros
will materialise gradually over the two-year Collective Labour Agreement (CLA) period, approxi-
mately three mithon euros in the coming few years through growth, and the remaining three million
euros 1n the future through changes to pensions and the employment terms of new pilots In return,
Finnair gave pilots protection against redundancies for the next two years and a ane-time compensa-
tion plan, which was approved by Finnair’s Board of Directors i Qctober

Finnair and the Finnish Cabin Crew Umion {SLSY} reached a savings agreement in October The
agireement brings Finnair 18 imlion euros 1n permanent annual savings Approxumately 75 per
cent of the savings will materialise during this agreement period ending on 15 November 2016 and
approximately 25 per cent in the future through changes to the employment terms of new cabin
attendants In return, Finnair offered cabin personnel protection from redundancies for the next two
years, protection from outsourcing and a fixed-term pension incentive

The savings agreement concluded with SLSY includes the estimated savings impact and nen-con-
testing of the outsourcing contracts already signed concerning the Hong Kong and Singapore routes
Finnair and the Norweglan crew management company OSM Aviation signed an agreement in
September on the outsourcing of cabin services on these routes The cabin crew for these routes will
be recruited to OSM Aviation’s bases in Asia The outsourcing 1s estimated to start in March 2015,
provided that OSM can obtain the required work permuts for its personnel by then

A savings agreement negotiated in December with techmcal services personnel belonging to Trade
Unton Pro was confirmed after the end of the financial year in January in return, Finnair gave tech-
nical services personnel protection from redundancies until 30 June 2016 When implemented, the

agreement will produce in savings of approximatety one milhon euros through the ehimination of
allowances and the extension of working hours

A significant proportion of the savings agreed on in 2014 will be gradually reflected 1n the compa-
ny’s 1esult starting from the first quarter of 2015 The materialisation of some of the savings deponds
on the extent to which Finnair can utilise the extended working hours in 1ts operations

Financial performance in 2014

Finnair’s revenue n 2014 declined by 4 8 per cent from 2013 and totalled 2,284 5 million euros (2,400 3}
Capacity decreased by 09 per cent The marn factors contributing to the decrease n1evenuc were

a substantial decline in unit revenue, particularly in Asian trafhic, the contiaction of Aurinkomatkat
Suntours’ revenue, the loss of external revenue resulting from the restructuring of aviation services, the
dechning purchases by tour operators outside the Group, and the weak development of cargo Opera-
tronal costs excluding fuel decreased by 2 2 per cent year-on-year, amounting to 1,678 8 nullien euros
(1,717 3) Fuel costs, including hedging and costs incurred from enussions trading, decreased by 4 3 per
cent year-on-year to 660 4 million euros (689 9) due to a decline i the market price of fuel and a decrease
m capacity Personnel costs declined by 9 6 per cent to 344 5 mulhon euros (381 3) due to the personnel
reductions implemented in 2014 Euro-denominated operational costs dechned by 2 8 per cent to

2,339 2 mithon euros (2,407 2) The company's operational result, which refers to the operating result
excluding non-recurring items, capital gains and changes in the fair value of derivatives and in the value of
foreign currency-denominated flect maintenance 1eserves, was -36 5 million euros (11 9)

Finnair’s income statement includes the change in the fair value of dervatives and in the value of
foreign currency-denominated fleet maintenance reserves that took place during the penod under
review, but will fall due later Thus 15 an unrealised valuation result based on IFRS, where the result
has no cash flow effect and which 1s not included 1n the operational result The change in the fawr
value of dervatives and 1n the value of foreign currency-denominated fleet mantenance reserves
amounted to -43 7 mullion euros (21 7) The non-recurring items for the period imcluded items
related to the sale of Finncatering Oy, the sale of Finnair Travel Retail’s shops, fleet sale and fease-
back agreements, write-down of advance payments and other operational receivables associated with
Flybe Finland, and items related to the company’s restructuring amounting in total to 7 7 million
curos (-257) The operating result was -72 5 nullion cures (7 9) Finnaur's result in 2014 before taxes
was -99 1 million euros (26 8) and the result after taxes was -82 5 mulhon euros (22 9)

Unit revenue per available seat kilometre (RASK) declined by 2 2 per cent compared to 2013 and
amounted to 6 10 euro cents (6 24) Excluding the effect of exchange rate fluctuations, passenger unit
revenue dechined by 1 9 per cent from the comparison period Uit cost per available seat kilometre
(CASK) decreased by 1 6 per cent and amounted to 6 37 euro cents (6 47) Unit cost excluding fuel {CASK
excl fuel} decreased by 1 1 per cent due to the cost reduction program and totalled 4 31 euro cents (4 35)

Balance sheet on 31 December 2014

The Group's balance sheet totalled 1,885 1 million euros at the end of the pertod under review
(2,117 6 mullion euros on 31 December 2013) Shareholders’ equity decreased to 514 3 mullion euros
(678 0), or 4 02 curos per share (5 30) Shareholders’ equity dechined during the financial year due te
the result and comprehensive income showing a loss
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Sharcholders cquuty includes a fair value reserve that 1s affected by changes in the fair values of ol and
currency dervatives used for hedging as well as actuarial gains and losses related to pilots’ defined benefit
plans according to IAS 19 The value of the item at the end of 2014 was -87 4 nullion euros (-15 0) after
deferred taxes, and it was affected particularly by changes in the fair value of hedging instruments

Cash flow and financial position

Finnair has a strong financial position, which supports business development and future invest-
ments In 2014, net cash flow from operating activities amounted to 24 2 milhon euros (142 4) The
change s primarily duc to the company’s loss-making result Net cash flow from investments totalicd
14 4 mullion euros (-19 3)

The equity ratio was 27 7 per cent (32 6) and gearing was 0 3 per cent (19 9} The adjusted gearing
was 107 5 per cent (79 2) At the end of the year, interest-bearing debt amounted to 427 6 million euros
{593 0} and mterest-bearing net debt stood at 14 mullion curos (134 2) In the first quarter, the company
repard an atrcraft financing loan of 107 million earos, which was used to finance four A330 arrcraft Sale
and leaseback agreements for these atrcraft were implemented during the first half of the year

The company’s hquidity remained strong in the review period The Group’s cash funds amounted
to 426 1 million euros (458 8) at the end of the year In addition to the cash funds on the balance
sheet, the Group has the option of re-borrowing employment pension fund reserves worth approxi-
mately 430 million curos from 1ts employment pension insurance company Drawing these reserves
requires a bank guarantee Finnair has an entrrely unused 180 mill:on euro syndicated credit agree-
ment, which was intended as reserve funding and matures at the end of July 2016

Advance payments related to fixed-asset investments were 66 4 million eurns (66 0)

Finnair has a 200-million-euro short-term commercial paper program, of which 28 mullion euros were
wn use at the end of December Net cash flow from financing amounted to -180 3 mullion euros (-47 4)
Financial expenses were 26 9 milhon euros (19 7), and they include the wnite-downs of a subordinated
loan 1ssued to Flybe Finland and interest on the loan Financial income stood at 3 5 mullion euros (42 6)
The financial ncome for 2013 mcludes profit from the sale of shares in No1wegran Aur Shuttle ASA

Capital expenditure
In 2014, capital expenditure excluding advance payments totalled 82 4 million euros (77 3) and was
related to the Business Class seat renewal of the long-haul fleet and enging performance restorations
Capital expenditure for the full year 2015, including advance payments, 1s estimated at approximately
480 million euros, with investments in the fleet representing a majority of thus total

“The current state of the credit market and Finnair's good debt capacity enables the financing of
future fixed-asset investments on compebitive texms The company has 35 unencumbered awcraft,
the balance sheet value of which corresponds to approximately 62 per cent of the value of the entire
fleet of 0 8 bilhion euros The balance sheet value includes three finance lease aircraft

Alrcraft sale and leasehack agreements

Finnatr's policy 15 to own approximately half of the fleet 1t operates Various sources and instruments
are used for fleet financing to ensure the lowest possible financing costs and the best possible opera-
tronal flexibility and continusty

In the hrst half of 2014, the company concluded sale and leaseback agreements for four A330
aircraft as per memoranda of understanding signed in December 2013 1n December 2014, Finnair
signed a memorandum of understanding with GOAL German Operating Aircraft Leasing GmbH
& Co for the sale and leaseback of three Embraer 190 aircraft and a memorandum of understanding
with Doric Asset Finance GmbH & Co KG for the sale and leaseback uf s1x ATR 72 awrcraft The
aircraft included in the arrangements are operated by Flybe Finland Sale and leaseback agreements
for all nine aircraft are expected to be concluded by the end of March 2015, after which Finnair will
continue to sublease the ancraft to Flybe Finland

Finnair has afso signed an agreement for the sale and leaseback of its first two Awrbus A350 XWB
aircraft The agreement 1s expected to be concluded in conjunction with the delivery of the first
Aurbus A350 X'WB aircraft in autumn 2015

Fleet
Finnair's fleet 1s managed by Finnatr Aircraft Finance Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Finnair Ple
At the end of December 2014, Finnair itself operated 45 aircraft, of which 15 are wide-body and 30
narrow-body arcraft There were no changes to the composition of the fleet in the fourth quarta
In the first half of the year, two B757 arcraft were removed from Finnarr's fleet according to plan as
thair leases exptred, and two new A321 Sharklet arrcraft were added to the fleet As of March 2014,
the company operates an all-Airbus fleet

In addition to the aircraft operated by Finnair, its balance sheet includes 22 other aircraft owned by
the company These arcraft arc operated by Flybe Finland [n December, Finnarr sold three Embracr
170 aircraft to Infinity Aviation Capital LLC, a US-based awrcraft leasing company, in accordance
with the memorandum of understanding signed 1 May 2014 Finnair also has eight leased arrcraft
that it has subleased to be operated by other aithnes

The average age of the fleet operated by Finnair was 10 2 years at the end of 2014, and that of the
Frnair fleet operated by Flybe Finland was 6 2 years

Fleet operated by Finnair on 31 Dec 2014

Leased
Opera- - Change
tional Finante Average fram Add
Seats # Own leasing leasing age 31Dec 2013 Ordered optlens
Narrow-body feet
Arrbus A319 138 9 7 2 134
Alrgus A320 185 10 6 4 124
Aisbus A321 209/196 11 4 7 81 +2
Boeing B757 227 0 0 0 2
Wide-body fleet
Arrhus A330 297/271/263 8 0 5 3 52
Airbus A340 270/269 7 S 2 120
Arbus A350 297 19
Total 45 22 20 3 102 0 19 0
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Fleet awned by Finnalr and operated by Flybe Finland on 31 Dec 2014

Finnair’s property holdings, othice services and the management and maintenance of properties
related to the company’s operational activities

Leased
Opera- Change
tional Finance Average from Add
Seats # oOwn leasing leasing 2ge 31 Dec 2013 Crdered  options
ATR 72 4B-72 12 12 54
Embraer 170 76 2 2 88 3
Embraer 190 100 8 8 60
Total 22 22 62 -3 0 0

Alrbus A350 XWB alrcraft and phasing out A340 aircraft
In December 2014, Finnair frrmed up the eight Airbus A350 XWB aircraft options ints A350 oider
ortginally placed with Airbus 1n 2006 and subsequently amended At Airbus List prices, the value
of the additional eight A350 arcraft would be approximately 1 9 billion euros The firm-up of the
options increases the total number of Finnair’s A350 XWB orders to 19
Aurbus recewved type certification for the A350 X'WB fiom the European Aviation Safety Agency
(EASA) in September 2014 and from the United States Federal Aviation Admimistration (FAA) 1n
November 2014 The aircraft type had a successful commercial launch in January 2015 1 scheduled
traffic by Finnair’s oneworld alliance partner Qatar Airways Based on the current delivery schedule,
Finnair will recewve the first four A350 XVB arrcraft in the second half of 2015, seven between 2016
and 2017, and eight more between 2018 and 2023 Finnair plans to phase out its A340 aircraft by the
end of 2017, following the successful dehivery and entry into service of the A350 XWB arrcraft
Aurbus has agreed to acquire four A340-300 aircraft currently owned by Finnair in 2016 and 2017
The agreement between Finnar and Airbus ensures a smooth transition from A340s to A350s, muti-
gating potential business continuty risks related to fleet renewals and residual value risk related to
A340s Finnarr also has the possibility to adjust the size of its fleet flexibly according to demand and
outlook due to its lease agreements of different durations

Business area development In 2014

The segment reporting of Finnair Group's financial statements 1s based on business arcas The
reporting business areas are Ailine Business and Tiavel Services From the first quarter of 2014
onward, the Aviation Services segment is not reported separately Instead, the operations it included
are reported as part of the Airline Business segment The segment information for the 2013 financial
year has been restated accordingly

Alrline Business

This business area is responsible for scheduled passenger and charter traffic as well as cargo sales,
customer service and service concepts, fhght operations and activity connected with the procure-
ment and financing of aircraft The Arrline Business segment compnises the Sales & Marketing,
Operations and Resources Management functions as well as the subsidiaries Finnair Cargo Ltd,
Finnair Fhght Academy Ltd and Finnair Aircraft Finance Ltd From the first quarter of 2014 onward,
the Aviation Services segment also includes aircraft maintenance, Finnair Travel Retad Ltd and

Key figures 2014 2013 Change %
Revenue and result
Revenue EUR million 711877 22719 - 46
Operationatresult EUR millien B3s 88 <200
"Operating resull EBIT EUR millon o 784 63 - <200
" Operaling result % of revenue EY o3 ’ 19%p
Personnel
Average number of employees 4232 4834 125
Traffic performance 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Passengers thousands 9630 9269 8774 8013 7138
Available Seat Kilometres millions 30889 31182 30 366 29345 25127
Revenue Passenger Kilometres miflions ) INa 772 24716 23563 21 498 19 222
Passenger Load Factor % BO2 795 776 733 755
Cargotonnes 1000kg MO14 146654 148132 145883 123154
avallable Tonne Kilometres milhions 4544 4709 T agay 4571 EX: L]
Revenue Tonne Kilometres miflions 3130 3107 309 282 2471
Overall Load Factor* % 674 660 652 618 649

* Cargo ATKs Tor the year 2013 are restated due to mare accurate metrics implementad in calculanion

In 2014, the revenue of Arline Business declined by 4 6 per cent to 2,167 7 mulhon curos (2,271 9)
Revenue from passenger trafhic constitutes approximately 75 per cent of the segment’s revenue and
cargo revenue approximately 11 per cent The segment’s oper ational result was -43 5 mullion curos (8 8)

Finnair changed traffic reporting practices from the beginning of the wanter scason 201472015 and
discontinued the reporting of ieisure traffic as a separate trafhicarea This change reflects changes in
operating model, in which previously operated leisure flights were changed to scheduled service Thas
change offers passengers better opportunittes to tailor thesr travel and opens up more sales channels
for popular lesure dustinations From October 2014, the traflic areas reported by Finnatr are passenger
traffic, with Astan, Eurnpean, North Atlantic and domestic trafhc reported separately, and cargo traffic
The traffic data for 2013 has been revised to correspond to the new reporting practices

In 2014, Finnair's overall capacity fell by 0 9 per cent compared to the previous year, while traffic
measured in revenue passenger kilometies remained unchanged year-on-year The overall passenger
load factor increased by 0 7 percentage points to 80 2 per cent In Aswn traffic, capacity fell by
2 0 per cent and traffic measured 1n revenue passenger kilometres declined by 0 3 per cent year-on-
year The passenger load factor in Asian traffic rese by 1 4 percentage points to 81 9 per cent In Euro-
pean trathe, capacity increased by 09 per cent and traffic measued in 1evenue passenger kilometres
grew by 1 0 per cent The passenger load factor in European trathe rose by 0 1 percentage prints
to 78 8 per cent In North Atlantic trathe, capacity declined by 6 2 per cent and traffic measured in
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revenuc passenger kilometres fell by 7 5 per cent The passenger load factor in North Atlantic traffic
decreased by 1 2 percentage points to 85 1 per cent In domestic traffic, capacity increased by 4 1 per
cent and traffic measured in 1evenue passenger kilometres grew by 6 6 per cent year-on-year The
passenger load factor in domestic trafhe rose by 1 6 percentage points to 66 4 per cent

Cargo transported on scheduled flights (bedly cargo) constrtutes a sigificant proportion of the
revenue from long-haul trafhe In 2014, belly cargo accounted for approximately 17 per cent of total
long-haul revenue The amount of cargo and mait carried by Finnair in scheduled traffic grew by
1 7 per cent year-on-year Finnair's overall lcad factor increased by 1 4 percentage ponts year-on-
yeal, to 67 4 per cent The available tonnc kilometres dechned by 1 4 per cent and the revenue tonne
kilometres increased by 0 7 per cent Finnair Cargo also operated wet-leased freighter flights 1n 2014
to Hanoi, Hong Kong and Brussels, as well as to Tokyo as part of capacity cooperation with JAL
Cargo Wet-leased freighter flights accounted for approximately 23 per cent of total cargo trathc

Unit revenue per avaitable seat kilometre (RASK) fell by 2 2 per cent compared to 2013

The arrval punctuality of Finnair's flights was good in 2014, with 88 3 per cent (89 0) of scheduled
fhights arriving on schedule

Alr traffic services and products

Route network and alliances
Finnair offers connections between Asia and Europe with over 200 route pairs and also operates
more than 800 flights weekly from Helsink: te other Finnish and European destinations In the
summer season 2014, Finnair operated at most 78 flights to Asia per week The number of flights to
Asia per week 1s also at most 78 in the winter season 2014/2015

The enewuorld alliance, of which Finnair tv a member, expanded considerably 1n 2014 The leading
arrline i Brazil, TAM Aurhines, and US Airways, the US-based merger partner of American Airlines,
joined the alhance 1n March, followed by Snilankan Airlines in May For Finnair's customers, new
airlmnes yoining oneworld and the joint businesses formed by its members enable better connections
to destinations outside the Finnair network Finnair began codesharing with these airlines as well as
the Russta-based §7 Airlines in 2014, and also expanded its codesharing with Flybe to cover ten desti-
nations n the UK

US Awrways also Jeined the transatlantic joint business with American Awrlines, British Airways,
tberia and Finnair Japan Atilines, British Airways and Finnatr staited a joint business for traffie
between Europe and Japan at the beginning of April 2014

In the summer, Finnair opened new routes to Nizhny Novgered, Samara and Kazan in Russia, but
the operation of these routes has been suspended for the period from 1 February to 22 April 2015 for
commercial 1casons [n the winter season 2014-2015, Finnair launched scheduled tiaffic to Miamu,
Phuket and Krabi

Finnair also announced new scheduled summer destinations for 2015 (Dubhin, Malta, Athens,
Spht, Chicage and Madeira) and new scheduled destinations for the winter season 2015/2016
{Ho Chi1 Minh City, Eilat, Lanzarote, Fuerteventura and Madeira)

Other renewals and services
Finnair installed new full-flat seats in most of tts long-haul fleet in 2014 The new Business Class seats
have been used on flaghts to Tokyo and New York from the beginning of Apiil, on flights to Beyjing
and Seoul from the beginning of May, and from the beginning of June, they have also been used on
flights to Hanoi, Hong Kong, Nagoya, Csaka and Shangha

In May, Finnair and Finavia introduced self-service bag drop umits at Helsinki Airport, giving Finnarr
customers the option of dropping their checked baggage at a self-service bag drop unit immediately
after check-in Self-service bag drop units were also introduced at Oulu and Turku arrports i 2014

In August, Finnair opened a new Premium T ounge at Helsinks Awrport The facilities are available
to Platinum and Gold Finnair Plus members and other oneworld top-tier customers

In August, Finnair revealed the cabin design for its new A350 arrcraft and announced a number
of praduct upgrades for long-haul fhghts and European toutes The product upgtades aie based on
customer feedback collected by Finnair During the autumn, the inflight cntertainment system on
all long-haul aircraft was upgraded and a new mobile applicaticn was launched to make the various
stages of the travel expenience smoother The comphimentary cold snack service on European fhights
was replaced with a versatile buy-on-board Sky Bistro service at the beginning of November, and the
new Economy Comfort product on long-haul! flights was introduced in nud-December

In the beginning of December, the oneworld alliance introduced new benefits to the most loyal
customers of its member airhnes, giving Finnair Platinum and Gold tier members additional benefits
concerning baggage when they fly oneworld member airlines

Finnair also announced the start of cooperation with leading restaurants in Finland Signature
Menus designed for Finnair will be available on a rotating basis in Business class on long-haul thghts
from Helsinki from the end of January 2015 As part of the cooperation, Finnarr will also offer special
menus next year to celebrate the arrival of the new Airbus A350 arrcraft as well as Chnistmas 2015

The design collaboration between Finnair and Marimekko took a new step in December when Finnair's
second Awrbus 330 aircraft in livery mspired by Manimekko's classic Unikko print took to the skies

Awards
In May, Finnair was the only Nordic airline to recerve a four-star Skytrax rating  the World Awrline
Star Rating program is the most extensive and respected commercial arrline rating in the industry,
and it 15 based on impartial assessments of all of the services offered by the arrline

In July, Finnair was named Northern Europe s Best Airline at the World Airline Awards, repeating
the honour for the fifth straight year The award 15 based on an independent Skytrax survey of some
18 mulhion travellers from more than 160 countries Also at the World Airline Awards, the oneworld
alliance, to which Finnair belongs, was named the World's Best Airline Alhance for the second year
running Finnair is the only arrline in the Nordic countries with a four-star Skytrax rating

In early Cctober, Finnair was named Best European Atrline for the second year running at the
annual Asia-Pacific TTG Iravel Awards
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Travel Services (Tour Operators and Travel Agencies)

This business area consists of the tour operator Aurinkomatkat (Suntours), its subsidiary oper-

ating 1n Estonia, business travel agent SMT and 1ts subsidiary Estravel, which operates in the Baltic
countries, as well as Amadeus Finland, which produces travel sector information systems and solu-
tions Aurinkomatkat Suntours serves leisure travellers, offering its customers package tours, tallored
ttineraries, fhght and hotel packages, flights and cruises, as well as golf, sailing and skung holidays

Key figures 2014 2013 Change %

Revenue and result

Revenue EUR million B T T Taer 517 39

Operational result EUR milhon 70 31 1297

Operating result EBIT EUR milion 59 16 » 200
Operating result % of revenue 27 cé 21%p

Persennel

average number of employees 645 751 141

The revenue of Travel Services 1n 2014 decreased by 13 9 per cent year-on-year, primarily due toa
contraction in Aurinkomatkat Suntours’ revenue, and amounted to 216 7 million euros (251 7} The
operational result of Travel Services improved substantially, mainly due to cost reduction measures
and operational restructuning tmplemented 1n 2014 both 1n Aurinkomatkat Suntours and business
travel agency SMT and amounted to 7 0 mithien euros (3 1) The integration of Finland Tiavel Bureau
and Area ito FTB was successfully concluded in 2014, and the synergies sought through the merger
of the two busimess travel agencies were achieved 1n full

Group structure
The companies that are part of the Finnair Group are presented in the notes to the financial state-
ments in note 1 3 Subsidiaries

Finnair sold 1ts subsidiary Finncatering Oy to LSG Lufthansa Service Europa/Afrika GmbH (LSG)
on 28 February 2014 In addition, Finnair subsidiaries Finnair Cargo Oy and Finnair Cargo Terminal
Operations Oy were merged and the merger between Finnatr subsidiaries Finland Travel Bureau and
Airca was finalised 1n 2014

Governance

Resolutions of the Annual General Meeting

Finnair Plc’s Annual General Meeting, held on 27 March 2014, confirmed the financial statements for
2013 and discharged the members of the Board of Dhirectors and the CEO from liabihity The Annual
General Meeting adopted the Board’s proposal to pay no dividend for 2013

Board of Directors
Finnar Plc's Annual General Meeting held on 27 March 2014 re-elected Klaus W Hesnemann as
the Chairman of the Board of Directors and Maya-Litsa Friman, Jussi Itavuori, Harr Kermunen and

Gunvor Kronman as membcrs, with Jaana Tuommen and Nigel Turner dected 2s new members The
Board of Directors elected Harr Kernunen from among 1ts members as the Vice Chairman

Auditors

Authorised Public Accountants PricewaterhouseCoopers continues as Finnair's auditor, with APA
Mikko Nieminen acting as the principal auditor Auditor’s fees are paid 1n accordance with the audi-
tor’s reasonable invorce

The Board’s authorisations

The Annual General Meeting of 2014 authonsed the Board of Directors to decide on the repurchase of
the company’s own shares and/or use of shares as collateral The authonisation applics to a maxtmum of
5,000,000 shares and 15 valid for a period of 18 months from the decision The Annual General Meeting
also autharised the Board of Directors to decide on the disposal of a maximum of 5,000,000 of the
company’s own shares The authorisation 1s valid for a peried of 18 months from the decision

Shareholders' Nomination Board
On 17 October 2014, the company’s largest shareholders, each entitled to appoint one member to the
Shareholders’ Normination Board, appointed Eero Heliovaara, Director General of the Government
Ownership Steering Department, Prime Minister’s Office (Chau man), Robin Backman, Portfolio
Manager, KEVA, and Per Wennberg, Directos, Skagen funds, to Finnair's Shareholders’ Nomination
Board Per Wennberg resigned from the Nomination Board in early December lImarinen, the fourth
largest shareholder of Finnair as of 1 September 2014, appointed thereafter its Managing Director
Harri Sailas to the Nomination Board as of 15 December 2014 The fourth member of the Nomina-
tion Board 1s the Chatrman of Finnair's Board of Directors Klaus Heinemann

The proposals of Finnair Shareholders’ Nomiation Board to the 2015 Annual General Meeting of
Finnair Plc and concermng the composition of the Board of Directors and the remuneration of the
members of the Board were published as a stock exchange release on 29 January 2015

Insider administration

Finnair complies with the Insider Guidelines of NASDAQ OMX Helsink: Ltd that entered into force
on 1 July 2013 Finnair's Board of Directors has approved Finnair's insider guidelines, which contain
guidelines for permanent and project-specific insiders as well as the organisation and procedures of
the company's insider controls These insider gmdelines have been distributed to all insders

Corporate Governance Statement
Finnair Plc's Corporate Governance Statement was published on 11 February 2015 as a document
separate from the Report of the Board of Directors, and it is also available on the company's website

Changes In senfor management

Tuomo Meretniemi stepped down from his position as Managing Director of Aurinkomatkat
Suntours on 24 April 2014 Aurinkomathat Suntours 1s a tour operator that 1s a subsidiary of Finnair
Group Timo Kousa, Managing Director of Finnair Travel Retai], was appointed the Managing
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Director of Auninkomatkat Suntours on 14 August 2014 He had previously served as the Managing
Durector of Aurinkomatkat Suntours since the end of April 2014 on an interim basis while also
continuing 1n his role for Finnair Travel Retail

Riku Aho was appointed Managing Director of Finnair Aireraft Finance Ltd and its subsidiary
Finnatr ATR Finance Ltd from 1 July 2014 Aho previously served as Assistant Vice President at
Finnair Awcraft Finance Ltd Finnair Awreraft Finance Ltd 1s a wholly-owned subsidiary of Finnair
Plc It 1s responsible for amrcraft procurement and fleet asset management

At the beginming of July, Eya Hakakan, 53, was appomnted Finnair's new Senior Vice President, Human
Resources, and a member of Finnair's Executive Board Hakakari moved to Finnair from her previous
positton of SVP Human Resources at Stora Enso's Printing and Living division, taking up her new post at
Finnatr on 1 October 2014 Her predecessor, Manne Tiensuu, left Finnaur on 31 August 2014

In September, Finnair appointed Juha Jarvinen, 38, Chief Commercial Officer and a member of Finnair's
Executive Board as of | November 2014 Jarvinen transferred to the new position from his post of Managing
Drrector of Finnair Cargo Jarvinen's predecessor, Alhister Paterson, left Finnair on 31 December 2014

Gregory Kaldahl, SVP Resource Management and a member of Finnair's Executive Board, left
Finnair at the end of 2014 at the end of hus four-year contract Jukka Lahtinen has been appointed
the interim head of Resource of Management unti] Kaldahl's successor has been selected Lahtinen
reports to CEO Pekka Vauramo

Personnel
The number of Finnatr employees decreased 1n 2014 due to the structural changes in the company
The Group employed an average of 5,172 (5,859) pcople, which 1s 11 7 per cent fewer than in the
previous year The Airline Business segment employed an average of 4,232 (4,834) people during the
year Travel Services employed an average of 645 (751) people and other functions 295 (274) people
The number of employees in an employment relationship was 4,981 (5,803) on 31 December 2014
A total of 4,656 of these were 1n an active employment relationship

Of the employees, 676 people worked outside Finland Of these, 198 were employed in sales and
customer service duties i Finnair's passenger and cargo trafhe A total of 195 people worked for travel
agenctes and tour operators based 1n the Baltic countrics The figures for employees outside Finland do
not include the 86 people working as guides at Aurinkomatkat Suntours’ holiday destinations

Full-time staft accounted for 98 per cent of employees, and 97 per cent of staff were employed on a
permanent basts The average age of employees was 45 years Of the personnel, 28 per cent are over
50 years of age, while four per cent are under 30 years of age The employees’ average number of years
m service was 17 4 Employees having worked for Finnair for over 20 years account for 41 per cent of
personnel, while 12 per cent have worked for Finnair for over 30 years Of Finnair Group’s personnel,
57 per cent are women and 43 per cent are men

Employee consultations conducted in 2014

In 2014, Finnair conducted extensive employee consultations with cabin personnel as well as in
admumistrative and support functions, Aurninkomatkat Suntours and Finnair Cargo The employee
consultations with admmistration and support personnel concerned operations, commercial func-

tiens, financial administration, human resous ces administration and the corporate communica-
tions, col porate tesponsibility and public affairs function The consultattons concerned over 2,000
employees The majority of the employee consultations were related to projects associated with the
implementation of Finnair's cost reduction and restructuring program

The estimated maximum need for1eductions totalled over 700 jobs The employee consultations and
resulting savings agreements ultimately led to personnel reductions of fewer than 120 employees in
support functions and lay-offs in cabin services Finnair offered the employees to be dismissed a support
package that included not only a notice period with no work obligatton, but also re-cmployment coaching
and traming support through Finnair’s Career Gate service 10 cooperation with the labour authorities

Personnel incentive schemes

Incentive bonuses for 2014, based manly on financial perfermance and quality indicators, are esti-

mated to be paid to personnel to an amount of approximately five million euros, including social secu-

rity costs  The critena based on the Group's result for the personnel profit bonus were not metn 2014
The remuneration of personnel and management 1s discussed in more detail in the Remuncration

Statement 2014, published on 11 February 2015

Shares and shareholders

Shares and share capital

On 31 December 2014, the number of Finnair shares entered in the Trade Register was 128,136,115
and the registered share capital was 75,442,904 30 euros The company's shares are quoted on
Nasdag Helsink: Each share confers one vote at the General Meeting

Government ownership

At the end of 2014, the Finmsh Government owned 55 8 per cent of Finnan s shares and votes According
to the decision made by the Finnish Parhament on 20 June 1994, the Government must own more than
half of Finnair Plc's shares, and decreasing ownership below this level i1s subject to a Parliament decision

Share ownership by management

On 31 December 2014, members of the company’s Board of Directors did nat own any Finnair
shares, and the CEO owned 52,173 shares Members of the Executive Board, tncluding the CEOQ,
owned a total of 236,058 shares, representing 0 18 per cent of all shares and votes

Own shares

Finnair did not acquire 1ts own shares in 2014 In the first quarter, the number of shares held by
Finnaur tncreased by 27,092 shares, and in the third quarter, by 6,772 shares, that in both instances
were returned to Finnair pursuant to the rules of the company’s performance share plan for 2010-2012 In
the fourth quarter, the company transferred 940 of its own shares as incentive bonuses to members of
the FlyShare employee share savings plan On 31 December 2014, Finnair held a total of 312,092 of its
own shares (279,168), representing 0 24 per cent of the total share capital
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Acquisition and delivery of own shares and returns of shares Breakdown of shares Number of Number of
Acquisition value at 31 December 2013 shares % shareholders %
Period Number of shares EUR Average price, EUR 1-200 621 mmo a5 6714 445
2004 422 300 2275 666 49 538 moa 1000 w caq mmm 23 5628 373
2005 37800 209 mwm m& 55 1 ooH 10 000 o q@uoao 53 2483 165
chm 150000 15184, omoco 1011 Hooou_ 100 _uao mumu .:: 42 214 14
NQO@ 383097 2056 m&.mm 537 100001-1 000 000 9533416 78 26 02
2007 0 ooo Ggoc 1000 001- 93040 867 726 9 01
2008 235526 1538956 35 653 Registered in the name of nominee 9423437 74 10 01
2009 0 000 q00 Not mc_._,..m:mq into the book maz uﬁaa 18763 04
2010 22758 11471962 504 ._.og_ :w Hwo _.Hm 1000 15,084 100 0
2011 0 ao0 Q00
o2 ¢] 000 000
NEW ooo oao _ 68465010 Z28l Shareholders by type Number of Number of
2013 T T T dp 015 uommﬂmmﬂ - T timlmm at 31 December 2014 shares % shareholders %
Nm:.al T T Tt T - - - wm 864 et \m‘m mmam.wr: - - ;m ww E._E_n uoa.mm 87925194 686 16 01
2014 940 233440 248 Io:mmﬁ_._n_m o : hm_ mmh o l_mm } 14 459 959
3112 2014 12,002 891,708.00 288 Francalmstiotons _—_—__ Ba0hs 65 8 03
- — - _ - - _ e e e - - - v:<m_m companies a mOe u.ﬁ 51 472 3t
Assoriations 1279 295 10 41 03
Finnish shareholders total 118409788 924 15026 996
Finnair ple largest shareholders as at 31 December 2014
Number of shares % Changes 2014
_Registered in the name of 2 nomanee 9423437 74 10 01
1 State of finland Ofhce Counsd Of State 71515426 558 0 Nk - = - - - - -
oEmam Finland 284129 02 48 03
2 KEVA 6 150875 48 865233 - = - - -
- —- - - —_— e — — - e e — — —— zossmo qmw_ﬂmaa and a:.,_m: 9707566 76 58 04
3 limannen Mutual f Pansian Insurance Company 36475 564 29 1000,000 snarenolders total
4 Nordea Funds 3144917 25 me:g T - -0 - - - ) -
5 Tuviste Group Oy 2450000 19 950000 Kot no:<m:mn 1o the | 'book m_..=< mmmm;_._._.l... T 18 63 o0 o )
6 Vvarma Mutua! Pension Insurance Company 2415002 19 i 819002 Total 128,136,115 100 15084 1000
7 State Pensian Fund 2100000 16 0
B k 1 10 13300C0
8 Kybstld Heikki 330000 - g —"_mmm_sm notifications
9 Veritas Pension Insurance Compar 1250000
i Two flagging notifications were 1ssued in 2014 The combined holdings of funds managed by Skagen
10 OP Funds 1226969 10 377200
- — - e e e e e e e - ASincreased to 7,419,573 shares, equivalent to 5 79 per cent of ail shares and votes (more than 5 per
11 Etra lavest Oy 1 ooo ooo 08 0
3 Godke Fande T - T T TTwnTe T T Tee T T T cent), as a result of sales of shares completed on 5 March 2014 Funds managed by Skagen AS 1ssued
- mtme s e e e e - = ~-- - - a second flagging notifi v 2014 after th
13 Finnaw Plc stal Fnd w10 aoo 07 205 068 M ond mem:m_ otl nm:oq“ on urm ZM ember ; __m ert M: ndiﬂ_:_”n_ mrﬂa of Finnair Ple shares
" Em_m:a&mm Z_am 00 aoo Y 100000 and votes had fallen to zero (less than per cent) fo owtng the sale of thetr shares
15 SEB Funds 637000 05 595000
Shareholder agreements
Nominee regilered 0423437 74 597435 Finnair 15 not aware of any shareholder agreecments pertaining to share ownership or the use of voting rights
Cthers 15010 215 148
T e T T T T T T Thaeqs — TTweoe T "Ta Change of control provisions in material agreements

128, _.mo u._.m 1000

Some of Finnair’s financing agreements mclude a change of control clause under which the finan-
cier shall be entitled to request prepayment of the existing loan or to cancel the availability of a loan
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shareholding by number of shares owned Shareholding by type

4

% %

7
N
/

AN e

1-2000 45%
® 20i-1 000 2.35%
W L0G1-10.0005 28%
W 10 G01-100 000 4 15%
B 100.001-1,000,000 7 75%
M 1000 001- 72.61%
7 Registred i the name of the nommee 7 35%
B Not converted mto the book entry system 0 D1%

Public bodres 68 6%
B Households 11.3%
8 Financial msttutions 6 5% I Outsade Finland 0 2%

M Private companies 5 1% B Not converted nto the
g book entry system 0 0%
B Associations LO%

M fegstered mthename of
anomimee 7 4%

facility 1n the event that a person other than the State of Finland acquures control of Finnair either
through a majority of the voting rights or otherwise

Share-based incentive schemes

Employee share savings plan FlyShare

In March, Finnair's Board of Directors decided to launch a new 12-month savings period under

the FlyShare Employee Share Plan The objective of the plan established in 2013 1s to encourage the
employees to become shareholders in the company, and thereby strengthen the employees’ interest
in the development of Finnawr's shareholder value and to reward them over the long term Approxi-
mately 700 Finnair employees, or 15 per cent of those invited, participated tn the second phase of the
plan in 2014 The share savings plan is described in more detail in Finnarr's Remuneration Statement
and on the company’s website.

Share-based Incentive plan for pilots

In October, Fimnair’s Board of Directors approved a one-off long-term incentive plan for Finnair
pilats The plan 15 a part of the savings agreement between Finnair and the Finnish Air Line Pilots’
Association (SLL) that brings Finnair 17 nuilion euros i permanent annual savings The share
savings plan covers the period 2015-2018 and it 1s described 1in more detail in Finnair’s Remunera-
tion Statement and on the company's website

Key personnePs performance share plan

In February 2014, Finnair’s Board of Directors approved a performance share plan, covening the years
20142018, for Finnair’s key personnel, and in December 2014, the Board of Directors approved a
performance share plan, covering the years 2015-2017, for Finnair's key personne} Both perfor-
mance share plans are part of Finnair’s long-term share-based incentive arrangement that Finnair’s
Board of Directors approved in 2013, and whuch consists of annually commeneing indrvidual plans
‘The share plans are described in more detail in stock exchange releases published on 11 February and
17 December 2014

Share price development and trading

At the end of December 2014, Finnair’s market value stood at 317 8 miulhion euros (354 9), and the
closing price of the share was 2 48 euros (2 77) Duning 2014, the highest price for the Finnair share
on the NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Stock Exchange was 3 0] euros (3 25), the lowest price 2 30 euros
(2 40) and the average price 2 68 euros (2 86) Some 21 4 million (26 0) of the company’s shares, with
a total value of 54 1 mullion euros (74 2), were traded

Number of shares and share prices 2014 2013 2012 2011 2016
Average number of shares adjusted for
share 1ssue pcs 128136115 128136115 128136115 128134115 128136115

.»«ma.w.m number of m:mqmm.meﬁmm tor
share issue (with diuted effect)

The number of shares adjusted for share
wsue 3l the end of financial year pcs 128136115 128136115 128136115 128136115 128136115
The number of shares adjusted for share

issue at the end of financial year {with

pts 128136115 128136115 128136115 128136115 128136115

diluted effect) pes 128136115 128136115 128136115 128136115 128136115
‘Kumber of shares end of the financiat vear pcs 128136115 128136115 128136115 1281361315 128136115
Trading price highest FUR 301 325 264 537 572
Trading pnce lowest £UR 230 240 167 230 161
“Market valle of share capital Dec 31 EUR mil 318 355 305 295 646
Number of shares traded ~ pes 21417047 26024070 19668495 21422076 27299521
Number of shares traded as % of average T h

rumber of shares % 1671 2031 1535 1672 21
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Dividend policy and the Board’s proposal for the distribution of profit
The aim of Finnair's dividend policy 1s to pay, on average, at least one-third of the earnings per share
as a dividend durning an economuc cycle In 2014, carnings per share from the result of the period
(before hybnd bond interest) was -0 65 (0 18) euros, and earnings per share was -0 71 (0 11) euros
in paying dmvidends, the aim 15 to also take mnto account the company’s earnings trend and outlook,
financial situation and capital needs for any given period

Finnair Plc’s distnibutable equity amounted to 149,223,743 79 euros on 31 December 2014 The
Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting that, taking into account the future
investment needs of the company, ne dvidend 1s paid for 2014

Corporate responsibility

In2014

+ Finnair's overall customer satisfaction was close to the level seen in recent years and the target set
for1t The wetghted overall score given by customers for the flight experience was 8 1/10

« The wellbeng-at-work index increased shghtly from the previous year, amounting to 3 9/5 0
(3 8/5 0} (Scale 1=very poor — 5=excellent} The four areas covered by the wellbeing-at-work
survey are My Immediate Supervisor, My Work Communmty, My Perspective, and My Health and
Safety The general wellbeing-at-work of Finnair's personnel 1s measured twice per year

+ Finnair’s fuel consumption and CO, emissions decreased by 0 91 per cent from 2013 Consump-
tron and emussions per available seat kilometre also decreased very shghtly, by 0 03 per cent year-
on-year

Comparison NASDAQ OMX Helsinki

150
100 - -M—-f
50 v
0
10 11 12 13 143
B Finnar
W OMX Helsinki

B OMX Hedsinki benchmark

Reducing environmental Impacts
Finnair 1s cooperating with industry operators and the authorities to reduce the chmate impacts of
aviation and to achieve goals such as developing biofuel supply chains and reducing costs to allow for !
the broader use of biofuels in the industry Finnair's target 15 to reduce its CO, emissions by 20 per cent
per one hundred tonne kilometres flown from the 2009 level by 2017

As part of this effort, Finnair operated a flight from Helsinki to New York on 23 September 2014, in
conjunction with the UN Climate Summut, using biofuel mixture that was partly manufactured from
cooking 01l The price of biofuel bewng nearly triple that of conventional fuel and its poor availability
stand as obstacles 1n the way of its more extensive commercial use During this year, Finnair also
participated in a Ministry of Transport and Commaunications’ study on the more extensive adoption
of biofuel at Helsinki Aurport

In October, Fmnair became the only airline to be awarded a posibon on the A List of the Carbon
Disclosure Project’s Chmate Perfoermance Leadershup index (CPLI) for actions to reduce carbon
dioxide emiassions and mitigate the business risks of cimate change The index presents 187 listed
companies identified as demonstrating a supertor approach to climate change mitigation

As part of the implementation of its IEnvA environmental system, Finnair published an updated
Environmental Policy in Qctober

other sustainability efforts

In September, the International Air Transpart Assaciation (IATA) announced that Finnair Cargo will
be among the first arlines to recerve a PHARMA certificate in early 2015 Pharmaceuticals, such as
vaccines and biotech medicines, are among the most delicate products transported as air cargo, and
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Finnar Cargo 15 one of the first two aurlines in the world to participate in IATA's PHARMA certifica-
tion program

Starting 1n October 2014, cooperation between Finnair, the UN Children's Fund UNICEF and the
travel industry mformation systems provider Amadeus has allowed Finnarr passengers to make a
donation to UNICEF when purchasing tickets on Finnair’s website The donations are directed to the
UNICEF Schools for Asia initiative, which aims to change the hives of chuldren in 11 Asian countries
through education

Reporting
Finnair has reported on environmental sustamnabihity since 1997, and in 2008 became one of the
first airlines to report according to GRI gwidelines The GRI, formed with the support of the United
Nations Environment Program, 1s the most widely recogmised international authonity on sustamna-
bility reporting

The Annual Report for 2014 will be published at the end of February 2015, and will report the
financial, economic, social and environmental performance of the Finnair Group in accordance with
the GRI guidehines, and identify and explain the strategic business ramifications of this performance
Finnair will also report on its UN Global Compact targets as part of the report The Annual Report
for 2013 was published in March 2014

significant near-term risks and uncertainties
Aviation 15 an industry that 1s globally sensitive to economic cycles and also reacts quickly to external
disruptions, seasonal varration and changes in economic trends In the implementation of strategy,
Finnair and 1ts operations involve various nsks and opportunities Finnair has implemented a compre-
hensive risk management process to ensure that risks are identified and mitigated as much as possible,
although many nisks are not within the company’s full control To exploit value creation opportunities,
Finnair 1s also prepared to take and manage risks within the imits of its risk-bearing capacity

The risks and uncertamties described below are considered to potentially have a significant impact
on Finnair’s bustness, financal result and future outlook within the next 12 months This list 14 not
intended to be exhaustive

Exceptional variation in fuel price and the potential of the recent decrease in fuel price to be
passed on to flight ticket prices or lead to an increase in capacity in Finnair's main markets constitute
a risk for Finnair’s revenue development, as does the reduction in the demand for passenger or cargo
flights due to slowing or non-existent econonuc growth in Finnair's main markets

The significance of joint operations involving closer cooperation than airline alliances, such as joint
businesses, 15 expected to continue to grow Being left out of potential new joint projects may have a
negative effect on Finnair's competitive position

The achievement of the strategic gans and cost reductions sought through Finnarr's partner-
ship projects and outsourcing projects involve risks For example, quality or availability 1ssues and/
o1 unexpected additional costs of partnerships and suppliers can have a negative eftect on Finnan s
product, reputation and profitability, o1 suppliers may obtain bargaining power 1n relation to Finnair

The entry into service of the next-generation Airbus A350 XWB awrcraft involves risks associated
with new technology and roll-out processes

The aviation industry 1s aftected by a number of regulatory initiatives at the EU and international
levels Estimating the impacts of the regulatory changes on airlines’ operational activities and/or
costs in advance 1s difficult Examples ot such regulatory mitiatives include international regulation
rclated to enmussion trading, nosse regulation and other cnvironmental regulation, EU regulations on
privacy protection and the decision made by the Court of Justice of the European Union in October
2012 regarding fhight passengers’ nights In addition, regulations on the reporting of non-financial
information (responsibihty) and other stakeholder requirements have increased substantially

The proposed change in the Finnish pension system concerning the statutory retirement age would
increase Finnair'’s pension habthties, if Finnan's supplementary pension plan cannot be amended in
Iine with the Finnush nattonal pension reform

Over the past year, Finnair has carried out more detailed assessments of the use of airspace in
conflict areas and clanfied s contingency plans for disruptions affecting flight operations and
arrspace restrictions Finnair’s risk management and risks related to the company’s operations are
described in more detail on the company’s website at www finnairgroup com

Seasonal variation and sensitivities In husiness operations
Due to the seasonal variation of the airline business, the Group s revenue and profit are generally
very much at their lowest in the first quarter and at thewr highest in the third quarter of the year The
growing proportional share of Asian trafhic increases seasonal fluctuation due to destnation-specific
seasons in Asian leisure and business travel

A one-percentage-point change in the passenger load factor or the average yield in passenger
traffic has an effect of approximately 15 million euros on the Group's operating result A one-per-
centage-point change in the unit cost of scheduled passenger traffic has an eftect of approximately
17 million euros on the operating result

in addition to operational activities, fuel price development has a key impact on Finnair's result, as
fuel costs are the company's most sigmificant expense item A 10-per-cent change in the world market
price of fuel has an eftect of approximately 16 mithion euros on Finnaw's operating result at an annual
level (for the following 12 months on a rolling basts at the balance sheet date), taking hedging into
account Without hedging, a 10-per-cent change would have an effect of approximately 43 nullion
euros on Finnair's operating result at an annual level

Finnair's foreign exchange risk arises primarily from fuel and aircraft purchases, aircraft leasing
payments and sales revenue denominated 1n foreign currencies Approximately 58 per cent of the
Group’s revenuc was denomenated i euros in 2014 The most important other foreign sales curren-
cies were the Japanese yen (approximately 9 per cent of revenue), the Chinese yuan (approximately
7 per cent) and the Swedish crown {approximately 5 per cent) Approximately 48 per cent of the
Group's operating costs were denominated in foreign currencies The most important purchasing
currency was the US dollar, which accounted for approximately 41 per cent of all operating costs
Signihcant dellar-denominated expense items are aircraft leasing payments and fuel costs as well as
trafhic charges The largest investments, namely the acquusition of aircraft and thewr spare parts, are
mamly denominated 1n US dollars

A 10-per-cent change in the euro-dollar exchange rate has an effect of approxamately 12 million
euros on Finnair’s operating result at an annual level (for the following 12 months on a rolling basis at
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the balance sheet date}, taking hedging into account Without hedging, a 10-per-cent change would
have an effect of approximately 66 million curos on Finnair's operating result at an annual level The
sensitvity analysis assumes that the Chinese yuan and the Hong Kong dollar continue to corre-
late strongly with the US dollar A 10-per-cent change in the euro-yen exchange rate has an effect
of approximately 6 milhion euros on Finnair's operating result at an annual levet (for the following
12 months at the balance sheet date), taking hedging into account Without hedging, a 10-per-cent
change would have an effect of approximately 17 mullion euros on Finnair's operating result at an
annual level

The company protects itself agamnst the risks of currency, interest rate and jet fuel positions by
using diffcrent derivative instruments, such as ferward contracts, swaps and options, according
to the risk management policy venfied by the Board of Directors Fuel purchases are hedged for
24 months forward on a rolling basis, and the degree of hedging decreases towards the end of the
hedging period The lugher and lower imits of the degree of hedging are Y0 and 60 per cent for the
following six months At the end of December, the hedging ratio for fuel purchases was 75 per cent
for the first half of 2015 and 64 per cent for the whole year The hedging ratio for a dollar basket over
the following 12 months was 82 per cent, and the hedging ratio for a yen basket was 73 per cent

Events after the review period
The Finmish Competition and Consumer Authonity approved the sale of Flybe UK Ltd'’s 60 per cent
ownership of Flybe Nordic AB to StaffPoint Holding Ltd and G W Sohlberg Ltd in January 2015 The
transacuon price was one euro Flybe Nordic owns fully the Finnish subsidiary Flybe Finland Ltd,
which 1s in charge of Finnair's regional airhine operations Flybe Finland operates approximately one
third of Finnair’s narrow-body fleet on a contract flying basts Following completion of the sale,
Staffpoint’s ownership in Flybe Nordic 1s 45 per cent, GWS' 15 por cent and Finnair's 40 per cent

The proposals of Finnair Shareholders’ Nomination Board to the 2015 Annual General Meeting of
Finnarr Ple and concerning the composition of the Board of Directors and the remuneration of the
members of the Board were published as a stock exchange release on 29 January 2015

In January, Finnair became the first arrline in Europe to be certified as a Stage 2 operator in the
1ATA {Internaticnal Air Transport Assocration) Environmental Assessment (IEnvA) program The
system 15 designed to independently assess and improve an airline’s environmental management
Finnair 15 one of only two global carriers to be certified as an IEnvA Stage 2 operator As part of the
program, Finnair has set the following environmental performance targets for its operations

+ 40 per cent reduction of anti-icing fluid usage m 2006-2016

» 20 per cent reduction of CO, emissions i 2009-2017

¢ 10 pesr cent reduction of eneigy usage in corporate facihities in 2007-2016
+ 10 per cent decrease of non-EU waste/passenger in 2014-2016

+ 40 per cent noise reduction in 2005-2017

Finnair improved rts Finnair Plus frequent flyer program in January by remowving fuel surcharge fees
from European Classic flight awards, as well a5 fiom Tel Avivand Dubai Classic fhight awards The
passcngers pay taxes and other povernment charges on therr fhights

[n January 2015, Finnair was named 2014's most punctual major European carrier by travel data
company FlightStats The oneworld alllance was alse namud the most on-time global alhance in the
same survey

Outiook
The demand outleok for passenger and cargo traffic in Finnar's main markets still involves uncer-
tainty Finnair estimates that in 2015 1ts capacity measured i Available Seat Kilometres wall grow by
approximately 3 per cent and that its revenue will remain at the 2014 level Finnair further estimates
that, in 2015, its unit costs excluding fuel will deerease from 2014 level

The lower price of jet fuel and the full impact from the completed savings program are supporting
the financial performance of Finnairin 2015

FINNAIR PLC
Board of Directors
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Financial indicators 2010-2014

EINCOME STATEMENT 2013 2012 2011 2010 KEY FIGURES 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Revenue 2400 2449 2258 2023 Undiluted and diluted earnings per
m?ﬂmml\ T Tt - ||~o| -mwl o |.MH|M lll-.auu share EUR 071 o1 001 075 @.Wbl
dperavratresit T T T T T e s fwwshe 0 o ER @ 5300 0 5B 6
T telalion fo revenue T s T 8 27 12 c_<amq&m‘=m@ o e oov o 000 o 0 _ol Don., oo
Dperating result 8 34 88 13 Bvdend/earmngs” % o 00 lz2Z ca 00
In relation to revenue 03 14 39 07 Drvidend yietd % oo 0a 42 eo Mm‘
Nat financial ncome (+expenses {1 ELR mi 23 23 18 22 20 M_wwﬁas from operating acl: R - 1 - 040 05
1n relation Lo revenue % -10 10 07 10 10 PJE ratio - e s Tam T mo 17456 307 2109
Metmnwerestexpenses EURmIl_ v 0 B Mo £quity ratio % 277 326 Y 326 382
_nreltonltorevenue % 04 (e 05 06 08 Net debl to equny {Gearing) % 03 199 Wo w33 78
fResutbeforetares  ~  EAmA S a b w08 Adjusted gearing % 1075 7%2 778 1084 796
In refation to revenue % 41 1] 06 49 16 Returm on oaty (ROD) % o T ) 05 27
z.m:_:._ an nmE"m_ mau_m«.mamzommu T W 65 ER) 28 52 04
BALANCE SHEET 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 N N h T
Non current assets EUR mifl ?oo\a I 341 150 1621 1514 CASH FLOW 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Current assets EUR mi 799 759 699 736 821 Operational cash flow EUR mill 24 142 155 51 76
Inwmm.lm.m.:m_[n 3~|mw_m||| — . m@\aa« 122 e .wmx.ht - 32 0 L In relation to revenue % 11 mor.. 61 B 22 ulm..
Assets total EUR mill 1885 2118 2231 2357 2412
Equiy and non controlimg mterests  ERmil  S14 &8 775 w7 853
Labites oral  EURmill 1371 1460 145 1610 1558 PERSONNEL ikl 22 o o 2010
Equiyand habiities otal  EURmil 1885 218 2231 2380 241z Personnel on average 3172 589 678 il A
Gross capital expendrture EUR mil 8z 7 4 204 183 *The dividend for year 2014 15 a proposa! of the Board of Directors to the Annual General Meeting
In refation to revenue % 36 32 17 90 91
Average capital employed EUR mull zﬂmum 1295 1413 1550 1638 Comparative figures for 2013 have been restated due to change in accounting principles related Lo treatment of gverhavls Inaddition com
Dwvidend for the financial yaar* EuR mil 0 0 13 0 0 parative hgurss in balance shegt have been effected by the netting of deferred taxes See more informatien in notes 4 2 Tangidle assets 6 1
“nterest bearng lanimes T Teuwmi 438 T Taes T IR T s Income taxes.and 6 5 Change in accounting principles
Tvqudfends . ERmIl a6 4% 40 403 527
“Inierest Gearng netdebt  Ewmmil 1 134 138 32 238
“nreltontorevence % o1 56 ss& 144 17

FINNAIR ANNUAL REPORT 2014 72




Financial statements
1 January-31 December 2014

How to read Finnalr Financlal Statements?
The nates of Finnaws financial statements have been ComBined (o seven
busness related sechons inorder to give more refevant and less compex
mcture of the whole Each section sets out the acoounting princeples ap-
phed in produang these notes Logelher with any cnlical accounimg est-
mates and sources of uncertanty

Hlnotes o the tmanciat statement have been combined mto sections based
on thew context. The aim 15 to give a more relevant pucture of the Finnair
Group and its busmess. The conten? of each section t5 desonbed and ex-
planed m the begmnmng ot that sectsen and marked with [

B spacitic 2ccoumning prncipes are aftachad fo the relevant note. The
actountng prnapies can be recogrsed from character EY

H orxcal accounting estomates and sounces of uncertanty have been pre-
sented together with the relevant note and specihied with character B
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consolidated income statement

Consolidated statement of
comprehensive income

2013 2013
EUR mull Note 2014 Restated EUR mill Note 2014 Restated
Revenue 21221 2,2845 2,400 3 Result for the financial year -82.5 229
Other gperating income 222 183 188 Other comprehensive Income items
Operating expenses Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent
Staff costs 28 3145 3813 perlods
Fuel costs 5604 6890 Change 1n fair value of available for sale financial assets 59 0o 138
Lease payments for awrcraft 32 788 575 Change in fair vatue of hedging mstruments 59 870G 53
Other rent 312 1567 1520 Translation differences 59 c4 00
aircraft materials and averhaul 1194 1258 Tax effect 174 44
Traffic charges 3309 7223 Items that will nat be reclassitied te profit or loss in subsequent
periods
Ground handiing and cafering expenses 518 2573 Actuarial gans and losses from defined benefit plans 382 41
E 4
Expenses for tour aperations 767 89 Tax eftact 08
Sales and marketing expenses 653 728 other comprehensive income items total 124
Deprecialion and impairment 43 1343 407 Camprehensive income for the financial year -154 9
Other expenses 33 2174 -2181
operational result 365 19 Atiribatable to
Fair value changes in dervatives and
¢hanges n exchange rates of fleet overhauls 37 437 7 Owners of the parent company 1351 &l
Non recurring tems 37 77 357 Non controlling interests 02 03
Operating result 725 79
N v ' Comparative figures for 2013 have been restated due to change 1n accounting principles related to treatment of overhauls
Financial income 5 See more information in notes 4 2 Tangible assets and 6 5 Change in accounting principles
Financial expenses 51 269 197
Share of results in asseciates and joint ventures 16 -32 40
Result before taxes 991 268
Income taxes 61 165 39
Result for the financlal year 825 29
“attributable to o - ST -
Owners of Ihe parent company -827 226
Non controlling interests 02 03
Earnings per share from profit attributabie
to shareholders of the parent company
Earnings per share, EUR (diluted and undiluted} 071 011
Result for the pertod per share EUR 0465 018
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Consolidated balance sheet

31 Dec 2013 1 Jan 2013 31 Dec 2013 1 Jan 2013
EUR milf Note 31 Dec 2014 Restated Restated EUR mill Note 31 Dec 2014 Restated Restated
ASSETS EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Non-current assets Equity attributable to owners of the parent -
Intangsble assets 41 184 193 255 Share capital 59 754 754 754
Tangible assels 42 8978 12926 13287 Other equity 59 4383 6019 6734
Investments in associates and joint ventures 14 49 32 123 Total 5137 6773 748 8
Loan and other recevables 521 92 205 227 Mon controlling interests 08 07 0o
Deferred tax assels 61 338 oo 00 Equity total 5143 6780 7497
Non-current assets total 964 1 1,330 6 1,389 2
Non-current liabilities
Current assets Deferred tax habiliies 61 00 34 57
Inveniories 35 147 1%9 171 Interest bearing liabshities 513 33727 3855 3047
Trade and other receivables 223 1949 2371 2175 Pension obligations 182 253 194 38
Dervative financial Instruments 98 1637 436 336 Provisions 36 521 6%3 823
QOther finzncial assets 522 3328 3359 3635 53 221 254 188
Cash and cash eguwalents 523 934 1229 670 Non-current llabilitles total 4373 941 5051
Current assets total 798 6 759.4 6587
Current llabilities
Assets held tor sale 15 1224 177 319 Provisions 16 442 405 382
Interest bearing i3l 53 899 2075 1742
Assets total 1,885 1 2,1176 2,119 8 Trade payables 562 6l6 70 u»
Derwative financial instruments 58 1985 291 185
Deferred income 224 3279 3408 2880
Employee benefit zelated accrualks 38 797 947 1043
Other expenses related accruals 34 1371 1690 1693
Current Hiabilities total 933 4 943 2 8628
Liabiliues related to assets hetd for sale 15 00 23 22
Liabiiities totat 1,370 7 1,439 6 1,370 1
Equity and liabilities total 18851 21174 2,1198

Comparative figures for 2013 have been restated due to change in accounting principles related to treatment of overhauls
In addition, comparatwe figures i balance sheet have been effected by the netting of deferred taxes See more mformation
m notes 3 2 Tangible assets 6 1 Income taxes and 6 5 Change 1n accounting principles
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Consolidated cash flow statement

2013 Notes to € idated cash flow stat t

EUR mill 2014 Restated

Cash How from operating activitles 1 Non-cash transactions

Result tor the financial year 825 229

Non ¢ash transactians 1419 1156 EUR mel] 2014 2013

Other adjustments to result for the financial year Deprecialion 1357 1407
Financial income 35 426 Employee banefits 114 73
Financial expenses 269 197 Fair value changes in derwatives 349 217
Share of results in associates and joint ventures 32 40 Dther adjustments 401 05
Income taxes 165 39 Total 141 ¢ 1159

Changes in warking capital 332 358

tnterest expenses paid 141 121 " Net change in financial interest bearing assets maturing after more than three months

Other financial expensas paid 45 38

Intgrest income receved 67 14 ¥ Liquid funds

Income taxes pad 02 27

Net cash flow frem operating activities 232 142 8 EUR mill 2014 2013

Other financial 25seis 3328 3359

Cash flow from investing activities Cash and cash equivalents 934 1279

fvestments in intangible assets 43 23 Short-term cash and cash equivalents in balance sheet “a1 4588

Investments 1 tangrble assets 21 964 Maturing after more than three months 2360 1265

Net change in financral interest beartng assels at fair value through profit or loss ™ -1095 146 Shares avallable for sale 00 04

et change in shares classified as available for sale [H] 537 Total 190 1 3318

Divestments of fixed assets and group shares 2676 8% -

Drvidends cecerved 00 12 Cash and cash equivatents include cash and bank deposits as well as other highly hquid financial assets which mature w ithin

Change n nen current receivables 26 1o three months Suchitems are e g certificate of deposits and commercial papers Balance sheel tems are presented innotes

Net cash flow from investing actlvities 144 193 5722 Other current financial assets and 5 2 3 Cash and cash equivalents

cash flow from financing actlvities Comparative figures for 201 3 have been restated duc to change in accounting principles related to treatment of ;merhauls

Proceads from loans 50 1500 See more infermation in notes 4 2 Tangible assets and 6 5 Change tn accounting principles

Loan repayments and changes 1694 -1150

Hybrid bond repayments GO 524

Hybnid bond interest and expenses 107 -154

Purchase of own shares 00 17

Dmidands paid 02 130

Net cash flow from financing activities =180 3 474

Change in cash flows <141 8 757

Change in liquid funds

Lyquid funds at beginning 3318 2561

Change In tash flows 141 8 757

Liquld funds, at end ¥ 1901 3318
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Hedging reserve Equity attributable Non-

Share Other and other Unrestricted Retained Hybrid te owners of controliing Equity
EUR mill capital restricted funds octitems equity funds earnings bond the parent interests total
Equity 1 Jan 2014 754 168.1 150 2473 825 1189 67713 07 6780
Result for the financial year 827 827 02 825
Change wn fair value of hedging instruments 696 696 69 w!
Actuarial gains and kosses from defined benehit plans 33 33 13
Translation giiterencas 04 D4 04
Comprehensive income for the financlal year 00 724 00 827 o0 -155 1 02 -154 9
Dividend Y 02
Share based payments 01 ol 01
Hybrid bond nterests and expenses 85 86 86
Equity 31 Dec 2014 754 168.1 874 2474 -8.8 1189 5137 o6 51413

Hedglng reserve Equity attributable Non-

Share Other and other unrestricted Retained Hybrid to owners of controlling Equity
EUR mlll capital restricted funds 0ocl items equity funds earhings bond the parent interests total
Equity 31 Dec 2012 754 168.1 0c 2971 1126 1711 743 1] 7752
Change n accounting principles 256 256 256
Equity 1 Jan 2013 754 1681 00 2471 870 1711 7487 09 7996
Result for the hnancial year 226 226 03 229
Change in fair value of available for sale finangial assels 104 104 104
Change in fair value of hedging instruments 42 42 432
Actuarial gans and losses from defined benefit plans 02 a2 02
Comprehensive Income for the financial year total oo 00 -150 0o 226 o0 17 03 7%
Dwidend 127 127 0s RETY
Purchase of own shares 17 17 17
Share based payments 19 03 15 15
Hybrid bond repayment 521 521 521
Hybnd bond interests and expenses 141 1al a1
Equity 31 Dec 2013 754 168 1 -150 2473 825 1189 6773 07 6780

Hybnd bond at the end of 2014 and 2013 includes the 120 milhion eurc hybrid loanissued (n 2012 which after deduction of transaciion costs amounts to 118 9 miflion euros There was no changes in hybrid loans dunng 2014 The decrease of 52 1 eillion euros in hybnd bond dunng 2013

relates 1o redemption of the outsianding share of the previous hybrid bond issued in 2005 Mare information on hybrid bond can be found n note 5 9 Egquity refated information

Comparatwve figures for 2013 have been restated due to change in accounting panciples related to treatment of overhauls See more nformation in notes 4 2 Tangible assets and 6 5 Change in accounting principles
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1. consofldation

Il kotes under Consolidation section mctude bases of preparation and descnpbion of general attounting prinaples as well as notes that provide
mformatton relatmg to consolidation prinaiples and methods. Awn of the section s to prowide an overall picture of the group’s structure and pnn-
aples apphed i prepaning consofidated financal statements, Notes nciude m addition (o genzral consohdateon gnncigles, infermation ahout
subsidianes, associated companres and ot ventures held. acquired or sold by the groun as well as mformation abatt assets heid for sate, Il

1.1 Accounting principles

How should Finnalr’s accounting principies be read?

Finnaw deseribes the accounting princies m congunchon with each note in the am of providang enhanced understanding of each ac-
counting area. General consofidation pinciples are desaribed as past of this note (accounting princiias)owhilte.the enes more directly
related to a specific note are attached to the cormesponding note, The Group focuses on describing the accounting chdices made with-
in the framework of the prevaiing IFRS poticy and avoxds repeating the actual text of the standard, unless Emnair considers ® particy-
larly important to the understanding of the note § content. Refer to the table below o see which notes. accounting prinapies and IFRS
standards are relajed,

Accounting principte Note Nr 1FRS
Consohdation 3:3._3 of subsidianes Subsidianes 13 {FRS 10

Description of the company

The: Finnair Group engages in worldwide air transport operations and supporting services The Group's operations are di-
vided into the Aurline Business and Travel Services business areas ‘The Group's parent company 15 Finnair Plc, which s
domciled 1n Helsinka at the registered address Tietotie 9, Vantaa The parent company i1s listed on the NASDAQ OMX
Helsink: Stock Fxchange The Board of Directors of Finnair Plc has approved these financial statements for publication at
1ts meeting on 10 February 2015 Under Finland s Limited Liability Compames Act, sharcholders have the aption to accept,
change or reject the financial statements 1t the Annual General meeting of the sharcholders, which wafl be held after the
pubhication of the financsal statements

Basls of preparation
Finnarr Plc’s consolidated financial statements for 2014 have been prepared according to the International Financial Report-
1ng Standards (IFRS) and IFRIC interpretations in effect on 31 December 2014 and as adopted by the European Unton The
notes to the consolidated financial statements also comply with Finnish accounting and corporate law

“The 2014 consolidated financial statements have been prepared based on ariginal acquisition costs, except for financial
assets recogrused through profit and loss at fair value, financial assets avadable-for-sale, and derivative contracts, which have
been measured at farr value Financial stat W datas pr d in mullions of euros, rounded to the nearest one hundred

thousand eurn This means that the sum of the individual figures may differ from the total shown

Presentation of Consolidated lncome Statement and Batance Sheat
1AS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements standard does not define ‘operating result The Group has defined it as net
amount of operating income and expenses, including revenue and other operating income, less operating expenses, such

Hon-controfting snierests and transactions o o

with non-controlling mterests Substdiaries 13 IFRS E

Hen-current assets and _Ea_Eﬂ held for sale  Mort-current ummmm and habdities held for sale 15 i |~mnm 5 T B
>umcn&—hm es and _o_a ventures 0 .33:._.5_._3 in associates m:a _a_=.~ <M_=H=m|m .l|~ 6 I_mmw':! T
Segment reporting - mmmni.mi nformation T 21 mse )
Revenue Enoma_co:\. other mcome and trade - - ) T - T
recewvables Operating income 22 IAS 18 1AS 39 IFRS 7
Inventones "7 ivestones 15 #sz

Provsions i T prowsons | 35wy
m:_u_oﬁm benelits ang m.aa umuaa E.:%:: Employee henelts i B - m ] |_mm 19 _E.m 2 o
“pensions Pensions a2 wsw
Intangible assets tangible assets T a1 wms T T
Tangnble &mm: B - ) ._.m_..a_w_m mmmmal T T ?nmN| ‘i_ﬁm 5 T
Deprecation and amortrsaton, Imparrment T T T T s s
testing .:S_._«_c_m assets Tangible mmmmm 41 42 I1A533

Operating and finance lease arrangements  Leasing arrangements T Tas wsiz
Intesest and dvidend income Financial income and mxumi.u ) 51 WS18IAS39
Finangial mmm»m and _EB::”:_ of :B_..m_ - T T o
assets, cash and cash equvalents Financial assets 52 IAS 39 IFRS 7

Financial habdives - Financal habifities B m 3 o IAS 39 _mzlm 7
Contmgent habiibes Convmgentbablies 54 ws3
Dermvative ngp_.mnm and ?awm mhooa:c_..m a«:ﬁ:ﬁm T T T Tsg |_<>m\uo m_umpm 7 B
“Equty, dwidend and treasury shares Equny-elated information T
Income and deferredtaxes  Icomefaxes — 61 1s12

as e expenses and matenals used, Jease payments for arcraft and other lease fees, employee benefits, depreci-
ation and possible impairment losses arising as well as other operating expenses Fxchange rate differences and changes in
fawr vatues of dervatves are included in operating profit if they arise from items related to business operations, otherwise
they are recognised mn financial tems Operating result excludes financral items, share of results from assnciates and joint
ventures and income taxes

Consolhdated income statement includes, in addition to operating result operational result which is presented to better
reflect the Group's business performance when companing results to previous penods Operational result doesn't include
capital gams and losscs, changes n the value of foreign currency d tod fleet mair ¢ reserves, changes in the
unreahised fair value of dervatives or non-recurning items

In Consolidated balance sheet, assets and habilitwes are classihed as current when they are expected to reabse within
12 months or when they are cfassified as hquid funds or financial assets or habtlities classified at fair value through prefitor
loss Qther assets and habihies are classified as non-current assets or liabiities

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements 1n accordance with IFRS standards requires Group management to make certain
estimates and judgements in applying the accounting principles Information about the judgement exercised by manage-
ment 0 applying the Group's accounting principles and the areas where estimates and judgements has e biggest impact in
the financial statements are presented tn the note 1 2 Cntical accounting estimates and sources of uncertainty

B - content of the section
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Change in accounting principles

In the begmnning of 2014 group changed its accounting principle refated to treatment of awrcraft engines maintenance costs
According to the changed principle, certan engine overhauls are capitalized and depreciated between maintenance events
Previously these mamtenance costs were expensed when oocurred Comparative information has been restated to reflect
the changed accounting principle More information related to changed accounting pninciples can be found in notes 4 2
Tangible assets and 6.5 Change in account:ng principles

Application of vew and amended IFRS standands and [FRIC interpretations
The following standards have been adopted by the group for the first time for the financial year beginning on | January 2014
+ IFRS 10, Consolidated financial statements' identifies the concept of control as the determining factor in whether an en-
uty shoutd be included withun the consohidated financial statements of the parent company
= IFRS 11, Joint arrangements focuses on the rights and obligations of the parties to the arrangement rather than its le-
gal form. There are two types of joint armangements joint operations and joint ventures Joint operations anse where the
investors have nghts to the assets and obligations for the babiities of an arrangement. A point operator accounts for its
share of the assets, habilities, revenue and expenses Joint ventures anse where the mvestors have nights to the net assets
of the arrangement, joint \ entures are accounted for using the equity method Due to new standard, A5 28 was revised
to be i consistent with new standard.
« IFRS 12 Dasch af s 1n other entities includes the disclosure requrements for all fottns of mnterests in other
entties, including point arrangements, associates, structured entities and other off batance sheet vehicles
The new standards TFRS 10, 11 and 12 did not change the existing consoldation method for currently held subsidianes,
assoctated compames and joint ventures The company previously classified as joint venture will continue to be accounted
for as joint venture by using equty method.
Other changes in 1FRS-standards or interpretations dd not have any effect on Fmnair s financial statements
Regarding changes in standards affecting future penods, Finnair 1s currently evaluating the effects of IFRS 15 Revenue
recognition and IFRS 9 Financial Instruments to its financial statements 1n case endorsed by FU, standard on Revenue
recognition will be effectrve fram 2017 and Financial instraments from 2018 crwards Other standards issued and affecung
future financial penods are not expected to have any sigruficant impact on Finnair s financial statement.

General consolidation principles

Consolldation

Consoldation, consolidation method and classification of ownership interests depends on whether group has power to
contrul or jointly control the entaty or have significant influence or other interests in the entity When group has power to
control the entity, it 1s consolidated as substdiary in the group according to principles descnbed in the note 1.3 Subsidiaries
When group has jont control or significant anfluence over an enlity but does not have power to control, entity 1s account-
ed for by using equity method according to princaples set in note 1 6 Investments in associates and joint ventures If group
does not have power to control nor sigruficant influence tn the entity, its ownership interests are classified as financial assets
available for sale and accounted for according to principles described 1n the note 5 2 Financial assets

Transhation of forelgn curvency Heurs

Items included i each subsideary’s financal statements are measured in the currency that 1s the main currency of operating
environment of each subsidiary {“functional currency”) The consoldated financial statements have been presented in eu-
ros, wluch 1s the parent company s functional and presentation currency Transactions denominated 1n foreign currencies
1n group companies are transhated into functionzl currency by using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction Recerv-
ables and habnlitses that are denominated m foreign currencies and are outstanding on the closing date are translated using
the exchange rate of the closmg date Exchange rate differences are recognused in the income stalement.

Foreign subsidianies whose functional cureency s not curo are transtated into curos by using average rate for the finan-
ctal year Balance sheets are translated by using the closing rate for the financial period Translation differences ansing from
the elimmanon of acquisition costs of foresgn subsidiaries are recognised i other comprehensive income When foreign
subsidiary 15 sold, the differences are recognised as part of the sales gain ot loss

1.2 Critical accounting estimates and sources of uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of estimates and assumplions relating to the future, and the actual
outcomes may differ from those estimates and assumpuions made En addition, discretion has to be exercised 1 applying
the accounting principles of the financial statements Changes in estumates and assumptrons effect the financial statements
in the period the changes eceur, and in all the subsequent tinanctal perods

i The identified main critical estimates and sources of uncertamty are presented i connection to the items considered to be affected
attached to the corresponding note The table below shows where 10 find more information about those presentations.

Critical accounting estimates and sotirces of uncertainty Note number Note
Impairment testmg 41 42 Intangtble assets Tangible assets
ludgements of mrwm_zim lease arrangements 44 Leasing arrangements
Finnawr Plus Customer Loyalty Program 22 ) Operating _:Smm: o A
Deferred taxes ) T T el T Income taves )
Pension chiigalions 382 T pensions -

1.3 Subsidiaries

EA consolidation principles of subsidiaries

Finnair Pic’s consoldated finangiat statements include the parent company Finnair Plc 2nd alk its subsidiaries The subsidlaries are de
fined as companies where the parent company directly or indirectly owns mare than 50% of (he votes or where Finnair otherwise has
the power to govern the financial and operating policres, The acquired subswianes are inctuded ¥ the consalidated financial statements
trom the day the Group has control. and dispased subsrdianes until the control coases,

Acguered and established compamies are accounted for wsing the acquisiion method of accounting. Accordingty, the agquired com-
pany s lgentihable assets, llabilites and contingent kabdities are measured at fair value on the date of acquisition The excess between
punchase pnce and fair value of the Group s share of the identifiable net assets s recognised as goocdwil!

Allntercompany transactions, balances andunrealised gains on transactions b group cor 5 are ef ed Unrealised
losses are atso efiminated unless there s evidence of impasment related to the transferred asset The accounting princples of subsid-
iaries have heen changed to correspond Group s accounting palicies.

Non-controlling interest and transactions with non-controlling interest

HNor-controling mnterests are presented within the equity in the Consolidated Balance Sheet, separated trom equity attributable to own-
er5 of the parent. For each acquisition the non-controlling inlerest can be recognmsed either at fair value or at the non-controthng inter-
est’s proportignate share of the acquiree’s net assets. The tarrying amount of nan-centrolling interests s the amount of the interests
atimhal recogmion added with the non-controling interests share of subseguent changes 1n ety Transaclions with non-tontrolling
interests are regarded as transactions with equity owners. EY

H = ¢nical accounting estmates
Y= Acoounting principles
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subsidtartes
Group Group
Name of the company ownership % Name of the company ownership %
alriine Bosiness Travel Services
Finoair Cargo Oy Finland 1000 | Amadeus Finland Oy Fintand ) 950
Finnarr Asrcraft Finance Oy Fintand 1000 Oy k_:__,_eam;m_ - Suntours Ltd Ab Finland 1000
Finnarr ATR Finance Oy Finland 1000 | Tovelomat Oy Finland . i 1000
Northport 0y, Fland 1000 |Aurnko 00 Estona o 1000
Baltwport 00 Estoma 1000 | 000 »ln_.__;oam:ar zﬁmw_m - - 1000
Finnair Tachmical Services Oy Finfand i 1000 :mn_ma_lzau oy ﬂ_a.m_.a - ) 1000
Finnarr Engime Services Oy Finland 1000 |0CO Aunnkp Russsa N ’ 1000
Finnarr Flight Academy Oy Fintand 1000 | SMT Oy Fintand - o 1000
Funnarr Travel Retad Oy Fintand 1000 |A/S Estravel Lic, Estoria I
156 Sky Chefs Fmland Gy Finland* 1000 | Estravel Vitnius UAB Lithuania 73
Kuntesstd Oy Arr Cargo Center 1 Finland 1000 |Norvista Travel Ltd, Canada 1000
Kunterstd Oy LEKO 8 Finland i 1000 | Other functions
IC Finnawr Lid, Greal Bnlam** i 1000 |FTS Fmancalt Services Oy, Fntand 1000
A/S Aerg Arrlnes, Estora 1000 | Backoffice Services Estonia 00, Estonia 1000

* The Group has made an co-operation agreement which includes a call option and ceased control over the company
** 4 Finnarr Ltd 15 3 fully owned captive insurance company in Guernsey whose earnings are subject o normal taxation in Finland.

1.4 Acguisitions and disposals

Durning the financtal ycar 2014 and 2013 Finnarr drdnt have any acquisitions
During 2014 Group sold Finnair Travel Retail's shops at Hetsinka Asrport to World Duty Free Group The sale had 12.7 mul-
tion euros’ positive effect to Finnairs results tn non-recurming tems [n additson, Fannair sold ts subsidiary Finncatening Oy
to Lufthansa Service Europa/Afnika GmbH The transaction did not have sigificant effect to Finnair's financial statements
During 2013 Finnair Group didnt have any disposals

1.5 Non-current assets and llabilities held for sale

ElAssets and liabilities heid for sale

Non-current assets or disposal groups are classified as assets held far sale when their carmying amount i to be recovered principally

through a sale transaction and sale 15 considered highly probable and the sale 1s expected to realise during the following twelve months
Immed:ately before classification assets held for sale or assets and habilities of disposal groups are vatued at the lower of the carry

ing amount or their fax value less cost to sell Depreclation of these assets 15 discontinued at the moment of dassificaton Y

Non-current assets held for sale mainly include E190 and ATR 72 aircraft and Technical Operations hangar that are
expected to be sold n the beginning of 2015 Assets held for sale for 2013 and 2014 also include mventories and tangible
assets related to Finnair Technics Previous year assets held for sale also inciuded assets and liabilities related to subsidiary
Finncatering Oy, that was sold 1n 2014

The book value of the assets held for sale

EUR milb 2014 2013
Tangible assets 1198 08
_.Zmaoza.m i ) 26 54
Trade and other recewvables i 0o 25
“Totad CT 1224 77

The book value of the Habilities held for sale

EUR mill. 2014 2013
Trade payables and other liabilies 00 23
Total [1]1} 23

BN Accounting prncigles
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L6 Investments in assodiates and joint ventures

B Associates ase companmes in which the Grotp usually hotds 20-50% of the voting night or in which the Group has signilicant mfly-
ence but i whch it does not exertsse control. Compares where the Group has ot conteol with another entity are considered as jount
ventures. The Group's snterests m assoaated companves and jointly controlled enties are accounted for using the equaty method. The
Group does not own intly controtled entities that would be dassified as joint operabons, meansg such entities where Group would
have nghts to entity’s assets or obligations to entidy’s kabibitees which it should consobdate mits'balance sheet

The ivestment i assorates and joint ventures inchude goodwill cecogniserd at the tune of acgursibon. The Group recognsses s share
of the post-acqumsition results i assocates and jowl ventures i the come statement, When the Group s share of losses i an associate
or a joint venture eguals or exceeds its interest in the assocate or jomnt venture, the Group does ot recognise further losses, unless it
has incurred obitgations on behalf of the assotiate of jnt venture

Results from the transactions between the Group and 1ts 2ssocmtes and jint vendures are recognised ondy to the extent of unrelat-
od wvestor s intenests i the asseaiates {nrealised bosses are efmunated, unless there & mdication that the asset sold 15 mmpaired. The
Group determenes a1 each reporting date whether there &5 any abjective evidence that the imvestment in the assoclates or joint ventures
15 impaired. tn case of such indwanions, Group calculates the amount of inpaliment as the difference between the recaverable amount
of the mvestment and ds carrying vatue. The impairment i recognised i Share of results in asso0ates and joint ventures,

Accounteng policies ot associates and jomnt vertures have been changed where necessary to comespond with the accounting policies
adapted by the Group. If financial statements for the perod are not avatlabile, the share of the restit of certain associated company or
Jount venture 15 incliaded in the consolidated accounts based on the prelimunary financial statements or fatest-avaitable tformation Y

“The Groups share of the result 1n associates and jont ventures, and informatron on assets and habdibes of pancipal as-
saciates and joint venttres ate presented an the following tables

EUR mill. 2014 2013
At the beginning of the finantial year 82 123
Shares of results i - - o T 32 40
At the end of the finandial year ’ a9 82

Finnair has grven on behalf of Fivbe Finland Oy (part of Fivbe Nordic Group) a guarantee of 2.0 million euros to Nordea
Bank Finland Abp (2.0) The guarantee has ended at the beginning of 2015
More mformation regarding transacttons with associates and jormt ventures can be found in note 6.2 Related party transactions

Financial Statement informaticn on the Group's prindpal assodates and joint ventures 31.12.2014

EUR mill Domiclle  Assets Liabiltles  Revenus !Hmm Holding %
amadeus Estonia Estona 08 03 09 03 1325
Nordic Glabat Arines Oy - "7 Finland 107 106 122 29 4000
Fiybe Nordic Ab* Sweden 402 526 2938 10 40,00
Kiintessté Oy) Lentd@dnhie 1 Finland 256 193 15 Q0 2813
Total i 772 828 338.4 a5

* According b official financial statemnent of Fiybe Finland Oy as per 31 March 2014 whach s holding-company Flybe Mordic Ab's subsidiary
and responsible of the operabons i the Fiybe Nordic group.

EX= accountmg prnaples

Finantial Statement information an the Group's prindpal associates and joint ventures 31 12 2013

Profit/
EUR mill Bomicile Assets  Liabllities  Revenue Loss Holding %
amadeus Estonia Estona 0.7 03 12 04 3325
‘Nordic Glabal Awlines 0y Finland 80 50 27 00 4000
“Flybe Nordic Ab* T Sweden 3¢ 546 2361 158 4000
Kunteistd Oy} Lentdjdntie 1 Fnland %5 02 15 00 813
Tetat o 787 80.1 266 5 45§

* According to official financial statement of Flybe Fintang Oy as per 31 March 2013 which s holdmg company Flybe Nordic Ab's subsidiary
and responsible of the aperations in the Flybe Nordec groun,

All the associated companies and joint ventures owned by Finnair are unhsted companies and none of them are considered
as matenal compared to Finnasr s operations [n 2014, Finnatr has wntten down the value ofsts investment in joint venture
Flybe Nordic Ab to zero based on the eshmated losses from continuous operations for 2014 The share of losses recognised
from Fiybe Nordic Ab amounted to -2 | milhon euros (-4 1) In case Finnair would recognise shate of losses exceeding
the value of 1ts mvestment 1n the company, 1t would have had an addstional effect im the share of resulls of approximately
-1.5 millon curas The total loss from continuous operations of associated companies amounted to -2 5 mallion curos, of
which Finnair s share of losses was -} 0 milhion euros

Flybe Nordic ts a regional awrline company operating in the Nordic countnies and in Baltics Flybe operates both purchase
traffic for Finnair and traffic at wts own 1isk in 2014 and 2015 Flybe Nordic has been a joint venture that has been jointly
contrelled by its owners Finnair Oy) and Flybe UK At the end of 2014 Flybe UK anncunced that it will exit the arrange
ment and sell the shares of Flybe Nordic Ab to Finnair or to a new majonty shareholder assigned by Finnanr At the balance
sheet date Flybe Nordic Ab was sull joint venture of Finnair and Flybe UK At the beginning of 2015 Finnair signed a let-
ter of intent with StaffPoint and Oy G'W Sohlberg Ab {(GWS), according to which Fivbe UK Ltd's 60% awnership would
be transfereed to StaffPeint and GWS Finnish Competition and consumer authoraty approved the transaction in January
2015 The change of majority shareholder in the jomnt venture does not have an effect in the nature of the arrangement, and
the aperations of Flybe Nordic Grotip continue under jomt centrol of Finnair and the new partners

Flybe Nordic’s aperations have been loss making and the value of investment in Finnair has been written down
Finnar aims to find solutions that would enable the development of regionat flying in a financially sustainable way As Flybe
Finlznd'’s operations require further restructuring, Finnair has assessed the valuation of its recetvables from Flybe Nordic
Group Based on the evatuahon made Finnair has wntten down the subordinated loan recenvable and related accrued interests
from Flybe Nordic Group, amonnting to 10.8 million euros The effect 1s included in financial items m mcome statement (n
addiion Finnair has wntten down 11.3 milhon euros of operational recervables from Flybe Finland Oy, which is the entity
responsible of running Flybe Nordic Group's operations The effect 15 mcluded in non-recurning items in income statement

Finnair s associated compantes include Nordic Global Aurlines Oy, whach 1s a freight airline ce-owned by Finnair Cargo
Oy llmannen and Neff Capital Management. Amadeus Finland's associated company Amadeus Estonia provides 1T solu-
tions to travel agencies in Estoma Kunteistd Oy) Lentd)antie 115 a property located in the airport area and co-cwned by
Finawia, Finnair Pension fund and Finnair Oy)
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2 Segments and income

H segments and income tnchude segment information and notes related to revenue and other operating income both from income statement
and balance sheet perspectve.

2.15egment Information

EYSegment reporting

Operaling segments are reported In a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the dhief operating decision-maker
The chief operating deciston maker who 15 responssble for allocating resources and assessing perfermance of the operating segments
has been wdentitied as the Board of Directors. Segments are defined based on Group s business areas. EY

Reporting segments are based on the Group's business area based mternal orgamsational structure and financial report-
1ng to management Due to previous years' restructunings the nature and extent of the business of Aviation Services has
changed Therefore the Board of Directors decided that Aviation Services are no longer reported as separate segment
but as part of Atdine Business segment. The remaining reportable segments i Finnair are Airline Business and Travel
Services Comparative information for 2013 has been restated according to new segment structure

Aarline Business 1s responsible for scheduled passenger and charter traffic as well as cargo sales, customer service and
service concepts  flight operations and management, maintenance and financing of the flect. In additon, the scgment 1s
tesponsible for managing real estate owned by Finnawr Finncatering Oy, that was sold to LSG Lufthansa Service Europa/
Alnka GmbH, 1s included m the Airfine segment figures until 28 February 2014 and awrport shops of Travel Retail, that were
sold to World Duty Free Helsinks, until 1 October 2014

Travel Senvices consists of the Group’s travel agency operations as well as tour operatrons and travel sector software
business operations

The entitses included :n segments are specified in the note 1.3 Subsdianes

Transacbions between segments are based on commercml terms ltems excluded from eperating profit are not aflocated
to segments Personnel working in group functions 1s presented separately, but costs from group functions are allocated
to segments

1= content of the section
EX s Accounaing pnnciples

Business segment data 2014
Airfine Travel Eltmi- Other Group
EUR mill Business Services nations functions total
External revenue 2007 2138 22845
tnternal revanue h o T 970 30 -1000 00
Revanue T "7 2677 2167 -100.0 2,285
Operaticnal result N o 435 70 265
Operating resuft - 78.4 59 725
Share of am_m:m n mwuon_ﬁmm.mma Joent mm:.EEIml - o 32
Financial _mnaam 35
n_amnaw_nmmwmamm T ) 269
Bno_snmlsm ) T 165
Non-controliing interests - ) 02
‘Result for the financial year attributable to ownersof
the parent company 827
cmn_.mn_mﬂs.zlm:n _aom:m_m_.; 1329 14 1343
Average number of employees 4232 645 295 5172
Employees at the end of ...mm_,u 4050 600 331 4981
Business segment data 2013, restated
Alrfine Travel Elimi- Other Group
EUR mull, Business  Services nations  functions total
External revenue 21494 2510 24003
“Internal revenue ) 1225 07 1232 00
Revense 77 7 Tame sy 1212 2,300 3
Operational resutt 88 31 1ns
Operating resatt 63 L6 79
Share of resulf In assaciates and joint ventures T i 40
_n__...man_w_r_s.nman. - i i B 424
m_:mzn_m_.m_:ﬂm:ﬁ 197
“ncome taxes T 19
Han-controlling interests 03
“Result for the Anandlal year attributable te ownersof
the parent company 26
Depreciation h h T3 15 1407
“Average number of employees 4834 751 274 5859
Employees at the end of year 4783 730 290 5803
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2.2 Operatingincome

—uoum_un_ﬁ income section mcludes both mcome statement and balance sheet notes that relate to revenue and operating income The aim
I 1o provide more coherent pictuse of income related tems effecting Frnnai’s result and financal posiien Trade recervables and defarred
incorme containmg masnly prepaid Hight Dckets and travel Lour senvices are presented m conneclion with this section. becaise those are an

essential part in revenue recogmibion 1l

ERevenue recognition
Revenue s recogmused when goods or services are delivered Revenue s measured at fair value of the consideration received or recen-
able net of drscounts and ndirect taxes.

Airline Busess sales are recognised 25 revenue when the frght s fiown in accordance with the fltght traffic program. Unused tickets
are recognised as revenue when the trcket exprres and Finnaw has no obligation to return the consideration to customer

Auline Business revenue s deducted with the costs resulting from Finnair Plis Customer Lovalty Program Finnair loyalty astom-
15 can eam Finnaur Plus Pots from ickets or senices purchased, and use the earned-points to Hiuy senices and productsoffered by
Finnair or its partners m cooperation The points earned are farr valued acconding to IFRIC 13, and recognised as a decrease of revenue
and debt at the time when the points-earning event (for example. tiight s flown) is recognised‘as revenue. Fair value is measured oy
takang Wito account the faw value of those awards that can be purchased with the points and the customer selecton between diferent
awards based on hrstonical customer behaviour In addition, the fair vatuation takes into account the expaiing of the, pomts. The debt s
derecognised when the points are used 1o buy a servace or a good {awards}

Sale of goods in awcraft (Travel Relail) s recognised as revenue when the goods are delivered to the customer Awcraft mamtenance
sennces are after restructunngs setd only i small exient to external customers, Yhe related revenue ts recognised when the sernce
has been completely pertormed.

Revenve related to Travel Services s recogrused when the servce has been performed. Le in case of tour operation services at the date
of departure and ncommwsson sates at the bme of sale. in tomemission based sales, only the part of commission s included n the revenue

Publicgrants

Public grants for example government aid for professional traming, have been recognsed m other aperating mcame Publxc grants that
the Group may receve for tangible asset acqusibions are recognised as a reduction in onginal acquission costand depreciated along
with the onginal asset durmg the useful life

Trade recelvables

Trade recervables are recognmsed at farr value. When the Group has objective evedente that it may nat be able (o collect all trade re-
cevables that are due a bad debt provision 1§ recognised, Financial difficutties that wmdicate that a customes s gomg wito banknuptey
financial restructunng or substantial delays in payments are examples of objectve evdence that might cause trade recenvables to be
impaired Imparrment of trade recenvables 15 recognmsed inother aperating experses. B

Hinnair Plus Customer Loyalty Program

valuation and revenue recognition refated to Finnair Plus -debt requires judgement of management especially related to fair valuation
of pownts and timing of revenue recognition retated 1o points expacted to expire. The fair value of the pount s defined by allocating the
point 1o award selection based on histoncal behawour of customers, after whuch tair vaiue of eachaward ts defied. The halulity 15 cal-
cwlated by taking the total amount of pants eamed by arstomers, decreased with the expected expanng of the'points These points are
then fair valued as described above and the result is recognised as kability at balance sheet H

H = content of the section
Y « Accounting principles
H - Critical acgounting estimates

2.2 1 Revenos by anrency

EUR mill 2014 2013
EUR 13132 13897
PY 21146 2304
CNY 1521 1353
SEK 106 2 1150
usp 641 834
Other currenties 4373 4466
Total 2,284.5 2,800 13
Currency hedging policies are descnbed i the note 5 5 Management of financial risks
2.2.2 Other operating lncome
EUR mill 2014 2013
Rental income 117 106
Other icome 66 82
._...Em 183 18.8
2.2.3 Trade and other recelvables
EUR mill 2014 2013
Trade recewvables i08s 1232
Prepaid expenses accrued income and other recevables total 854 1138
Actrued income 330 120
Lease accruals 72 100
VAT recenables 61 05
Interest and other financaal _.MBM i ) 30 %8
Other items 362 816
Total 1940 2371
The fair value of trade recenvables do not materially differ from balance sheet value
Aging analysis of trade receivables 2014 2013
Mot overdue 96 2 1128
Overdue fess than 60 days 35 51
Overdue more than 60 days 89 58
Total 108.5 123 2
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At the end of 2014 Finnair wrote down 11.3 rmlhon euros of recaivables related to restructuning need of Flybe Fintand Oy
Flybe Finland Oy belongs to Flybe Nordic Group which 1s a joint venture of Finnair More informaton about the 1ssue
can be found in notes 1 6 Im estments in associates and joint venhires and 6.2 Related party transactions In addition, the
Group has recognised 1 | millson euros (0 8} of other credit losses from trade recevables dunng the financial year Trade
recewvables do not contan significant credit rsk becanse of dversity in castomer basts The maximum exposure to credit
risk at the reporting date ts the carryg amount of trade recervables The Group does not hold any collateral as secarity

Trade recelvables by corrency

EuR mill. 2014 2013
EUR 721 606
UisD -7 U T T, T T T T ) wmlll - u.m'mlml
T T - T o 83
o T - T/ /0 T/ 58 55
SEK o o T T o3 T sy
other currengees T T T i 204 e
Total [ 1086 132
2.2.4 Defesred income

EUR mill 2014 2013
Unflgwn air transport revenues 2523 2556
Advances recerved aqs:mo‘uﬂxmﬂas_.ﬂ s NETJ 27
Loyalty program Finnatr Plus ST momi tkrtfulmm
Other deferred wcome T T 189 203
Yow T T o szr9 | 3408

Deferred income includes prepaid, yet unflown frght tickets and package tours, whose departure date 15 in the future
Finnasr Plus hability 15 related to Finnar s customer loyalty program, and equals to the fair value of the ecarned unused
Firtnair Plus points

Other items in deferred income consasts of several stems, none of which are indnidually sigificant.

3 Operating expenses

H operating expenses section inclisdes the income statement and balance sheet notes refated to operating expenses aiming to provide better
averview of business operations and related expenses. Inventories that inherently relate to everhaul expenses, as well a5 heavy maintenance
provisions of aircraft are included +n thus operating expenses section Accrued expenses ltke habilities related to jet fuel and traffic charges
ane atso presented in this section: All the income statement and balance sheet items related to employee benefits are also presented at the
end of thrs sectign as a separate note Employee benefits include the different forms of benefits hke share-based payments and pensions as
well a5 their effect to balance sheet, and mformat:on on management remuneration B

3.1 Operational expenses by currency

EUR milt 2014 2013
EUR 12192 12832
wo 7 T oo 9547 9839
w0 T T oot/ TTm T 296 36
SEK A -7 199 132
oy T o T 178 159
O.ﬂzmﬂﬁuﬂﬂ_.qm:n_mum. T T T o cm04 795
Yo 70 T 0T 23192 2,4072

Currency hedging pohcies are descnibed in the note 5 5 Management of financial nsks

1.2 Leasing expenses
EUR mill 2014 2013
Lease payments for aircraft 788 575
zm__m_ta Bmwc wmwmgz - ) 252 187
Other rentaf of fight capacty o 967 932
Office and other rents ) i 378 201
ot ) 8.4 2095

Lease payments for arrcraft have increased mamly because of the sale and leaseback of previously owned A330 arcraft
and new lease agreements related to Airbus A321 Sharklet aircraft On the other hand, mcrease has been netted by the
termination of the Yast Boewng 757 aiccraft leases at the beginrung of financial year 2014
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1.3 0ther expenses

EUR mill. 2014 2013
IT expenses and booking tees 821 823
Other items 1353 B 135.8

Total 174 218.1

Other items consists of scveral items, none of which are indvidually sigmificant.

Audlt fees In other expenses
EUR mill 2014 2013
PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy
Auditor's fees - I - 02 oz
qu&‘-m-a i ) o 01 T T \O.Imr
Other fees T o2 ol
Total i ’ 0a 0.4

3.4 Other expenses refated accruals

EUR mill 2014 2013
Jet fuels and trathc charges M1 733
Aircraft materials and overhaul ’ rl.n B 68 o . T
Expenses tor tour operatigns - ’ T T 66 T ﬂ
Other lems - - ) a6 686
Total - o o7 B 1690

Other items consists of several stems, none of which are mdmidually sigmificant

3.5 Inventories

B inventories
The Groups inventones inchude the arcraft spare parts and work n progress related to overhau! of arcraft. Inventones are carned at
the lower of acquisibon cost and net rearsable value. Inventory valuation & based on the average cost methed K1

EUR mill. 2013 2013
Matenaks and supplies 147 198
fn;.:u_.onaum T T T -7 o1 o1
Tota) o7 uwr 199

In 2014, the cost of inventanes recogrused as anrcraft matertals expenses was 1229 million euros (33.6) including write-down
of inventories 2.2 milhon euros (0 1) Inventories transferred to assets hekd for sale were 00 8 mullion enros (1.3)

3.6 Provisions

Hprovisions
Primsions are recogrised when the Group has a present legal or constructeee obligation as the result of a past event, the fulfilment of
the payment obligation 15 probable and a reliable estimate of the amaunt of the obligation can be made The amount ta be recogrised
as provisions camesponds to the management's best estimate of the expenses that will be necessary lo meet the obligation at the end
of the reporting period

Restructunng prowisions are recognised when the Group has prepared a detared restructureng plan and has begun to implement
the plan or has annotncedit. A restructunng plan miust inctude 21 teast the following information the operations affected the mam op-
erating points affected. the warkplace locations, workwig tasks and estimated number of the people who will be paid compensation for
the ending of their employment the likely costs and the date of implementation of the plan

The Group 15 obhiged to retumn leased aurcraft at the required redelivery condition: To fulfid these maintenance obhigattons the Group
has recogmised arframe heavy maintenance engine performance mantenance and engine life imited part provisions The hass for
the provision s tight hours figwn during the malntenance penod EY

Abrcraft Aireraft
malntenance Other provi- maintenance Othet provi-

EUR mill provision sions 2014 provision sions. 2013
Provision at the beginning of

period 924 174 109.8 1097 mna 1205
Provision for the period 255 201 458 202 174 376
Provision used -442 -239 -68.1 331 -i08 4319
Exchange rate diTerences &8 8.8 45 4.5
Total 825 138 %3 924 174 1098
01 which non-current i 521 521 693 591
0f which current 304 138 44.2 231 174 405
Total a2.5 13.8 $6.3 924 174 1098

Non-corrent arcraft maintenance provisions are expected to be used by 2020
Othet provisions inchude items related to group's restructunings

3 7 items excluded from operational result

Operational result does not include non-recurring items and other items aftecting comparability Non-recurring items in-
clude sales gatns and losses of fixed assets, businesses and subsidiaries and personnel related and other restructuning ex-
penses Fair value changes of derivatives recognised through income statement and fair value changes of foreign currency
denominated fleet maintenance reserves are considered as items affecting comparability in Finnair

EUR mill 2014 2013
Fair value changes of dervatives =349 172
Fair value nwmswa of foreign n::d:_w. nmzaa._..p.ma fieet maintenance reserves 48 45
‘Mon-ecummg tems o - 77 -257
Totad T T 360 a0
EX= Acoounting prnaiples
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3.8 Employee benefits

3.8.1 Employee beneflit expenses and share-based payments

EYshare-based payments

Finnair provides a number of share-based compensation plans for 15 employees, under which the Group recenves services from em-
ployees as tonsideration for share-based payments. Regarding share-based incentrve plans for key personne! and pilots. the awards are
paxd only i performance critena set by the Board of Directors are met. Share-based savings plan for empiovees (FlyShare) requires the
emplovees 1o remain in Finnair's service for the defined period bt paymeat does not depend on any performance cnferia.

The total expense for share-based payments & recognised over the vestig penod, which 15 the penod over which all of the spea-
fieg vesting conddions are ta be satisfied. The portion of the earmed reward that the participants recewve in shares s accounied for as
an equity settled transaction, and the portion of the earned reward settled in cash or covering the tax and other charges s accounied
for as cash setthed transaction. The equity-settied share awards are measured based on the market pnce of the Finnair share as of the
grant date, and recognised as an employee benefit expense gver the vesting penod with cormesponding entry i the.equity The liabi-
ity resulting from the cash-settled transactions s measured based on the market price of the Finnawshare at the balance sheet date
and accrued as an employee benefit expense for servica period with corresponding entry in the habilities until the settlement date.

Termination benefits

Terminaticn benefits are payable when employment ts termunated &y the Group beforethe normal retirement date, of whenever an em-
plovee actepts vokuntary redundandy in exchange for these benefils, The Group recognaises termnation benefis when it is demonstra-
bly commitled Lo 2 termnation. Group is demonstrably committed when @ has a detasled formal plan to termmate the emplyyment of
current employees without possibidity of withdrawat tn (he Case of an offer made (0 encourage voluatary redundancy ihe termination
benefits are measured based on the number of employees expected to accept the offer

For accounting principles related to Pensions see note 3.82 for more mformation EY

Staff costs
EUR mill 2014 2013
Wages and salaries 2753 3044
Pension expenses T i T T 546 ) T wm 6
Defined contribution plans | ) T T - a3 s
” Defined benefit ptans i T 103 15
Other socal expenses o T T owe T w09
“Productson tor own use salanes mo_ﬁﬂnmn as mm:m&_m assets o 00 i - 25
Total T T 3445 wmfw
w_m= mﬂﬁ _m_nramm In S:.-ﬂ.:l-sm __mm& i ) T 70 T ﬂuﬂ
Total staff costs in Income statement o T T T a0

In Finnasr, the total salary of personnel consists of fixed pay, shart- and long-term incentives, finge benefits and other
personnel benefits The total amount of short-term incentrves recogmsed for 2014 were 4 6 rllon euros (5 1) In addi-
tion Lo staff costs, non-recurnng items mclude personne related restructuring costs of 7 0 midlion euros {17 9} as agreed
m the Group's statutory employer-employee negotiatians Including non-recurnng atems, total staff costs amounted to
351.5 mullion euros (399.3)

B} - Accourtting principles

Transfer to Personne! Fund

Finnair has a Personnel Fand that 1s owned and controlled by personnel A share of Finnair s profits ss allocated to the fund
The share of profit allocated to the fund i1s determined on the basis of the targets set by the Board of Directors The CFQ
and other members of the Executnve Board are not members of the Personnel Fund Personnel Fund 15 obliged to imvest
part of the bonus n Finnair Ple’s shares In 2013 and 2014 profits were not allocated to the fund, because the set perfor-
mance criteria were not met

Employee benefit related acernals

EUR mill 2014 2013
Holiday payments 615 664
Other employee related accrued expenses 182 283
Employes benefit related accroals total ™7 94,7

Other employee related accrued expenses mainly include withholding tax and accrued expenses related to social secu-
oty costs Tn addition, restructuning provisions included in the current provisions amounted to 8 7 rmillion euros {15 7)

Slanagement remuneration

The President and CED and Executive Board remuneration

President
President President and CEQ
and CEO and CEC Deputy Mika
Pekka  Executive Total Pekka  CEO ¥ille vetwllll  Executive Total
Thousand eurcs Yauramo Board 2014 Vauramn Iho nen***  Board**** 2013
Fired pay 639 1614 2,252 361 225 178 1620 2,184
Short-term incentrves* 194 260 454 64 30 o] 180 274
Fringe benefits 4 66 70 0 13 7 60 80
Termmation benefits 0 392 392 0 0 0 502 502
Share-based payments a6 120 166 1] 3 4 206 242
Pensions (statutory)** 132 322 456 62 49 48 340 499
Pansions (voluntary defined
benefit) 0 ¢} 0 0 0 0 53 53
Penstons (voluntary defined
contribution) 0 122 122 0 22 245 05 -128
Total 1,016 2,897 3913 487 n - 3,057 3,907

-

Short-term mcentves for the financial year 2014 are estimates as at the balance sheet date the final review of targets has not been
done Short term incentrves for 2013 realized 10 thousand euros bigger than expected in 2013 hnancial statements Thedfference
has been reported according to acerual basis, i 2014
**  Statutory pensicns indude Finnair's share of the payment to Finmish statutory “Tvel” pension plan
*++  Due tg resigrment of CEQ Vehvildinen i 2013 his voluntary dehined contnbution pension plan was cancelled and payments of

245 thousand euros were returned to Finnair (n 2014 This has been reported as decrease m compensation for 2013
+*++ Deputy CEO Ville Iho's remuneration for 2013 & not inchuded 1n Executive Board 2013 frigures His salary and remuseration 1s presented
separately for the whole year of 2013
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M 5P ed on an accrual basis. Share-based paytments tn 2014 and 2013 mclude compensations
-n_u—nm to Finnair Plc s share-based bonus scheme 2010-2012, The shares carned were delivered and cash-based compen-
satwn paid dunng 2013, but the income statement effect ts accrued to vesting penod for 2000-2016 up to ending of lock-
up penod, according to IFRS 2. In additron 2014 share-based payments include accrued expenses related to 2013-2015 and
2014-2016 LT1 plans. Management has not been provided anv other long- term incentives in addition to share-based payments.

The reurement age of the CFO 1s deternuned by the statutory returement age prevailing at the ume of retirement Current-
1y thus 15 63 years of age The voluntary pension benefits of Executive Board members have been armanged through Finnish
pension insurance company, and the retirement age 15 63 All voluntary pension plans provided for Executive Board mem-
bers are defined contnibution plans, and new executive service contracts do not include any voluntary penston benefits
Defined benefit plans for previous members of Fxecutrve Board ceased dunng 2014

More information on share-based pavment plans can be found below i this note and 1n a separate Remuneration state-
ment, which abso provides additional mformation on management cash-based remuneration

The Board of Dlrectors remaneration

Compensaticn paid for board service, tatal Fived Meeting Fringe Totat
EUR 2014 . D k henefits 2013
Board of Directors tofal 158,227 243,600 92 400 72227 182 410
Friman Maia-Lisa 47266 uccoo - i 7800 . -orﬁ”ll:r -
Hememann Kaus ) 72000 61200 10800 I
Hvuon uss 60361 30000 24000 63l
Kermnea Harn 43466 32400 9600 1486
Kranman Gunvor 40,138 T0000 0 6600 3sw
Tuaminen Jaana. from 27 March 2014 | T
onwards 27300 22 500 4800 0

Turner Nigel from 27 March 2014 onwards $0205 22500 26400 1385
Karhap33 Mera untd 27 March 2014 9300 7500 1800 I
Kuosmanen Antt., until 27 March 2014 2100 7500 00 o

The compensation paid to the members of the Board of Directors include annual remuneration and meeting compensation
‘The members of the Board of Directors are entitled to a daly allowance and compensation for travel expenses m accordance
with Finnair's general trav el rules in addition, the members of the Board of Directors and thewr spouses have a hmited nght
to use staff tickets in accordance with Finnaur s staff icket rules Under the rules, the Dhrectors and their spouses are entitled
to four return or crght one-way tickets an Finnaur flights per calendar year in Economy or Business Class The fare of these
tickets 15 zero, exclusve of any arrport taxes, fees and charges, whuch are payable by the Directors and their spouses These
tichets gonstitute taxable income in Finland and are reported as fringe benefits in the table above

Share-based payments
The note below provides descnption and information on effects of the Group s share-based incentrve plans More mforma-
ton on share-based personnel bonus schemes can be found 1n Remuneration statement.

Performance share plan for key personnel (LT from 2013 oowands

Finnair's share based incentive plan 1s a performance-based, annually commencing long-term incentive (LTI) artangement
Each share based incentive arrangement 1s dvided anto four-six-year share plan, and the commencement of each new plan
15 subject to a separate decision by Finnair's Board of Directors The first plan commenced in 2013, and at the end of 2014
there are two plans ongomg (2013-2015 and 2014-2016) The purpose of the LTI plan 15 to encourage the management to

work to increase long-term sharcholder value. The plan 1s in ine with the statement by the Finnish Cabinet Committee an
Economic Policy regarding the remuneration of executive management and key individuals

Each LT1 plan contawns a three-year performance period which 1s followed by a restniction period, during which the par-
licipant may not sell or transfer the shares recenved as a reward The restriction peniod 15 three years for the members of
Finnair’s Executrve Board and one year for other participants Inaddition the President and CEQ, and members of Finnair's
Executive Board are required to accumulate and, ance achieved, to mamtain, a share ownership in Finnair corresponding to
his or her annual base salary as long as he or she holds o position as 2 member of Finnait's Executive Board

The potential reward will be delivered in Finnair shares The share delivery is splitinta three share tranches (50-30-20%)
that will be dehvered to the Executive Board members during the three years following the performance period For other
participants the shares are delivered at 50% tranches during the two follow:ng years aftcr performance period As Finnair has
adopted a program consisting of annually commencing indivrdual plans, in which the shares are paid in three tranches, the
program also tnchudes a bridge element to supplement payments tn 2016 and 2017 Thes takes into consideration the fact that
the share savangs plan will not be in full effect unul 2018 During 2013:and 2014 no shares will be delrvered o key persannel

1f the performance cntena set are met at the target level, the incentive paid 1n Finnanr shares to the President and CEQ or
other member of the Executive Board will be 30% of his/her annual base salary and f criteria are met at the maximum level,
the incentive paid in Finnanr shares wall be 60% of the participant’sannual base salary The target level for incentives for other
key personnel 1s 20-25% and maximum level 40-50% of the persons average annual base salary according to the job grade

According to the rules of the LTI, the maximum value of shares delivered to an individual participant 1n any given year
may not exceed 60% of the person’s annual base salary The amounts of shares paid are stated before tax  The number nf
shares delivered wall be deducted by the iIncome tax and transfer tax payable for the incentive at the time of payment

The performance critenia applied ta the plan for 20132015 are the Group's relative operating FBIT margin growth and
decrease m umit costs in European traffic These two critena are assigned weights of 60% and 40%, respecuvely ‘The per-
formance criterion for the share plans bnidge element 1s the operating FBIT margin The performance criteria applied in
2014-2016 plan are Finna:r’s return on capital employed (ROCE, weight 50%) and total shareholder return (TSR) The tar-
get levels and maxamum levels set for the criteria are based on long-term strategic objectives set by the company’s Board of
Directors Performance against the criteria ts monitored quarterly

The tota) expense for the LT1 15 recognised over the vesting period (4-6 years) The compensalion is measured during
performance penod in cash, and only after perfortnance period at grant date translated into shares Therefore the whole
cost effect 1s recogrused as debt until the end of performance pernod {grant date), and the debt 1s divided into equuty settled
and cash scttled part only at grant date, and Lhe cquity settled part s recognised tnequity The expense recognised for 2014
amounted to 0 4 million euros 1n 2013 LTT's did not cause any financial effects as the performance criteria were nat met

1013-2015 2014-2016 Total
:ux.a__a earning mitlion euros 39 27 66
:mdacs mm_é:m. m.._:ﬂ: ymﬂnn..f;: 30 Dec 2014 share price) 16 Il 27
a_,wm_ earning 3___6: #1505 9 14 33
Target mmaﬂanﬂ.amwws .ﬂl.m_.nm fwith 30 Dec 2014 share u:ne ’ 08 06 13
Expenses aan_mm_._m-.__ﬂm financial year L7l total (million
E_dm- 03 (1] 04
of which equity settled (recognrsed as debt untl grant date) 02 00 02
“ofwhich cashsettied o7 02 00 02
Liabikty related fo LTI s at the closing date. 03 00 04
mgqmm granted T ) oo o 0 00
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FlyShare employee share savings plan from 2013 onwards
Finnair offers an annually commencig share savings plan for its employees Commencing of each plan 15 subject to de-
ciston of Finnair s Board of Directors First plan commenced in 2013, and {or the time being there are two plans ongoing
‘The ghjective of the plan 15 to encourage employees to become shareholders in the company, and to thereby strengthen the
employees’ interest 1n the development of Finnair's shareholder value and reward them in the fong term

Through the plan, each eligible Finnair employee 1s offered the opportunity to save part of his or her salary to be invested
in Fininasr shares The maximum menthly savings are 8% and the miramum 2% of each participant s gross base salary per
month, with the annual maximum savings set at 3,000 euros per parbicipant Shares are purchased with the accumulated
savings at the market price quarterly, after the release of Finnairs interim reports

Fmnair awards each particspating employee with one share for each two shares purchased and held at the end of two-
year period ‘The awarded additional shares are taxable income for the recipient The award shares from first savings pe-
riod of 2013-2014 are dehivered in February 2016 and from second savings period 2014-2015 in Fobraary 2017 The cost
related to awarded shares delivered 15 recognised as expense during vesting pertod In addition Finnair awards 26 bonus
shares to each employee that particpates in the plan for the first time, and continues savings at least the first three months
of the plan The bonus shares are delvered in October each year, and the effect 15 recognised as expense for that period

Total savings for all the plans ongoing cannot exceed 4 0 million euros, which calculated with the clesing share price of
30 12 2014 (2 48 euros per share) would correspend approximately 1 6 mithion shares

Effect of FlyShare share savings plan on Group's results and financial position,

thousand euros 2014 2013
Jotal income statement effect of FlyShare 370 76
Share-based payments share settled 191 59
tiabibty related to share based paymenits at the clesing date 179 7

share-based performance plan for pllots
The Finnair Board of Directors approved 1n 2014 a fong-term incentive plan for Funnair pilots as part of the savings agree
munt botween Pinnair and the Finmish A Line Prlots” Assowation (SLL) The plan period 1 2015- 2018 and the prercgquisite
for rewarding pilots based on this plan ts the matersalisation of the agreed cost savings over this ime period In addstion
the company share price must at least be 4 euros at the end of the incentive plan If these cond:tions are met, the pilots are
entitled to a cash payment based on the Finnair share price The total reward to pilots amounts to 12 million ewros if the
share price 15 4 euros or a maximum of 24 muillion euros, of the share price reaches at least 8 euros Fianair has hedged the
additional cost effects above the 4 euro share price with a market-based call option

The plan 15 considered as cash-settled share-based arrangement The cost effects are accrued over the vesting peried
fram grant date onwards (2014-2018}, and the corresponding liabtlity 15 fair valued at each reporting date The 2014 clos-
1ng rate of Finnair s share (2 48 euros) was below mimimum requirement Jevel (4 euros) and therefore the plan did not have
any Lteets to Fannair’s ncome state ment nor balance sheet

Finnair Pic’s share-based bonus scheme 2010-2012
The Board of Directors of Finnair Plc approved a share based bonus scheme for 2010-2012 on 4 February 2010 In the share
bonbus scheme, key individuals had the possibahity of recening company shares and cash for a three year performance pe-
riod according to how financead targets set for the performance period have been achieved

The Board of Directors decided annually the financial targets to be set for each performance pertod  Achieving the tar-
gets set for the performance period determined how large proportion of the maximum benus and of the incentive based
on the acquisition of Finnasr shares will be paid In a three-year period, the total of the share bonuses, however, could not
exceed three years gross earnings

Incentive bonus based on the purchase of shares

If key individuals belonging to the share bonus scheme purchased Tinnair Pl shares during 2010-2012, they were paid a
cash incentive bonus 1a the sprang of the sear foflowang the acguisitions The incentive bunus was paid oo the correspond-
ing relation to the value of the shares acquired by the key mdividual as he/she had fulfilied the set targets  This bonus was
supplemented by a cash sum, which 1n most cases corresponded to taxes and tax-related payments arising to key individ
uals from the recetpt of their bonus In any single vear of the performance period the number of acquired shares, taken
into account that it could be at most half of the key individual’s share bonus allocation, 1e the number of shares that the
key individual could at most receive as a share bonus for the year in questton [he stze of the cash benus was determined
as follows number of shares acquired by key indwvidual x the companv s share price at the time of payment x the target re
ahsation percentage x 25

Shares delivered based on the plan and effects of the plan on results and financial position
Shares were earned annually 1n the period 2010-2012 The long term incentive for the three year period was achieved at
an average level of 43% This share based incentive for the full three year period was paid in spring 2013, and total amount
of 708,679 shares w ere delivered At the same time, a cash bonus intended for payment of t1xes was paid, amounting te 1 5
times the value of the shares at the time of payment After the payment of shares, there 15 a three-year embargo on thewr
sale and shares are held in lock-up A totaiamount of 5,297,346 euros was paid related to the plan, of which 1,795,580 eu
ros was delivered as shares 2,693 370 euros paid as cash to cover tax payments and 808 396 euros paid as incentive bonus
based on the purchase of shares In 2614, approximately 34,000 of these previously delivered shares were returned back to
Finnarr and their value amounted to approximately 86 000 curos

The 1ncome statement effect related to the plan has been accrued to vesting pertod 2010-2015 based on the applied
IFRS 2 standard The effect on 2014 results totalled 0 2 mallton euros (0 9)
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3.8.2 Pensions

1 Defined benefit and defined contribution plans
Penswon plans are classied ‘as dehned benefit and defined tontnbution plans. Payments made Into defined contribution pension plans
are recogndsed T the income statement invthe penod to which the payment 2ppties. Typally defined benefit plans define an amoung
of pension benefit that an emploves will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as-age. years of service
and compensation. Current servce cost 5 the present vatue of the post employment benefit, which 1s'earned by the employees dunng
the year and # Ts recognmsed as employee benefil.expense The liatnlity recognised T the balance sheet i respectof defined pension
plans Is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period Iéss the fair vake,of plan assets. The de-
mad benefit obkgabon s calclated annually by independent actuanes using the projected urnit credit.method Tha present value of
the defined benefil obligations & datermineq by descounting the estimated future cash fiows tsing Interestirates 6f fugh-quality carpo-
fate bonds thatare denpnunated in The currency Ln which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to matiiity approximating to
the terms of the refated pension obligation,

Actuanal gawns and losses arksing from experience adiustments and changes inactuanal scsumptions are charged of credited to eq-
taty 1n other comprehensive income in the penod in whach they arse. Y

H The present value of the pension obligations depends on a number of tactors that are deternuned on an actuanialbasks usig a
number of assumations. Any changes i these assumgions will ¥mpact Lhe carrying amount of pension obligations. The note below -
cudes a desciptionof exposure 10 most significant nsks and 2 sensivity anatysis on kmpacts of changes in actuanal assumptions, B

Descriptioa of pension plans in Finnalr

The statutory peasion plan of the employees of the Group's Finnish compantes has been arranged n a Finnish pension in-
surance company The statutory penston plan ts a defined contribution plan. The Group's foreign sales offices and subsidi-
artes have vanous defined contnibution plans that comply with tocal rules and practices The voluntary defined contnbution
pension plans of five Fxecutive Board members in 2014 are armanged 1n a pension snsurance company and the cettrement
age undler these agreements s 63 years The defined benefit plan for two former Exccutrve Board members have been ter-
runated in 2014 Other (voluntary) pension plans of the Group s domestic companies have been arranged in Finnarr Plcs
Pension Fund, tn which the pension plans are defined benefit plans These pension plans cover old age pensions, disability
and survivors' pensions The benefits are mainly prowvided for pilots and cabin crew and the pension fund 1s closed for other
personnel than pilots The pension fund & fully funded in accordance wath the provisions of Finnsh law

Exposure to most significast risks
Vohanlity of plan assets Some of the plan assets are ivested in equuttes which causes volatiity but 15 in the long run ex-
pected to provide bigher returns than corporate bands Discount rate of ptan obligations s defined based on the interest
rates of corporate bonds

Changes in bond yield. A decrease in corperate bond yields increases plan obligations due to the fact that the pension
obligatton is discounted to net present value with a rate that is based on corporate bond rates This increase in plan obliga-
tions 15 partially mitigated by a corresponding increase in the value of corporate bonds in plan assets

Life expectancy: The most significant part of the provided pension benefits relate to old age pensions Therefore, an -
crease in bife expectancy rate results in an increase of plan obligations

Inflation nsk. Pension obligations are Iinked to nflason which 15 why hugher inftation leads to increased obligations As only
some of the plan assets increase with imflation, an merease in inflation will Itkely decrease the solvency of the pension plan.

LY = Accounting principles
B - cnivcal accounting estimates

Defined benefit pension plans
EUR mill 2014 2013
Ttems recognised In the income statement
“urent service costs 85 20
" pastsevicecost ’ 17 04
Settlements ang curtaiments 02 00
mnlwm—aonslan.oa—u_ T T o 103 76
"Net nterest mx_a_._wwm i . 03 01
Incloded in personnel expensestotal 10.7 75

Amommts ..!Hn.&!_ nrannn. other no..._u..urn.-n-c- _.Ee_._..u

Expertence meﬁnama on u_m._ obligation -244 165
Q.mammm 1 finangial .._n:_m-_m_ mmm__aa_ea 505 02
Q&:wmm n ._m_.:emq%:_nm_ ua:m_._u_ &E_._._E.aa 00 08
Net return on uE: assers -229 -163
59:...—5 BBQ_%R_ B_.u.ﬁ. o»_.n_. Bau..n_.na?o income tatal 41 0.4
z::&mq of persons _Bazma pension fund 4502 5048
zs:mmmama pemsion amznma am:mac umaoa 53?8 0 2
ftems recegnised in the balance sheet

EUR mill 2014 2013
Present value of funded av__wmzo_..m 4360 4069
Farr value of u_wa assets 4107 3963
Net ..n:..n.. eo._nn» =w!=2 251 10,6

The net defined benefit liabdity in 20§14 1ncludes 25.3 rullion euros (10'5) related to defined benefit plans msured through
pension fund and 0 0 million euros (0 1) related to defined benefit plans of management The penston hability increased
in 2014 due to a decrease 1n discount rate from 3 25 % to 2 1% This increase was partially nutigated by a decrease in the
annual rate of fture salary increases from 3 % to 2.1%, changes in the pool of pension ehgibility and investment returns

Plan assets of the pension fund mctude Finnair Ple shares wath a fair value of 0 3 million euros (0 4) and buildings used by
the Group with a fair vatue of 3 3 mullion euros {36 2)
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Changes in penslon obligations

Defined benefit plans principal actvarial assumptions

2014 2013
EuR mll 2014 2013 Discount rate 2 10% 325%
Net present value of pension obligations at 1 January 4069 3925 Ifiation " o0% > 00%
Current service cost 88 80 Annual rale of future salary (ncreases 210% 300%
Pasl service cost 17 04 Fulure pension Increases 210% 710%
setlements and curtalments 03 a0 Estimated rematning years of service T 13
Interest expense 129 124
Expenses recognised In Income statement 237 199 Sensitivity analysis
Changes In actuarial assumptions 505 ¢4 Sensiuvity analyses describes the effect of change 1n actuarial assumpiions to net defined benefit obligation The analysisis
Experience adjustment on plan abligatian a4 165 based on a change 1n an assumptron while holding all other assumptions constant  The method used 1s the same as the one
Remeastrements recognised through 01 1 159 applied when measuring the defined benefit obligation recogmsed in balance sheet
Benefits pard 207 215
Net present value of pension obligations 436 0 4069 Defined benefit plans principal actuarial assumptions
Impact when increase impact when decrease
Changes in plan assets Change in In assumption, in assumption,
Actvarial assumption assumption EUR mill % EUR mill %
EUR mill 2014 2013 Discount rate G 25% 153 5] 162 372
Fair value of pfan assets at | fanuary 354 3 188 8 annual rate of future salary increases G 25% 45 103 45 102
Interest income 126 125 Future pension increases 0 25% 115 264 112 258
Settlements and curtailments 05 0o Life expectancy at birth 1 year 133 305 129 296
Items recognised through profit and less 131 125
Actuarial gain (loss) on plan assets 220 163 According to Finnish legistation, pension fund needs to be fully funded Expected contribution payments {or the next five
Jtems recognised through 0C) 220 163 years ar approxamately 37 million curos The amount of payments depunds on future rcturns on plan assets
Contributions pard oo 02 The duration of defined benefit obligation 15 14 B9 years ‘The duratton 1s calculated with discount rate 2 10%
Benefits paid 207 215
Fair value of plan assets at 31 December 4107 3963
Plan assets are comprised as follows
% 2014 2013
Listed shares 193 229
Debt sstruments 534 500
Property 188 170
Other 83 110
Total 100 0 1000
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B - content of the section
¥ - Accounting prinaples

4 Alreraft and other intangible and tangible assets and leasing arrangements Intangible assets 2014
Other
H asroratt and ather miangibte and $angible assets and leasing arrangements inctude notes partcutarty retaled to alrcraft feet, Notes related i il intangible
to the aincraft opesated by the Group, both awned and leased amcraft under different kands of lease arangements, are comixned i ts sec- EUR m Goo assets Total
tion 50 that the overview of the tleet would Ummmﬁqsgnm_dm.n Acquisihion cost 1 Jan 2014 12 042 o585
Additions 43 43
4.1Intangible assets Drsposals 33 33
Reclassifications 07 07
ENintangibie assets are stated at Histoncal cost less accumulated amortrsation and imparrment ks 1f apphcable. Depreciation and im- Transter to assets held for sale 02 02
parmen of intangibte assets are based on the following expected economic lifetsmes. Atguisition cost 31 Dec 2014 L2 958 970
- Goodwill, inpairment testing - - i
« Computer software: 3-8 years - -
- Other tntangible assats. 3-10 years Accumutated depreciation and imparment 1 Jan 2018 0o 162 762
Disposals 33 33
Goodwill ) § i Depreciation for the financiat year 57 57
Qo?_aagﬁﬁsﬁ:ﬂz&:»ﬁi&n&mﬁsma?Nﬁ&gsssé»ﬁgﬁgzj&aa:,éﬁb;a ated d fation and § rment 31 Dec 2014 00 56 786
assets, 1s recognised as goodwill Goodwil on aoguisiion of subsidanes ts inchixded o intangible assets. Goodwill fs tested annuafly for - -
impairment and allocated to cash-generating uniis tor the purpose of impairment testing. Goodwi 15 carnied at cost lessaccumutated I
impasment kosses. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed Book vahue 31 Dec 2014 12 171 184
Other Intangihle assets tntangible assets 2013
Other mtangible assets mchade mainly computer software, captalised renovation costs of office renlals and connection fees. Major soft- Other
ware development Costs are captalised when they are expected to generate economic value longer than one vear Acquired user nghts intangible
and licenses are recorced as computer software at the acquesihion cost. nctuding the costs of makeng the iense and software ready for EUR mill. Goodwill assets Total
use. Maintenance and minor development costs are recagnised as expense at the me they occur Computer software and other ntan- Acquisition cost 1 Jan 2013 12 976 98 8
gtble assets are depreciated over a usefd fe of 3-10 years excent for connection fees which are not depredated additions 15 15
Research and development costs Osposals 53 53
Earept for major software development costs, esearch and developmert costs are expensed as they ocqwr Research and development Reclassifications 05 0.5
of atrcraft. systems and operations s conducted prmanly by the mamufacturers. Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2013 12 94.2 955
Impairment _
On every chosing date the Group reviews indnidual intangible asset dems for any indication of Impairment losses. An asset 5 GAITYIng Accumulated depreciation and imparment 1 jan 2013 00 734 134
armoynt & written down smmediately 1o s recoverable amount it  greater than the estimated recoverable amount. The need for un- caoa&a\ o o _ 53 53
pawment 5 exaruned of the cash generating U kevel Depretiation for the hinancal year 81 81
Assets that have arendetime usetut ki, such as goodwr, are 6ot sbject 1o amartisation and are fested annually for impairment BY Accumotated depreciation and Impatriment 31 Dec 2013 00 762 162
‘Bookvalve 31 Dec 2013 - 12 180 193

0.5 mifkzon euros of the goodwill 1s included m Airline Business segment and 0 7 million euros in Travel Services segment.
The recoverable cash flows used m the impairment test are determined based on value-1n use calculations in both seg-
ments The cash-flow projections for the next year are based on forecasts approved by management and after that perod
the cash flows are extrapolated by using 2% growth factor Based on testing there are no indications of need for impairment
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4 2 Tangible assets

EY 1angible assets are stated at tustoncal cost less accumulated depreciation and mpatrment loss if apphcable Tangible assets
inckude mamly arrcratt. The acquisition cost of atrcraft 1s allocated to the aircraft frame engines and mamtenance cemponents as
separale assels Maitenance components melude heavy maintenance of awrcraft frame and performancé restoration and maw-
tenance of ifedfimited parts ot aircratt engines and they are depreciated during the maintenance cycle Awcraft frame and engine
are depreciated over useful lile of the arcralt Significant mod.fications of own or feased aircraft are capitalized as separate items and
depreciated over the expected useful Me which in the case of leased awcraft cannot exceed the lease penod Replaced components are
de-recognised from the balance sheet. Rotable tems are capitalised and depreciated dunng their expeciad useful hfe

Advance payments for awrcraft are recognised as tangible assets. Interest costs refated to advance payments are capitalised as ac
quiskion cost for the period at which Finnair ts finanting the manutacturing of the aroraft Advance payments and capitalsed mterests
are recognssed as part of the areralt acqursition cost once the asrcratt s defivered and taken imto commenial use,

Depreciation of tangibile assets 5 based on the followmng expected economic [itetimes
« Alrcratt and engmes (aincraft) as well as fhghi simutators (other equipmend) on a straght-Ine bases as follows

~ Airbus A320 and Embraer fleet. gver 20 years 10 a residual value of 10%

- Airbus A330 figet, over 18 years (o a residual value of 10%

- Airbus A340 fleet over 15 years o a residual value of 10%

- Used jet arrcralt more than six years old. over 10 years to a residuaf value of 10%

= Turboprop awrcraft, over 12 years to a restdual value of 10%

= Aurtralt to be withdrawn, fully on a strarghtdine basis during the usefid life outlined in the fleet modemzation plan

Heavy maintenance of akreraft frame and performance mamtenance and Iife fsmited parts of the engines. oq a straight-ne basis dur-
ing the maintenance penod

+ Rotable items, over 15-20 years to a residual value of 10%

+ Buildings, over 50 years from the time of acqussition 1o a residual value of 109 or 3-79 ot the dimunishing balances

« Other tangble assets, 23% of the diminishing balances

The resutual vatues and estimated usefut lives of assets are assessed at each closing date and if they differ significantly from previ
ous estimates, the depreciation penods and ressdual values are changed accordingly

Gams and kosses on disposal of tangible assets 15 inctuded in the non-recurrng items.

Actounting principles regarding the arcraft overhauls have changed from the beginping of the financial period 2014 Accord-
ing to changed principle, the engine performance restoration and maintenance of lfe-kmied parts are tonsidered as fixedassels and
capitalmed at maintenance event. Previously only heavy maatenance of arrcrait frame was captalised-and otheroverhauls were ex-
pensed as they occurred. Frnancal data fram the comparnson year has been restated to correspond to the currentaccounting practices

Impairment
On every ckasing date the Group reviews indnadisa] tangible asset items for any indication of imparment losses. Anasset's carnang
amoumt 1s wrilien down smmediately to Ws recoverable amountf carrying amount rs greater than the recoverable ameunt.

The recoverable amount is detined for Gash generating unit, and need for impairment is evaluated on the cash generating umt lev-
el. The recoverable amount 1 the hegher of the asset s faiv value less costs to sefl or s valve in use The valoe in use ts based ondhe
sxpected discounted future net cash Hows obtainable trom he asset or cash-generating unit. Antmpalrment foss 1s recognised in the
income statement when the carrying amount of the asset s greater than the recaverable ameunt If the recoverable amount of the as-
set has changed after the impairment koss was recogmised the impairment loss & reversed up to the carrying amount, exduding im-
pairment loss of the asset. Y

Himpairment testing

The recoverable amounts of cash generating units have been determined m calcutabions based either on the value in-ise or on the sale
price hess the expenses of the sate. The preparation of these caloudations requires the use of estsmates. Estimates are based on budgets
and forecasts, whuch mherently contan some degree of uncertainty The main uncertainty factors m calosations are the USD/EUR and
JPY/EUR exchange rales, uni revenus estimated sales vatumes and jet fuel price. E

B« acounting principles
H < Crteeal accounting estimates

Tangible assets 2014
Other  Advances
EUR mill Land Buildings  Alrcraft equipment paid Total
Acquesition cost 1 fan 2014 07 1481 20522 157 660 23427
“additions T T 562 10 863 1434
Disposals o ) 3613 55 3668
mc_‘wm,_.me.rmumw_:w of arcraft acquisitions 641 641
Reclassifcatons T 197 12 28 09
Transfer to assets heid for sale 03 1466 1569
‘Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2014 07 1373 16202 724 664 18975
Accumulated deprecation and mpairment 1 Jan 2014 123 8880 -498 -10501
umuaum_ml N o 1329 54 1383
d&mm_mg: for the ::wzn_wzmﬁ 12 -1232 4] 1286
Depreciation i non-recurang tems ) ’ 12 02 14
“Transler to assets held fos sale i 52 370 421
Accumulated depreclation and impalrment 31 Dec 2014 1084 8426 -“48.8 9997
‘Bookvalue 31Dec 2018 07 294 71776 3.6 64 B9TB
Tangible assets 2013
other  Advances

EUR mill Land Buildings  Alreraft equipment paid Tota)
Acquisition cost 1 Jan 2013 67 1480 19873 843 321 22530
m_.&.._mm n accounting o:mn_nmmma o i 353 353
addtions o oi 335 22 67 625
Disposals T T 18 127 145
nm:m;nnm mm._,nsn of aircraft acquisiitons 12 112
“Redlassifications 34 19 -a7 06
“Transter to assets heid for sale 56 56
Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2013 o7 1481 20522 757 660 23427
Accumutated depreciation m:nq_a_.m:ama 1 jan 2013 1105 <1297 =502 8504
n\_ﬁw:mn n accounting u::nu.mm\ ) o =339 339
Disposals i 17 63 80
‘c‘m_\_an_m”a: for the financial year -18 1261 -87 1326
ﬂ_:mlas.:.c:. n ma:.alﬁ_:_.:ml tems ’ T b2 12
Accumutated depreciation and impairment 31 Dec 2013 1123 8880 498 -1050.1
‘Bookvalve 1 Dec2013 T 7 58 11642 %59 660 13,2926

Due to the change i accounting pninciples, the acquisition cost of aircraft in 2013 has been restated to include 35.3 nullion

euros of capitalised engine mantenance costs Correspondingly, accumulated depreciation has increased by 33 9 million euros

and depreciation for the financial year by 18 6 million euros More infarmation in note 6 5 Change in accounting principles

In 2014, the carrying amount of aircraft have decreased due to the sale and leaseback of A330 arrcraft as well as E190 and

ATR72 aircraft transferred to assets held for sale E190 and ATR72 aurcraft are expected to be sold in the begmning of 2015
The value of arrcraft that have been pledged as a secunity for external loans amounts to 314 8 million euros {599 7)
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Capitalised borrowing costs
In 2014, barrowing costs of 1 ¢ milbon curos were capitalised as advances paid in tangible assets related to the Asrbus A350
mvestment program. The mterest rate used was 5 0%, whach represents the costs of the loan used to finance the investment.

Impairment test
The impairment test for aircraft has been prepared based on the fur value and value-mn-use at the closing date, The test based
on value-in-use ded not cause any need for impairment.

The recoverable amount of a cash-generating untt s determined based on value-in-use calculations and the Groups own
assumpbwons These calculabons use pre-tax cash flow projections based on management’s best estmate of financial profit
and financial budgets covening year 2015 The forecast for the years 2016-2020 1s based on the main assumptions and fleet
forecast used as the basis for the best estmate The residual value used tn the calculation represents the estimated value of
arcraft in 2020 The fawr values of aircraft are based on bulletins of two independent asrcraft valuators

‘The key assumptrons used for value-in-use calculations are as follows WACC pretax 8.0%, EUR/USD | 24 and inflation 1 0%

2015 2016 2017
Fuel USD/ton 120 720 720
RASK change % 10% 1 0% 10%

The value-1n-use calonlation 15 sensibive to all key assumptions The most sensitive are RASK (revenue per available seat kilo-
meter), the fuel price and exchange rate ELRR/USD The decrease of RASK by 2 per cent or fuel price increase by 6 per cent
during the persod under review wall decrease the recoverable amount to equal the carrying amount for the asset Strength-
enng of the USD by 4 per cent would tncrease the euro equrvalent of the current market values of the awrcraft above the
carrying value The decrease of yen by 23 per cent in the whole pertod under review will decrease the recoverable amount
50 that 15 equal to carrying amount for the asset.

bmvestment commitments

At the end of Bnancial year investment commatments totalled 1950 milhon curos (974) including firm arrcrafi orders The
total commitment fluctuates between the order and the delivery of the aincraft mainly due to exchange rate EUR/USD and
the escatatron clauses included in airline purchase agreements The final amount of the commitment in relation 1o each
arrcraft i1s only known at the time of the delivery

A.3 Depreciation and Impafrment

EUR mill 2014 2013

Buildings 12 18

awrcraft T S T T T e T ) pww,N 1261

Other equipment ) o B a1 a7
Depreclation of tangible assets 1286 1326

Deprecation of ....ﬁ:m_c_nimmwmnu o T T T mux o \m 1

Total S T s T T o 13a3 7 1e3

Non-recurring items inctude depreciation of aircraft 1.2 million euros (0 0} and other equipment 0.2 mullion euros (1 2)
The depreciation for the financial year 2013 has mcreased by 18.6 mull:on euros due to a change in accounting principles
related to engine maintenance

4.4 Leasing arrangements

EXThe Group as the lessee
Lease agreements of tangible assets, where a substantial part of the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the Group are
dassified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the commencement of the lease term at the lower of the fair value of the
leased asset and the present value of the minimum lease payments A corresponding sum is recogmsed as a finance lease liabilty The
lease payments are llocated between finance charges and the reduction of the outstanding liability The corresponding rental obligations
net of hinance charges, are induded in the nonr-qurrent or corrent miterest bearing hatilities The mgerest element of the inance cost s
charged to the income statement over the fease term so as toachieve a constant interest rate on the remaining balance of the hablity for
eathpenod Assetstems acquired under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the useful Life of the asset or the lease term
Lease agreements of tangible assets, where the lessor retaing a substantial part of the nisks and rewards are classitied as operating
leases Payments under operating leases are charged o the income siatement over the lease term

The Group as the lessor

The agreements, where the Group ts the lessor are accounted for as operatmg leases when a substantial part of the nisks and rewards
of ownership are not transferred to the lessee The assets are included in the tangible assets and they are depreciated during their use-
ful life Deprecation is catcufated using the same princeples as the tangible assets for own use Under the prowisions of certain aircraft
lease agreements. the lessee 15 required to pay pertodic additienal rent or maintenance reserve which accumulate funds for mainte-
nance related to the usage of the aircraft The Company s obligations to make contribubions or resmbursements for such maintenance
are recognised as habilities. Contributions or resmbursenents to the lessee upon acceptance of evidence of qualifying maintenance
work are charged agamst the exesting ilabilities The rents far premises are recognised in Income staternent as other operating income
over the lease term and the rents for awcraft as revenue

Sale and leaseback
if sale and leaseback transaction is resulting in a finance lease agreement the difference between the selling price and the casrying
amount of the asset sold ts daferred and amortised over the lease penod

If sale and leaseback transaction s resulting e an operating lease agreement the diference between the selling price and the car
rying amount of the asset sold 1s recagrised in the income statement when the selling price 1s based on fair vakue Otherwise the sales
gain or loss s deferred and amortised over the lease period KY

M the class#fication of lease arrangements in Groupss Arrling Business to financial and ather leases requires management discretion n
interpretatian and apphcation of accounting standards Where the management has made a judgement that risks and rewards of own
ership belong to Group the lease 1 treated a5 a financial lease otherwise as other lease H

EY- Accounting principles
B - Critical accounting estimates
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Finance lease arrangements Other lease arrangements

EUR el Buitdings Alreraft  Other equipment Total Minimum lease payments for Irrevocable lease agreements, the Group as the lessee
42 1972 84 2658
Accumulated depregiation 04 579 41 625 airceaft Premises other equipment
Book value 21 Dec 2014 37 1393 43 1473 EUR mill 2014 2013 2014 2013 201 2013
less than a year B9 5 536 202 191 63 68
65 1972 2238 2266 1-2 years 759 459 194 183 17 57
Accumulated depreciation 24 458 183 465 -3 years 646 351 191 178 08 132
Book value 31 Dec 2013 a0 1514 as 1600 3-4 years 574 %5 157 178 53 04
4-5 vears 557 152 182 176 o oo
Assets acquired under finance leases are mdluded 10 tangible assets Accumulated depreciation has increased by 57 mal- more than 5 years 2927 805 4138 1400 00 00
lion euros durtng the financial period 2013, due to a change 11 accounting principles refated to engine mamtenance More Total 658 7592 Py 7307 35 141
mfermation can be found 1n notes 4 2 Tangible assets and 6 5 Change 1n accounting principles
Finance lease liabitities The Group has leased premises as well as aircraft and other fixed assets with irrevocable lease agreements These agree

ments have different renewal and other index hnked terms and conditions The Group has leased 28 asrcraft on leases of

Present value of difterent lengths Rental payments of arcraft have mcreased mainly because of the new Atrbus A321 Sharklet aircraft and

Minimum lease payments Future financial expenses minimum lease payment the <ales and leaseback of A320 arcraft

EUR mill 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

fess than a year 75 198 21 29 154 169 Minimum lease payments for irrevocable lease agreements, the Group as lessor

1-h years 703 758 60 20 643 708

mare than 5 years 95 751 83 108 a2 643 Aurcraft Premises
EUR mill 2014 2013 2014 2013

Total 1374 1748 164 228 1210 1520
less than a year 525 578 52 35
1-2 years 419 567 54 34
2-3 years 331 461 55 33
3-4 years 86 373 55 33
4-5 years 37 128 55 33
more than 5 years Q2 84 436 364
Total 140.0 2191 708 532

The Group has leased premuses as well as aircraft with irrevocable lease agreements These agreements have different lev-
els of renewal and other index-hnked terms and conditions The Group has leased 30 arrcraft on leases of difterent lengths
Irrevocable aircraft lease agreements have decreased due to termunating lease agreements of aircraft sold during 2014
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S capital structure and financing costs
5.1 Financial income and expenses

B The notes related to hnancsal assets and babelises and equity have been gathered mto capilal structure and finanaing costs section Lo gve
2 better overall view of the Group s tinancial posibion. Earmings per share note has been added mto equity sechon. @l

Edinterest income and expenses

Interest mcome and expenses are recognised on a Lume-proportion basis using the effective iderest method. Interest expenses that re-

Rate to financing significant investments are capitalised as part of assets acgustion cost and depregiated over the usafid e of the asset.
More detadled Informaton about finandal assets w note 5 2 and abotr mierest beanng Rabiities n npte 53,

Dividend income
Drdend income s recognised when the company has a legal rght to recerve the dendends EY

EUR mill. 2014 2013
interest income trom tinancial assets classilwed as held for trading 26 26
Other mierest mcame T - 00 17
Didend mgome T g0 o1
Qther financial mcome 09 ) i - 367
Financlal income total i - T s s
Interest expenses for finanoal fabiities :mmmhqmnlw m_ma:am.._ manc_u:_.am nmm_l T T unolt. T 1 7
Interest on hnance leases ’ 25 25
Exchange gains and losses 06 -12
Other tinancial expenses T 0T <148 T Mm.
Interest rate swaps faw value hedges ) - ) 58 T H.N.
Fair value adjustment 1o bond book value atinbutable to nterest rate rsk s 12
Financial expenses total T T T oass  as2
Financlal expenses, oet ) . 24 T Tne

Effectiveniess testing of the Group s hedge accounting found that both cash flow and fair value hedging are efficient. Thus,
as in the companson year 2013, no inefficiency 15 mctuded in financizd stems for 2014 Financial income mcludes an den-
tical amount of profits and losses for fair value hedging instruments and for hedging stems resultzng from the hedged nsk

Durtng year 2014 19 million euros (0 0) of mterest have been capitalised regarding the A350 investment program
Other financial expenses tn 2014 include a write down of 10 8 million euros subordinated loan {including mterests)
grven 1o Flybe Nordic Group Other financial incorme include capital pain on the sale of Norwegsan A Shuttle ASA's shares
34 mullton eures in year 2013 More information about Fly be Nordic can be found in notes 1 6 Investments ih assocrates and
jomt ventures and 6.2 Related party transactions and about caputalised intercst in note 4 2 Tangable assets

- content of the section
- acrounting prinaiptes

5.2 Financlal assets

Edrinancial assets

In the Group, financiaf assets have been classified accormg (o the 1AS 39 standard “Fnangial Instruments Recognition and Measure
ment” wnto the following categones. financial assets at fair value through profit and toss {assets held for tradingd held ta-matunty 1n
vestments, loans and other recevables. as well as available-for-sale financial assets. The classification Is marde on the basis of the pur
pose of the acquisition of the financial assets in connection with the original acqusition All purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date

The fmancial asset category recognised at fair value through profit and boss inchudes assets held for trading purposes and assets measured
at fawr vatue through profit and koss on Inltlal recogmibon Financial assets at far value through proft and loss have mainty been acquued
to obtam a gain from short-term changes i market pices. Ml those derivatives that do not fulfil the conditions for the application of hedge
accounting are classified as Rnanclal assets at falr vatue through profit and loss and are measured in each financlal staterment at fair value
Realtsed and unrealised gams and losses arrsing from changes m fair vatue are recogrused in the income statement i the penod inwhich
they arise Financial assets at fair vatue through profit and foss as well as those matunng within 12 months are included in cucrent assets,

Held-to-matueity investmenls are financial assets not belonging to derivateve coniracts which matuce on a specified date and which
acorpany has the hiem intent and ability to hold to maturty They are measured at amartised cost and they are inctuded in long term
assets. On the desing date the Group had no agsets belonging to the sawd group.

Imvestments which do not have a matunty date and which date of sales has nat been decided are classiied as avallable-for sale h-
nancial assats. Available-for-sale financlal assets are presented in the batance sheet in short term finangial assets A change In the fair
value of avalable far-sale inanclal assets is recogmsed i the fair value reserve of other comprehensive income from which it 1 trans
ferred to the income statemnent in connection with a sale

Unquoted shares are measured in the Finnair Group at thetr acquisitton prece 1n the absence of a reliable far value

Loan recervables and other recevables are recogrised at amortsed cost using the effective interest method Loans and other recervables
nctude trade recenvables, deferrad charges, other tong term recenvables and sacurity deposis tor aircraft aperational lease agreements,

Derecognition of financial assets takes place when the Group has lost its contractual right to recemve the cash Mows ar when it hag
substantially transferred the nsks and rewards outside the Group

tmpairment of financial assets
The Goup assesses ak the end of each reparting period whether there s objective evidence that iinancial asset or group of financial as-
sets 15 impalred. A financal asset or a group of financial assets s impaired and Imparment losses are incurred only o there is objective
evidence of iImpawment as a result of one oF more events that occurred after the nitial recognition of the asset (a "loss event’) and that
loss event {or events) has reliably estimated impact on the estimated future cash fiows of the iinanclal asset or group of financial assets
When a recewvable is imparred the group reduces the tarrytng amount to it recoverable amount Recoverable amaunt 1s the esti-
mated future cash How discounted at the original effectrve interest of the instrument. The recoverable amount ¢ontinues unwinding the
discount as Interest income from there an Interest Income on impaired loans is recognised using the orginal effective interast rate

cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash reserves and short term bank deposits matunty under three months Foreign exchange-de-
norunated ttems have been converted into euros using the mid market exchange rates on the clostng date KY

5 2 1 Non-current loan and other recelvables

EUR mill. 2014 2012
Loan recesvables 03 102
ather recewabies o 89 103
Total - - 9.2 205

Loan recervables have decreased by 9 9 million euros due to write-down of subordinated loan recervable from Finnam's
joint venture Flybe Nordic Group For more information, see notes 1 6 Investrnents in associates and joint ventures and
6 2 Related party transactions
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Other recervables are mainly kease collateral for the operational lease agreements of awrcraft. Balance sheet values cor-
respond best to the sum whuch ts the maximum amount of credit nisk, excluding the fair value of guarantees, in the event
that other contractual parties are not able to fulfit their obligations relating to financial tnstruments There are no sigruf-
1cant congentrations of credit nsk relating to recervables The Fair values of recervables are presented in note 5 6 Classifi-
cation of financeat assets and labilities

5 2.2 other current Anandial assets

€uR mill. 2014 2013
Commercial papers and certificates and bonds 2879 2554
Maney market funds T 355 350
Deposits maluring i more than 3 months | - 9a T a1
Unirsted shares ) - T a0 04
Total B - 3328 3159
Ratings of counterparties - T s C

Better than A T T T T T 66 T e
A ’ - B o 1380 813
BBB - o7 450 T 637
Be - ) - N wo 00
Unrated T T ’ T 013
Total T/ T -t 38 310

Investing of the Group's fnancial assets and nsk management policy are described sn more detail in note 5.5 Management
of financual risks IFRS dassification and fair values of financial assets are presented in note 5 6 Classification of inancaal
assets and habibties Unlisted shares were transferred during financial year 2014 mto group non-current loan and other
recervables (note 5 2.1)

5.2.3 Cash and cash equivalents

EUR mill 2014 2013
Cash and bank deposits 631 578
Deposits maturing m fecs than 3 moaths - i 02 7T e
Total T - - Y T1m29

Items include cash and bank deposits reabsed on demand. Foreign currency cash and bank deposits have been measured
at mud-market exchange rates on the closing date The reconcihation of cash and cash equivalents 1s illustrated in notes of
consolidated cash flow statement

5.3 Financlal liabilities

EXFinancial liabilities

Finantial liabuhties are imtiaity recogmsed at tasr value on the basis of the onginal consideration receved Transactions costs have been

wnluded in the ongwal book value of the financia! liabilities, Thereafter all non-dervatve financial liabilities are measured at amortised

costusing the effectve interest method Fmancial labiliies are incloded in long and shart term Jiabulities and they can be intesest-bear

1ng o non mierest bearing. Loans that are due for payment within 12 months are presented in short term Liabilities. Foreign currency

lpans are measuved at the mid-market exchange rate on the tlosing date and translation differences are recognised m bnanoal items
Accounts payable are recogrased inttially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortrsed cost using the affective nterest methad
Deracognition of financial latilibies takes place when Group has hiled the contractual obligations Y

Non-current [labilities

EUR mill 2014 2013
Bank loans 768 1141
Bonds T T i 1553 1506
msmﬂﬁm ﬂmmoml__m?_u___mm i T O T ’ 1056 1208
Interest-bearing Habilities total 3377 855
.—.._m_...__m—mqm&.umm:_..w kabifities T 221 254
Total U o ) sos A109

Non-interest-bearing habilities include mamlby lease and marntenance reserves related to the aircraft leased to other airlines

Corrent interest-bearing Nabllities
EUR mill 2014 2013
Bank loans 37 1396
Commercial papers 280 445
Finance lease liabilities 154 148
Other foans 68 86
Total 899 2075
EX- Accounting principles
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Maturity dates of

The currency mnt of iterest bearng long-term habilities (including cross currency interest rate swaps) is as follows

financlal liabilities 31 Dec 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 Later Total
Bank loans hxed interest 235 238 00 o0 00 a0 473 EUR mill 2014 2013
Bank loans variable interest 162 152 127 103 148 00 652 EUR 4073 5646
Bonds co oo 00 150¢ 00 00 15090 usp 202 250
Commercial papers 280 00 00 0o o] 00 280 Total 4276 593 6
Finance lease babilives 154 153 159 164 167 412 1210
Other loans 68 oo 50 0o 00 00 68 Werphted average effective imterest rate on interest-beaning long-term habilities was 1 3% (3 1%)
Interest-bearing liabilltles total 899 543 286 176 7 315 412 4222
Payments trom currency derivatives 9149 2615 2144 0o 1]} +1i] 14208 Interest rate re-fixing period of interest-bearing liabHities
Income from currency dervatves 10104 3232 2471 00 00 00 15807 2014 2013
Commodity dervatives 1522 382 00 00 0o 00 1904 Up 10 6 months B7 7% 44 2%
Interest rate dervatives 25 00 06 58 00 00 27 6-12 months 00% 0 0%
Equily derivarves 00 00 00 00 04 0o 06 1-5 years 113% 350%
Trade payables and ather liah 6008 ao 00 00 00 00 6008 More than 5 years 10% 0 8%
Interest payments 94 68 61 61 01 00 285 Total 100 0% 100 0%
Total 1594 675 7 176 9 310 412 10787

§ 4 contingent Habilities
Maturlty dates of EUR mill 2014 2013
financial llablitties 31 Dec 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Later Total

Other pledges given on own behalf 1811 5037
Bank loans fixed interest 85 483 00 0o 00 oo 568

Guarantees on behatt of group companies 728 676
Bank loans variabte interest 1311 147 147 122 L] 144 1869

Guarantees on behalt of others 22 23
Bonds fixed interest 00 00 oo 0o 1512 oo 151 2

Total 2561 5735
Commercial papers 445 00 0o 0o o 0o 445
Finance lease habilities 144 148 154 161 i67? 577 1354
Other loans 86 00 oo 0o 00 oo 86 5 5 Management of financial risks
Interest bearing liabllities total 2075 778 01 283 1777 721 5936 Princlples of flnancial risk management
Payments trom currency dervatives 8asa1 2731 00 00 Qo 00 11172 The nature of the Finnair Group s bustness operatians exposes the compny to vanety of financial risks foreign exchange,
Incosae from currency derwatives 8430 2743 00 00 ¢ 00 1173 mnterest rate, credit and hquidity, and commodity price risks The Group's policy 15 to hmit the uncertainty caused by such
Commodity derrvatives -101 -43 00 00 00 00 144 risks on cash flaw, financial performance and cquity
Interest vate dervatives 00 a5 00 02 1z 00 0% The E_“.suﬁmh_dm:"o;:pq_nm_m_ risks 15 cu_mna ﬂ:. the _..MA “ﬂsgmmﬂm:»ecﬂnw ”vwaém e_v;r” Board ch_EQMJ ?Mua“

m tvpe z rement

:mnm ﬂm<ha_mm and other labilitres 5969 00 00 00 00 00 6969 LY spLekies the minimum and maximum levels poerantted fur cach tvpe of s, Inancial tisk Management s irected an

supervised by the Financial Risk Steering Group Practical implementation of risk management pohicy and risk management
Interest payments 135 g6 73 52 61 00 a7 have been centialised 1n the parent company's finance depariment
Total 908.9 814 374 343 182 6 721 13167

Part of the Joans are secured by bank guarantees which are due earhier than underhining bank loans Bank loan repayments
include these loans 18 million euros in year 2015 and 19 5 mullion euros 1n year 2016 Bank loans include one long-term
currency and interest rate swap and one interest rate swap that hedge two loans Interest rate re fixing peniod 1nvarable
interest loans ts 3 or 6 months Fixed interest bond maturing wn 2018 does not include the fair value adjustment of 5 8 il
lon euros and the amortised cost of 0 5 mulhon euros which was pard in 2013

The minimum lease payments, discount values and present values of finance lease habilities are presented 1n note
4 4 Leasing arrangements

In the nsk management of foreign exchange, interest rate and jet fuel positions, and electricity price risk, the company
uses different denvative instruments, such as forward contracts, swaps and options Derwvatives are designated at inception
as hedges for future cash flows (cash flow hedges), hedges for firm orders (hedges of the fair value of firm commitments) or
as financaat derwvatives not quahfymg for hedge accounting (economic hedges} In terms of the hedging of future cash flows
(cash flow hedgmg), the Finnair Group implements, in accordance with TAS 39 hedge accounting principles, foreign exchange
hedging of lease payments interest rate hedging to 1ssued bond {fair value hedgingh, hedging of jet fuel price and foreign
cxchange rsks and hedging of dectnicity price risk and as hedges of the fair value of irm commitment aireraft purchases

Fuef price risk in flight operations
Fuel price risk means the cash flow and tinancial performance uncertainty arsing from fucl price fluctuations

Finnaur hedges against jet fuel price fluctuations using jet fucl forward contracts and options As the underlying asset of
Jet fuel derivatives, the Jet Fuel CIF Cargoes NWE mdex 15 used, because over 60 per cent of Finnanr’s fuel purchase con-
tracts are based on the benchmark price index for North and West Europe jet fuel delivenies

FINNAIR ANNUAL REPORT 2014 97




Fmnur apphes the principle of time-diversification inats fuel hedging for Scheduled Passanger trathe, which makes up
95 per cent of the nisk The hedging horizon according to the nisk management policy 1s two years Under the risk manage-
ment policy, hedging must be increased in each quarter of the vear so that the hedge ratio for Finnair's $cheduled Passenger
Traffic for the first six months 1s more than 60 per cenl and so that thereafter a lower hedge ratio applies for each period
By allocating the hedping, the fuel cost per period 18 not as low as the spot-based price when prices fall, but when spot pric-
es nise the fuel cost rises more slowly Finnair hedges the fuel price risk of T etsure trafhic according to own policy, at least
60 per cent of the jet fuel consumption 1s hedged

In terms of the accounting, the fuel hedges are recogrused in Finnarr in two different ways In terms of the fuel consump-
tion of hinnaur, the first approximately 40 percentage peants per period are treated in accounting as cash-flow hedging in
accordance with FAS 39 hedge accounting principles Changes in the fair value of derivatives defined as cash-flow hedging
in accordance with 1AS 39 are posted directly to the fair value reserve included 1n equity The change in fair value recog-
msed 1n the equity hedging reserve 1s posted Lo income statement at the period time as the hedged transaction Changes in
the fair value of hedges outside hedge accounting — which do not fulfil IAS 39 hedge accounting criteria — are recogmsed
1n other operating expenses over the tenor time of the derivative

At the end of the hinancial year, Finnare had hedged 75 per cent of 1ts fuel purchases for the first six months of 2015and
54 per cent for the second half of the year In the financial year 2014, fuel used 1 Might operations accounted for some what
over one fourth compared to the Group's revenue At the end of the financial y ear, the forecast for 2015 15 the same, some-
what over one fourth compared to the Group's revenue On the clesing date, a 10 per cent rise in the market price of jet
fuel - excluding hedging activity calculated using Scheduled Passenger Traffic’s forecasted flights — increases annual fizel
costs by an estimated 43 mulhon euros On the closing date ~ taking hedging into account - a 10 per cent nise in fuel low-
ers operating profit by around 16 milion euros Situation as at 31 December represents well the mean of a calendar year

Electricity price risk
The costs of electricity are less than one per cent of the Finnair Group’s costs but due to the high volatihty the price rsk 1s
hedged The Group applies the principle of time-diversification tn ts electricity price nisk hedgmg  Fhe hedging horizon
18 $1X years

In terms of the accounting, the electricity hedges are recognised as cash flow hedges Changes in the fair value of deriv-
atives dehined as cash-flow hedging in accordance with TAS 39 arc posted directly to the farr value rescrve imdluded o eq-
wity The change 1n fair value recognised 1n the equity hedging reserve s posted to income statement at the period time as
the hedged transaction Changes in the far value of hedges outside hedge accounting — which do not fulhl 1AS 39 hedge
accounting criterta — are recognised in other operating expenses over the tenor time of the derivative

Forelgn exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk means the cash flow and financial perfortmance uncertainty arising from exchange rate fluctuations

Finnair Group's foreign exchange nisk arises mamly from fuel and aircraft purchases, awrcraft leasing payments and for-
ewgn currency incemes Somewhat under 60 per cent of Group revenue 15 denominated 1n euros The most impaortant for-
elgn sales currencies are the Japanese yen (9%, percentage of revenue), the Chinese yuan (7%), the Swedish crown (5%) and
the US dollar (3%) Approximately half of the Group's operating costs are denominated in foreign currencies  The most im-
portant purchasing currency 1s the US dollar, which accounts for somewhat over 40 per cent of all operating costs Signifi-
cant dollar-denomnated expense 1tems are fuel costs and aircraft leasing payments  The largest investments - arrcraft and
their spare parts - also take place mainly in US dollars

The t1sk management policy divides the foreign exchange position 1nto two parts a profit and loss position and an in-
vestment position

The profit and loss posstron mainly consists of dollar costs and revenues 1n a number of different currencies The purpose
of currency risk hedging - for P& expaosure - 15 to cut the volatihity of cash flows and operating income due to fluctuating
currency prices This s done by layering hedges for the biggest two currencies and utihzing diversification benefits of the
portfoho of various currencies The hedging lumuts are set only for the main contributors of currency risk, the US dotlar and
the Japanese yen For these two currencies, the hedging hortzon 1s two years which 1s divided into four six-month periods
In order to achieve time diverstfication, the mimimum hedge ratie for the closest six-month pertod 15 A% with a decreasing
stope ending at 0% for the fourth six-manth period Even though the policy doesn't require hedging of smaller currency flons,
1t 15 allowed, 1n which case the layered hedging stiategy is partially apphed although no mymmam hedging ratio 1s required

The investme at posttion includes all foroign exchange denomanated airaaft investments for which a binding procure
ment contract has been signed According to the nisk ranagement policy at least half of the mvestments recognised in the
balance shect must be hedged after the signing of a irm order New hedge s in mvestment position wall be made as TAS 39
fair value hedge of a firm commitment

At the end of the financial year, Finnair had 4 hedging ratio of 82 per centin the USD basket and 73 per cent in JPY for
the coming 12 months On the closing date — without hedging — a 10 per cent strengthening of the US dollar against the
euro has a negative impact on the annual result of around 65 5 mithon euros and a 10 per cent weakenmg of the Japanese
yen agamnst the euro has a negatir e impact on the annual result of around 16,5 mtllion euros On the clostng date - taking
hedging imto account — a 10 per cent strengthening of the US dollar weakens the result by around 12 millron euros and a
1G per cent weakening of the Japanese yen weakens the result by around 6 milhon euros [nthe above numbers the USD bas
ket nsk includes also the Chinese yuan and the Hong Kong dollar whose historical correlation with the dollar s hagh Sut-
uation as at 3] December represents well the mean of a calendar year

Interest rate risk
Interest rate nisk means the cash flow and financial performance uncertamty arising from mterest rate fluctuations

In Finnair Group the interest rate risk 1s measured using the mterest rate re-fixing periad 1f necessary, tnterest rate de-
rivatives are used to adjust the interest rate re fixing pertod According to the risk management policy, the mandate for the
mvestment purtlohio s intercst rate re iiximg purtod 1s 0-12 months and for mtorcst-beaning habihitics 0-24 months On the
closing date the investment portfolio’s interest rate re-fixing period was three months and for interest bearing Liabilities
approxsmately three months On the closing date a one percentage point rise 1n interest rates increases the annual interest
income of the investment portfolio about 3 0 million euros and the interest expenses of the loan portfolio about 3 1 million
euros Siuatiop as at 31 December represents well the mean of a calendar year

Borrowings 1ssued at fixed rates expose the group to farr value interest rate risk The group 1s applying hedge accounting (fur
value hedge) 10 hedpge the fair value interest rate risk of 1ts 150 mullion euro fixed rate unsecured bond 1ssued in Angust 2013

Lease agreements that will start in future expose the group to imterest rate nsk [nterest rate ts ene component of the
lease price Interest rate 15 locked when the lease pay ments start The group 1s hedging Lhis exposure with cash flow hedges

CredIt risk

The Group s exposed to counterparty risk when investing its cash reserves and in using derivative instruments The cred-
1t risk 1s managed by making contracts, within the framework of risk management policy of counterparty risk limits, only
with financially sound domestic and foretgn banks, financial tnstitutions and brokers Liquid assets are also invested, with-
in company-spesific imits, 1n bonds and commercial papers issued by conservatively selected companies  This way risk to-
wards single counterparties are not sigmaficant Change in fair value of groups loans rise from changes in FX and interest,
not from credit sk Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk 1s other financial assets presented at note 5 2 2, cash and
cash equivalent presented in 5 2 3 and trade receivables presented mnote 22 3

Liquldity risk
‘The poal of the Finnair Group 15 to maintain good liquidity Liquidity s casured by cash reserves, bank account imuts, lig-
utd money market investments and committed credit facilities With respect to aireraft acquisitions, the company's pohicy
15 to secure financing, for example through commutted loans, at 2 minimum of 6 menths before delvery Counterpartics of
groups’ long term loans are sohd financial mstitutions with good reputation

The Groups liquid assets were 426 1 mullion euros at the end of financil year 2014 Finnair Plc has a domestic commer-
cial paper program of 200 mullion euros, of which 28 million euros was used on the closing date In addition Fennair has a
180 mullion euro commutted credit facehity unused The credit facility includes a finance covenant based on adpusted gearing
The covenant level of adjusted gearing 1s 175 per cent, while at the closing date the figure was 107 5 per cent The maximum
level set by the Board of Directors 15 140 per cent

Capltal management

The aim of the Group s capital management ts with the aid of an optimum capatal structure, to support busincss opu rations
by ensuring normal operating conditions and to increase shareholder value with the best possible return being the goal
An optimum capital structure atso ensures lower capital costs The capital structure 15 influenced for example via dividend
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distribution and share 1ssues The Group can vary and adjust the level of dvidends paid to shareholders or the amount of

Hedge  Financlab assetsat  Available for
wapital returned to them or the number of new shares issued, or can decide on sales of asset iterns in order to reduce debt EUR mill unnu_.___..__:n falr value through  sale financlal ~ Loans and Measured at Book
tems praht and loss assets  receivables amortised cost value
It 15 the ain the Finnair s dividend policy to pay on average at least one third of the earnings per share as dividend during 1 Der 2013
zn economic cycle
The development of the Group’s capstal structure 18 momitored continously using adjusted gearing When calculating Financlal assets
adjusted gearing, adjusted interest-beaning net debt is divided by the amount of shareholders’ cquity The Group's adpasted Recewables 205 205
gearing at the end of 2014 was 107 5 per cemt {79 2) Other financial assets 2904 450 3355
Sensitivity analysis of the falr value reserve Trade recewables and other recewvables 2362 } 2362
Denvaives 182 %68 450
Ifthe price of Jet fuel CIF N'WE had been 10 per cent hugher, the balance of the reserve would have been 26 7 million euros
(40 5) lugher Correspondingly a 10 per cent weaker Jet fuel CIF NWE price would have reduced the reserve by 26 7 milhion Unbsted shares 04 04
euros (40 5) In terms of the US dollar, a 10 per cent weaker level would have lowered the balance of the fair value reserve Cash and cash equivalents 1229 1229
by 53 2 million euras {42 6) and a 10 per cent stronger dolar would have had a poaitive impact of 53 2 million euros (42 6) Falr value total 18 2 3172 04 a6 760 4
if the underlying L0 year USD swaprate would be on 10 percent higher level the balance of the reserve would be 3 7 million
(0 0) higher regarding the nterest rate hedges of the leases that will start in future Correspondingly the reserve would be Book value total 18.2 172 04 a2d.06 760 4
3 7 million euros (0 0) weaker if the rate would be on 10 percent lower level Electricity price hedging was ineffective at the
end of the year 2014, thus thetr valuation would hay e had no inpact to the balance of the fair value reserve (0 0) The effect
of change in interests to the fair value reserve in own equity 15 not essential The enclosed sensitivity figures do not take into Financial lfabilities
account any change in deferred tax assets and habilities Interest bearing habilities 4574 4574
Finance lease habditres 1356 1356
5 6 Classification of financlal assets and liabilities Dernvatives 216 79 295
Trade payables and ather liab) 360 7749 8109
uns....“.ﬂ__mm ﬂ_uq"wﬁ__m:_nw.m.ﬁ”m—. uﬁ”____wh.p_“n__w“ Loans and Measured at B0k Falr value total us Li 80 13679 14334
EUR mill items profit and loss assels  receivables amortised cost value
31 Dec 2014 Book value tetal 216 79 360 13727 14382
Financlal assets
Recenvables 04 &7 72 Deferred tax habilities are not presented in this note Group has 00 mulhon euros (3 4) of deferred tax habilities in 1ts balance
Other financial assets 3234 24 3328 sheet In this note interest rate derwvatives {currency and interest-rate swaps) are included in dern atives In other notes they
Trade recewvables and ather recenables 1940 1540 are included i bank loans The item other financial assets mainly meludes USD denominated security deposits for leased
Derwvatives 126 1 376 1637 aircraft Trade payables and other ltabihities include trade payables, deferred expenses pension obhigations as well 4s ather
tash and cash equivalents 934 934 mnterest-bearing and non-interest-bearing habilities
Book value total 126 1 3610 04 05 & 7010 Derivatives are measured al fair value and more explained m fair value hierarchy Financial assets measured at faur value
are money market funds (fair value hierarchy level 1) and bonds or commercial papers (fair value hierarchy fevel 2) Loans
and recervables are current and the buok value s equivalent 1o the farr value, be cause the discount ¢ ffect 1 not significant
Falr value total 1261 10 o4 305 6 7930 The current portions of loans measured at amortised cost ts 89 mallion euros and the book value 15 equivalent to the fair
value, because the discount effect 15 not significant “The most significant item included tn the non-cutrent loans measured
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 15 the 1ssued bond  The bond was quoted at 103  as per 31 Dc 2014 which explaims the difference be-
Interest bearing liabiities W64 3066 tween book value and fair value (fair value hierarchy level 1} The valuatton principles of financial assets and liabilives are
Finance faase hatilities 1210 1210 outhned m the accounting principles
Dervanves 1472 519 1591
Trade payables and other liabifities 221 6008 £230
Book value total 1472 519 221 1,084 1,24907
Fair value total 1972 519 221 10288 12501
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Falr value hierarchy of financlal assets and labilities measured at fair vaioe During the financial year no signibicant transfers took place. between fair value icrarehy Levels 1 and 2

Falr vatnes at the end of the reportt tod The Eair values of haerarchy Level 1 are based fully on quoted {unadjusted) prices in active markets of the same assels

and habihities
EUR mill. 31 Dec 2014 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 “The fair vatues of Level 2 instruments are based te a sigmficant extent on tnput data other than the quoted prices includ-
Assets ed in Level 1, but however on data that are observable either directly (price) or indirectly (derved from price) for the smd
Finaneal assets at fair value thiough profit and loss ) N o - | asset or Labbty
- - - - - T T s T - The farr values of Level 3 instruments on the other hand are based on asset or habihty input data that are not based on
Secunties held for trading - - -- 24 5 m PR 2879 _ - observable market informatien (unobservable inputs}, rather to a significant extent on confirmations supplied by counter-
. . e R _ . _. parttes based on generally accepted valuation models
Derrvateves held for trading The farr value hierarchy Jevel to which a certain item measured at fair value 1s classified in its entirety 15 determuned
Interest rate SWaps i - - B: o T a2z T accordance with the requirements of IFRS 7 based on the lowest level of input significant to the overall fair value of the
of which in tarr value hedge accountmg 59 ) 59 o7 saud tem The significance of the input data has been assessed in its entirety 1n relatton to <aid item measured at fair value
of which in cash flow hedge actounting i ‘ 23 h Ty T T T
Currency derivatives - s 7T _mno. - - - H.mnol B Reconcillation of financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value according to Level 2
- gf whuch in fair value hedge unS:E_zw ) 663 663 ) - Fair value at the end of the reporting peried
of which in cash flow hedge accounting ’ 509 T Tso9 - Recognised at falr value through
- - profit and toss
Commaodity dervatves 02 02 Securitles held Derivatives held  Available-for-sale
- of which m cash flow hedge accounting 00 -7 00 T EUR mill for trading forfrading  share investments Tota)
.mnc.z.nqu&zmm i ) B oul T cq| o xo\un..y_ang\ ance 23 23
- of which m farr valve hedge accounting 07 o7 ) Profits and losses in income stalement. Lotal 03 - 03
Total v - T 71 355 Tse oo in comprehensive meome .
S S =~y it : :
Liabilities B -t T - .Mmz_mam_ﬂm {and rssues) M _ 41 . 41
Financial Nabilities recognised at falr vale through profit and foss -t T - Transfersto and fram Level 3 _ 61 61
Dervatives held for tradng N i i s T Closing halance 0.0 oo 00 00
Interest rate swaps 5% T o550 h il i
- of which in farr value hedge accountmg ;. ) 01 i '.4 T T o Y H ) ﬁwﬁﬁﬁﬂ%
.o.;:mn.:..nmumhnoi:mawmmnss_”_:.m L _ .«m\ o \.\‘mmrrl‘ o reporting period
Currency dervatives 30 30 L In m:ﬁ opefating expenses ) -63 03
of whach m tarr vatue hedge actounting i o T - - - - .
-of sa:m: (R cash qoi _._mnmm wnS:::_._ﬁ —_— e o 0o — [T Im o\ [ Durmg the reporting perind afl Level 3 financial assets and liabilities were transferred to Level 2 The transfer was a conse-
Commodity derrvatrves 1905 _ _ 1905 _ _ quence of specified observable market data on derivatives valualion model
- of which in cash flow hedge accounting 1423 1423
Equity dectvatives N 01 T I
of which in fair vatue hedge mﬂo:::;m- |. B 01 i o - 01 )
Total i ) i 1991 i L Y
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5.7 Offsetting financlal assets and liabilities

EUR mill. 2014 2013
Dervatve assets gross amounts 1637 46.1
_ Gross amounts of recognised financial Iiabilities set off 1n the batance sheet - a0 T on
_ Kzt amounts of financlal assets presented in the batance sheet ) 17
Enforceable master netting agreement 535 307
_ Derfvative assets net amount 100.2 15.4
_ - - - -
Dervative labilities gross amounts - T - 1391 T T 307
Gross amounts of recognised financial assets sel off in the balance sheet 00 T
Net amounts of finandlal Hlabilitles presented In the balance sheet o w91 307
Enforceable master netting agreement 635 o T .wcm
Derivative (tabilities net amocmt ’ | o uss " on

For the financial assets and Iabilites subject to enforceable master netting arrangements or similar arrangements above, each
agreement between the Group and the counterparty allows for net settlement of the relevant financial assets and labilities
when both elect to settle on a net basis [n the absence of such an election, financial assets and habihies will be settled on a gross
basis, however, each party to the master netting agreement or similar agreement wll have the option to settle all such amounts
on a net basis in the event of default of the other party Per the terms of each agreement, an event of default inctudes faifure by a
party to make payment when due; failure by a party to perform any obligation requred by the agreement (other than payment)
1f such failure 1s not remedied within penods of 30 to 60 days after notice of such failure 1s grven to the party, or bankruptcy

5.8 Derivatives

EYDerivative contracts and hedge accounting

According to 1ts risk managemend policy Finnair Group uses focesgn exchange. interest rate and commodity derfvativesto reduce.the ex-
, change rate, kieres! rale and commoddy resks winch anse from Groun's batance sheet tems, qurrency denominated purthase onlracts,
, anbapated curmency denomunated purchases and sales a5 well as future jet fuel purchases.

The dervatives are iutially recognesed s the halance sheet at original acquitsion oost {1 vadoe) and thereafterare subsequently val-

e at fair value n each fmanciat stalement and interim report. Derivative istruments are valyed in the balance sheet at fakr value, which

ts determuned as the vatue at whach the instrument coudd be exchanged between knowledgeable, willing and independent parties.with no

computsion i the sales stuation 1o sell or by The farr values of dervatives ace determuned s follows.
| The fai values of 2l dernvatives are caloubated vsing the emchange rtes, inferest rabes, volatibies and commodity pnce quotations. on the
| dosing date. The faw values of currency forward contracts are caladated at the present value of fitOre cash fiows.. The far vakyes of auvency
ophans are iculated using peneraly accepted option valuabon modeds. The farr vatues of interest rate swap contracts are calciifated & the
fwesent value of future cash flows. The fair values of interest rate and cumency swap contracivare calaulatedat the present valde of future
cash fiows, The faw values of mierest rate options ane calclaled using generally accepted opbon valifabon modets ‘The Far values of com-
modity forward contracts are calculatedat the present value of futire cash fiows. The fair values'ol commiodity options dre tatndated using
generally acceptad option valuation modets, The Earr values of stock aptions are calcilated using penerally actepted oiton valuatioh modéls,

Gasns and losses arsing from changesin the fa value-are presented i the financial siatements according 1o the organal elassificauonof
the derrvalive, Garns and bosses on derivalves qualifiing for hedge atcouniing are recognised in adtordance with the undertying asset being
hedged. Dervatve contracts are dessgnated at inceation as future cash flows hedges. hedges of binding purchase contracts (cash flow hedg
5 or far value hedges) or as denvatrves not megting the hedge accounting Critena or to which hedge acoounting & not applied (economic
hedges). Hedging of the fai vakee of the net investment of foveign unts of embedded derivatves have not been used.

At the ncepbion of hedge accountng, Fitnasr Group documents the relabomship between the hedged item and the hedging Snstrument
as well & the Groups risk management objectves and the strategy for the mcepbion of hedging. The Group documents and assasses, at the
ncepion of hadging and at least in connecton with each finandial staternents, the effectiveness of hedge relationships by examening the
taparity of the hedging kstrument o offsat changes tn the fakr value of the hedged item or changes In cash flows. The vaiues of derivatives
0 a hedging relatonship are presented in the balance sheet gem short-term financial asset and labifibes.

EX = acrounting prnaples

Finnair Group implements the IFRS hedge accounting principles In the hedging of future cash fiows (cash How hedging) Pringiptes are
applied to the pnce and foretgn turrency nsk of jet fuel, price 1isk of electriity, toreign currency and interest rate risk of airceaft lease pay-
ments and airaraft purchases.

The-change 1 the fair value of effective partion of derwatve instruments that fUlfil the teems of cash fow hedging are entered directhy m the far
value reserve of other compwehensave income to the extent that the requirements for the applicatian of hedge accounting have been futfilled. The
gains and lasses recognusad In fair value reserve are transferred to the income statement 1n the period inwhich the bedged item s entered in the
wngome statement. When an Instrument aoqusred for the hedgmg of cash flow matures or & soki or when the crterta for hedge accouniing are no
longes fulfied, the gain or loss accrued from hedging mstruments rermain in equity untl the forecast transactron takes place. The gam or loss re-
garding lease payment mterest rate hediges will be accrued from Ear value reserve to income siatement through the whole kease penod. However
if the farecast hedged transaction 5 o longer expectad to ocour the gain or loss accrued mequity & releirsed immediately {0 the moome statement.

The efiectiveness of hedging s tested on a quarterty basrs. The effective portwan of heaging 15 recognised in the fair value reserve of oth-
er comprehensie income, from wiach it 1s transferred to income statement when the hedged item s realised or 1n terms of investments,
As an acquisitian cost mn_:ﬂam:n

Fair value hedging rsimplemented w respect of firm orders for new aircraft to hedge the fxed mterest rate bond and to hedge the in-
centrve plan negotiated with piots. The binding purchase agreements for new aircratt are treated under [FRS as hrm commatments in which
fair vale changes of hedged part anstng from toreign currency movements are recognised in the balance sheet as an asset item and cor-
responding gas of losses recogrused through prohit and loss. Similarly the fair value of instruments hedging these purchases s presented
inthe balance sheet as a liablity or recevable and the change in fait valtse 15 recogrused through profit and loss

In relabon to the incentrve plan negotiated with piats 1n October 2044 Finnair entered into an agreement where the market price of
Funnair share has an effect at the end of the plan Finnair Group has hedged the amount exceeding L2 mullign euros of the possible cost effect
of this plan with stock options. Fair value hedge 15 inplemented to these hedges. The unrealised fair value changes are recognised in the
batance sheet as lability or recenvable and i Ingome statement the realised and unrealised hedging resulls are recognised i the stafl costs.
Serrularty the ingentrve plan 15 treated as a firm commutment under IFRS. The unrealsed and realised fair value change of the incentive plan s
recognised in staff costs in the income statement and the correspoading unrealised fair value as ahability or recenvable in the batance sheet

Changes i the fair value of dervatives 1o hedge the tixed interest rate bond that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are re-
corded in the income staiement, iogether with ary changes in the fasr vafue of the hedged bond that is altributable to the hedged sk, The
ganor loss relating to the eflective portion of interest rate swap hedging fxed rate borrewings s recognised i the scome statement within
financial income and expenses. The gain or 1oss refating to the neffective portion (s recegnised in the ncome statement within other finan
aalincome and expenses, The change in kair vatue of the bond is recognised in the income statement within inancial income and expenses.

If the hedge no longer meets the aeria for hedge accounting, the adpsiment ta the carmying amount of a hedged item for which the
effectve intecest method 1s used 15 amortised o profit or loss over the perwod to matunty

Finnarr Group uses foreign exchange and interest rate swap contracts in the hedging of the interest rate and foreign exchange risks of
foreign custency denominated loans. Tha transtaton difference ansing from foresgn exchange and interest-rate swap contracts that fulfil
the conditions of hedge accounting s recognised concurrently agawst the transiation difference artsing trom the koan Other changes in fair
value are recognised in terms of the effective portion in the falr value reserve of other comprehensve income nterest incame and expens-
#5 are recognised in financial inceme and expenses.

Finnasr Group uses jet fued swaps (forward contracts) and options in hedging the price nsk of et fuel. Changes in the fairvalue of jet fuel
hedging derivattves are recognised directly in the fair value reserve of other comprehensive Income In respect of denvatives defined as
cash-flow hedges that fulfil the requirements of IFRS hedge accounting. Accrued gains and losses on dervaiives recognised In sharehold-
efs equsly are recogrused in the income statement as income o expenses for the fmancial perspd in wiuch the hedged item s recognised in
the income statement, I a forecasted cash fiow 1 no longer expected 10 ocour and the IFRS hedge accounting criterla are not fulfilled, the
atcrued gains and losses reported in the shareholder's equity and fair vatue changes are presented i the income statement non-recuming
ifems for the financial penod items during their term to maturty

Finnax Group uses electriaty dervative contracts i bedging the prce rsk of electnoity The electncly prce sk hedges are recognised
s rash figw hedges, Changes w the falr value of dervatives defined as cashfiow hedging in accordance with IFRS are posted directly to the
fair valye resarve of other comprehensive income. The recognised change in fair value 1s posted Lo mcome statemant at the penod lime as
{he hedged transaction. Changes in the falr valug of hedges outside hedge accounting {whsch do not fulfil IFRS hedge accounting criteria)
are recogrwsed in mocome statement in fair value changes in dervatives over the tenor time of the dervative

The change in the fair value of dervatives not qualfying for hedge atcounting and which are arranged to hedge operatianal cash flow
are recognised in the moome statement i fair value changes in dervatives Changes in the fair value of interest rate dervatives nat quab-
fying for hadge actounting are recognised in the income statement s financial income and expenses, Y
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014 w013 Ratings of derivative tounterparties
Positive  Megative Fair Positive  Negative
EUR mil M vl vher e e v vales | vae EUR mill 2014 2013
Currency dertvatives Better than A 344 16
Jot fuel currency hedging o 54 359 00 356 305 00 171 70 A . 531 29
Fair value hedging of arrcraft mna:a.ﬁasm : 6576 663 00 - mm 3 Nﬁ.p bl» - 23 - .mw BBB : i -167 09
Hedging of lease payments 466 150 00 156 583 01 -7 16 B8 - = . -
Redge accounting items total L1896 11720 00 LT 6729 A5 210  -164 Unrated o -
Operational cash flow hedging forward contracts 3704 295 01 295 4079 73 49 24 Tet T T a54 155
Operational cash flow hedging. calloptions 1102 1 00 71 1498 6% 00 161 T T
‘Operational cash Hiow hedging, put options. 1780 ©0 30 30 1695 00 08 08 Dertvatives kn operationat & ,
Balance sheet hedging. forward contracts 137 09 [1]H] 09 204 00 -12 -12
items outside hedge accounting total 6722 315 30 345 75 DA 69 165 EUR mill 2014 2013
Currency derivatives total " 18s1a 1546 30 1506 1408 9 278 01 Jet fuel hedging Fuel costs 150 34
o i i B C - |_._Imn_m_mm.a_ _mwmm. emﬁ:mam Lease payments for amrcraft -2 03
Cemmodity derivatives Electricity derrvatives Other expenses ao 02
set fued forward contracts tonnes 534700 00 1423 -1423 563550 12s 07 s Expenses of hedpe accounting items total 138 19
Electrraty dermvatives, MWD, ’ T 3020 00 01 00 1758 00 00 00 Yot fuel hedging Fusl costs - 18 06
Hedge accounting [tems total 00 -1423 -1423 25 47 18 Operational cash flow hedging Other expenses 154 188
let fuel forward contracts tonnes 33500 00 86 -86 18000 08 00 08 Electricity denvatives Other expenses 04 00
let fuel call options, tonnes 16250 01 00 01 i 01000 3400 34 Expenses of Htems outside hedge accounting tutal ) L3 182
Jet fuel put options tonnes 171 500 00 393 393 201000 00 1l -l Total 5 a3
Electricity dervatives, MWh 25904 00 €03 03 71100 01 06 05 — - - - -
ttems ontslde hedge accounting total o1 ez -ar L ap_s 28 5.9 Equity-refated Information
Commodity derivatives total 0.2 -190.5 -1904 15.8 2.3 14.4
interest rate derivatives ° - T - -~ EYshareholders’ equity
interest Emm\gamvu - - 1500 5o 01 58 00 12 oo 1z The nommal value of shares has been recogrused in the share capital before an amendment to the Articles af Association repstered
tnterest rate call options - 1235 23 w3 oo o0 oo 08 on 22 March 2007 Share issue profits and the gains on sale of own shares have been recognised in other restnicied funds befare the
- . i P S change m Limted Liability Comparies Act in 2006.
Interest .m.zm put ou:o_d. ) . . .-.Nw 5 om N -4 .ms ~ ..m _m;. _ om. o c.e |ac| IWm...l The subscreption proceeds from the 2007 share wsue less transaction costs after Laxes as well as share-based payments according
Medge accounting items total _ .3 82 48 34 1500 12 00 12 10 IFRS 2 have been recognised i the unrestricied equity funds
Cross currency mterest rale swaps 116 0.0 06 06 173 02 00 0.2 Hedging reserve and other OCI iems include changes in the fair value of derwative instrumests used in cash flow hedging. in adgk
Inferest rate swaps T 250 - m.mi W‘H} 0 _4 S %6 00 |A._ s .clm tion {0 actuanal gains and losses refated to defined benelit pension plans, taw value gains and losses of available for sale financlal as
ftems outside hedge accoanting total 366 00 07 07 823 02 05 03 tets and translation differences
Imterest rate dertvatives total T " a1y 82 %5 N..m 1923 L4 05 09 The acquisiion cost of repurchased own shares less transaction costs after taxes s charged to equity until the shares are cancelled
- - - - - - - - - or reissued. The consideration received for sale or 1ssue of own shares 1s included inequity
- - - - - - © em ke e e mmm i —— e d..mav,..m%_dwaoomaEzmwsaazmc.anoam:Enmn_:na#oaa.mﬂ_._asma_mmnsz,._r_..:_n_mﬂamn_m::mgzﬁ_om%a_;mﬂ_:w
Equity derfvatives . . P oL The hybnd bond 15 recogmsed w equity It s unsecured and subordinated to all sentor debt The hybrid bond does not conter share- ,
Stock call options _ . 97 co 07 00 00 00 00 hotder's rights nor does it diute the holdings of shareholders interest expenses ate debited ta retained earnings on cash basis net of
Stock put options 30 08 01 01 00 00 oo a0 tax. In the calcelation of earmings per share snterest expenses of the hybnd bond are wcluded i the earmings for the fmancsal year £Y
Hedge atrotinting tems total " &0 o7 ©1 06 00 00 o0 00
- - == - . — ,
Equity derfvatives total 6.0 0.7 0.1 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
ertvatives total*r - - 1637 1991 354 461 307 154

* The positive/negative fair value of dervatives 31 Dec 2014 are shown as balance sheet recervables and abilities

E¥= accounting principtes
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Number of shares 2014 2013
Number of sutstanding shares at the beginmng of financual year 127856947 127725928
Purchase of own shares ) ) T ’ T T m. i .Socao.
Shares granted from share-based bonus scheme 2010-2012 - - T TeT T T T r0meme
Shares returned from share-hased bonuss scheme 2010-2012 T 33pea T T o
Shares granted trom FlyShare employee share savings plans T ﬁc; o N.M 340
Number of cutstanding shares at the end of finandial year - 127824023 127,856,947
Own shares held s -um_.m_.—.- company o T T . i T T w_lM..Q.Wum T Wﬂ}ﬂwolml

Total number of shares at the end of finandlal year
Finnair Plc’s share capital. paid in its entirety and entered in the trade register, was 75,442,904.30 euros at the end of 2013

and 2014 The share has no nominal value, During 2014 Finnair recovered 33,864 shares from share-based bonus scheme
2010-2012 particrpants having terminated thetr employment.

Grouy’s hedging veserve and other OC) items

EUR mill. 2014 2013
let fuel pruce hedgmng -1423 118
let tuel currency hedging i . i o o 359 T .ﬂ_.o
Hedging of lease payments - i 150 T 16
Hedging of mterests related to future lease Eﬁzm:.a ) 25 - o0
The actuarial gains and losses of defined benehit plan i ’ -155 T o 5
Translalon differences . g1 o 03
Tax effect ) T - T as 37
Tota! . T - -57.4 T u-.m.o

Maturity dates of fair values recognised in the Group's hedging reserve

EUR mull 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 Later Total
let fuel price hedging 104 2 38l 1423
Jet fuel currency hedgng a7 osx T T T 359
Hedmng of lease payments ’ 85 “65 | T T 15 c..
Hedging ot interests related to tuture T - - T T T

lease payments -25 25
The actuaral gamns and losses of ) B - T -

defined benghit plan 155 -155
Translation differences o - - To1 o1
Tax effect 72 a1 - o - a9

Tatal 448 -18.8 a1 a74

Hybrid boed

Shareholders equity includes a 120 mullion euro hybrid bond sssued 1n 2012 The hybrid bond coupon is fixed 8.875 per cent
per year for the first four years and thereafter at least 11 875 per cent per year Finnair can postpone interest payment, if it
does not distribute devidends or any other equity to its sharcholders The bond has no matunity date, but the company has
the nght to redeem it four years after the date of 1ssue. The hybrid bond 15 unsecured and in a weaker preference position
than promissory nates A helder of hybnd bond notes has no shareholder nghts

Earnings per share

The undiluted earnings per share figure is calculated by dividing the profit for the financial year attributable to the parent
company's shareholders by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the financial year When calculating
the earmings per share adjusted by diiution, the weighted average of the number of shares takes into account the diluting
effect resulting from changing into shares all potentially difutrng shares The fair value of the share 1 based on the wesghted
average price of the shares in trading

EUR mill. 2014 2013
Result for the hnancial year EUR mill 827 226
saa.ﬂ of hybnd gsw mzm:_.: - ) 85 85
s.mmm:"ma average number of shares mill pcs 1278 1281
Undiluted and diluted earnings per share EUR 071 01l
"Effect of own shares T - 000 000
Result for the financal «mmq.uﬂ share EUR® -0 65 018

* excluding the effect of the interest expenses of hybrid bond after taxes

Dividend

The Board of Directors propuses to the Annual General Meeting that no dnndend 1s paid for 2014 The Annual General
Meeting on 27 March 2614 decided that no dondend was pard for 2013 The Annual General Meeting on 27 March 2013
decided to distnbute a dividend of 0 10 eutos per share The total dnadend was 12 7 million euros, based on the number of
shares registered on 3 Aprl 2013 The dividend was paid on 10 Apnl 2013

Flonair Plc's distributable equity
EUR mill 31 Dec 2014
Relained earmngs at the end of hinzncial year 77
m._a.annaa 3.:_:. funds ) 2505
mmmﬁzm E_..m.?.‘m T T 852
Result for the financual vear CT 538
Total - - | 1492
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6 Other notes
I other notes nchde all sisch notes that 4o net specificatly relate to any previous subject matters. [l

6.11ncome taxes

EY e tax expense tor the penod inchudes current and deferred tax and adjustments to previous years Laxabion, Tax s recognsed m
the income statement, except 10 the extant that i relates to items recogrssed in other comprehensive income or other equity Rems.

Deferred taxes are calowlated for temporary deiferences between accountimg and faxgton vsing the valid tax rates for future years at
the cloung date Deferred tax asset rs regognised to the extent that realisation of the related tax benefit through future profits s prob-
ablle. Temporary dilerences arrse mainly from sales of tangible assets, deprecation, revaluabons of dervative contracts, defined-ben-
efit penston scheme and unused tax losses. Deferred tax ¥ recognised for subsidianes undistributed eamings anly when refated (ax
eftecis are probable

Deferred tax assets and liabditres are set off when they are levied by same taxmg authority and Finnair has legally enfarceabile nght
to set off the balances, BY

H utifsing deferved tax assets refated to tax ksses requires management kg make expectations of future performance of operztions. [H

The tahle below explamns the ditference between theoretical tax cost calculated with Friarsh nominal tax rate 20 0% (24 5%) and [ax expénse
in the consobidated income statement,

Income taxes

Eur mill 2014 2013
Taxes for the financlal year

Current tax T o T T e 7T e
Adjustments recognised for current tax of prior pefiods T i o |..mum. T
Deferred taxes . i [ £ T 29
Total T T T C T s T
H = content of the section

B3 - Accounting prnciples

M = Critical accounting estimates

Eur mill 2014 2013
Result before taxes 991 268
Taxes mm_nur:& :m__._lm the Finnish tax rate oo 198 66
Effect of the tax ax.n__e_wm 0o 37
wm_..mua MRl:: _f= ”ﬂﬁﬁﬁ and m.__.: <mq.==ﬂmm T - 06 10
._..ux.m‘__m‘au— income ) 0s 04
Non-deductible expenses T 26 05
_E_:wnamzw recogmsed for taxes of prior peniods 05 01
Income taxes, total 16.5 a9
flectne taxrate B B 16 7% 14 5%

Effective tax rate was -16 7% (14.5%) The effective tax rate of 2014 was affected by the write-down of loan recewables
10 8 million euros from Flybe Nordic Group The tax effect of -2 | million euros 1s included in non-deductible expenses
More information of the transaction can be found m note 1 6 Investments in associates and joint ventures and 6 2 Related
party transactions

Finmush Parlrament decided in December 2013 to lower corporate income tax rate from 24 5% to 20%, which caused a
one-time positive effect of 3 7 million euros in the income statement for 2013 Although the tax rate change 1s valid from
1 of January 2014 onwards, the change effected taxes in income statement already in 2013 due to revaluation of deferred
taxes Taxes for the companson period have been restated due to a change in accounting principles related to engine mam-
tenance {sce note 6 5)
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Deferved tax assets and [abillties

The Group has evaluated the nature and classification of deferred tax assets Based on the evaluation, deferred tax assets
and Liabilitres levied by the same taxing authority meet the requirements for offset eligthility m accordance with [AS12

The deferred tax assets and labilities are shawn net on the balance sheet and companson perinds are adjusted accordingly

Changes in deferred taxes dunng 2014

In the income sharsholders’
Eur Million 2013 statement equity 2014
Deferred tax assets
Confirmed losses 586 BT 21T ey
Employee benefits 22 21 "o - ” m.ﬂ
“Fiance leasmg .-- e as ||.4, o w.mm
Capualsation of overhead expenses io -l0 00
Change w accounting prnciples in 2014 refated to engine | T
maintenance 34 34 oc
Other lemporary differences i o 21 05 i T Ty
Valuation of derrvatives at tair value i T 13 ST T |:51 T .mm m.
Tota) deferved tax assets T w2 T Tz T TTwa T sas
Oftset agains! deferred tax fabihties Y T 77T Tsse
et deterred tax assets - T e T - )
Deferred tax assets that can be used after 12 months or more | s STt T c.o;.
Reoognised Recogrised In
in the income shareholders’
Eur Willion 2013 statement equity 2014
Deferred tax labillties
Property plant and equspment i 684 Taes T T T T ey
“Finance leasing T T 8”7 e T iz
Other temporary differences 13 ) 03 i T J_m
Total deferred tax Habilities o i 78 s T sse
Oftset against deferred Lax assels o T 692 o o 3r>b.mm4
Net deferved tax Babillties o 34 ln-uliwma,m.m..
- -- - P
Delerred tax liabilities that are expected to realise after 12

months or more 696 528

Confirmed tax losses expire in 5-10 years at the carlest.
Distnbuting retamed earnmgs of foreign subsediaries would cause a tax effect of 0 4 million euros (0 4)

Changes in deferred taxes during 2013

Recognised Recognised In

in the Income sharehalders’
Eur Milfion 12 statement equity 2013
Deferred tax assets
szﬁanﬂ_ _.&ma ) 6%46 124 15 86
Emplayee benefits ) ) 00 06 27 23
_n__.&mnmc_mmu__._n T T 09 03 06
nmo_s._am:S ol gverhead expenses . ’ i1 13} 10
Change in accounting uﬂ_;ns_mm n mo:.. felated to mzm__._w. -
maintenance 83 49 34
m_._m_am ___.mmm__._ﬂ:n E_zgm_mm _.mmﬂma to heavy maintenance
and enging maintenance of leased arcraft 2009/2010 10 10 00
Finnair Plus Q.M.:mm n accounting prenciple 2009 15 <15 oo
Other temporary differences T 34 13 21
Valuation of qm:,u__m.ﬂamm at farr value [+}] 12 13
Totaldeferred tax assets T 859 212 54 692
Offsel against deferced tax habdities -850 692
Net deferred tax assets - ’ 0.0 00
mmmm:mm _\mxﬂmma that can be used aHer 12 months or mare 85 06

Recognised Recognised fn

in the income sharehelders’
Eur Million 2012 slatement equity 2013
Deferved tax llablilties
n_dumla_._. m_mﬂm_a mnc_uama i T i h 839 155 684
Employee benehts 09 =24 33 0o
Other aamo?lb.m_mma:ﬂmm i i - 56 15 41
valuation of derwatives at fair value ) 30 30 o
Tota) deferred tax (abllities 916 1013 01 e
Offsel agamst deferred tax assets 859 592
Net deferred tax liabHities 57 14
Deferred tax abilities that are expected to realise after 12 I- o
manths or more 886 496
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6.2 Related party transactions

Related party of Finnair Group includes its subsidiaries, manag; d p and jotnt ventures and Finnatr
penston fand Subsidianies are hsted in the note 1.3 and associates and joint ventures in note 1.6. Related party transactions
mehude such operations that do not eliminate tn Groups ¢ lidated financial

Finrush government owns 55 8% (55.8%) of Finnaur's shares. All the transactions with other government owned compa-
rues are with arms length basis

The following transactions have taken place with associated compantes and joint ventures.

EUR mill, 2014 2013
Salss of goods and services
Assoriates o T T T T T - 47
loint ventures o T ’ T . -meu.: ) 608
Pension fund T T T rTrr T T ey T T
Purchases of goods and services - o o B
Associates ) ’ T T s
Jomt ventures T o T 855
Pension fund T T T T T e T T T T
- - - —_— - R —__
jomi ventures o T ) - T T we T
i L
Non-current recenables m&aﬂoy” ventures - - /- - T/ Tmm T '
Current recervables from associates T i T i<l1\mw- T
Current recenvables from joint ventures i I T 329
b — e e 20T
Kon-current habililies to joint ventures ST T 82 T
za:A::SZ.&!.EGSﬁE&: fund I - T3 s
Current babdities to associates ) - ’ T " T35
Current babilities to foint ventures - ST ) -||u.a.r T T
nm.&uﬂu.»qi tGabllies T ST/ e o T T
Guarantees on behalt a:a_ae.mnaﬂa\ T T T F~;a; T .|.~.o.

Transactions with related parties are with arms length, and are with simular terms than transactions carried out with ;m-
dependent parties Management remuneration 15 presented 1n note 38 Management has not been granted any loans and
there has not been any other transactions with management. For 2014, Finnair has recognised the write-downs of 10.8 mil-
hon euros (subordinated Joan and interest) and 11.3 nullion euros (advance payments and other operational recervables)
regarding to joint venture Flybe Nordic Group

Finnalr pension fund

‘The Finnair pension fund in Finland 15 a stand-alone fegal entity which mamly provides addstional pension coverage to
Finnair’s personnel in the form of defined benefit plan, and manages related pension assets The assets include Finnai's
shares representing O 1% (0 1%) of the company’s outstanding shares Real estate and premises owned by the pension fund
have been mainly leased to Finnair In 2014 and 2013 Finnar didn t pay any contnbutions to the fund. Pension obligation
was 25.3 million euros (10.5) at the end of the financeal year

6 3 Disputes and litigation

Finnait reports only cases of which the interest 15 400,000 euros or more and that are not insured
On 31 December 2014 there were no such disputes pendmg

6.4 Events after the closing date

Atthe beginming of 2015 Finnair signed a letter of intent with StaffPoint and Oy G W dSohlberg Ab (GWS), accurding to which
Flybe UK Lid's 60% ownership would be transferred to Stafffoint and GWS Finnash Competition and consumer authority
approved the transaction n January 2015 See more information in note 1 6 Tavestments in associates and joint ventures

6.5 Change in accounting principles

Finnair has changed the accounting principle for its arrcraft engine overhauls From the beginning of 2014, Finnarr capitahses
engine overhauls related to performance restortion and hife lirmited parts to its balance sheet and depreciates related costs
durmng the engines’ maintenance periods Previously overhauls were expensed when they occured

The change reduces the volatility of engane overhanl costs, whach improves the aceuracy of forecasting future profitabality and
tmproves comparability over of penods It also improves comparability wath other airlines, because, based on the study con-
ducted by International Air Traffic Association IATA, the amended practice corresponds to the current industry practice
The change n the accounting principle affects the Airline Business segment

In additton, the group has made an evaluation on the nature and classification of its deferred tax assets and habilities, and
concluded that they meet the cntena for netting according to 1AS 12, up to the amount that they relate to sncome taxes levied by
the same taxation authanty The deferred tax assets and habilities have been netted and comparatrve pertods have been adjusted
accordingly More information on netting of deferred taxes can be found n note 6 1 Income taxes

Effect of restatement on 2013 consclidated income statement

in mll EUR Reported Adjustment Restated
Fleet materiaks and overhaul <161 2 353 1258
‘Depreciation o 1221 186 1407
Operaticnal result Y 167 e
ﬂ._nwsm mmmm h i i 10 -49 39
‘Result for the perfod i i 110 1ne 29

Effect of the restatement on the 2013 opening and closing date balance sheet

112013 311232013
in mill EUR keported  Adjustment Restated Reported  Adjustment Restated
Tangible assels 13626 339 L1387 13098 172 12926
Delerred tax asset o 776 776 00 658 58 00
Effect on 2ssets - AAIL5 830
ey 7753 256 7407 918 138 6780
Deferred tax fabilty " Tele 50 57 726 692 34
Effect on equity and Nabilitles 115 810
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7 parent company financial statements

Finnalr Plc Income statement

Finnalr Plc halance sheet

EUR mil} Note 2014 2013
Revenue 2 19727 2,0127
Other operating income 3 A4 5 376
Operating income total 2,0171 2,050 3
Materials and services 4 11076 11259
staff costs 5 2617 2729
Depreciation [ 53 g1
Other aperaling expenses 7 8091 7184
Operating expenses total 2,1837 2,1253
Operating result 166 6 750
Financial income and expenses 8 -321 302
Result before extraordinary Items 198 7 -44 B
Extracrdinary items g 1360 1036
Result before appropriations and taxes 627 1.3
Appropriations 10 02 02
Income taxes 11 87 213
Result for the financial year -518 377

EUR milf Note 2014 2013
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 12 127 120
Tangible assets 13 412 397
Investments 14
Shares in group companies 4491 4491
Shares in associates and joint ventures 47 154
Other investments 04 04
Loan and other receivables 15 120 247
Deferred tax assets 16 732 a42
Non-current assets total 593.2 5855
Current assets
Current recevables 17 7417 2150
Marketabfe securities 18 3328 3355
Cash and bank equivalents 19 887 118 2
current assets total 1,163 1 1,368 7
Assets total 1,756 3 19541
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity 20
Share capital 754 754
Share premium account 247 247
Legal reserve 1437 1477
Hedging reserve 852 432
Unrestricted equity funds 2505 2500
Retained earnings 3 00
Result for the financial year 538 77
Equity total 3971 5319
Accurulated approgriations 21 a9 91
Provisions 22 872 %40
Liabilitles
Non current hatnlities 23 3049 3223
Current habiities 24 8583 996 8
Liahilities total 1,2632 1,3191
Equity and liabilltles total 1,756 3 19541
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Finrair Plc cash flow statement

EUR mi 2014 2013
Cash flow from operating activities

Result before extracrdinary items 1987 428
Depreciaiion 53 81
Other non cash transactions 422 397
Financial iIncome and expenses 321 302
Changes 0 working capital 211 189
Interest and other financial expenses paid 235 =266
Recewved interest and other finantial income 166 120
Cash flow from operating activities ~147 2 -140 0
Cash flow from Investing activities

Investments In intangible and tangible asserts 75 36
Other nvestments 03 00
Proceeds fram sales of other investments 0o 541
Dmidends recerved 00 51
Change n long term recewvables 532 264
Cash flow from lavesting activities 40 820
cash flow frem financing activities

Proceeds from loans oo 1500
Loan repayments and changes 346 711
Hybrid bond repayments o] 524
Recewved group contributions 1036 748
Purchase of own shares 00 17
Diwvidends paid 00 127
Cash flow from financing activities 690 870
Change In cash flows 3212 289
Change In liquid funds

Liquid funds at begimning 4536 4247
Change n cash flows 322 258¢%
Liquid funds, at end 4215 453 6

Notes to Finnair Plc financial statements

1 Accounting principles

The financial statements of Finnair Plc hav e been prepared in accordance with the Finnish Accounting Standards (FAS})

Forelgn currency ltems

Business transactions in foreign currencies have been valued using the exchange rate at the date of transaction Receivables
and liabalities on the balance sheet date are valued using the exchange rate on the balance sheet date Advances paid and
recerved are valued n the balance sheet using the exchange rate at the date of payment Exchange rate difterences on trade
reeevables and payables are treated as the adjustments to revenue and other operatmg expenses Exchange rate difforonces
on other recervables and habifities are entered under fmancial ncome and expenses

Derlvative contracts

According toits risk management policy, Finnair uses foreign exchange, interest rate and commodity denvatives to reduce
the risks whuch arise from the company s currency denerminated purchase contracts, forecasted purchases and sales as well
as future jet frel purchases Dervative contracts are valued using the rates on the balance sheet date according to Account-
g Act52a§ The accounting principles related te derivative contracts and hedge accounting are described more specib-
cally in Group's accounting principles in the section 5 8 Derivatives

Financial assets and labilities
Fmancial assets have been classified into the following categories financtal assets at farr value through profit or loss (assets
held for trading), held-to maturity investments, loans and other recen ables The dassification 1 made on the basis of the
purpose of the acquisition of the financial assets in connection with the origmnal acquisition All purchases and sates of -
nancial assets are recognised on the trade date Liabslities are recognised at acquusition cost Financial assets at fawr value
through profit and loss as well as assets and lrabihittes maturing within 12 months are included in current hiabibties
Finnarr assesses on each closing date whether there 15 any objective evidence that the value of a financial asset tem or
group of items has been smpaired If there 1s objective evidence that an impairment loss has ansen for loans and other re-
ceivables entered at amortised acquisition cost on the balance sheet or for held-to matunity investments, the size of the loss
15 determuned as the cifference of the book value of the asset tem and the present value of expected future cash flows of
the said financial asset itern discounted at the oryinal effective interest rate The loss 1s recogrused through profitand loss
Other hinancial assets and habilitics are recognised at farr value Other financial assets include trade recovablos, acerued
income and prepaid expenses as well as other non-current recervables like loan receivables and other mvestments as well as
the secunities for ancraft leases Other financial habibities include trade payables, accruals and deferred income
De-recognition of financial assets takes place when the company has lost tts contractual right to recerve the cash flows
or when it has substantially transferred the risks and rewards outstde the company

Fixed assets and deprecsation
The balance sheet values for fixed assets are based on onginal acquisition costs less planned depreciation 1 and areas are
not depreciated Planned depreciation 1s based on the expected economic hfetimes

« IT software 3-8 years

+ Other intangible assets 3-10 years

+ Buildings over 50 years from tume of acqusition to a restdualvalue of 10% or 3-7% of the dimimishing balances
» Other tangible assets 23% of the dimishing balances
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Research and devetopment costs
Except for major software development costs, research and development costs are expensed as they occur Research and

3 Other operating income

develepment of awrcraft, systems and operations 1s conducted primartly by the manufacturers EUR mill . 2014 013
Leasing Rental Income 357 285
[ ease payments for aircraft are sigmficant. Annual lease payments are treated as rental expenses [ ease payments due 1n Other income 88 91
future years under aircrafl lease contracts are presented as off-balance sheet items Total 445 376
Extraordinary Items
Extraordary ttems consist of mcome and expenses which deviate from the ardinary activities of the campany, such as 4 Materlals and services
group contributions
EUR mull 2014 2013
Appropriations Ground handling and catening expenses 1827 1763
The difference between total and planned depreciation 1s shown as accumulated appropriations in the balance sheet and Fuel costs 6430 5674
the change during the financial yoar in the income statement Areratt materials and overadl 508 Py
Income taxes IT expenses 450 480
Income taxes in the income statement include taxes catculated for the financial year based on Finrash tax provisions Other items 150 277
adjustments to taxes in previous financial years and the change in deferred taxes Total L1078 11250
Pension schemes
The mandatory pension cover of the company s domestic employ ees has primarily been arranged through a Finmush pension 5 Staff costs
nsurance company and other additional pension covers through the Finnair pension fund or a Finish pension insurance
company Since 1992, the pension fund has no longer accepted employees other than pilots for additional pension coverage EUR mili 2014 2013
‘The Finnair pension funds pension obligation 1 fully covered with respect to additionak coverage Pension fund obhgations wages and salaries e137 2200
are presented m the note 25 Collateral contingent hiabilities and other commutments Pension expenses 355 364
provislons Other social expenses 125 165
Provisions 1n the balance sheet and recognised as expenses in the income statement comprase those items which the com- Total 2617 2729
pany 15 commutted to covering through agreements or otherwise in the foreseeable future and which have no correspond-
ing revenue and whose monetary value can be reasonably assessed salary ang bonus expenses of Chief Executive Officer and
The company 15 obliged to return leased arcraft at the required redelivery condition To fulhl these mantenance obh- Members of the Board of Directors
gations the company has recognised provisions based on flight hours flown during the maintenance period Restructuring Chisf Executive Officer and his deputy 10 09
provisions are recogmsed when the company has prepared a detailed restructuring plan and has begun to implement the Board of Directors 04 0a
plan or has announced it
2 Revenue and operating profit by businessarea Persannel on average
Arrhne Business 339 3436
EUR mill 2014 2013 Other functions 157 139
Revenue by division Total 3,554 3,575
Arrline Business 19727 20127
& Depreciation
Distribution ¢f revenue by market areas based on flight routes % of revenue
Fintand 1% 7% EUR mull 2014 2013
Europe 9% 5% 0n other fong term expenditure 35 54
Other countries 43% 45% On owldings 0% 06
Total 100% 100% On other equipment oo s
Total 513 81
Operating profit by husiness area
1666 750
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7 Other operating expenses

9 Extraordinaryitems

EUR mill 2014 2013 EUR mill 2014 2013
Lease payments for arcraft 2400 2389 Recewed group cantribution 1360 1036
Other rents for aircraft capacity 967 930
Office and other rents 336 303 10 Appropriations
Tratfic charges 2253 2183
Sales and marketing expenses 545 585 EUR milk 2014 2013
Other expenses 1590 784 Change in depreciatian difference 02 02
Total 8091 718 4
11 Income taxes
8 Financial income and expenses
EUR mill 2014 2013
EUR mill 2014 2013 Income taxes on regular business operations 169 -155
Dividend income Income taxes on extragrdinary items 272 254
From group rompanies 0o 40 Change n deferred taxes 1990 115
From other companies oe 11 Total 87 213
Total oo 51
12 Intangible assets
Interest income
From group companies 99 106 EUR milf 2014 2013
From associates and Joint ventures 00 ne other long-term expenditure
fFrom other companies 20 20 Acquisition cost 1 January a6 391
Total 120 133 Additions 41 04
Effect of the merger ot 50
Other financial income Disposals 03 18
From group companies 00 84 Acquisition cost 31 December 465 426
From other companies 00 11
Total 00 94 accumulated deprecration 1 January 306 259
Accumulated planned depreciation of disposals 02 18
Gains on disposal of shares 000 352 Effect of the merger 00 1
Depreciation 35 54
Incerest expenses Accimulated depreciation 31 December -3319 =306
J0 group companies -13 16
To ather companies 194 wl Book valoe 31 December 127 120
Total =207 =216
Qther finantial expenses
To group companies 00 61
To other companies 231 29
Total 231 90
Exchange gains and losses 02 22
Financial income and expenses total 321 02
Other hnancial expenses to other companies include write down of subordenated loan recevables and interests (10 8) from
and investment (10 7) in jomnt venture Flybe Nordee -Group FINNAIR ANNUAL REPORT 2014 110




13 Tangible assets

Tangible assets 2014
Other Advances
EUR milt. Land Buildings  equipment paid Total
Acquisthion cost 1 January 2014 07 510 33 4] 641
Add:tions ) ) ) e 23 33
u.mwm.mmw ) T o T Lri‘E-\F.._.Wc T 10
Acquisition cost 31 December 2014 ) - 07 510 83 &5 66.5
Accurnulated dapreciation 1 Janvary 2014 T I-Ic o- al ﬂ - I!.Mm o 0.0 ) 24 m-
Drsposals oTTTTT U T T iclm T ) .loa
Depreqianon for the finangial year ) ) ) ) 09 i i -0 mi B o -17
Accamulated depreciation 31 December 2014 o0 20.2 52 o 253
"Book value 31 December 2014 T T T e T 08 3z s a2
?m share of Smn.__:m.m and B.Eusma in the oot Trr«r s T mmT/
book vatue of tangible assets 31 December 2014 28 o
Tangible assets 2013
Other Advances
EUR mill Land Buildings equipment pard Total
Acquisition cost 1 January 2013 0o 00 BS 00 85
Additions - T T T T !||~|~|||I mlml.lllwm
Effect of the merger a “To7 T Tsie” T T30 30 sie
Diposals . T /) e T T 53 Y
Acquisition cost 31 -uﬂnnau!.» ! 2013 CTTTT— T |o|,u_ - M—nﬂ ||||| P.ul;.li. 41 |0.P|H|
Accumulated depreciation 1 January 2013 - e oo 6S 0o 5
bnnca:_mzx_ planned %E@.._m_an of a_.%cmm_m a i - T Ty T T s
Effect of the merger T T T T asa T Ty T T T T
Deprecaton 08 08 EERSTY
Accumulated depreciation 31 December 2013 60 493 52 00 A5
Bookvalue 31 December2013 o7 7 3.1 a1 397
:._m u_..ms of _.8359 Ea Ec_uﬁmﬂ .ml:_ml book <w_=m1 -
of tangible assets 31 December 2013 30 _

14 Investments
EUR mill 2014 2013
Group 8__.5»:,8
1__.|2.=__._MI:M_= cost 1 _m==m2 T T T ) - 449 ] 4897
" Hifect of the amim-. T T T ) -A0 6
Book value 31 December h a1 2191
Assoclatesand folntventures T T
“acquisttion cost 1 January h ) 154 131
“Effect of the amimqq ST T T 22
mmém_:yn\__.ﬂu\*\mzmqmw ’ - - T T ) 107
‘Bookvalue 31 December "~~~ B ” az 154
‘shares tn other companles i -7 |
Acqussition cost 1 January o 04 07
EmBmma ) T T ) 00 04
Bookvalue 31 December 04 Y
Share of
Associates and joint ventures pareat company %
Suomen limailuopisto Gy Finland 495
Fiybe Wordic, Sweden awo o
“Kunteisto Oy) Lentagntie | Finland 283 I
Share of Share of
Group companies parent company % paren( company %
Finnaw Cargo Oy Finland So 0 x__am_ma Oy LEKD & Finland 1000
m_nsmuq. m_._.naz.m_a.mﬂ_.n.m 0y | rs_psn - . -.. .l -- So 0 _n Finnarr Ltd Great Britain®* 1000
Northport Oy _us_m_.a 1060 A/S Aero airlines, Estonia 1000
l_”m_almyn:a_nm_ mm_.snmm Oy ::.Ea ) | i 1000 Amadeus _"__.__w:n Oy ns_p_a 950
m_::m.q m:mso mmz_nmmm_\,_"aw.:.nll T 1000 Oy >=:_.__sam=§ - Suntours Ltd Ab Finland 1000
_Finnaw Flight nnmn_ma<.o.<. m_a_mm_m o 1000 SMT Oy, Finland ’ 1000
Finnair _.S<.m_ .mmlm.__ Oy Fini m_am_.a 1|. ) 1000 zoq.r._ma Travel Ltd, Canada 1000
LSG Sky n__mmam._am:a Oy _"__.__m_..ln_»ln ..;. ’ _ 1000 FTS Financial Services Oy Finland 1000
Kunteisid Oy Air Cargo Center 1 Finland 100 o.-mmnxn:_nm Services Estoma Qi Estonia 1000

* The group has made an co-operation agreement which includes a call option and ceased contrel over the company

**IC Finnarr Lid 15 a fully owned captve insurance company in Guernsey whose earnimgs are subject to narmal faxation in Findand
Finnair Cargo Terminal Operations Oy was merged to Finnair Cargo Oy on 31 March 2014

Finkand Travel Bureau Gy was merged to SMT Oy on 30 September 2014

FINNAIR ANNUAL REPORT 2014

m




15 Non-current loan and other receivables

18 investments

EMR mifl 2014 2013 EUR mill 2014 2013
From group compamies 1156 145 Short-term investments at fair value 3328 3355
From wﬂog&-ﬁ m_.awo_:n.,aa_._am 049 29
- e - - 19 cash and bank equivalents
From gther cgmpanes 0a 02
Total ) o o ke M7 EUR milt 2014 2013
Funds In group _E_._x mnS_._Em and n_muom_nm Bmz:sm n three aozz._m 887 1182
16 Deferred tax assets
20 Shareholders’ equity
EUR mill 2014 20112
Unre-
Deferred fax assets 1 Jansary 44 2 662 Share stricted
From result for the fmancal year - ST T o3 98 Share  premium tegal  Hedging equity  Retained Equity
= dit - - -- — - - - = 190 _—— - - = \E\p EUR mill capital account reserve reserve funds earnings total
From temporary dferences e R Equity 1 Jan 2014 754 247 1477 42 2505 377 5319
ro:. valuation 2 un—?&éﬂ at E_q <m_=a 202 il - s e [tiates -
— - - — - -- - -- —_———— - —— Change in fa valye _“_;mnmsm -809
Deferred tax assets 31 December n2z “.2 nstruments
mmuﬂmvgmMnlmwgmz.w - S 01
17 Current recelvables nmmc_m qﬁs.m m.:m:m_m_ ﬁma o 5318
Equlity 31 Dec 2014 sa 24.7 1477 -852 2505 <161 971
EUR mill. 2014 2013 -0 T o
Short-term recevables from group companies Unre-
Trade recervables 435 337 Share stricted
- Seom e e —_————- - Share  premium Legal Hedging equity  Retained Equity
* Accrued income and prepand m_ﬁm.amm . o 400 1os2 EUR mill capital  account reserve reserve funds  earnings total
Other anmzmc_a ) _ o ) 3 e3 3199 Equity 1 Jan 2013 754 247 1477 93 2504 127 520 3
Tod N . | 128 5198 Change in tair value of hedging
instruments 136 136
Short-term receivables trom associates and _m__.ﬂ <m=Eqmm o T T Purchase of own w@.xmm.. . L ) 17 17
Trade -mnmzmc.mm - T T o - a2 oo “hare based payments 19 19
>naa tacome and E_ﬁ_a Qﬁam - T a0 " 2066 Dwidend i ) 127 127
Yotd — C  TT TToToT - - - 42 2068 Result for the hnangial year 377 w7
- TotvMTTm T/ e o T T T - T ‘Equity 31 Dec 2013 754 247 1477 4.2 %05 177 5319
3: term _mnmama._.mml:o.a cm:.m.a. T T - Tt T
“Trade amnmzmv_mm 914 1091 Distributable equity
) va_aa 28&3 1057 691
Other recenvaties 275 103 EUR mill 2014 2013
Yotal 245 1885 :mn_m__._m reserve _ o ) i -852 42
T e _ T T T T Tt - - - = Unrestricted equity E:nm 2505 2505
Shortterm recetvables tota 7417 T Retamedearwngs L. 377 ao
- T e s oo - Result for the finanoial year -538 77
Total 1292 2840
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21 Accumulated appropriations

24 Current liabilities

EUR mill 2014 2013 EUR mill 2014 2013
Accumutated depreciation difference 1 January 91 0o Current habilities to group companies _
Effect of the merger 00 93 Trade payables 428 257
Change in depreciation difference 02 02 Accruals and deferred income 158 245
Accumulated depreciation difference 31 December 89 91 Other liabilitres Y 1389
Total w7 1891
22 Provisions
Current habilities to associates and joint ventures
EUR milt 2014 2013 Trade payables 03 00
Provisions 1 kanuzry 940 1097 Accruats and deferred mcome 31 1643
Proviston for the period 314 21% Total - 34 164 3
Provision used 472 -31 -
Exchange rate differences a8 45 Current abiites o others et
Provisions 31 December 872 940 Loans from financial institutions T 245 105
Of which non current 532 693 Commercial papers 280 445
Of which current 339 248 Trade gayables 1 598
Total 872 940 Accruals and deferred income 6548 2 142
Non current aircraft maintenance provisions are expected to be used by 2020 Qther habilties 133 23
Total 7631 643 4
23 Non-current Habilities
Current llabtlities total 958 3 996 B8
EUR mill 2014 2013
Loans from group companies 10 10 accruals and deferred mcome T
Loans from financial institutions 238 482 Untlown air transperl revenues 25213 2556
Bonds 1558 1512 set fuels and trafhic charges 639 2485
Hyhrd loan 1200 1200 Holiday payments 507 523
Other liabkities 43 18 Loyalty program Finair Plus 296 322
Total 3049 3223 Dervatives 1937 239
Other items 768 ol
Maturity of wilerest bearng habilies Total 6671 703 0
2015 245
2016 2318
2017 00
2018 1500
2019 00
2020 and later 1200
Total 3183
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25 Collateral, contingent liabilities and other commlitments

26 Derivatives

31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013
EUR mill 2014 2013 EUR mill Nomina! value Fair value Nominal valwe Fair value
Guarantees and contingent liabiities Currency derlvatlves
©n hehalf of group companies 2539 5713 Jet fuel currency hedging 3854 359 3705 170
On behalf of associates 20 20 Hedge accounting items total 3854 159 3705 -170
Dn others campanies a2 03 Operationai cash flow hedging forward contracts 374 295 4079 24
Total 2561 8735 Qperatignal cash flow hedgimg call options 1102 7l 1498 161
Cperational cash flow hedging put options 1780 -30 1695 08
Aircraft lease payments Items outside hedge accounting total 658.5 3136 72712 177
Within one year 2277 2236 Currency derlvatives total 1,043 % (133 1,0977 o7
after one year and not later than 5 years 10476 6583
Later than 5 years 2591 1399 Commodity derlvatives
Total 1,534 4 1,021 7 Jet fuel forward contracts tonnes 534 70C 1423 563550 118
Electriaity derivatives MWh 30220 00 17568 oo
Parent company has leased $he argrait fleet from the fully ewned subsidiary Hedge accounting items total 1421 11 8
Jet fuel forward contracts tonnes 33500 B& 18000 08
EUR mill 014 2013 Jet fuel call opans Lonnes 162 500 01 201000 34
Other lease payments Jet fuel put optians tonnes 171 500 -393 201000 1t
Within one vear 278 275 Electnoty dervatives Mwh 46904 03 71100 05
After one year and not later than 5 years 839 809 ltems outside hedge accounting total Y 76
Later than 5 years uig 1400 Commodity derlvatives tatal -190 4 142
Total 2535 248 4 -
Interest rate derivatives
Pension obligations Interest rate swaps 1500 58 1500 12
Total obligation of pension fund 12838 3178 Hedge accounting items total 150 0 58 150 0 12
Mandatary portion covered inlerest rate swaps 250 01 250 05
Non mandatory benefil covered 288 378 Items outside hedge accounting total 250 41 250 05
Uncovered obligation of pension fund 6o 00 Interest rate derivatives total 1750 58 1750 07
obhgation for pensions paid directly by the company ao 0a
Total oo 0o Equity derivatives
Stock call options ic [
Stock put options 30 01
Hedge accounting items total 60 06 0o 00
Equity derivatives total 60 o6 0o 00
Derivatives total <1145 158
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Calculation of key indicators

Operational result

Operating profil excluding tair valye

changes i dervatives changes i the exchange
rates of fleet overhauls and non-recurnng items

Non-recurring items
Capital gains and losses as well as items related to the
restructunag and other non-recurning rlems

Operational EBITDAR*
Operational result + depreciabion +
lease payments for amcratt

Shareholders’ equity:
Equity attnbutable to owners of the parent

Gross capltal expenditure
Investments i intangible and tangible assets
excluding advance payments

Average capital employed-
Balante sheet total - non-nterest-beanng babilities
(average}

Interest-bearing net debt
interest-beanng habdities  other current tmantial assets
cash and tash equivalents

tarnings per share:
Result for the financial year - hybrid bond
Interest expenses net of tax

Average number of shares durtng the tmancal year
adjusted tor share ssues

Equity/share
Sharehalders equity

Number of shargs at the end of the hinancial year,
adjusted tor share ssues

pividend/earnings, %,
Dndend/fshare
x 100

Earmings/share

Dividsnd yield, %
bwdend/share

Share gnice at the end of the tinantial year

x 100

Cash Now from operating activities/share,
Cash flow from operating actmities

Average aumber of shares durmng the nancial year
adysted for share ssues

Price/earnings ratlo (P/E)
Share price &t the end of the financial year

Earnings/share

Equity ratio, %:
Shareholdars equity + non-controllmg mterests
x 100
Balance sheel total  advances recewved
Gearing, %:
Interest-beaning net debt
x 100

Shareholders equity + non-controlling interests

Adjosted gearing, %:

Interesi bearing net debt + 7 x Yease payments for aircraft

% 100
Shareholders equity + non-controlling interests

Return on equity (ROE), %:
Resutt for the financsal year

Shareholders equity + non-controlling mierest (average)

x 100

Retumn on capital employed (ROCE), %:
Result before taxes + financial expenses

average capital employed

x 100

Available seat kilometres (A5K)
Total numnber of seats available x klometres fiown

Revenue passenger kilometres (RPK)
Number of revenue passengers x kilometres flown

Passenger load factor, %:
Share of revenue passenger kiloretres of available seat kilometres

Avallable tonne kilometres (ATK)
Number of tonnes of capaaly for carrage of passengers, cargo and
matt x kilometres flown

Revenue tonne kilometres (RTK),
Total revenue load consisting of passengers cargo and mail x
kilometres fiown

Overall lgad factor, %
Share of revenue tonne kilometres of available tonne kilometres

Revenue per available seat kilometre (RASK)
Arlng révenue + cargn space charge +
operational result of belly cargo aperations

Available seat kilometres

Cost per avallable seat kilometre {CASK)
Arrline costs - other income of Mlight operations
operatonal result of awrline support services

Available seat llometres

Cost per available seat kilometre excluding fuel, CASK excl fuel
Arrline costs - other income of flight operations -
operational result of airine support services - fuel costs

Available seat kilometres

Board of Directors’ proposal on the dividend

Finnawr Plc's distributable equity according to the financial statements on 31 December 2014

amaunts to 149,223,743.79 euros

The Board of Drectors proposes to the Annual General Meeting that no dividend shall be paid and the result for the fi-

nanctal year be retained in the unrestricted equuty

signing of the Report of the Board of Directors and the Financia| Statements

Helsinky, 10th February 2015
The Board of Directors of Finnair Pl
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Auditor’s Report (Translation from the Finnish Original)

To the Annnal General Meeting of Finnalr Oy}

We have audited the accountng records, the financial statements, the report of the Board of Directors and the administra-
ton of Finnair Oy for the year ended 31 December, 2614 The financaal statements compnse the conschdated statement of
financial position, income statement, statement of comprehensre income, statement of changes i equity and statement of
cash flows, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, as well as the parent company s balance sheet, iIncome state-
ment, cash flow statement and notes to the financul statements

Responsibility of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director

The Board of Directors and the Managing Dtrector are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial state-
ments that gne a true and fair view 1n accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (1FRS) as adopt-
ed by the EU, as well as for the preparation of financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors that give
a true and fatr view tn accordance wath the laws and regulations governing the preparatwon of the financial statements
and the report of the Board of Directors in Finland The Board of Birectors is responsible for the appropriate arrange-
ment of the control of the company s accounts and finances, and the Managing Director shall see to it that the accounts
of the company are in comphance with the law and that its financal affairs have been arranged in a rebable manner

Anditor's Responsibility
QOur responsibility 1s to express an opimon on the financial statements, on the consohdated financual statements and on the
report of the Board of Directors based un our andzt. The Aaditing Act requires that we comply with the requirements of pro-
fessional ethues Wee condncted our audit in accordance with good audriting practice in Finland. Good auditing practice requures
that we plan and perform the audst to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements and the report of
the Board of Directors are free from material misstatement, and whether the members of the Board of Directors of the par-
ent company or the Managing Director are gunlty of an act or neghgence which may result in habibity in damages towards the
company or whether they have violated the Limited Liability Companies Act or the articles of association of the company
An audit imolves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures mn the financial
statements and the report of the Board of Directors ‘The procedures selected depend on the auditor s judgment nelud-
ing the assessment of the nsks of matenal nusstatement, whether due to fraud or error In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation of financial statements and report of the Board of
Directors that give a true and fair view 1 order to design audst procedures that are appropnate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expresang an opinion on the effectiveness of the company < internal control An aodit also includes
evaluating the appropnateness of accounting palictes used and the reasonableness of accounting est:mates made by man-
apement, as well as evaluabing the yvetall presentation of the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors
We believe that the audit evndence we have obtamed 15 sufficient and appropriate te provide a basis for our audit opinmon.

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fast view of the financial position, financiat performance,
and cash flows of the group in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the FU

Opinion on the Company’s Financial Statements and the Report of the Board of
Directors

In our opimaon, the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors give a true and fair view of both the consol-
idated and the parent company’s financial performance and financial position 1n accordance with the laws and regulations
govermng the preparation of the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors in Finland The informatton
in the report of the Board of Drrectors ts consistent with the information in the financiaf statements

other opinions

We support that the financial statements and the consolidated financial statements should be adopted The propasal by the
Board of Drrectors regarding the use of the profit shown in the balance sheet 15 in compliance with the Limited Liatality
Companies Act, We support that the Members of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director of the parent company
should be discharped from Liabibty for the financial period audited by us

Helsinky, 10 February, 2015

PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy
Authonsed Public Accountants

-

Mikko Nieminen
Authorised Pubkc Accountant
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List of accounting books and voucher types

Balance sheet book

paper documents

Journal and general ledger

electronic archive

Atcounts receivable and payable

electronic archive

Bank recelpts

paper documents and electronic archive

voucher types 42 43 &8 69 Y0 and Y1

Sales Involces

paper documents and electronic archive

voucher types 30 31 40 41 XV XW Y) and YW

Flight coupon vouchers

Purchase invoices

electronic archive

paper documents and electrontc archive

voucher types SC SE SF SH 51 5) SM SN SO SR 55 and 57

voUChEr 1ypes 63 64 66 67 YA YM YN YP YT YU and YX

Payroll recelpts

paper documents and electronic archive

voucher types XQ and YV

Travel and expense invoices

electronic archive

voucher type ¥Q

Treasury vouchers paper documents and electronic archive voucher types XK and XM

Fixed assets vouchers paper documents and efectronic archive voucher types AA and AF

Finnair Plus vouchers efectronic archive voucher type Xv

Memo vouchers papes documents and electromc archave voucher ypes 10 11 13 14 i6 17 18 19 20 23 24 XX and YY
Clearing vouchers electronic archive voucher types 22 and SU
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inancial indicators

EC1

Direct economic value generated and distributed, including revenues, operating costs,
employee compensation, donations and other community investments, retalned earnings,
and payments to capital providers and governments

EUR milhon 2014 2013 2012 2011
Direct economlic value

Consehdated turnover 22845 24003 24494 22577
Other gperating :ncome 183 188 208 139
Financial ncome” 35 426 79 90
Total 2,306 3 2,461 7 2,478 1 2,280 6

Distributed economic value

Cash paid outside the company, materials and services

other operating expenses 15052 18616 18398 17486
Payments to personnel”* 3443 080 4203 4419
Payments made to shareholders and loan providers
Dwidend*** 0 128 \] 1]
Interest and other financial expensest*** 269 197 255 306
Payments to government ***** 76 108 17 85
Donations and other chantable payments nfa n/a n/a nfa
Distributed, total 2,284 3 2,3129 2,2933 2,235 6
Economit value retained for operational
development 220 148 8 1848 450
Investments In tangible and ntangtle assets as well as
acquisibians of subsidiaries g2é4 773 414 1586
Operational resuit 365 I19 432 -609
Return on capital employed (RGCE) % 65 36 28 52

Comparative figures for 2013 have been restated due to change in accounting principles related to treatment of overhauls

* includes EUR 34 milhon capital gam from the sale of Norwegian Air Shuttle ASAS sharesin 2013

- Payments to personnel include wages and salarres and paid contnbutions related to pension plans More information on payments
to persennel s available in Finnarr § 2014 Remuneration Statement on pages 141-147

had The Board of Dlrectors proposes to the Annual General Meeting 2015 that no dividend be paid for 2014

*** Includes write down of the subordmnated loan issued to Flybe Finland and interest to the loan in total EUR 10 8 milhion

+eerncludes paid ingome taxes social secunty payments and taxes on property

Taxes and charges comparable to taxes paid by Finnair have been tiscussed also on page 120 in Finnair 5 Tax FooLprint Report for 2014

EC2
Financial implications and other risks and opportunities for the organisation’s activities due
to climate change
In combating climate change, the mamn measures are directed at reducing the combustion of fossil
fuels The et fuel used by Finnair 1s fossit fuel and fuel costs are Finnarr’s single most significant cost
tem Therefore, all the factors mfluencing the price of jet fuel simiarly influence Finnair's operating
costs

The need to reduce fuel consumption and the resultant carbon dioxide ermussions has a significant
impact on the company’s business operations Finnarr s long-term emussion reduction target was
updated 1n 2014 and 1s to reduce 1ts CO2 enussions by 20 per cent per one hundred tonne hilometres
flown from the 2009 level by 2017

In order ta reduce 1ts fuel consumption, Finnair follows a strategy comprised of four elements
technological development, improvement of operational efhciency, development of infrastructure
and support of a global market-based measure to offset COz emissions Finnair operates a modern
fleet and tnvests from 2015 onward 1n fuel-efficient next-generation aircralt to maintain its competi-
tive advantage

For seveial years now Finnair has voiced its support for a global market-based measure for offsct-
ting greenhouse gas enussions that wonld complement the industry’s technelogical, operational and
infrastructural eftorts to reduce emissions In 2014, Finnarr participated in European Union’s Emis-
stons Trading Scheme (EU-E1S), which concerned only Intra-European flights The direct costs
mncurred by Finnair from emissions trading totaled approximately EUR 2 6 million in 2014 The direct
costs of emissions trading in the comuing years are difhcult to estimate due to potential changes to the
current ETS model

Finnair 1s a leading airline 1n carbon dioxide emissions reparting and reducing emissions The
risks, opportunities, financial effects and management methods related to chmate change are
described 1n detatl in Finnair’s responses to the Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP) report In 2014, the
Caibon Disclosure Project (CDD) awarded Finnair a position on its envionmental “A Tist The CDP
Climate Performance Leadership Index 2014;" for actions to reduce carbon emissions and mitigate
the business risks of chimate change The CDP 1s the world's only global environmental disclosure
system and represents 767 international investors from around the world Finnair has participated in
the CIDP since 2007

Finnair achieved IATA Environmental Assessment (IEnvA) Program Stage 2 certification in
January as one of only two global carniers, the other being South Afuican Airways, in January 2015
IEnvA s an environmental management system designed to independently assess and improve an
arrhne’s environmental management
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EC3

Coverage of the organisation’s defined benefit pfan obligations

All Finnair employees are covered by pension securnity tn accordance with the Employee Pensions Act
(TyEL) Pension contribut:ons amount to 16 1 per cent of salaries and 12 6 per cent of total personnel
expenses 1n 2014 In addition, some employees are covelred by an additional pension fund benefit and
management by an additional benefit in accordance with their contracts Of group personnel, around
42 6 per cent are covered by the additional pension fund bencfit Finnaur’s pension habilaty (Finnish
Accounting Standards) in respect of its own pension fund was EUR 344 6 mullion at the und of 2014
Pension hiabihities are covered in full

EC4

Significant financial assistance received from government

The Finnish Government does not support Finnair's operations financially The Finnair Aviation
College constitutes an exception The Finnair Aviation College, founded in 1964, 15 a spectal voca-
tional educational establishment maintained by Finnawr Ple, which operates as a special educational
establishment under the Act on Vocational Adult Education (631/1998)

The Finnair Aviation College's task 15 to arrange further vocational trainung leading to a vocational
or special vocational qualification as well as other fuither vocational training required for the prac-
tice of Finnarr Plc’s and its subsidiaries’ operations (Further Vocational Trainming Arrangement Permit
551/530/2006, 13 December 2006) As a privately-owned educational establishment, the Finnair
Aviation College funds its operations in accordance with government aid practices In 2014, the
Finnatr Aviation College received a total of approximately EUR 1 6 milhion

EC6

Palicy, practices and proportion of spending on locally-based suppliers at significant
locations of operation

The key objective of procurement at Finnan 1s to secure competitiveness, customer experience,
opcrational excellence and compliance with laws and regulations The mayoi ity of Finnair purchascs
atc determined by the Finnatr fight network and related geographical scope of relevant service

and goods suppliers A considerable part of the services Finnair requires for flight operations are
sourced locally because of the nature of the operations At the group level, Finnair monitors and
collects spend data on purchascs from all supphers and from all regions  Finnair supplier qualfi-
cation principles include, both locally and globally, compliance with atr operation laws and regula-
tions, conformance to Finnair quality requirements, price competitiveness and general reliabihty and
responsibihity of a supplier toward the environment, employees and the local commumty Many of

the group’s procurement categories are ofhcially regulated, in which case possible suppliers must be
approved by the authonties For example, all purchases relating to flight safety are of this type

The company wide Suppher Code of Conduct defines the overall pohicy on sustainability and ethies
of Finnair procurement activities

Finnair's largest single procurement stem 15 jet fuel, which 1s also the most significant opetational
expense item In jet fuel procurement, Finnarr gives significant weight on financial factors and reli-
ability of supply The jet fuel 1s typically procned tocally on each fhight destination from some 55
different supphers

Finnair Group’s subsidiary, package tour organuser Auninkomatkat-Suntours Ltd uses small
and medum-sized hotels, which are, as a rule, locally owned, 1n its program in addition to hotels
belonging to international hotel chamns For example, 1n Aurinkomatkat's biggest summer destination
country, Greece, around 80 per cent of the hotels used by Aurinkomatkat 1n summer 2014 were in
local ownership

In addition, Aurinkomatkat has a local representative at each of its destinations, from whom the
company purchases, among other things, ground transfers, tour arrangements and other aperational
services Finnair's business trave} agency SMT ts specialised in business travel and also uses local
agents when preparing travel programs and making group bookings

EC9

Understanding and describing significant indirect economic impacts,

including the extent of impacts

Aviation is a significant industry for Finnish society and the national economy The accessibility
created by airline trafhc 1s a necessity for Finland's global competitiveness and its economic impact
15 considerable, aviation 1s estimated to account for up to 4 per cent of GDP, employment and tax
revenue * According to an analysis conducted in autumn 2014 by ETLA, the Research Institute of
the Finrush Economy, Finnarr 1s the 10th most significant company for the Finnish economy ** The
mmpacts of aviation globally on employment, GDP and environment, for example, are discussed
further in IATA' 1eport “Aviation Benehts Boyond Boarders” that was published in April 2014 *+
Finnair's effective Asian strategy 15 a key element of the GDP contribution of aviation i Finland

Further information 1s available at

* Oxford Ecenomics “Economic Benehls from Air Transport in Finland™ http #wwiw lata org/pohcy/Documants/Benehits-of Avia
tion Finland 2011 pot

b ETLABrief 28 http /pubetla ifETLA Muistio Brief 28 pdf
b hitp.faviationbenetits org/media/26786/ATAG_AviationBenehls2014_FULL_LowRes paf
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Tax footprint

Finnair's principle 1s to pay the indirect and direct taxes it 15 subject to 1n each country according to
local regulattons The aim of tax planning 1s to support business decisions and to ensure therr appro-
priate implementation, also from the perspective of taxation Finnair’s international business oper-
ations are marnly related to the sales of fught tickets and cargo throuph Finnair Plc’s foreign sales
unts, as well as local sales promotion activibes Rather than separate legal entities, the sales units are
the parent company’s permanent establishments, and their income 1s taxed pursuant to the regula-
tions and tax agreements pertaining to the international arline business as part of the parent compa-
ny's taxable income in Finland  The operations of Finnair's foreign subsicharies are primanly related
to travel services, and they are very minor m scale relatwe to the Group’s business operations as a
whole Finnair also has a subsidiary for reinsurance operations registered in the Guernsey islands for
business reasons, the result of which 1s subject to taxation in Finland pursuant to the Finmish Act on
the Taxation of Sharcholders in Controlled Foreign Corporate Entities

As Finnair's taxable operatrons in indvidual countries outside of Finland are minor 1n scale, the tax
footprint presents Finland separately and all other countries together

Other taxes pnmanly include taxes on insurance payments and electnicity taxes Due to the nature
of the international airline business, jet fuel 1s tax-free

Public subsidies consist of education subsidies received by Finnair, and they are primanily related
to the aviation traiming services provided by Finnair The reported pubhic subsidics de not include
subsidies paid to airline business by the authorities in vanious countries, as they are considered busi-
ness secrets No such subsidies have been received from Finnish authonties

The taxes borne in Finland for the 2013 financial year include adjustments related to previous
financial periods Finnair has confirmed losscs n taxation from previous tax periods totalling
approximately EUR 290 million They can be utthsed aganst positive taxable income aver the next
5-10years Income tax becomes due for payment only when previous losses have been utihised in
full More information on direct taxes, such as the taxes pursuant to the consoldated income state-
ment, deferred tax assets and liabilities, and the adjustment of the effective tax rate, ts presented
Note 6 1 1n Finnair's consolidated financial statements

2014 o 2013 Indirect taxes collected for the financial =~ Other Other
Finnair's operations in Finland and in other | other ' Other year, EUR millien Finland*  countries Total  Finland®  countries Total
countries Finland*  countries Total! Finland*  countries Total Value added taxes sales 830 00 831 793 0l 794
Turnaver EUR millon | w2698 145 22845, 23831 172 24003 value added taxes purchases ) 979 30 wee 85 28 ses
Resuft before taxes. EUR miffion ’ 1004 14 LS 256 11 268 Vafue added taxes, net 48 29 178 42 28 70
Number of persanrel T ae% 6% sz s 710 5859 Withholding taxes on wages and salanes and . T Tt T
. - T T other indirect taxes 880 20 %01 936 22 958
The taxable mcome in Findand inchudes the result of the remsurance company regstered in Guernsey totalling EUR O mifbon (0 8) P 0o - 0o 05 -- - e 0 T n
Total ' 7.1 09 nz_ sws s %00
[ other T Other
Direct taxes bomne, EUR million | Fintand*  countries Totai'! Fmland*  countries Total
Employer contributions P87 10 &8 60 11 A The most sigmficant indirect taxes collected duning the hnancial year are withholding tax habilities,
Property taxes . _ c,ou 06 00 06 value added tax and excise taxes Other taxes primarily consist of tax at source
Dther taxes | o0 mq“ 23 990 23 In Finnair’s view, the passenger tanffs collected from flight passengers are not considered tax-hke
Pubhc subsidres recewved pooo ! 7 o0 17, 23 %0 23 payments remitted to the authorities that are subject to being reported as part of the tax footprint
Mpmmﬁwqﬂwxwwnﬁﬁﬂmm included n | 6t o7 L1 78 Passenger tanffs are remitted to the private or public party responsible for airport operations in each
trare b borme® b e 73 02 37 country, and as they are direct compensation for the maintenance of airport services, they do not
Total direct taxes payable H o o5 13 109 meet the defirution of a tax

*Income taxes borne are tax expenses pavable based on the result for the financial year and taxes pavable for previous penods In 2013 the
positive result of Fmiand did not cause any tax payments as Finnair utilized confirmed tax bosses from previous penods and income taxes only
mdude payments refated to previous penods.
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GOVERNANCE

Finnair’s management
system is aimed at
achieving strategic goals.

GRI:
HR?7, 505
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Management principles

General management principles

Finnair's management system 1s aimed at achieving strategic goals, creating added value for the
company's owners and other stakeholders, managing business nisks and improving the company’s
performance

Operations are gmided by principles, policies and guidehnes defined by the company’s Board of
Directors, mcluding the following.

« Code of Conduct

Supplier Code of Conduct

Sustamnable Development Policy

« Environmental Pohcy

+ Risk management policy and related, more detatled guidelines concerming different areas
Sponsorship guidelines

Guidelines on anti-competition

+ The Group’s anti-bribery guidelines

+ The Group’s gurdelines on conflicts of interest

Data security policy and guidehines

Disclosure policy

Equahty policy

+ Remunerahon pohcy

« Secunty pohicy

+ Procurement policy and guidelines on suppher relationship management

-

In finanaial reporting, Finnair appltes the rules refating to hsted companies as well as international
financial reporting standards Most of Finnair's operational activities are based on official regulations
and are subject to official supervision Within the group, the legality and acceptability of operations 15
monitored as part of Finnair's general control and audit processes

the responsibility for regulatory comphiance in flight operattons hes with the persons defined and
approved by the authonines Finnair 1s also subject to supervision relating to finances and informa-
tion security Internal control and audit roles and responstbilities are compliant with the Finnish
Companies Act, the Finnish Corporate Governance Code for Listed Compames and the regulabions
govermng the aviation industry

Finnair's governance model, control environment and actvities, internal audit and the roles and
responsibilities related to these are described in detail in Finnaur’s Corporate Governance Statement
on pages 127-136

Responsible Finnair

Finnair’s corporate responsibility is reflected 1n its strategy as well as its success factors of freshness, crea-
trvity and quality Responsibihity 1s integral to all Finnair operations Finnair 1s committed to complying
with international and nabional legislabion n its operabions, as well as the ethical operating principles lawd
out in the Code of Conduct approved in 2012 Ia 2014, the Group Executive Board approved additional
group-wide gurdelines to supplement the Code of Conduct with regard to the prevention of bribery and
topics including haspitality, conflicts of interest and compliance with anti-competition regulations

Comphance with the girdelines was promoted by communicating their content and orgamismng
traiming events The focus of traming and communication events organised 1n 2014 were antu-bribery
regulations and increasing awareness of the company’s complhiance actvities aimed at ensuning regu-
latory comphance 1n all operations Also in 2014, the company began the process of comprehenstvely
revising its Code of Conduct The revision 1s intended to dlearly define the requirements that all
Finnair employees must comply with

The future focus areas of the company's comphance activities include the continuation and expan-
sion of training programs, revising the Code of Conduct, developing controls and momtoring
systems related to the comphance function, and implementing a whistleblowing system

Public affairs and lobbying

Aviation 15 a strictly regulated industry As such, it 1s smportant for us to parhicipate in discussions
and decision-making that concern Finnair’s operating conditions Finnair pursues its interests in an
ethically sustainable manner by appropriately introducing its views, perspectives and expertise In
pursuing its interests, the company does not pressure or support political decision-makers 1n any
way The legality and ethicality of lobbying activities 1s controlled as part of the company’s general
supervision and audit processes

The aim of Finnair’s lobbying activities 1s to maintain relaonships concerning relevant policy and to
participate in relevant negotiations and the operations of advocacy organisations When lohbymng on
vartous civil aviation and industry regulation 1ssues, Finnair typically cooperates with various organ-
1sations and chambers of commerce Finnair 15 an active member of various aviation industry organ-
tsations, such as AEA and IATA, but also in the Confederation of Finnisk Industries {(EK), and its
sub-associations and in several chambers of commerce

Communications

Finnair aims at open, honest and timely commurications In hne with these principles, Finnair’s
communications are also in comphance with regulations goverrung listed compamies and hmited
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hability companues, as well as the obligations of the Finnush Act on Cooperation wathun Undertakings
and the communications gindehnes of the State Ownershup Steering Department

Finnair takes different perspectives into constderation and respects all stakeholders’ views of our
operations Finnair's internal communications are based on reciprocity Every employee has the duty
to communicate matters related to their area of responsibility to the relevant target groups Those in
supervisory roles have a further duty to commumcate goals, operations and results to their own work
commurty and create a work environment that enables genuine constructive discussion

Economic responsibility

Finnair's objective 1s to create sustainable economic added value by producing flight services prof-
itably, cost-competitrvely and in harmony with the needs of the environment and society Respon-
sible operations are the cornerstone of prohtable business actvity, and Finnair takes into account the
effects of its operations on society These effects are identified and assessed by the company’s corpo-

rate social responsibility and risk management organisations, which work under the authonity of the
CEO

Finnair's Board of Directors has set the company's financial targets, which are outlined 1n material
directed at investars As a public hmited company, Finnair 1s comnutted to earning a profit for its
shareholders The company's profit distribution principles are expressed in Finnair's dvidend policy
Finnarr’s financial reporting aims to provide, as transparently as possible, informatien about Finnair’s
financial position and development.

Environmental responsibility

Finnair's goal 1s to be the leading arrline in the field of environmental responsibthty We are
commutted to the principles of sustainable development defined by the International Civil Aviaton
Organisatton (ICAQ) and pursue all available means to reduce our environmental impact We also
strive to reduce greenhouse gas emissions in accordance with the principles and targets specified by
the International Air Transport Association (IATA) We comply with current environmental legis-
lation, but our environmental work aims at exceeding statutory requirements and being a pioneer in
evaluating, reportimg and reducing environmental impacts

Finnair’s corporate responsibality policy also defines our strategy for environmental management
Finnair participates actively in IATA's Environmental Commuttee and in the AEA Environmental
Committee, as well as in industry workgroups in Finland and the Nordic countries, promoting the
reduction of the aviation sector’s environmental load An open dialogue with different stakeholders
and continuous development of operations according to the latest avarlable information are prereq-

wsites for environmental responsibihty We report on our environmental impacts regularly 1 annual
reports and as a part of the Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP} In addition, we communicate directly
with vanious parties about our operations and actively answer questions posed by interest groups

Environmental responsibibity 1s managed within the framework of Finnair’s environmental policy
and environmental management system In 2014, Finnair and South African Awrways became the
first airflines in the world to recetve JATA Environmental Assessment (1EnvA) Stage 2 certification for
thewr environmental management systems [EnvA 1s an environmental management system devel-
oped by IATA for airhnes, which we use to make use of the best practices in the industry Our envi-
ronmental management system has been assessed by third-party auditors authorised by IATA who
are quahihed to perform audits of environmental management systems  To mmprove our performance,
we have identified the key environmental aspects of our operations and set targets related to them

For mare information on measures to reduce fuel consumption, enmussions and ather environmental
impacts, see pages 36-45

Social responsibility

Finnair 15 a company 1n a complex, highly technrcal business, and 1t has operations and supply ¢han
partners in dozens of different countries, each with varying laws and operating methods The most
impaortant social responsibility areas concern safety, personnel, the supply chain and customers

Human rights

Finnair's human rights management 1s described in the Finnair Code of Conduct and the compa-
ny’s management principles related to personnel Finnair respects the UN Universal Declaration on
Human Rights and the core conventions of the International Labour Orgamisation (ILQ)} Finnair
signed in 2013 the United Nation's Global Compact inttiative and undertook to comply with the
Global Compact’s ten principles of corparate responsibility, which relate to human nights, labour,
environment and anti-corruption

Finnair's ethical gmdelines (Finnair supplier code of conduct) set clear principles to ensure ethical
purchasing Finnair also expects its suppliers to act according to the company’s ethical operating
practices and its Supplier Code of Conduct Conforming with the UN's Universal Declaration of
Human Rights and all applicable laws and statutes 15 an absolute munimum requirement A procure-
ment steening group operating under Finnair's management 1s responsible for the steering, develop-
ment and coordination of the group's procurement activity Responsibility aspects are considered 1n
cooperation with the corporate responsibibity function
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Personnel

Managemeut, development and training and employee wellbeing

Finnair does not discriminate based on gender, age, ethnec or national ongin, nationahty, language,
religion, conviction, apimion, health, disabihity, sexual onientation or other personal attributes or
circumstances

Finnarr does not condone disturbances or harassment i the work community Reporting infrac-
tions 1s every employee’s right and the company 1s determined to take steps to intervene in all cases
brought toits knowledge Itis the duty of every group employee to act so that no one 1s accorded
unequal status

Finnair offcrs equal opportunities to everyone with regard to recruitment, work performance, career
progression and development Finnair implements the equal pay principle based on the Finish
Equality Act and grves both men and women equal oppartunities for balancing work and famuly hife

In 2011, Finnair became the first Finnish company to sign on to the United Nations Women's
Empowerment Principles, which give gmdance on the empowerment of women in the workplace,
marketplace and community

No tolerance for harassment

Finnair complies with procedures jointly agreed by the employer and employees for the prevention of
harassment and inappropnate conduct. The procedure 1s based on the Finmish Act on Occupational
Safety and Health and comphes wath the model recommended by the Finnish Mirustry of Social
Affars and Health

Occupational health and wellbeing at work
The principles of Finnaw's wellbeing-at-work program for the period 2011-2015 apply to all busi-
ness units and their employees The am of the program 15 to promote the effectiveness and func-
tionality of the work community and to ensure the wellbeing of personnel through all career stages
‘The program also contributes to employee productmvity, the company’s competitiveness and attrac-
tiveness as an employer as well as the implementation of the secial component of corporate respon-

sibility

At Finnarr, the Finnair Health Services unit 1s responsible for occupational health care services
Finnair Health Services, Finnair Aeromedical Centre FAeMC, coordinates and 15 responsible for the
implementation of occupational health care sn the entire Finnatr group The operational and service

The aim of the
wellbeing-at-work
program is to promote
the effectiveness and
functionality of the
work community and to
ensure the wellbeing of
personnel through all
career stages,

quahty of Finnair Health Services 15 based on the European Foundation for Quality Management's
EFQM Excellence Model The quality system 15 used to ensure that Finnair Health Services meets
the requirements for good cccupational health care practice in both aviation healthcare and aviation
medicine services The quality manual covering occupational health care and aviation medicine was
updated 1n 2014

Freedom of association and collective negotiation
Freedom of association and the cellective right to negotiate on occupational issues are recognised as
fundamental rights in Finland There 1s a tong tradition of trade union activity in the company

Labour market culture it the company has been constructed in such a way that the orgamsation of
workers and collective negotiations between the company and employee groups are part of normal
actmity All Finnair employees have the nght and opportunity to agree on terms of employment
collectively The terms of employment of management employees are agreed on locatly Personnel
and management remuneration principles are described on pages 141-147
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Product respotisibility and customer care

The anation industry consists of a strictly regulated value chain comprised of multiple supphers

of products and services As an airhne and service company at the top of this value chan, Finnair
creates added value for its customers by providing them with a comprehensive and high-quabty
service product. We are responsible for transporting customers and their baggage to their desti-
nations safely, smoothly and punctually The most significant product responsibility aspects in the
Finnair Group s operations are flight safety, food safety, responsibility for individual customers, and
responsibuity for the cargo carried by Finnair

At Finnair, situations that deviate from the norm are prepared for in advance The group has devel-
oped processes for various unexpected situattons and these are continually updated and maintained
Customers must be able to trust in the fact that they wall be cared for throughout the entire service
chain 'We are ultimately responsible to customers for the averall quality of their expenience, despite
the fact that some services are produced by Finnair's partners rather than the company itself Asa
result, Finnair pays great attention to the selection of partners

Flight safety

Flight safety 1s always the highest prionity in all operations, and 1n this area noe compromuses are
made on any grounds Safety 1s also Finnair’s first priority in ground operations and at every stage
of the customer journey

Flight safety work extends to all operations that impact on flight safety Risk prevention is built into
the company's operating culture, and numerous official regulations guide the group’s activities In
case of human error, various protection networks have been created in the company’s operating
systems with the key objective of stopptng the advance of a possibly damaging course of events and
the matenahisation of risk

At Finnarr, responsibility for operational safety rests with the manager responsible for each area of
operations The Department of Safety and Quahity produces nisk information for management using
the fatest methods A quality management system 1s used to monitor the effectiveness of all measures
and general compliance with regulattons

Within the framework of the quahty management system, the company's safety-critical elements are
audited annually Everyone who works 1n roles that mfluence fhight safety participates regularly in
safety traming courses, the content and scheduling of which 1s monitored both internally and by the
authonties Safety-related information 1s disserminated throughout the orgamsation via a dedicated

Safety Magazine In addition, separate safety bulletins are publiched for flight personnel as required
The target for 2014 was that all Finnair staff pass Safety Management training

At Finnarr all safety reports are interpreted and given a risk classification according to the seriousness
of the event In sertous cases, corrective measures are imtiated immediately A corrective measure
may be, for example, the changing of a faulty component and immediate checking of the rest of the
fleet to make sure that the same event does not recur

in nisk assessment and classification we use the Event Risk Classification (ERC) method, created by

the Airline Risk Management Solutions (ARMS) working group, which was introduced for airlines’

use in 2009 This method represents the industry’s latest risk knowledge and helps Finnarr produce

more standardised and objective risk information for management use We examine risks identified
by the ERC more deeply using the Safety Issue Risk Assessment {SIRA) method, which 1s also a tool
produced by the ARMS working group

In the STRA method, an attempt 15 made to identify all scenarios connected with the perceived risk,
and numerical probabilittes based on international data are assigned to all of these scenarios The
numerical possibilities obtained in this way must fulfil the requirements sct by management and the
authorities

In addition to risks identified due to reporting, we survey flight safety risks monthly with flight
personnel and flight safety professionals n a designated Hazard Identification [eam (HI 1) and by
momitoring daily flights on the basis of flight recordings

The purpose 1s to sdentify risks and to make a deeper SIRA analysis of the nisks identified Individual
fhght monitoring based on flight recordings s called Flight Data Analysis (FDA) An asrcraft can
record in ats “black box™ more than one thousand flight parameters many times per second The black
box recordings are downloaded after flights and analysed by a special program In this way, we can
verify later that every flight has been carred out taking into account the company’s methods and the
limitations of each type of arrcraft Any anomalies are always investigated separately in cooperation
with the flight crew i question and a safety analyst

Events that seriously jeopardise safety are rare and almost without exception a separate safety inves-
tigation 15 launched in respect of them A safety investigation may be carried out by the authotity
concerned (Accident Investigation Board of Finland) 1f the authonity decides not to carry out an
mvestigation, Finnawr performs an internal safety investigation In cases related to flying, the safety
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mveshgator ts always an expenenced pilot specally tramed 1n the subject The safcty investigator (or
inveshgators) always carries out the mnvestigation independently and the company’s management has
no opportunity to influence the course of the investigation This ensures independence and objec-
tivaty also in those cases where the perceived shortcomings may relate to the organisation’s activities

Customer care

For exceptional situations, Finnair has its own separate unit Al flight traffic irregularities are
handled centrally from Helsink, thereby gathering the necessary informatton into one place Inthis
way, a more detarled overall picture of the multiplier effects and costs of rregularities 1s obtaned,
and efforts are made to mmmimise inconventence to the customer

Monitoring and supervision of customer service actrvity 1s based on regular auditing, customer feed-
back and customer satisfaction surveys, as well as various surprise campaigns and measurements
performed by external parties Our partners’ operattons are also continually evaluated Monitoring
15 systematic and 1s used to set targets and check that they are being met Staff expertise 1s ensured
through traming

Customer data

Finnar respects the privacy of its customers and 1s commutted to ensuring that personal details and
other customer nformation are processed appropriately We do our best to guarantee the confi-
dentiality, security and accuracy of customer data under all eircumstances At all stages of travel we
process personal details in compliance with the legislation on personal data and regulations 1ssued by
the authonties in the countries in which we operate

Package tours

It 15 tn the interests of the group’s tour operators to promote sustamable tourism, whuch benefits
local businesses and orgamisations Package travel operations carried out by Finnair subsidianes
comply with the Finmish Package Travel Act and general industry terms and conditions The Finnish
Competition and Consumer Authority supervises the contractual practices of package travel service
providers and compliance with the requirements concerning guarantees against bankruptcy The
guarantees of tour operators belonging to the Finnair Group are in the form of bank guarantees

Cargo and ground handling
In cargo transport, Finnair and its subsidiary Finnair Cargo are responsible for transporting
customers’ cargo in the condition 1n which it has been entrusted to us, and 1n comphance with

Finnair Cargo's General Conditions of Carriage (htt.
I-transportation-terms himi) as well as international and national regulations The aim 1s to offer
cargo customers efficient, trouble-free logistics services This means, among other things, that cargo
entrusted to Finnair Cargo for transport 1s delivered to its destination exactly as agreed with the

customer

Finnair’s Ground Operations unit 1s responsible for the acquisition, quahty eriteria and quahty
control of ground handling services required at arrports The unit’s task 1s to ensure that the ground
services used by Finnair fulfil the requirements set for them, both in terms of quality and 1n respect
of safety and official regulations

To deliver on their service promises, both Finnair Cargo and the Ground Operations unit apply a
systemanic evaluation process when selecting subcontractors and partners that provide termmal
and other ground handling services Partners are required, for example, to ensure and maintain the
expertise of their personnel, and also to ensure that vehicles, equipment and premises are appro-
priate In addition to quality audits at airports, Finnair also regularly performs quahty inspections
that continually monitor both its own and subcontractors’ work Finnair Cargo and Ground Opera-
tions quality managers are responsible for maintaiming and updating their own quality systems and
ensuring that operations comply with requirements

Ground Operations also has an area manager, responsible for atrport operations, who has a sigmf-
icant role in monitoring the compliance of operations with regulations If some actavity does not
to some extent comply with the operattons manual or prevailing legislation, the deviation 15 docu-
mented and corrective measures effected immediately

More information about IATA safety and quality audits

http //www 1ata.or;
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Reguiatory framework

This Corporate Governance Statement is issued pursuant to the Finnish Corporate Governance
Code 2010 for hsted compantes [t sets out the goverming bodies and the pninciples of governance of
Finnair Plc Finnair complies with the recommendations of the Code without exceptions

The principal legislative authorities on corporate governance of Finmish listed companies are the
Companies Act, the Secunties Market Act, the regulation and guidelines 1ssued by the Financial
Superviston, the rules and instructtons for listed companies issued by Nasdaq Helsinks and the
Finmish Corporate Governance Code, all of which are complied wath by Finnair Company spectfic
authonties on the governance of Finnair are the Articles of Association and the principles, pohicies
and guidehnes issued by Finnair's Board of Directors

The Articles of Association, the published policies and other additionat information on Finnarir's
corporate governance can be found at Finnair's internet site at www finnairgroup com The Corpo-
rate Governance Code 1s publicly available on the website of the Secunties Market Association’s
website at www cgfinland fi

This statement has been approved by Finnair’s Board of Directors and 1t has been prepared as a sepa-
rate report from the Board of Directors’ Report Finnauwr’s auditing firm, PricewaterhouseCoopers, has
venified that the description of the main features of the internal control and risk management refated to
the financial reportang process contained herewn are consistent with the financial statements

Governing bodies

‘The governing bodies of Finnair pursuant to the Companies Act and the Articles of Association are
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the General Meeting of Shareholders, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) and the Chief Executive
Officer (the "CEO") The roles of the governing bodtes are described below

General Meetings

The ultimate authonty in Finnair 15 vested in the General Meeting of Sharcholders An Annual
General Meeting (the “AGM") must be held each year by the end of May

The competence of the General Meeting of Shareholders 15 set out 1n the Companies Act and in
Finnair's Articles of Association The AGM shall annually decide on the following matters

adoption of the financial statements and the consolidated financtal statements
« the use of the profit shown on the balance sheet

- the discharging of the Members of the Board and the CEQ from hability

+ the appointment of the Members of the Board and their remunerations

« election of the Chairman of the Board from among the Members

«+ the election and remuneration of the auditor

The Board convenes the General Meetings of Shareholders by publishing a notice not earlier than
three months and not later than three weeks before the date of the meeting and always at least nine
days before the record date of the meeting The notice shall be pubhished as a stock exchange release
and on Finnair’s website

Each shareholder who 1s registered on the record date as a shareholder in the company’s public
register of shareholders, maintained by Euroclear Finland Ltd, has the night to participate in the
General Meeting of Shareholders If a holder of nominee-registered shares wishes to participate in
the meeting, he or she has to register temporarily in the register of shareholders Furthermore, n
arder to attend the meeting, a shareholder must register for the meeting in the manner defined in the
notice convening the meeting

A shareholder has the nght to have a matter falling within the competence of the General Meeting of
Shareholders addressed by the meeting, if the shareholder so demands in wniting from the Board by
the date announced on Finnair's imternet site

The minutes of the General Meeting of Shareholders and the voting results, if any, shall be made
avatlable to shareholders on Finnair's internet site within two weeks of the meeting.

2014 Annual General Meeting

Finnair's AGM 2014 was held i Helsinki on 27 March A total of 251 shareholders, representing

63 per cent of the shares and voting nights of the company, participated either in person or by proxy
representatives All Board members elected by the 2013 AGM except one and all candidates for

Board membership in 2014 AGM were present in the meeting, as well as Finnair's Executive Board
and the auditors of the company

Shareholders’ Nomination Board

The AGM 2013 decided to establish a permanent Shareholders’ Nomination Board The term of

the Nomination Board continues until the General Meeting of the company decides otherwise The
previous practice since 2008 was that a Shareholders’ Nomination Committee was established annu-
ally by the AGMs

The purpose and task of the Nomination Board s to prepare and present to the AGM, and, if neces-
sary, to an Extraordinary General Meeting, proposals on the remuneration of the members of the
Board, on the number of members of the Board and on the members of the Board In addition, the
task of the Nomnation Board 1s to seek potential future candidates for Board members The
Nemination Board shall forward its proposals to the company’s Board by 31 January each vear

The Nomination Board shall consist of four members, who shall be nominated annually The compa-
ny's three largest shareholders shall appoint three of the members, and the Chairman of the Board
shall serve as the fourth member The company’s largest sharcholders entitled to appomt members to
the Nomination Board shall be determined on the basis of the registered holdings in the company’s
shareholder register held by Euroclear Finland Ltd as of the first working day in September each year
In the event that a shareholder does not wish to exercise its nght to appoint a representative, such
right shall pass to the next largest shareholder

‘The members of the Nomination Board are not remunerated by Finnair for therr membership 1n

the Nomination Board The members' expenses are reimbursable in accordance with the company’s
expense policy In addition, the Nomunation Board’s costs of using external experts shall be borne by
the company

2013 and 2014 Nomination Boards

The Nommation Board established in 2013 consisted of the representatives of three largest share-
holders as at the first working day September 2013 and of the Chairman of the Board The share-
holders were the State of Finland, Keva and Skagen Global Verdipapirfond and the compasition of
the Noninatton Board was the following:

« Mr Eero HeliGvaara, b 1956, M Sc (Econ.}, M Sc (Eng ), Director General in the Ownership
Steenng 1n the Prime Minister’s Office (Chairman),

+ Mr Robin Backman, b 1971, M Sc (Econ ), Portfoho Manager tn Keva,

+ Mr Per Wennberg, b 1969, B Sc (Hon ) in Business Management, Skagen’s Managing Director
in Sweden,

+ Mr Klaus Hemnemann, see details on page 5
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The Nomination Board convened three times and all members were present in the meetings On
31 January 2014, the Shareholders’ Nomination Board submutted to the Board 1ts proposal for the
AGM held on 27 March 2014

The Nomunation Board established 1n 2014 consisted of the representatives of three largest share-
holders as at the first working day September 2014 1 e the State of Finland, Keva and Skagen Global
Verdipapirfond, and of the Chatrman of the Board Skagen funds sold their shares in Finnair Pic

in November 2014 and consequently their representative 1n the Shareholders’ Nomunation Board
resigned The right to nominate a member to the Nomunation Board was thus transferred to the
fourth largest shareholder of Finnair Plc as at the first working day September, llmarinen The
composition of the 2014 Nominatien Beard 15 the following:

= Mr Eero Heldvaara, see above, (Chairman),

+ Mr Robin Backman, see above;

+ Mr Per Wennberg, see above; {until Dec 2014)

« Mr Harr Sailas, b 1951, M Sc {Econ ) President and CEO of Tlmarinen Mutual Pension
Insurance Company (from 15 Dec 2014 onward)

+ Mr Klaus Heinemann, see details on page 5

The Nomunation Board convened two times and all members were present in the meetings On
29 January 2015, the Shareholders’ Nomination Board submutted to the Board its proposal for the AGM
to be held on 25 March 2015 The Nomination Board's proposals are available on Finnair's website

Board of Directors

‘The Chairman and the Members of the Board are elected by the AGM According to the Articles of
Association, the Board consists of the Chairman and a mumimum of four and a maximum of seven
other members The Board clects a Deputy Chairman from among its members The term of office of
the members of the Board ends at the close of the first AGM following their election

According to the Compamies Act, the Board represents all shareholders of Finnair and has the
general duty to act diligently in the interests of the company Under law, the Board 15 accountable to
the shareholders for the appropmate governance of the company and for ensuring that the operations
of the company are run adequately

The accountabihity for the company's governance pertains specifically to the assurance of the effec-
tiveness of the Company's system of mternal controls The main features of the company’s system
of internal controls and nsk management are described later in this report. Finnarr has a number of
policies 1ssued by the Board, designed to enhance the internal controls The pohcies are regularly
updated and communicated to the personnel

In addition to the Board's statutory tasks, certain significant matters arc reserved for the Board's
decision, as set out in the Board’s charter The Beard sets the company's strategtc aims and monitors
the implementation of the same by the management, approves other sigmificant strategic matters,
mvestments, divestments and capital commitments and approves the business and financial plans,
significant partnerships and other major contracts The Board reviews the performance of the
management and it appoints and removes the CEO and other members of the executive management
and determines therr levels of remuneration The Board also attends to the succession planning of the
management The Board establishes and regularly evaluates the group's personnel policies, including
the compensation structures The Board's charter 15 available on Finnair's website 1n its entirety

The Board evaluates its work annually, and in 20141t also used an external consult in assessing Board
work The Board's gender distribution in the composition elected by 2014 AGM s four men and
three women

Members of the Board and their independence

The 2014 AGM held on 27 March elected Klaus Heinemann as Chairman of the Board and
Matja-Lnsa Friman, Jussi Itavuon, Harn Kerminen, Gunvor Kronman, Jaana Tuominen and Nigel
Turner as other members of the Board The Board elected Harn Kerminen as its Vice Chairman

Board members represent a diverse range of business and other bachgrounds, bringing a broad
spectrum of views and expenences to Board deliberatrons The Board assessed the independence
of its members and concluded that all members are non-executive members independent of the
Company and its major shareholders

Members of the Board in 2014 and thelr attendance in Board and Committee meetings

In 2014, the Board met nine times (seven meetings with the composition elected by the 2014
AGM and two meetings with the composition elected by the 2013 AGM) In addition, the Board
made per capsulam decisions six imes during the year See the table on the following page for
information on the Board members’ parttcipation in the meetings during 2014
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More infarmation on the Members of the Board s availahle on Finair's website.

The Board’s work in 2014

In 2014 the Board met mine times in person and had six addittonal anline or telephone meetings In addition

to 1ts regulatory duties, the Board's actions tncluded the following

« Evaluated the company s strategy, followed the implementation of the existing strategic initiatives and set
the focus areas for new mitiatives,

+ Approved a share saving plan targeted to the entire staff and a long-term share centive plan targeted to

the key employees, and set the personhel fund’s performance bonus criteria for 2014,

approved a Jong-term incentive plan for the Pilots as a part of the resolution on the Pilots Collective

Labour Agreement negotiatron,

= Approved the divestment of Finncatering Oy and the Duty free shops at Helsinks Airport,

Approved the acquisition of the shares of Flybe Nordic,

Reviewed the attainment of the targeted service tevels and ¢ost savings in the outsourced core services,

Confirmed the company’s finzncial nsk management polictes, reviewed the mid and long term mvestment

and funding plans, approved several arcraft transactions, including the sale of four A340 arrcraft to

Airbus and confirmed eight A350 aircraft purchase options,

Revised the financial guidance for 2014 in June and August,

Assessed and developed its working practices, and

Revised the charter of the Compensation and Nomination Committee

The Committees of the Board

The Board delegates certain of its functions to the Audit Commuttee and to the Compensation and
Nomination Committee The Board appoints the Commuttee members and theirr Chairmen from
among the members of the Board The minimum number of members 15 threc in both Commuttees

Each Committee meets regularly under their respective charters The Commuttees’ tasks and the
work carried out by them during the year are described in their respective sections below The
Committees report on their work regularly to the Board but they do not have decision-making
powers independent from the Board, except where expressly authorised by the Board Copes of the
Commuittees’ charters are available on Finnair'’s website

AudH Committee

The Audit Commuttee assists the Board in its task to ensure the proper governance of the company,
1n particular, by considering the accounting and financial reporting, the Company’s internal contro!
systems and the work of the external auditors The Audit Commuttee addresses cancerns pertaining
to control matters as raised by the management or the auditors of the company These are reported to
the Board by the Audit Commuttee The Audit Commiitee ensures that appropriate action 15 taken by
the management to rectify identified shortcomings

According to the Corporate Governance Code, the members of the Commuttee must be suthciently
qualified to perform the responsibilities of the Committee
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The main duties of the Aodit Committee

The Audrt Committee shall

- mondor the financial status of the company,

- momtor the reporting process of financial statements and interim reperts and assess the draft financial
statements and intenm reports,

= assess the efficency of the company s internal controls, internal auditing and risk management system,

moniter the statutory audit and review all matenal reports from the audsitor;

« assess the independence of the auditers, m parttcular with regard to their anaillary services,

- prepare for the Board proposals to the Annual General Meeting regarding the election of the auditor(s)
and thewr remunerations,

« review the auditors’ and internal auditors” audrt plans and reports

» review the company’s corporate governance statement,

= prepare for the Board the group’s rrsk management policies,

- prepare for the Board decsions on significant changes in the accounting pronciples or in the valuations of
the group's assets,

- assess the group’s compliance with {aws and regulatrons and

- maintain contact with the auditors

After 2014 AGM, the Audit Commutice members are Maya-Lusa Friman (Chairman), Nigel Turner
and Harn Kerminen All Commuttee members are independent of the Company and of its significant
shareholders

The Audit Commuttee met six tmes in 2014 with an aggregate attendance rate of 100 per cent One
of the meetings was held with the composition that was in place after the 2013 AGM and five with
the composition 1n place after the 2014 AGM The CEO, the CFO, the Head of Internal Audit and
Risk Management as well as the external auditor also participated in the Committee’s meetings
Finnair s General Counsel acted as the secretary of the Audit Commuttee The Commuttee held closed
sessions as well as sessions where the External or Internal Auditors participated without the presence
of the members of the management. The Commuttee also performed its annual self-evaluation

The Audit Committee’s activities in 2014

In addition to «ts customary tasks, the Audit Committee attended selected focus areas, such as labour
productivity, Joint Business Agreements, hedging strategies, information security, nternal controls enhance-
ment program, arrcraft financing, and partrer management

The Audit Commuttee also

» Reviewed the mud and long-term investment and funding plans,

+ Rewiewed the risk management process, the risk and controf enviranment, the top risks for 2014 and the

related risk management measures The Committee reviewed and approved a nisk-based internal audit

plan for 2014 and assessed the sufficiency of the resources i the internal control functions,

Reviewed the current state and development roadmap of the group s Governance, Risk and Compliance

(GRC) system,

» Held a nsk management workshop to set and document the group’s risk appetite,

+ Dscussed with the CED, the CFO and the auditors the company's accounting policies and the estimates and
Judgements that were applied in preparing the reports,

« Recommended to the Board that it changed the financial gindance in June and August 2014

Assessed the internal and external auditer's performance and proposed to the 2014 AGM that

PricewaterhouseCoopers be re-elected as the auditor for the fiscal year 2014, and

+ Performed an annual self-assessment and set the Committee s annual pfan for 2015 The areas of specific
attention in 2015 will comprise complementary pensions, Joint Business Agreements, Finance processes
and controls, 1T, Arrcraft Finance, and Vendor Management

Compensation and Nomination Committee

The Compensation and Nomination Committee assists the Board in matters pertaining to the
compensation and benefits of the CEO and other senior management, their performance evaluation,
appointment and successor planmng The Commuttee assists the Board also in estabhishing and eval-
uating the group’s compensation structures and other personnel pohcies

The main duties of the Compensation and Nomination Committee

The Commiltee prepares the following matters for the Board

« compensations, pensions, benefits and other material terms of the contract of the CEQ

+ compensations pensions and benefits of the top executives of the group, and other matenal terms of
their contracts to the extent that the same deviate from the customary practice

+ nominations of the CED and other top executives

+ top executives’ succession planning

« composition of the Executive Board

+ equity-based incentve plans

« the principal compensation polictes and practices regarding the personnel

+ management s particepation in the boards of directors of the group and of external companies

- major organisational changes

proposals of awarding the members of the management honorary decorations and titles

A copy of the Commuttee’s charter 1s available on Finnair's website
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After the 2014 AGM, the members of the Compensation and Nomination Commuttee elected are
Jussi ivaort (Chairman), Gunvor Kronman, Jaana Tuominen and Harn Kerminen Al Committee
members are independent of the Company and of its significant sharcholders

The members of the Compensation and Nom:natton Committee met five imes in 2014 withan
aggregate attendance rate of 90 per cent. Two of the meetings were held with the composition that
was in place after the 2013 AGM and threc with the composition in place after the 2014 AGM The
CEQ and the Head of HR were 1nvited to the meehings to assist the Comnuttee Finnair's General
Counsel acted as the Commuttee’s secretary

The Compensation and Nomination Committee’s work in 2014

The Comnuttee's work compnised, among other things, the following topics

+ Prepared for the Board approval the 2014 program under the employee shase saving plan ‘Flyshare ,

- Committee also reviewed the senior management s compensation levels compared to the market and

assessed ther performance under the long and short term sncentve targets

Assisted the Board n determiming the semr-annual targets of the top management for 2014 as well as the

personnel fund's bonus citerwa for 2014,

« Reviewed Finnair's compensation policies and practices,

« Assisted the Board in determiming the targets of the next rolling share bonus plan and assessed the
development needs of the share bonus program,

« Biscussed with the management the strategically wital labour cost savings and the targets and results of
the collective labour agreement negoliations,

- Prepared for the Board approval a long-term incentive plan for the pifots as part of their new coliective
labour agreement, and

» Assessed 1ls meeting practices and tasks and prepared its revised charter, which was approved by the
Board early 2014

Company management

Finnalr's corporate structure

Fronarr has two business areas Airline Business and Travel Services (tour operators and travel
agenues) and uts financial reporting is based on this grouping Shared functions in Finnair’s Group
Admunstration are Finance, Control and Corporate Development, Human Resources,
Commumcations and Corporate Responstbility, Legal Affairs and Internal Audit

Company Management

Reports to Board's
Audit Committee

The CEO

‘The CEQ) 15 appointed by the Board The CEQ manages the company's day-to-day operations i
accordance with gutdelines and mnstructions 1ssued by the Board The CEQ's instructions from the
Board include, in particular, the implementation of Finnatr’s strategy, driving of structural change
and improving the company’s profitability The CEO acts as the Chairman of the Executive Board

The Board determines the CEO's compensation and sets his short and long-term incentive targets
The main contents of the CEQ's contract, including his compensation and benefits, are descnbed 1n

the Remuneration Statement and on Finnair’s snternet pages

Fhe CEO of Finnair 1s Pekka Vauramo, b 1957, M S¢ (Mining)
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Executive Board

The Executive Board of the Company 1s led by the CEO and 1t comprises the semor management
responsible for Finnatr’s bustness operations, finance, control and corporate development, human
resources, communications and corporate responsibility and legal affairs The members’ respective
roles and their shareholdings in Finnair are more fully described on the company’s web pages The
semor management is appointed and removed by the Board, which also determines thew remuneration
and other terms of employment.

The duties of the Executive Board include group-wrde development projects, the defimition of prin-

ciples and procedures that guide the company’s actmities, and the preparation of matters to be dealt
with by the Board The Executive Board also acts as Finnaur's nsk management steering group

In 2014, Finnair’s Executive Board met twice a month on average ‘The main focus areas in the
Executive Board’s work were the strategy assessment, development and implementation, the group’s
financial status, revenue enhancement and product renewal, nisk management, IT transformation
and related investments, outsourcings and vendor management, talent and successor reviews, and
HR development programs ‘The Executive Board also sought to improve route profitabihity, opera-
tional quality and customer service In addition, the Executive Board met nearly every week to tend
to Finnair's collective labour agreement negotiations and the profitability and productmity improve-
ment programs

Subsets of the Exeartive Board

The Executive Board delepates certamn of its functions to five subsets These subsets consist of
members of the Executive Board or representatives of various business functions These subsets’
deciston making authority 1s derived from that of the Executive Board, set by the Board by way of the
approval hmits, policies and instructions

Network Planming Group 1s responsible for fleet and network strategy and short and fong-term
trafhe planning of Finnair's passenger and cargo traffic, among other things The Group 1s headed by
SVP Resource Management and meets monthly

Process and IT Steening Group makes decisions on IT and process development projects and sets
the priorities, budgets and targets for the same It also approves sigmficant projects, investments and
suppher contracts in the area of IT The Group 15 headed by CFO and meets bi-maonthly

Procurement Steening Group 15 responsible for Finnair’s Procurement Policy, procurement cate-
gory structure and related development projects Tt also approves significant supphier contracts (with
the exception of IT contracts) and ther related governance models The Group 1s headed by the CFO
and meets at least quarterly

Brand and Product Board 1s responsible for strategic brand steering and management as well as

product decisions It decides, for example, on brand development activities, service identity and
visual edentity of Finnair ‘The Board 15 headed by the CEO and meets bi-monthly

In addition Executive Board acts as the Group Risk Management Steering Group Risk Manage-
ment Steering Group 1s responsible for the Group's strategic risk assessment and setting risk
management priorities and nsk management measures Jtassesses the adequacy and timehness of
the Group's risk management policy, and decides over the extent to which key external cooperative
parties are obligated to comply with the content of this Tn addition, it reviews and approves changes
in the nisk reporting process, Finnair common risk language and risk model The Steering Group 1s
headed by the CEO and meets bi-monthly

Management Bpard

Finnair Management Board 1s principally a communication and co-aperation forum designed for the
personnel s participation in the company's governance processes, especially with regard to matters
that affect the personnel The focus of the Management Board work 1s on enhancing communication
and understanding between the personnel groups and the management as to the implementation of
the company's strategic objectves and on shanng information and discussing plans and projects that
affect Finnair’s personnel Management Board also discusses the business plans and financial perfor-
mance of the Group, the operationat quality and customer satisfaction as well as significant devel-
opment projects The Management Board comprises the Executive Board members, certain sentor
managers and the representatives of all personnel groups

In 2014, the Management Board met seven times

Corporate Governance in Finnair subsidiaries

For major subsidianes, the members of the boards of directors are selected from individuals
belongeng to Finnair’s semor management and, in selected subsidiaries, also from representa-

tives proposed by personnel groups The key tasks of the boards of directors of subsidianies include
strategy preparation, approving operational plans and budgets, and deciding on investments and
commitments within the scope of the approval imits 1ssued by Finnair's Board

‘The subsidiaries of Finnair are presented in the Financial Statements 2014 under Note | 3, Subsidi-
ares

Governance principles in key partnerships and outsourcings

Finnair has equity partnership in Flybe Finland Oy through Flybe Nordic AB (ownersh:p 40 per
cent) and 1n Nordic Global Aurlines Ltd (ownership 40 per cent) Flybe Finland 1s 2 Finrush regional
passenger arrhne operating ATR turboprop and Embraer 170 and 190 aurcraft Part of its route
network 1s designed to provide convenient feeder connections to Finnair's European and long haul
routes Nordic Global Airlines Ltd 1s a Finnish full freight airline and its home base ts in Finland
Nordic Global Airlines provides cargo capacity mainly to Finnair Cargo Ltd Finnair’s influence over
the governance of these companies 15 secured by shareholding and various contractual nights

Finnair has entrusted certain important operational services ta world class service providers 1L.SG
Sky Chefs Finland Oy runs the former catering businesses of Finnair at Helsink: Awrport It supplies
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Finnair’s catering services pursuant to a multi-year agreement designed to ensure Finnair’s receipt of
high quality services, cost savings and other benefits Other stmilar long-term arrangements extst in
the ground handling services, with Swissport Finland Ltd, and 1n the engine and component services
with a Swiss company SR Techmics In addition to a requirement of continued cost competitiveness,
these agreements contain service level requirements with baselines meeting or exceeding the levels
achueved by Finnair prior to the outsourcing

All Finnarr's partners are expected to comply with Finnair’s Code of Conduct and Finnair’s Suppher
Code of Conduct, and Finnaur 15 entitled to audit the Supplier’s governance and secunty practices to
ensure this

Finnair's Code of Conduct and Supplier Code of Conduct are available on Finnair's website

Main featnres of the Internal control and risk management system
pertaining to the finandial reporting process

Description of the overall system

The objective of internal control and risk management system pertaming to the financial reporting
process 1s to provide the Board, the Executive Management and other key stakeholders with a
reasonable assurance of the rehability and correctness of financial and operational reporting, as well
as comphance with associated laws, regulations and internal policies 1t 1s built on the prinaples of
Finnair’s overall system of risk management whuch 1s aligned with commaonly accepted COS0 ERM
framework and 15O 31000-2009 standard for nsk management

Control environment

Finnair’s Code of Conduct and management system form the foundation for its control environment
and background for awateness and implementation of control activities across the organisation
Guiding principles of mternal control and risk management in Finnair are documented n the Group
Risk Management Pohcy Other key steering instruments supporting control over reporting include,
but are not limited to, Annual Accounts drafting principles, Treasury Policy, Procurement Policy,
Credit Policy and Disclosure Policy

Finnair's Board of Directors holds the overall responsibility for the company’s internal control and
risk management The Board has delegated the implementation of efficient control environment and
measures to ensure the reliability of financial reporting to the CEOQ Group CFO i< responsible for
governing financial reporting control environment and acting as the risk owner of reporting risks
‘The line orgamzations of business umits and group-wide functions have the matn responsibility for
executing day to day control activities pertatning to the financial reporting process

Internal Audit assesses the control environment as well as the status and effectiveness of plannied
control and nisk management activities To ensure the independence of the Internal Audit actvity,

The role in the implementation of the internal contro! and risk management system

iThree lines'of defence

Business segments and common functions
Day to day control and risk management activities pertaining to the financial
reporting process

Hﬁﬂ

Corporate functions
Oversight and contenuous improvement of the internal controf and risk
management environment

coooooocoooooooooocd i TR

Internal Andit

Assessment of control environment, day to day control and nisk management

activities, and overall maturity of the internal control and risk management
system

A\

~

Third line of

S - - m— = = — = o
p

The Board of Divectors
Reasonable assurance of the acivevement of company’s strategic and
operattonal objectives, rehability of financial and operational reporting,

as well as comphance with laws, regulations and internal policies
\. A »

"\
<

Internal Audit has a direct functional reporting line to the Audit Committee of Finnair Board and

it 15 posiioned to operate admintstratively under the CEOQ The Audit Commuttee appointed by

the Board of Directors oversees the financial reparting process and overall maturity of the internal
control and risk management system The described roles and responsibilities are 1n accordance
with the Finnish Companies Act, and the Finnish Corporate Governance Code The picture above
summanses the roles of the listed stakeholders m the implementation of the internal control and risk
management system

Risk Assessment

Objective of Finnair’s financial reporting risk assessment 1s to identify, evaluate and prioritise the
maost significant threats to the rebability of internal and external reporting at the Group, reporting
area, umit, function and process levels Processes related to financial reporting are subject to
on-gong risk assessment by the business unit controllers, financial controllers and shared service
centre as part of their daily and weekly activities
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As a part of internal controls development project, the processes with matenal impact on financial
reporting have been defined and nisks threatening the reliabihity and accuracy of financial reporting
assessed in a coordinated manner Possible changes in internal and external environment are always
assessed and processes updated accordingly

Control activities

Financial reporting instructions have been prepared to be followed across the orgamization The
instructions outlirung the content and schedule for the reporting aim to increase the overall control-
labihity of the financial reporting process and ensure that financial statement fulfils the requirements
set in the IFRS standards and other applicable principles

Risk related to financial reporting are managed through controls aiming to provide reasonable assur-

ance that the information of interim reports and year-end reports are correct and that they have been
prepared tn accordance with legislation, applicable accounting standards and other requirements for

listed companics These control actmities are

« preventive, detective and corrective in nature;

« wntegrated into reporting processes i business units, group-wide functions and subsidiaries,
+ operationahized through the implementation of Policies, Gmdelines and Principles,

+ captured in Control Catalogs,

« supported by Manuals and Standards, Process Descriptions and Work Instructions,

« monitored and continuousty improved through a dedicated governance model

As part of group-wide internal control development project in 2013, responsibihties over reporting
controls were reviewed and updated to reflect the recent changes in the orgamization These roles are
illustrated in the below matrix

control environment and acting as the risk owner of
reporting risks

Owner of the process controls defined in the control

Responsible for executing / monitoring key
control(s) defined 1n the control catalogue

Internal Audit Responsible for audit of reporting processes and

related controls according to the annual audit plan

! catalogue
i
'
:
'
;
H

‘The main components and roles associated with control planning, inplementation and monttoring
are summarised in the following chart
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Information and communication

Information and communication system provides means fer Finnair’s personnel to capture and
communrcate information related to risk assessments and contral activities across company’s oper-
ations The system aims at providing required personnet access to adequate and timely information
on accounting and reporting as well as on related controls Information regarding control require-
ments is communicated through common policies, dedicated gindelines and process level procedure
descriphons

The CFQ, supported by Investor Relations function, 1s responsible for the disclosure of financial
information and fulfilment of the communication obligations of a listed company Investor Relations
holds the responsibibity over planning and implementation of investor communications and daily
contact with investors and analysts
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Monitoring and improvement

Finnatr’s internal control and risk management system 1s subject to both on-going and perrod-

1cal monitoring activitics to gain reasonable assurance over its appropriateness and effectiveness
On-going monitoring is buult nto the normal, recurring operating activities of operations and 1s the
responsibulity of corporate management, business units and group-wide functtons

Fotus areas of Internal control over financial reporting tn 2014 and 2015

2014 Key Activities

Regular self-assessment of risks and controls was performed as set in the annual calendar of internal centrol
activities Spectfic attention was put inte the cnitical process areas where changes in the roles and
responsthelities have recently accurred Additionally, the Internal Audit and public audrtors performed audits
on key controls as defined in the annupal audd plan

Furthermore control catalogue documentation in additional key process areas identified after the first phase
implementation was carried aut to further extend the coverage of the consistently defined framework and
control process Special attention was focused on areas where changes in roles and responstbilities had
taken place

2015 Planned Key Activities

fFurther development of the controls will be conducted independently and afso using any findings and
suggestions recewed from Internal Audit ard public auditers By the end of 2015 audits will have been
pertormed for each control catalogue

Internal Andit
The Internal Audit 1s established by the Board of Directors, and 1ts responsibilitres are defined by the
Audit Commuttee of the Board of Directors as part of therr oversight function

The rrusston of Internal Audit in Finnair 1s to provide independent, objective assurance and consul-
ting services designed to add value and improve the organization’s operations Internal Audit helps
the organisation to muihigate factors that nught undermine its business objectves by bninging a syste-
matic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control,
and governance processes

internal Aud)t’s focus areas in 2014 and 2015

2014 Key Activities

Main focus areas of Internal Audit for the year 2014 were based on and aligned with corporate strategy,
results of risk analysis and changes in internal processes As part of the Audit Plan, special attention was
given to sales strategy implementation and buswiness restience Finnar Internal Audht participated in the
planning of a project aiming to enhance Governance, Risk and Compliance management system and related
IT platform I zlso provided facilitative support for setting and documentation of the group s risk appetite

2015 Planned Key Activities

Internal Audit Plan for 2015 has been approved by the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors m
December 2014 Sales strategy implementation witl continue to be a focus area, and other special attention
areas will refate to strategic partnerships and programs, and data integrity Internal Audit will participate as
a subject matter expert in project aiming to enhance key process controls’ development as well as continue
to particspate in project aimig to enhance Governance, Risk and Compliance management system and
refated IT platform

Compliance

Finnair 1s commutted to complying with international and local laws and ethical policies in accord-
ance with the Code of Conduct approved in 2012 The Company's General Counsel 15 responsible

for Finnait’s compltance function, which supports business operations and corporate admirnustra-
tion developing practices related to identifying and complying with the law  The key tasks of Finnaur’s
Comphance function are to ensure comphance with the regulation 1n all operations, maintenance of
Finnair’s comphance program and the continuous development of ethical business culture
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Risk management
and major risks

Risk Management

Finnatr operates in a global and highly competitive environment that 1s sensitive to economic fluctu-
ations In executing its strategy, Finnair and its operations are exposed to a broad range of risks and
opportumties To exploit opportunitees to create value, Finnair 1s prepared to take and manage nisks
within the hmats of its nisk-bearing capacity (rewarded risks) In relation to reliability of reporting,
comphance with laws and regulations, and fhight safety matters, Finnair's objective 15 to muntmise
risks (unrewarded risks} The purpose of nsk management 1s to provide a systemattc approach to the
management of rewarded and unrewarded risks 1 all sections of Finnair's operations

Poficy and framework

In Finnaur risk 1s considered as the potential for loss caused by an internal or external event or series
of events that can adversely affect the implementation of strategy, achievemnent of business objectives
ar shareholder valuze Both negabive events and unrealised positive events are considered as risk

The Group Risk Management Policy defines the overall framework for risk management 1n the whole
of Finnair Group This framework, while taking into account industry specific requirements, 1s
aligned with the commonly accepted COSO ERM framework and the 1SO 31000-2009 standard for
nsk management.

Dedicated Risk Management Principles have been established to support the implementation of
the Group Risk Management Policy m the following contexts Treasury, New Ventures, Programs
and Projects, Supply Chain, Flight Safety, Corporate Secunty and Information Secunty Principles
associated with risk management in the context of financtal reporting are discussed in the Note 55
Management of Financial Rusks to the Financial Statements on page 97

Pollcy implementation responsibilities

‘The Board of Directors holds the ultimate responsibibity for the Enterprise Risk Management
system tn Finnair [t1s responsible for approving the Group Risk Management Policy, setting Finnair
Group s Risk Appetite and overseemng the effectiveness of Risk Management

Finnair Group’s CEQ holds the responsibility over the appropnateness of the Group’s Risk Manage-
ment and oversight of Group Risk Management Policy implementation The CEQ, supported by the
Risk Management Steenng Group consisting of the members of Executive Board, 1s also responsible
for reviewing Group Risk Management Policy and nsk management prionities

Business units, group-wide functions and substdianes of Finnair Group are responsible for imple-
menting Group Risk Management Policy into their management systems and aligning with it their
Risk Management guidelines, procedures and strategies

Process

Establish context and set objectives

Finnair Group’s Risk Management Systemn ensures that management has a process in place to assess
and manage uncertainties associated with set objectives, and those uncertainties are analysed and
managed within the boundaries of Finnair's risk bearing capacity

Risk Assessment

Risk assessments are executed according to the Annual Cycle defined n the Group Risk Management
Policy Finnawr's risk assessment process takes place as an integral part of strategy process and opera-
tional objective-setting across the organisation to enable a holistic view on risks and opportunities

Risk assessment 1n Finnair Group includes the following phases

.

identification of external and internal events affecting the actuevement of objectives,
distinction between risks and opportunities,

analysis of identified risks,

mtegration (aggregation) of risks,

evaluation and priontisation of risks based on therr significance and liketthood

-

.

.

.

To ensure the coverage of nisk identification and systematise the risk assessment activities, Finnair
has established a common risk model, a common risk assessment cntenia and a common risk reposi-
tory As part of strategic nisk assessments, also strategic assumptions associated with company objec-
trves are identified and their implications analysed A dedicated Risk Coordinater Forum has been
established to support coordination of risk assessment activities in business units, group-wide func-
tions and subsidiaries and to ensure these activities conform to the requirements set in Group Risk
Management Policy
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Risk response and control activities
Risk Management strategies shall be applied to prioritised risks in order to reach reasonable assurance
that their outcomes fall withan an acceptable level These Risk Management strategy options include

+ Acceptance of nsk
+ Avoidance of risk
» Transfer of nsk

+ Reduction of nsk

Control Environment

The CEQ, supported by the Risk Management Steering Group, 1s responsible for definmg risk
management strategies and pracedures, and setting risk management prionties Risk owners for
business segments, group-wide functions and at the process level hold the responsibility for planning
and implementing control measures to ensure an acceptable level of residual risk, and that the rele-
vant risk interdependencies have been appropriately acknowledged

Information and communication

Risk management information system aims at providing means for Finnair’s personnel to capture
and communicate mformahon related to execution of risk assessments and control act:vities across
company's operations Identified risks and their control measures are documented in risk logs for
follow-up purposes Dedicated information systems are in place to identify and analyse operational
risk events and support associated operational audit activities Risk management information system
will be subject to further development during the year of 2015

Risk reporting to the Board of Directors and to the Risk Management Steering Group takes place

on quarterly basis under the coordination of Group Internal Audit and Risk Management function
Status of Risk Management development activities and :mplementation of strategic controls are
reported to the Audit Comnuttee of the Board of Directors six times per year In additzon to the per:-
odrcal business risk reporting, there are several reporting lines associated with financial and opera-
tional risk reporting to both internal and external stakeholders

Monltoring and continnous Improvement

Finnair’s sk management system 1s subject to both ongoing and periedical monitoring activities to
gain reasonable assurance over its appropriateness and effectiveness The implemented risk manage-
ment system 1s subject to continuous improvement activities based on PDCA (Plan-Do-Check-Act)
cycle consistent with ISO 31000 2009

On-gomng monitoring 1s built into the normal, recurring operating activities of operatians and 1s the
responsibility of corporate management, business segments and common functions The effective-
ness of all flight safety related control activities and the gencral comphance with efficial regulations
are monitored through a quality system Within the scope of the quality system, the safety-critical
elements of the company are audited annualty

The Audit Commuttee of the Board of Directors 15 responsible for regularly reviewing and monitoring
the implementation of Group Risk Management Policy and the Risk Management process Group
Internal Audit and Risk Management in cooperation with Risk Management specialists 1s responsible
for assessment and development of the maturity of the risk management system In order to ensure
well-coordinated risk management development activities across the erganisation and exchange of
best practices, a dedicated Risk Manager Forum consisting of risk management specialists has been
established The forum has meetings on quarterly basis
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Governance model and reporting lines
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Risk Management information system

Risk Management focts areas in 2014 and 2015

In 2014, development activities focused on formal nisk appetite setting, facitation of risk-based approach to
planning and implementation of new husiness ventures and strategic projects as well as requirement analysis
for an integrated group-wide nsk information management system (GRC platform)

As part of continuous improvement of the Risk Management system, the following activities have been
planned for the year 2015 Implementation of an integrated group-wide risk nformation management
system, further implementation of nisk appetite and risk tolerance into the deciston making processes as well
as risk awareness initsatives across the orgamisation

Major risks

Globally, the arrline industry is one of the sectors most sensitive to external shocks, seasonahties
and cychcal changes in economic conditions Finnair carries out a comprehensive risk management
process, to ensure that risks are identified and mitigated where possible, although many remain
outside our full control

The risks and uncertainties descnibed on the following page are considered to potentially have signif-

1cant effect on Finnair’s business, financial results and future prospects Thas It 15 not intended to be
exhaustive
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Major risks
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Competitors The rrsk of competitors or new estrants to the market talang actions o es- Contiruaus momtorng of competitor actwvities Product development programis)

tablisti sustamable competitve advantage over Fanarr Seenanoe analysis Actre jornt business and alhance cooperation

Contangency planning

The price and avatlability of overfight rights as wel? as the price of traffic Contintrous monitoning of poliical environment +  Active cooperation with key stakeholders

charges suchasarrval departure and navigation chargesresultina ne- {obbying «  Enterprise-wide dependency analysis

gative impact Finnair's business operations and prohit margin

The sk that insuthcient access to capital threatens Finnair's capacity to ER___._W plan Roadshows and one-on one meetings with 5<33; and analysts

mas exequte its busimess model and generate future financial returns Treasury Policy Capita) Markets Day(s)

The rrsk that major econgmic volatility or other large scale economic drstur-
bances slow down travelling.

The risk that sudden changes indemand poliical upheaval, cultural aaaa.

mesemsmelees acbesecedesiady Leakesaleas ceamissecessstassisaimcanatrataatienand

on-going analysis of market trend development
Perdical rsk assessments .
Contingency planning

Continuous monutoring and marked intelligence

Risk dwersification through actwe vendor portfolio management
Structural changes
Fleet ownerstip sirategy

Contingency planning

nagement Lo oplimise its revenues per seat kilometre

Daily momtonng of booking trends ssued sales advance booking reports
Fatlowing up of key variables such as market shares pricing structure and vields of otherre-  *

ment information
Executnve level montoning and performance evaluation

natural dsasters pandemic or other disturbances in destination countries i Group level rk assessments «  Crisis communication planning
show down travelling and/or tunder Finnair's ability conduct business Foregnunit risk assessments +  Networkdnversification
Alllances aod Jolnt The rssk that gther ailiances and/or iat businesses gam competive agvan- |+ Active alliance cooperation + Projert and process management methadalogy implementation
Eusinesses tage over oneworld Finaais point businesses and/or lack of performance Joint business governance model + Jond continuous process improvement actmvaties
and mussing of targets + Dedwated allance and jont busimess teams Internal controis aver joint business processes
Partners and suppliers | The nsk that quality and avarlability rssues and/or unexpected costs asso- u Supoher dversihcation Dedicated procurement specialists per supphier category
tated with partrerships and suppkers have adverse eftect on Fin '+ Supplier relabonship management program Dedicated pariner managers
nai’s product and profit margm or supphers gam barganing power gver . - Supplies rsk assessments Scenano analyss
Finnair ¢ = Contract nsk maragement Contingency planning
Market risk The resk of incurring additional costs due to adverse movements 95.5 nte- " Treasury E_“D. approved by the Board of Directors Continuous monitoning of hedging ratio(s) |
rest rates unsuccessiul currency position and/or rsse of jet fuel price Internal controls over Treasury policy implementation Scenario and sensitivity analysis I
Laws and regulations The rskthat changas m laws regulations or thew witerpretattans sgnificant Compliance management programme to identify changes in external requirements and «+ Awareness through tailored traiming programs
ty affect Finaair's abtity toefficiently conduct business ; afignmternal actaaties to support compliance them + Ensuning abiltty and resources to execute controls
1+ Dedicated internal policies
e Y =1 ¥ e > e “
_W IMTERNAL ot Ty o e b ¢
Strategy . The sk that the mplementaton of Finnair's strategic grograms and pro- Formal project management methodology implemented n all strategic projects iIncluding Steering group in place with senior management involvement
tmplementation 3 jects fail, resk entdfication assessment and mitigation planning
m Program management office (PMQ) project owner praect managar and experienced proje-
: ct teams are in place to oversee delivery and track progress of all projects
Raman capital 1 The rigk that r:B_a not able to execute Its Strategy due to tnadequate Strategic competency management Internal communication management
m quality, commitment or resourcing of human capetal. «  Contmuous :margvement of HR processes Ueon relations management
H - {hange management program Contingency planning
' - Employee wellbeng strategy Active and open commumnication with key stakeholders
Capadity planning ! Thenskthat msufficient capacity threatens Finnaw s abibty tomeet  arste- ¢ - Network strategy Deviation analysis
i mer demands or exoess capacity threatens Finaars abifityto  generate Demand forecasting Continuous kmprovement
1+ competitsve profit marging aaim performance monitoring
Operational ¢ The risk that Finnair 15 unabie to continue critecal operations and processes Business impaci analysts - Suppher portfolio dversification
disruptiens m due to unavailability of resources such as mformation and supporting mfor- Disruption risk and vulneratibly assessments Third party requirements
+ mabon technologres + Business continuity planning and testing « Third party audits
i {T disaster recovery planning and fesfing
Revenpe management m The risk that Finnair 15 not capable of pertorming competitive revenue ma- Revenue optmisation process »  Coritrol measures fo ensure bimeliness and integrity of revenue manage- i

.
.
.
®
.
H
.
'

levant amimes as well as route profitabdity

FINNAIR ANNUAL REPORT 2034 140



Remuneration
Statement 2014

CONTENTS
introduction 141
Total compensation at Finnair 141
Vanable pay 142
Short-term Incentives 142
Long-term Incentives 143
Management remuneration decisien-making procedure 145
Remuneration of the Board of Directors in 2014 145
Management remuneration in 2014 146
Supplementary pensions 146
Termination of the service contract and severance pay 146
Other benefits 146

introduction

This remuneration statement describes Finnair's remuneration policies and the remuneration of the
senuor management, 1€ the Board of Durectors, the CEQ and the members of the Executive Board

m 2014 Further information 15 also available on the company website at www finnatrgroup com We
have prepared this remuneration statement based on Recommendation 47 of the Finmsh Corporate
Governance Code for Listed Compantes published by the Finnish Securitrtes Market Association, and
it also covers other key components of remuneration that we believe the readers are mterested m.

Yotal compensation at Finnalr

Finnair's aim 1s to recruit, motvate and develop employees to allow them to successfully implement
the company’s strategy A motivating, fair, competitive and transparent remuneration structure has
a significant effect on the company’s ability to achieve this aim Remuneration must also be compet-
stive in terms of its costs From the perspective of the competitrve situation in the aviation industry
and the implementation of Finnair's strategy, it 1s essential that the labour costs for all personnel
groups are i hine with the market level

Remuneration and incentive structures take inte consideration the effectiveness and costs of different
forms of remuneration Finnair’s remuneration policies are comphant with local legistation, regula-
tions and practices The overall remuncration of Finnair’s different personnel groups are compared
annually to the local pay levels in similar tasks 1n every country in which the company operates

The salary and other incentive structures apphcable to the CFO, the members of the Executive
Board, senior salaried employees, engineers and personnel based in units abroad are as follows

L Fixed pay base salary
IT Variable pay short and long-term incentives linked to company and individual performance
I11. Employee benefits perquisites and other personnel benefits

Salaries, addendums and other compensation components of personnel groups other than those
mentioned above are, for the most part, defined 1n their respective Finnush collective agreements
Outside Fanland, Finnair follows the pay practices and collective agreements of each country of oper-
ation Collective labour agreements are available on the company website at www finnairgroup cotmn

Employment benefits for all personnel include a staff ticket benefit in line with company policy, as
well as a Sickness Fund for employees based tn Finland Certain personnel groups also have a car
benefit and mobile phone benefit 1n Iine with company policy

Finnair aims to make work rewarding and interesting through not only monetary incentives, but also
by offering opportunities for development and job rotatron within the company Finnair system-
atically develops the competencies of employees and aums to create opportumties for promotions
according to employees’ development Employees are sabisfied at Finnarr, as evidenced by a high
average duration of employment and a very low employee turnover The averapge service years of all
employees was 17 4 at year-end 2014
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Computational monthly earnings of Finnalr's major Finnish personnel groups in 2014*

*  Computatonal monthly earnings Taxable gross earmings divided by 12 moanths The calculations only mchude employees who earned pay
for the full year Temporary cabin crew tayoffs have heen eliminated from the caloutations The calculatsons do not mclude tax exempt be
nefits or other untaxed forms of compensation, such as daily allowances The data does not incluge pilots in supervisor roles Long-term
meentrves are not mcluded.

** The median pay describes the average satary of eachgroup or the point where half of the employees in the group earn more than the
amount, and haft earn less.

Average years of service in Finnalr's major Finnish personnel groups on 31 Dec 2014

Variable pay
is linked to
company and

individual
performance.

Compensation is based on joh grading
Finnair uses Job grading as the basis for determining the compensation of the CEQ, members of the
Executive Board, sentor salaried employees, engineers and personnel based 1n umits abroad

Job grading 1s based on the significance of the job and responsibility within the organisation, rather
than lierarchical reporting relationshups Job grading 1s tied to the yob If a person changes from one
Job to anather, hus or her job grade may change Job grading enables uniformuty in compensation
related decisions both internally and compared to the market

Variable pay

Varable pay 15 linked to company and indwvidual performance The aim of vaniable pay in the form of
short and long-term mcentives s to achieve a flexible and incentivising pay structure that s hinked to
the company's success and the individual’s own performance In addition, long-term incentives are
armed at commutting personnel and management to the company and to bring their interests in line
with the interests of shareholders Performance targets are set by Finnai’s Board of Directors

Short-term Incentives

Short-term incentive scheme

Finnair utilises performance-driven short-term icentives throughout its management  The incentive
scheme 15 comprised of a process of target setting, performance evaluation and performance review
At the target level, the short-term vaniable pay ranges from 2 5-30 per cent of base salary, depending
on the job grade If an individual exceeds hus ar her targets substantially, the variable pay may, at a
maximum, reach 5—60 per cent of the annual base salary The short-term incentive scheme 15 based
on the company’s six-month budgeting period and the variable pay 15 paid semi-annuaily The van-
able pay 15 calculated based on the individual’s base salary for the period i question

The short-term incentives for the CEQ and other members of the Executive Board are determined an
the basis of the half-year targets set by the Board of Directors The targets are based an the company's
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business targets set by the Board of Directors for the period in question and on the targets set for
the business area for which the indmaidual 1n question 1s responsible The targets are mainly based on
financial measures but also on operatve and quality KPls such as customer and employee sabisfac-
tion

In 2014, the short-term incentive for members of the Executive Board corresponded to 20 per cent of
the base salary at the target level and 40 per cent of the base salary at the masamum level The corre-
sponding figures for the CEO were 30 per cent at the target level and 60 per cent at the maximum
level,

According to the government guidelines issued by the Finmsh Cabinet Committee on Economic
Policy on 13 August 2012, the short-terim mcentive for an individual may not exceed 60 per cent of
the annual base salary in any given year

Personnel Fund

Finnair has a Personnel Fund that 1s owned and controlled by personnel A share of Finnair's profits
15 atlocated to the fund The share of profit allocated to the fund 1s determined on the basis of the
targets sct by the Board of Directors The CEQ, other members of the Executive Board and the
participants of the performance share plan are not members of the Personnel Fund In 2014, the
targets of the personnel fund were not reached

Long-term Incentives

Personne] share savings plan FlyShare

On 27 March 2013, Finnair’s Board of Directors decided to launch FlyShare, an employee share
savings plan The objective of the plan 15 to encourage employees to become shareholders in the
company, and to thereby strengthen the employees” interest in the development of Finnair's share-
holder value and reward them in the long-term

‘The plan consists of annually starting savings periods which are followed by a two-year sharcholding
penod Ofall employees invited to participate, approxmmately 20 per cent participated in the first
savings period, which commenced on 1 July 2013 The second savings period commenced on 1 July
2014 and about 700 employees, or 15 per cent of those invited, enrolled for this pertod Every new
savings penod is decided separately by the Finnar Board

Participation tn the plan is voluntary ‘Through the ptan, each ehgible Finnair employee 15 offered the
opportunity to save part of hus or her salary to be mvested in Finnair shares The maximum monthly
savings are 8 per cent and the mumimum 2 per cent of each participant’s gross base salary per month,
with the annual maximum savings set at 8,000 euros per participant. Shares are purchased with the
accumulated savings at the market price quarterly, after the pubhication dates of Finnair’s intenim
results Any dividends paid on purchased shares during the savings period will be automatically
reinvested i Finnair shares on the purchase date following the payment of dividend.

After the two-year shareholding period, Finnair will award each participating employec one
matching share for each two shares purchased The awarded additional shares are taxable income
for the recipient The matching shares for the first FlyShare savings period 2013-2014 wall be deliv-
ered in February 2016 and the matching shares for the second savings pertod 2014-2015 in February
2017 in addition, employees participating in the plan for the first time are rewarded with 20 bonus
shares after the first three months

Performance-based long-term incentive plan for key personnel

Finnair’s Board of Directors approved on 7 February 2013 a new performance share plan for the key
personnel of the Finnair Group The share plan replaced the previous program which expired at the
end of 2012 The purpose of the share plan 1s to encourage the management to work to increase long-
term shareholder value The share plan 15 in line with the government guidelines regarding the remu-
neration of executive management and key individuals

The share plan consists of annually commencing individual plans within which the participants have
the opportunsty to earn Finnair shares as a long-term incentive reward, if the performance targets set
by the Board of Directors are achueved The commencement of each new plan 1s subject to a separate
approval of Finnair Board of Directors

Each plan contains a three-year performance period which 1s followed by a restriction period, during
whach the participant may not sell or transfer the shares receved as a reward The restriction period
15 three years for the members of Finnair's Executive Board and one year for other participants In
addition, the CEQ and members of Finnair's Executive Board are required to accumulate and once
achieved, to mawntain a share ownership in Finnair corresponding to hus or her annual basc salary as
long as he or she holds a positian as a member of Finnair’s Executive Board

The potential reward will be delivered tn Finnair shares For members of the Executive Board, the share
delivery 1s spht into three share tranches that will be delivered to during the three years following the
performance period (50 per cent, 30 per cent and 20 per cent) For other participants, the shares wall be
delivered in two tranches, 50 per cent each, during the two years following the performance period

As a consequence of the transfer from the previous fixed three-year structure to a rolling structure,
the new plan will notbe in full effect until 2018 Because of this, a one-off bridge element has been
added to the plan to supplement payments 1n 2016 and 2017, if a separate performance target 15
reached No shares will be delivered under the long-term incentive plan in 2014 and 2015

If the performance criteria set for the plan are met at the target level, the incentive paid in Finnair
shares to the CEO or other member of the Executive Board participating in the plan will be

30 per cent of lus or her annual base salary If the performance criteria set for the plan are met at the
maximum level, the incentive paid 1n Finnair shares will be 60 per cent of the participant’s annuat
base salary For other key personnel, the target level for incentives 15 20-25 per cent and maximum
40-50 per cent of the person’s average annual base salary according to the job grade
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According to the rules of the share program, the maximum value of shares delivered to an individual
participant based on the share program 1n any given year may not exceed 60 per cent of the person’s
annual base salary

The amounts of shares above are stated before tax The number of shares delivered will be deducted
by an amount corresponding to the income tax and transfer tax payable for the incentive at the time
of payment.

A person 1s not entitled to the incentive if he or she resigns or 1s dismissed before the date of
payment Inaddition, during the restriction period the Board of Directors 1s entitled, at its discretion,
to reclaim already delivered shares from a person included in the share plan who resigns or whose
service i the company ts termunated

The Board of Directors 1s also entitled, subject to a particularly weighty reason, to change or cancel
the incentive or to postpone its payment The Board of Threctors i1s entitfed to remove a participant
from the share plan if the person has committed a significant offence or acted in a manner detn-
mental to the company or contrary to the company's interests

20132015 share plan

Finnair's Board of Directors approved the 2013-2015 share plan on 7 February 2013 The general
terms of the performance share plan described above apply to thus plan On 31 December 2014, the
number of employees ehigible to participate wn this plan was approximately 40

The performance critena apphied to the plan for 2013-2015 are the Group's relative operating EBIT
margin growth and decrease i unit costs in European trafhc These two criteria are assigned weights
of 60 per cent and 40 per cent, respectively The performance criterion for the share plan's bridge
element is the operating EBIT margin

The target levels and maximum levels set for the criteria are based on long-term strategic objectives
set by the company's Board of Directors Performance against the critena 1s monstored quarterty

20142016 share plan

Finnair's Board of Directors approved 2014-2016 share plan on 10 February 2014 The general terms
of the performance share plan described above apply to this plan. On 31 December 2014, the number
of employees eligible to participate wn this plan was approximately 50

The performance critena applied to the plan for 2014-2016 are Return on Capital Employed (ROCE)
and Total Shareholder Return (TSR) These criterta are weighted equally (50 per cent and 50 per cent)

‘The target levels and maximum levels set for the critenia arc based on long-term strategic objectives
set by the company’s Board of Directors Performance against the criteria 1s monitored quarterly

2015-2017 share plan

Finnair Board of Directors approved 2015-2017 share plan on 16 December 2014 The general terms
of the performance share plan described abave apply to this plan The number of employees ehgible
to participate in thus plan 15 approximately 60 persons

The performance critena applied to the plan for 2015-2017 are Return on Capital Employed (ROCE)
and Total Shareholder Return (TSR} These two criteria are assigned weights of 50% and 50%

The target levels and maximum levels set for the critenia are based on long-term strategic objectives
set by the company’s Board of Directors Performance against the criteria 1s momitored quarterly

Long-term Incentive plan for pilots

Finnair's Board of Directors approved on 13 October 2014 a new long-term incentive plan for Finnair
pilots The plan 15 a part of the savings agreement between Finnair and the Finnish Air Line Pilots’
Association (SLL) that brmgs Finnair 17 milhon enros in permanent annual savings The savings
agreement was contingent on the reahzation of the incentive plan

The plan period 1s 2015-2018 and the prerequisite for rewarding palots based on this plan is the
matenalization of the agreed cost savings over this ime period In addition, the company share price
must be at least 4 euros at the end of the incentive plan If these conditions are met, the pilots are
entitled to a cash payment The amount of the payment s based on the Finnair share price The total
payment 1s 12 nulhion euros with a share price of 4 euros and 23 million euros with a share price of

8 euros, which 15 also the maximum earning of the plan Divided over the four-year penod, the
annual earnings potential for one participant 1s equivalent to 5-10 per cent of the annual base salary

There are approximately 700 pilots eligible to participate in the plan The cash payment will be
delrvered in spring 2019, provided that the conditions menttoned above are met
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Management remmneration dedision-making procedure

‘The Board of Directors’ remuneration. The Shareholders’ Nomination Board prepares annually
its proposal for the remuncration of the members of the Board of Directors The Annual General
Meeting of shareholders makes the final decision on the Board’s remuneration

The remuneration of the CEQ and the Executive Board The Board decides on the salary, mcen-
tive schemes and associated targets of the CEO and other members of the Executive Board based on
preparatory work carried out by the Board's Compensation and Nomination Committee Decisions
on remuneration have been made with consideration of the government guidelines

Remuneration decksion-making procedure

w
The Sharehokier’s Nomination Board
\.
h Prepares proposal on Board's remyneration.
-
Annnal General Meeting
.
AP Decides on the Board's remuneration
4 N * - -
R~ 5 ,....m_,..!eﬁwwﬁ.hrh 5 . < e R vy.a%nq-z
| BosfdefDledtors: - 0 T iy
Wy, e e P R - v .wli‘...&aﬁ
L . ! T a4
« Decides on the CEO's and Executve Board members
remuneration. Prepares
* Decwdes on the incentives, performance-related variable remuneration
pays and share-based incentrve schemes pertaining to related matters
the company as a whole, and proposals
- Sets company level targets of the short-term incentive for the Board.
scheme

Remuneration of the Board of Directors in 2014

The Annual General Meeting (AGM) deaides annually on the remuneration and other financial benefits of the
members of the Board of Directors and its commuttees The dection and remuneration of the members of the
Board are prepared by the Nommation Board formed by the representatives of the company’s largest share-
holders The resmumeration of the Board of Directors and its commuttees 1s patd m cash.

The members of the Board of Directors are not covered by the company’s share incentive scheme or
other mcentive schemes The annual remuneration and meeting compensation dectded by the 2014
AGM for the members of the Board of Directors are

« Chairman’s annual remuneration, 61,200 euros

+ Deputy Charrman'’s annual remuneration, 32,400 euros

+ Other Board members’ annual remuneration, 30,000 euros

+ Meeting compensation paid to members residing m Finland, 600 euros per Board or commuttee
meeting

+ Meeting compensation paid to members residing abroad, 2,400 euros per Board or commuttee meeting

Remuneration paid to Board of Directors in 2014

m | Meating | m
H H Meeting | compensa- ; :
Boand , Committee! compen- : tions .  Tazable
meetings :  meetings ! sation | tototal |  benefits™ ; Total
i e i A B e
120000 | 10,800 00 000} 72,00000
146572 4346572
946619, 4726619
353839 40,13839
636126 60,361 26
Wm.u.- .W..Fv_ﬁ. i nNﬂ._r e e ._
faama i 22,500 00 000 2730000
Toominen ' H
wigelTarmer } 22,500 00 2,40000 | 26,40000: 139540 50,295 40
[lkigacs Joiy - by
mlnl:_wrm.ﬁ-ﬁhﬁt b
seorfa ' 750000} 22 /11 60000, 180000, 000 930000
e oo e : :
Autth i 750000} 0/2} 2! * g1o000
Keosmanen : : : H

Remunerations pard to the Board in 2014
* The remuneration is expressed at the annual level but pard s monthly instalments

** Taxable benfs include Finnaw staff bckets The members of the Board and their spouses have a nght 1o use staff tickats i dccordance with Fin
nair's staff bicket ride

The members of the Board of Directors are entitled to a daily allowance and compensation for travel
expenses in accordance with Finnair's general travel rules In addition, the members of the Board of
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Directors have a limited night to use staff tickets in accordance with Finnair's staff ticket rules Under
the current rules, the Directors and their spouses are entitled to 4 return or 8 one-way tickets on
Finnair flights per calendar year tn Economy or Business Class The farc of these tickets 1s zero, exclu-
swve of any airport taxes, fees and charges, which are payable by the Directors and their spouses

These tickets constitute taxable income 1n Finland

Finnair’s remuneration for members of the Board of Directors has remained unchanged since 2008

Management remuneration in 2014

In 2014, Finnair's CEQ was Pekka Vauramo The Executive Board compnised seven members 1n addi-
tien to the CEQ SVP HR Manne Tiensuu and Chief Commercial Officer Allister Paterson resigned
from the Executive Board during 2014 New SVP HR Eya Hakakar started on 1 October 2014 and
new Chief Commercial Officer Juha Jarvinen on 1 November 2014 In addition, on 31 December
2014 SVP Resource Management Gregory Kaldahl left Finnair The Executive Board's salary and
other temuneration paid in 2014 1s presented on page 8

In 2014, no long-term incentives wete paid to management Executive Board short-time incentives
dccreasced from 2013 substantially duc to financial performance of the company

The long-term mcentives paid to management and other key individuals in spring 2013 were based
on the three-year share-based bonus scheme that started 1n 2010 and ended 1n 2012 The scheme s
descnbed 1n more detail in the remuneration statements for 2011 and 2012 as well as in the Finan-
cial Reports for 2010, 2011 and 2012, under Note 26, Share based payments The Board of Directors
approved the scheme on 4 February 2010, and its terms took into account the government guidehnes
regarding the remuneration of executive management and key individuals valid at the time The long-
term incentve payout for the three-year period was 43 per cent of the maximum level The shares
pard tn spring 2013 are subject to a restriction on their sale until the end of 2015 In addition, the
shares for which incentive based on the purchase of shares were pard in 2011 and 2013 were subject
to an embazrgo on their sale until the end of 2013

Supplementary penslons

The CEO
The CEQ, Pekka Vauramo, accumulates penston and his retirement age 15 defined 1n accordance with
the Finmsh Employees’ Pensions Act The CEQ does not have a supplementary pension benefit

Executive Board

The members of the Executive Board accumalate penston in accordance with the Finnish Employees’
Pensions Act. In additron, the company has a supplementary penston scheme that includes some of
the members of the Executrve Board

All pensien arrangements for members of the Executive Board are collectrve within the meaning
of Finnush tax laws All supplementary pensions taken for the executives are defined contribution

schemes The supplementary defined contribution pension arrangement appltes to four members of
the Executive Board The annual contribution equals 10 per cent of the sncome for the year {(income
being defined in accordance with the Finnash Employees’ Pensions Act) The supplementary pension
mcludes vested rights The retirement age 15 63 years There are no Executive Board members with
defined benefit supplementary agreements

New CEO and Executive Board member service contracts concluded after | January 2013 will not
mclude supplementary pension benefits

Termination of the service contract and severance pay

The CEO

According to Pekka Vauramao’s service contract, both the CEQ and the company have the rght to
terminate the service contract without a specific cause The notice period ts <ix months for both the
company and the CEO In the event that the company terminates the service contract, the CEQ s
entitled to a severance pay corresponding to total salary for twelve months (base salary + taxable
value of benefits) in addition to the salary for the notice pertod The severance pay does not apply if
the CEO resigns or retires

Executive board

According to service agreements, both parties have the right to termrnate the service contract
without a specific cause The maximum notice period 1s s1x months for both parttes In the event that
the company terminates the agreement, the member of the Executive Board 1s entitled to a sever-
ance pay corresponding to the base salary of maximum of twelve months in addition to the salary for
the notice period This severance pay does not apply if the contract of employment 15 cancelled, if the
executive terminates the contract or retires

Other henefits

The CEO

CEQ Pekka Vauramo's benefits include hife nsurance, free-time accident insurance, travel insurance,
management habihity tnsurance and medical tnsurance The hfe insurance coverage starts at 20 per cent
of annual pay and mcreases each year The total sum may not, however, exceed EUR 500,000 The
CEQ also has a mobile phone benefit in line with company policy

Executive board

The benefits of the members of the Exccutive Board include free-time acadent msurance, travel
msurance, management hability insurance and medical insurance They also have a car benefit and
mobile phone benefit en line with company policy

Management remuneration, the company’s long-term incentive plan and pension contributtons are
also described in Finnair Financial Statements 2014 n note 3 8 Employee benefits
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Employee benefits are described on page 7

Phone benefit,
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Housing benefit,
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1} salary and remuneratron of Actig CEG Ville Iho for 2013 not incuded Salary and remuneration inchuded for Executrve Board membership period only

Zhvifte tho s satary and other remunerabion for the full year 2013

3} Base salary includes holiday bonus.

A Earnings perod for inceatives paid r 2013 was 1 Jul 2012~ 30 Jun 2013 and for ncentves pard in 2014 1 Jul 201330 jun 2014

Skshort-term inceniives compared 1o base salaries.,

1 The value determined by the share price (EUR 2 §337) at the time of payment.

T Earaungs pertod for purchasing incentives 15 the previous year
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Klaus Heinemann

b 1951, Diplom Kaufmann, German ciizen.
Chatrman of the Finnair Board of Directors
since 27 March 2013 Member of the Board
smee 202

Commttee memberships. -

Main occupahon. Board professional

Key positrons of trust Member of the Ad-
wisory Board of Skyworks Holdings LLC
non-executive Board Director of Algeco Scot-
sman Holdings, Advisory Board Dhrector of
Avinomics GmbH.

Harri Kerminen

b 1951, M Sc. (Eng.), MBA, Finnsh citizen
Vice Chauman of the Finnair Board of Direc-
tors since 2012, member since 2011
Committee memberships Audit Com-
mittee and Compensation and Nor

Board of Directors 31 December 2014

Jussi Itdvuori

b 1955, M 5S¢ (Econ) Finnush Cruzen.
Member of the Finnair Board of Directors
since 2012,

Commuittee memberships Compensation
and Normination Commuttee (Chairman)
Man occupation, Senior Partner, RJT Par-
tners Limited.

Key posittons of ttust -

Gunver Kronman

b 1963, MA, Finmush citizen

Member of the Finnair Board ¢f Directors
since 2012

Commuttee membershups Compensation
and Nomunation Commiuttee

Main occup CEO of H 1 - the
Swedish-Finrush Cultural Centre

Key posthons of trust. Chawrman of the Bo-

Commuttee.

Man occupatron. Board professional
Key positions of trust. Chamrman of the Bo-
ard of Metgen Oy, HST Partners Oy and Ma-
geort Oy, Member of the Board of Tikkunla
Oy}, Normet Oy and Harjavalta Oy

Malja-Liisa Friman

b 1952, M.5¢. (Chen. Eng.), Finmish citizen.
Member of the Finnair Board of Directors
stvoe 2012

Commuttee memberships Audit Commut-
tee {Charrman)

Main occupation. Board professional.

Key posttsons of trust: Vice Chairman of the
Board of Neste (hl Oy), member of the Boards
of Talvivaara Plc, LKAB, the Finnish Securi-
ties Market Association and Boardman Oy
Chairrnan of the Board of Ekokem Oy and
Helsinki Deaconess Institute

ard of Kalevala Jewelry, Plan Finland and Vice
Chairman of the Baard of Cnisis Management
Initaatrve and The Finnish Development Po-
hey Commuttee Member of the Boards of
The Finmash Red Cross Blood Service, Hel-
sinki Unrversity, Konstsamfundet, Plan In-
ternatonal The Finnish Unesco Commuttee,
The Swedish Royal Natienal Theater Drama-
ten (Sweden), Rand Corporations (US/UK)
and Augusta Victoria Hospital (Palestine)

Jaana Tuominen

b 1960, M Sc. (Eng ), Finnuish citizen
Member of the Finnair Board of Directors
since 2014

Committee memberships Compensation
and Nominatton Commuttee

Main eccupation CEQ of Pauhg Group
since 2008

Key positions of trust Member of the Bo-
ard of Directors of Sueminen Oy), Suomen
Messut Osuuskunta, and Elntarviketeolh-
suuslutto ry

Past key positions of trust Rautaruuk-
ki Oyy, member of the Boatd of Directors
(2010-2014)

Nigel Turner

b 1958, BA (Hon ), Bntish Citizen

Member of the Finnar Board of Directors
since 2014

Commuttee memberships Audit Com-
mittee

Main occapation -

Key posttions of trust. Mr Turreris the De
puty Charrman of the Board of Directors and
the Chairman of the Audit Committee of arc-
raft leasing company letscape Inc

The Board of Directors was elecied in the
Annual General Meeting held on 27 March
2014 Wore detailed intormation about the
board members and their ownership of
Finnair shares can be found at

www finnairgroup.com
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Gregory Kaldahl until 31 Dec 2014

Pekka Vauramo

b 1957 M Sc.(Mining) Presidentand CEO
as of 1 June 2013 He joined Finnair from
Cargotec, a Finnish cargo and load hand-
ling company, where he held different ma-
nagement positions between 2007 and 2013
Before hus transfer to Finnair, ke was based
m Hong Kong from 2010 as COQ of the
MacGregor Business Area Between 1985
and 2007 he worked at Sandwik, a Swedish
mining and construction company

Eija Hakakari

b 1961, M Sc¢ {Education), SVP Human
Resources as of 1 of October 2014 Befo-
re joiming Finnair, she was SVP Human
Resources at Stora Enso’s Printing and [ 1-
ving dvision Her previous positions inclu-
de SVP Human Resources at Rautaruukk
and vartous HR direcior positions in both
China and Finland

Erne Hlldén

b 1971, MSc (Econ.) CFO, in Finnatr's ser-
vice since 1997 His previous posts include
VP for Finnair Leisure Flights business unit
and varous business development posts in
Finnair corporate management. Prior to hus
present position he was Finnair Plc’s COO

Ville tho

b 1969, M 5S¢ (Technology), COO, n Fin-
nau s service stnoe 1998 He previously held
various posts in Finnair Plcs Scheduled
Traffic Priar to lus present posiuon he was
Finnair Pic’s SVP Resources Management.

Juha Jarvinen

b 1976, MBA, Chief Commercial Officer as
of 1 Novernber 2014 In Finnair service since
2012 He has extensive experience 1n ma-
naging different services within the airdine
ndustry He served as Managing Director of
Finnair Cargo since March 2012, and prior
to that he was the Vice President, Ground
Handling International in SAS Scandina-
vian Airhines

Gregory Kaldah)

b 1957, B Sc (Education), SVP Rescur-
ces Management, in Finnair s service sin-
<e 2011 He has previously worked for se-
veral airhines His latest position was VP,
Resource Planning for United Arrlines His
four year term at Finnair ended on 31 De-
cember 2014

Sami Sarelius
b 197:, [1 M SVP and General Counsel,
m Finnair's service since 1938

ArjasSuvominen

b 1958, MA, e-MBA, SV Corporate Com-
munications and Corporate Responsibility,
in Finnair s service March 2011 She pre-
viously worked for Nokia, mainly m com-
munxcations positions, ultumately as Nokias
Semor Vice President, Communications

Mare detailed wmformation about the
members of the Executive Board and thew
ownership of Finaarr shares can be found at

www finnairgroup.com
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Social indicators

HR?7

Operations identified as having significant risk for incidents of
forced or compuisory tabour, and measures taken to contribute to
the elimination of forced or compulsory [abour

Finnair does not approve of the use of forced labour 1n any part of its
value chain With respect to the aviation industry, the company has not
identified any risk for incidents of forced labour This 15 a consequence
both of the general nature of the industry and the strict official regulation
and supervision of the industry

Nevertheless, the aviation industry and Finnair's operations do interact
with global sectors in which the use of forced labour cannot be excluded,
the textile industry for example Finnair’s uniforms and workwear are
acquired from suppliers that have addressed ethical issues in their own
operations

The risks for forced labour and measures taken to eliminate those are
part of the overall supply chain evaluation and control Finnair suppher
code of conduct includes also requirements for respecting human and
labour rights

505

Public policy positions and participation in public policy
development and lobbying

Finnair monitors the poliical operating environment of the aviation
mdustry and openly participates in discussion on industry regulation
The objectives of Finnasr’s advocacy work are to anticipate regulation
that applies to the company, as well as to influence such regulations m a
fair and transparent manner In order to optimally allocate our resources,
our advocacy work 1s focused on promoting our most important goals at
the national and international levels

Finnair's key societal stakeholders are muinistries of transportation and
cvil avation authorities Finnair representatives participate in legislative
and industry-related hearings in the Finmish Parlilament and n govern-
ment ministries and also otherwise meet with policymakers to discuss
regulation that affects its business Finnair's most important advocacy
targets are regulattons that have an impact on traffic rights, cost factors
and international trade relationships

Restricted air traffic nghts are defined by air transport agreements
between countries or groups of countries As Finnair aims to provide
its customers with the most direct and comprehensive routes between
Europe and key Asian destinations, the company cooperates with the
authorities to secure rights to scheduled flights 1n Southeast Asia and
overflight nghts 1n Russia

Finnair's advocacy work related to cost factors 1s primarily focused on
labour market policy, consumer law and environmental pohcy EU emus-
sions trading, which started 1n 2012, extends to air trafhic and 1s a signif-
tcant issue for Finnair, which operates in and from the EU area Finnair
engages in advocacy work to achieve a global emissions trading agree-
ment for air transport instead of regional systems, that would treat
arlines equally and support other emissions reduction targets of the
industry

Finnair cooperates with various associations and chambers of commerce
1n the majonty of its advocacy work pertaining to regulations on cvit
aviation and economic activity Finnair 1s actively involved not only in
international aviation industry organusations such as AEA and IATA, but
also the Confederation of Finnish Industries, its industry organisations
and several chambers of commerce 1n key operating countries

Finnair
supplier code
of conduct
includes
requirements
for respecting
human and
labour rights.
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Reporting principles

Finnair began reporting on its environmental impact m 1997 and in 2008
was one of the first airlines in the world to communicate 1ts corporate
responssbility 1ssues by applying the Global Reporting Initrative {GRI)
reporting framework

Also this annual report has been compiled in accordance with the GRI's
G3 Guidelines In addition to the parent company, the report covers
subsidiaries and business umts that support fight operations i Finland
as well as the group’s subsidiaries that provide and sell travel services in
Finland

The Finnair Group does not report on the operations of foreign subsidia-
nres, because as minor operators they are deemed not to be of key signi-

! induded
Operating segment  Business unit/sabsidlary - inreport , Justification
furfine business Arrlng Buswnass ' Yes !
Finnair Cargo Oy , Yes .
Finnair Asrcraft Finance Oy and FAF " Yes
subsidanes .
Finnaw Technical Services Oy ' Yes X
Finnaw Engne Services Oy } Yes '
LSG Sky Chefs Finland Yes ,
(refated to matenal fiows)
Travel services Oy Aurinkomatkat - Suntours Lid Ab " Yes
. Finland Travel Bureau Ltd (FTB) | Yes
A/fS Estravel Ltd i No " Fareign
. subsidiary of
A subsidiary
' « {travel agency)
Amadeus Finland Oy Yes
Other functions ' Group Adminsstratien ! Yes
loint fenctions ‘ Yes '
FT5 Financial $ervices Oy Yes .
" Finnasr Flight Academy Oy : Yes :

+ . :
.

.
.

ficance wn terms of the group’s corporate responsibility issues Possible
exceptions to thus are mentioned separately in connection with each key
figure The Finnair Group, moreover, does not report on outsourced
operations

Finnair mantenance organisation consists of two indepent compa-

nies Finnair Technical Services Oy and Finnair Engine Services Oy This
approach 1s justified by the fact that the operations of both techncal
services subsidiaries are the repair and maintenance of aircraft and their
components, and for this reason their corporate responsibihty aspects
are convergent at the group level

Information sources, measurement and calculation methods
The information of the report has been collected from the group’s
internal statistics systems and also from various subcontractors In terms
of measurement and calculation methods, the GR1 G3 calculation guide-
lines have been adhered to whenever the available data have so allowed

If some other measurement or calculation method has been used, this 15
mentioned 1n connection with the key figure concerned ‘The figures have
been presented in time seres when this has been appropriate and rehably
posstble

Figures on economic responsibility are mamly derived from the financial
statements Other information with respect to economic responsibility 1s
denived from the group’s various operators

Finnair's largest single matersal cost item 15 jet fuel In this report, jet fuel
1s treated, however, as energy, because 1n terms of its purpose and enwi-
ronmental effects 1t 15 sensible to understand jet fuel as stored energy
Fuels are also reported on the basis of their mass and volumes

In terms of flying, emissions values and fuel consumption figures are
derved from the company’s own monitoring systems and based on
actual consumption Because Finnair has prepared for the EU enussions
trading system, the enussions calculations are also vertfied by an external

party
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In relation to matenial streams, amounts of waste, and energy consump-
tion of properties, data have been obtamed from service providers,
goods supphers and on the basis of invoices pard. With respect to Finnair
Techncal Services, environmental data are also obtained from monito-
ring and measuring systems required by their emvironmental permuts

In terms of Technical Services” use of materials, only chemucals are
reparted, because the statistical practice of raw materials and spare parts
does not allow a comparable way of presentation. Finnair Technical
Services 1s not, however, a sigmificant user of raw matenials, and its man
environmental aspects relate to storage and use of chemicals Meal
services for Finnair flights from Helsink: are supplied by Finnair’s partner
L.SG Sky Chefs Finland As one of Finland's largest kitchens, it consumes
a substanttal amount of matenals and also represents a considerable
proportion of the material consumption in Finnair's supply chain.

Information on personnel comes from Finnair’s HR information system
and from parties responsible for the wellbeing of employees Acci-

dent statistics are obtained from the insurance company and they are
updated retroactively, as a result of which the 2014 figures may be subject
to further adjustment Information relating to human rights and local
communities are derved from procurement agreements, from personnel
responsible for procurement, subcontractors and, n terms of the impact
of tourtsm, mainly from Aunnkomatkat-Suntours, which as a tour
operator occupies a key position 1n this respect Operational conform

ty with laws and regulations has been confirmed with the group’s Legal
ARaurs department Customer satnfaction data, on the other hand, are
based on customer satisfaction surveys and on feedback received by the

group

Effect of any re-statements of information provided in
earfier reports

There has been no changes in the methods of data collection and calcula-
tion used despite the change in report format. Information on changes in
mdvidual KPFs 15 provided under the section on the indicator in ques-
tion

Changes pertaining to the group's orgamisational structure and the calcu-
lation of the financial statement data are descrnibed 1n more detarl 1in
Financial section of this report.

Reporting priorities
In 2013, Finnair disconttnued publication of separate CR-report and
Financial report. All the data can be found 1n one report

The report highlights and discusses the matenal issues to Finnarr's opera-
trons More information about the matenality assessment process can be
found in page 14-15
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GRI matrix

GRI1 guidefines -Finnatr Group Report

GRI sndicator Indoded Page/contents shorteomings/anomalies/justifications Global Compact

Strategy and Analysrs
"1 Stalement by the CEQ Yes 3-4 - - - T - )
12 Descriplion of key impacls nisks and -opporlinities Yes 7-12 14-16 23 29-35 47-48 6971 122-126 137-140 -/ - 00

2 Orgamsational Profile

2 1 Name of the oﬂM:ﬁHlEm Yes Finnayr Pic
2 2 Pmary brands, services and/or brands Yes 5 18-22 35 63-64 TTcrrtrtr,rtt, e Tt Tm T T
"2 3 Operational structure of the organrsation Yes 63-65 127129 oo
2 4 Locahon of grgansation s headquarfers Yes HOTT Tietotie 9 Vantaa Fmland o - T
2 5 Georganhicai location of operations i Yes 7 60 64 T
2 6 Nature of ownership and legal form Yes 63-68 i T
2 7 Markets served Yes 7-12 18-21 &0 -
2 8 5cale of the reporling arganisalion Yes 58-66 o T/ T
2 9 Significant changes durning the reporting periad regarding size structure or Yes 60-71 -0 T
ownership
2 10 Awards receved i the reporting penod Yes ) 3e6a - i
3 Report Paramelers
31 Reportmg peod Yes 11201421 12 2014 - T o ’
3 2 Date of most recent report Yes March 2013 T T T T
3 3 Raporting cyde Yes Annual o T /0 7
3 4 Contact pownt for questions regarding the reports or s contents Yes fianar Oy) Tietolie § 01053 Finnar - T Tt
Kati thamdk WP Sustainable Development
Kali ihamakaatinaair com
35 Process for defimng report content T Yes 14-15 T T
3 6 Boundary of the report content Yes 152153 B -
37 Specilic [raations 60 the Scope or boundary of the report Yes 152-153 T T
"3 B Baws for reporting on jormt ventures subsudiaries feased fatildies and ves » 70 15213 = /" T
outsourced operations
739 Data measurements techniques and the bases of cakulatons Yes 152-153 Passible anomakies are mentioned separately for each T
indicator
3 10 Explanation of the effect of any re statements of information provided in Yes 152-153 D T
earlier reporis
3 11 Signihcant changes trom the previous reporting periods i the scope Yes 152-152 Tttt T
bounday or measurements methods apphed m the report
312 GRI Content (ndex Yes 154-161 T T
3 13 Pol:cy and current practice with regard to seeking extesnal assurance for the  Yes The report has not been externally assured o T T
report
4 Governance Commitments and Engagement T T
41 Governance structure of the organsator  Yes 127-136 T T B B
Yes 127-136 148 T 7

4 2 Status of the charr of the highest governance body
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GR1 guidelines. ~Finnair Group Report
GR! indicator Included Page/contents Shertcomings/anomaliesJustifications Global Compact
4 3 independence of Members of the Board of Dwectors Yes 127-136 143 1o
4 4 Mechanrsms for sharehotders and employees W influence actions of Board of Yes 122-136
Directors
4 5 Linkage between compensation for wembers of the Board of Duwectors and Yes 141-147
senior managers to the organsation s social and environmental performance
4 o Process Lo prevent conflects of wterasts in Board work Yes 122-136
"4 7 Process for determunation the qualifications of Members of the Board i areas Yes 122-134 148
of strategic management and corporate responsibility
4 8 Mssion values and codes of condact Yes 7-11 122-136 1
4 9 Board s procedures tor overseeing management at corporate performance Yes 60-71 122-136 10
4 10 Propcess for evahuaieng [he Board of Drectors own performance Yes 127-136
4 11 Appiration of the precautionary pringiple Yes 127-136
Ta12 Commuitment o external B_.BBB responsihdity imiatves Yes 7-12 14 122-136
4 13 Memberships m crgansalions 25s0Cations and 3OVOCACY OFEANMSalIons Yes 16 122135 o
4 14 Lrst of migrest groups engaged by the organsation Yes 16
415 Basrs of wentfication and selection of intarest groups Yes 16
4 16 Approaches to engagement with interest groups Yes 16
4 17 Key topics and concerns raised through mierest-group engagement Yes 14-16 10 -
5 Management Approach and Performance Indicators
Approach to management of economi responsibeity Yes 122-136
msgnvm;eﬁam.ﬁl_&ga. i ) " h - ) T -7 I
mn_ Drrect economr value nmnmanmn and distributed, indJuding revenues Partly 118 Level and amount ol Sn._as__s. support not reported because )
operaling Cosls, empioyse Compensaron, donatiens and cther commumty funds and other investments n commumty projects consist
wvestments retamed earnmgs 2ad payments Lo capial provders and of items that cannot be separated from the group s tinancal
_Bovernments statement infesmation
"EC2 Financal implicatiens and other rrsks and opportuniies for the organssations  Yes 118
artmties dug to cimate change
EC3 naca_.unm of penston obligatons Yes 118-119
—Hp mﬁa__ﬁma financil assistance recenved lrom govermment Yoy 119
mnm Range of ratwos of standard entry level wage compared Lo local minumum No Nearty all of the Finnair Group s personnel fall within the
wage 3t sgihcant locations of operation sphere of collectve dargaimng agreements so ths indicator
nol deemed to be essential for the group
EC6 Policy pracuces and proporuon of spending on locally-hased suppliers at Partly 119 Finnair has no local procurement policy as such and does not
signheant locatwons of aperation compife information at Group Level on the local charactenstics
of s suppliers
EC7 Procedures for local hinng and proporion of senior managemert fured from  Partly a7 50 tndicator 15 not essential for the Finnarr Group operations -
the local community at locations of sigrificant operation because Finnair has no signibicant operating locations abroad
In Finland Fnar s employees including sentor management
are mamly Finruish
ECS Development and impact of infrastructure wmvestments ang serites No In the reportmg penod the Finnair Group has not made o T T
provided pomanty for public beneht (theough commescial. w-kind or pro bono nfrastructure snvestments for the public benefit
engagement)
EC? Understanding and descnbing significant indirect econemic impacts mchding — Yes i-11 119
the extent of impacts
>uuawn__ 1o management of m:..._asq_ﬁ:s_ _.mmuo_..m_c___z Yes 112-126 18
m.!:a::ﬁ:ﬁ. v&oi&:ﬁ Indaators
"EN1 Materuaks ysed by weight o vohume Yes 36-37 -
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GRI guidelines -Finnatr Group Report
GRI sndicator included Page/contents Shortcomings/anomaties/justifications Global Compact
EN2 Percentage ol materiaks used that are recyded tnput matenals No Not an essential indicator for the sector because the aviation
mdustry 1s such an externally regulated sector that companies
ronm for manoeyvre 15 in many respects restricted Insofar as
there s discretion the percentage of recycled matenals 15 not
asceriamed at group level
EN3 Direcl energy constmption by primary energy source Yes 38
EN4 indirect energy consumplion by primary energy source Yes 39 With respect to electricity the primary energy sources are not
ascertaned for 2014 as they depend e g on the prevailing
hydro-power roduction capaciy and the share of hydropower
in the grid at any given ime
ENS Energy saved due 1o conservation and efrciency improvements Yes 30-32 39-40 89
ENG Inttiatves to provde energy-ethcient or renewable energy based products Yes 5 40-41 89
and services and seductions (v energy requirements as a result of these mitatives
EN7 Inuiatrves 10 reduce idireet enesgy consumpltion and the reductions athieved  No Sigmifcant energy aspects m the Finnasr Grous s T
aperations relate to fying, which has been feported
1 stems EN3 and ENS Finnair has an aterest in redurng
Its own matenial intensity which generally also affects direct
energy consumption the same way Finnair does not
however monitor at group level he energy balances of its
matenal acquisitions and their development
ENS Total mwmmq withdrawal by source Yes 41 B T
ENS Waler sources sigmificantly affected by withdrawal of water Yes The water used by Finnair Group 15 supphed by municipat
network and erignates from Lake Pdydnne Water usage 1s
not 3 signibicant environmental aspect in Finnair s operations
EN10 Percentage and total volume of water recycled and reused Partly water usage 1S not a sigruficant environmental aspect in
Fianair's gperations
ENI1 Location and size of land owned leased managed in of adiacent to Yes Finnaw Gioup has no owned, l2ased or managed land areas in
protected areas and areas of high biadrversity value outside prolected areas protected areas or duectly adacent to them
Qut of all Finnair Group $ bustness units and subsidiaries
Finnair Techrical Services 15 the only ane that handles
srgnrhcant quantdies of matenals that are hazardous 1o
the enviconment Finnatr Technical Services i located n
azoned area at Helunki-vantaa Awport The zoned area
%5 Close 10 a ground water area  Techmical Services has a
valid £mvironmental Permut. the conditions of which oblige
the company te review the eflects of iis actvities on the
environment and to rapost on them regularly to the autheniies
mzwm Descnption of significant impacts of actvities progucts and services No There are no such areas within m.m ﬁﬂ:lmﬂ:ﬁ sphere of - i

on biodiversity in protected areas and ateas ot high biodversity value outside
protected areas

nfluence Operatons may however have an ympact on the
Rever Vantaa and the River Kerava This has been reparted

on separately in dems ENLS and EN21 Operational impacts
n respect of fhight route destmations cannot be reasonably
ascertamed by Finnair
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GR1 guidelines -Fminar Group Report
GRI indicator Induded Page/contents Shortcomings/anomalies/justifications Global Compact
EN13 Habiats protecied or restored yes In 2014 Finnawr continged Cooperation with the Fingush 3

Association for Nature Conservation (FANC) tm Madagascar to
expand areas of ran forest ultimately reconnecting solated
{ragments to mamtain the natural mobthty of native species as
well as to monttor the various extents of forest degradation

Finnair Techrical Services s a member of the River Vantaa and
Helsinki Regron Waterways Protection Association whuch aims
to promote the protectron of waterways i its operating area
The assocatign also seeks to promote other emaronmental
proteclion recreatronal use of waterways anr fishing in its

area
ENi4 Strategies, current 2chions and future plans for managing impacts on Yes 41 Owing to the nature of operations 21 group level it 15 not 89
bodiversity deemed pertinent to prepare concrete steategies or plans n
refation to biodiversity
EN1S Endangered spacies in areas affected by operations Yes The location of Helsinki-Vantaa Awport s such that runoff
water from the airport can reach the River Vantaa, where there
15 3 ssgnificant population of the thick-shelled river mussel
{Umip crassus) The protected bvalve s classidied as a near
threatened (NT) species and it has also been protected under
the EU Habdats Directive  Both Finnair Techmical Services and
Finavia, which mamntains Helsinki-Vantaa Awport, have on the
basss of thewr environmental permits a continuous obkgation to
monior the effects of thewr operations
EN16 Total direct and indirect greenhouse gas emsaons by weght Yes 41-42
EN17 Other relevant imdirect greenhouse gas emissions try werght No Direct and mdirect greenhouse gas ermssions ansing from
the Finnarr Group s aperaltons are stated n stem ENLG The
mam ndirect emessions {alling outside ENLS arise from the
production and distributton of fuel used w aircratt and from
the manufacture of new awrcraft In respect of these Finnair
has no mfluence on the amounts of emissigns
EN18 Initiatves to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and reductions achieved Partly 5 7-9 30-32 39-4 Fnair Group s operations energy consumption and
greenhouse gas emissions go hand in hand Thus all actions
taken during the year to reduce energy consumption also affect
i the same way and to the same exient as the greenhouse gas
emissions ansing from Finnatr Group s actmities
EN19 Emissions of ozone-depleting substances by werght Yes 43
EN20 NO,, 50, and other significant ar emissions by type and weight Yes 43-a4
EN21 Total water discharge by quahity and destination Yes Wastewaters produced by the Finnair Group are drscharged
nto the munmcipal sewerage network The exception 15 a
water-propylene glycol mixture used in aircraft de-tong which
Finavia prmandy collects and transports to the waste water
treatment tacility for processing. Small ameunts of the mixture
Also flow into small strearms and datches that surround Helsinkt
Vantaa Arrport The areas streams and ditches run into the
River Vantaa and khe fiver Kerava Finavia reports on these
emisstons in s environmental report
EN22 Total wewght of waste by type and disposal method Yes 44
£N23 Total number and volume of sigmibcant spdis Yes, 45
EN24 wWeight of Iransported imported exported or treated waste deemesd No Finnair Group does not transport nor treat hazardous waste

hazardous

The amounts and treatment of hazardous waste ansing from
its aperations are reported 1 EN22
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GRI guidefines -Finnam Group Report

GRI indicator Included

Page/contents Shartcomings/anamalies/justifications Global Compact

EN2S water bodres and relaied haltzls sigmificantly alfecled by the organsations  Partly
dsscharges of wastewater and runoff

Finnair Group s wastewater 1s directed to the mumicipal
wastewater treatment plang In terms of treated wastewater
Finnair Group 5 specific impact cannot be solated The impacts
of Helsinki-vantaa asrside runoff are outhned m EN11 EN1S
and EN2L

EN26 Instiatves to rutigate emvironmental wmpacis of products and services and Parily
extent of impacl mitigation

45 See also ENS ENG and EN16

Not an essential indecator tor Finnair Group as salely L mm|mr< -

EN27 Percentage of products sold and their packaging matenals that are No

reclaimed by category Chefs Finland Oy out of all business uniks has manufacturing
aclavitres They also collect and recycle all packing materials
left over meals and drinking matersals that are generated on
Finnair inhourd flrghts to Helsink

EN28 Monetary vatue of sigmificant fimes and total number of nonmonetzry Yes No cases

sancuons for non-cc e with tal laws and regulations

EN29 Significant environmestal rmpacts of transposung products and other goods  No
and materaks used for the organisation s operations and transporiing members
of the workforce

The significant environmental wmpacts ansing trom Finnair
Group s aperations come mamly from flying The impacts ot
transportation in support of operations are not known but
they are margmal compared with the envirgnmental smpacts
of fiying

EN30 Total environmental protection expenditures and vestments by type Partly

Finnatr Group s statistical practices do not enable -muo:_mm
according to GRI requirements In addition 1n all procurement
emviranmental aspects are in bl so the separation of

Altogether 1.08 million euro were spent an waste
management, mantenance enwwronmental traning
envonmental certihcabion vanous membership fees and

emaronmental studies environmental tnvestments 15 nol deemed to meaningful
Social Performance Indrcators
Approach o management of labour practeces and decent work condibons. Yes 122-126 36
LA Tolal workiorce by employmenl type employment contracl, and tegion Yes 47 50
LAZ Total number and rate of emplovee {urnover by age group gender and region  Partly 50 Finnair does not keep track of empioyee turnover by gender

age group or other diversity aspects

LA3 Benefits provided to full-ume employees that are nol provided (o lemporary Partly Finnair employees ¢njoy the same benefits mrespectve of type 6
or part twe employees by major operations of employment Some benefits are such that they entes into

eftect only after employment has lasted a certan period ot

time An exceplion is Finnair's Financial Services Office which

only serves per t employees who are its bers
LA4 Pertentage of employees covered by collective bargaining agreements Yes All Finnaw employees in Fintand have the nght and opportunity 3 i

Io agree on therr terms of employment through collective
bargaiming. Senvor management constitules an exception to
this as its terms of employment are agreed on locally

In addition [0 thight crew Finnasr currently has employees
abroad in 30 countries {2pprox 762 employees) The
employment contracts and terms of employment are based
on local legrslaton Employees have the opportumity to agree
on thewr terms af employment through collective bargaining in
countres in which that is the lecal practice Finnasr does not
limit emplovees rights lo participate on Unton acivities
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GR! gidelnes ~Finnair Group Report
GR1 indicator tnctuded Page/contents Shortcomings/anomales/justifications Globa! Compact
LA Minimum notice penod regarding sigmifrcant operational changes Yes Significant operabional changes in Finkand are governad hy the
finntsh Act on Co-operation within Underlakings Depending
on the matter in question the miremum trme perod applied
can range from one day 1o six weeks The collectve bargaining
agreements that concern Finnar do nol inctude provisions thal
run counter i these legrslatrve prowisions For redundances
and lavofls the minimum nofice penod pursuant to the Act
on Co-operatign withtn Undertakings applies in artdilion o
the statutery notice penod for redundanties and layoffs prior
to the termunation of employment or payment of wages The
statutory noltce penod for Layaffs 15 (wo weeks and the notice
period fai employees made redundant ranges from 14 days
to six months depending on the deration of their employment
Some coflectve bargammg agreements contain provisions
an notice penads for layolfs that are more advantageous Lo
employees
LAG Percentage of total workiorie represented in formal jomnt management Yes 50-51
worker health and satety committees that help morutor and advise on ocoupational
health and safety programmes
LA7 Rates of wury occupahonal diseases, tost days and absenteesm, and number  Partly 51 The abjective 15 to make the entire indicator according to GRI in
of work-related fatalies by region the following report
LASB Education. traming. counseling prevenbion and nsk-control programmes Yes 51-54 Finnair Group programmes i the event ot serious diseases
n place to asssl workforce members thew families or community members relate only to the group s personnel
regarding senows diseases
LA9 Health and safety topics covered in formal agreements with trade unins Yes 54-55 The Central Organisation of Firarsh Trade Unions SAK and ]
the Confederatton of Finnish Industries EK identify the health
and satety of an indvidual employee non-dscrimination and
equality as the bases for the regulations in their collecive
agreements http//ttk fi/toimialat/kuljetus_sa_logistukka/
imatuala
LA10 Average hours of [runing per vear per employee by emplayee category Yes 55 Finnair Group 15 a mulb-sector company which has numerous
difterent employee groups and job classiications The
classifications uysed by different subsidianies and business units
are not sufficiently comparable Theretore training hours have
been counted using the whole group s employee numbers
Group employees working abroad are also mcluded in the
ligures
LA11 Programmes for skifls management and Gelong learmng ves 55 6
LA12 Percectage of employees recerang regifar performance and career Yes Finnar 5 development and career reviews caver alk persannet
development rewews The aim of Lhe updated PD review process implemented
throughout the company at the beginning of 2011 15 to have all
personnel attend 3 PD review at least twice per year
LA13 Composition and dversity of governance bodses and personnel groups Yes 56 6
LA14 Ratio of base salary and (emuneration of women 1o men by employee No As a multi-sector company the Finnaiw Group has numerous
calegory by sign'ficant bocations of operation. different emgloyee groups and jab classifications The group s
statsiics do not enable a reporting practice accarding Lo GRE
guidelines nor for the above reason rs this appropriate
Approach to management of human nghts ssues Yes 123 1245
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GRI guidefines
GRI indlicator

-Fmnair Group Report

Included

Page/contents

Shortcomings/anomahies/justifications Global Compact

HR1 Perceatage and total number of signiicant investment agreemests that
include human rights clauses or that have undergone human nghts screening

Yes

In 2014 nvestment agreements were such that no risk of
human nghts violations could be identifred As such there are
no specilic clauses i these agreements refating to human
rights Finair does not conduct human rights screening itself
Finnawr has s own ethucal gudelines for supplers and
subcontraclors and ail supphers are required to comply with
them all partners and subcontractors moregver are abliged
to comply with the principles of the UN Universal Declaration of
Human Rights as well as tocal legislation

125

HR2 Percentage of significant suppliers and contractors that have undergone
screening on human nghts and actions Laken

HR3 aﬁ_ hours of mwa_.wﬁm paﬁzsnrﬁ_s_fm.mm and ‘uanaa:-mm nn:mm:._:m
aspects of human rights that are relevant to operations, including the percentage
of employees traned

Yes

* partly

Finnair has iis own ethocal guidetnes tor supphers{supplier
code of conduct) and subcontractors and all supphers are
required to comply with them All paciners and subcontractors
morgover are abliged to comply with the principles of the

LN Uriversal Declaration of Human Rights as well as local
legrslation

Franair and its tour operator and travel agency subsidiaries
have separately signed the Helsinki Declaration whach ams to
promote sustamable and ethically acceptable tourism

Aunnkomatkat-Suntours Ltd prowides traimng to all new guides
in respect of the company s work agamst child sex tourism

The number of iraimng hours relating to human nghts s not
separated {rom the total number of training hours given
Training relating to human rights was not otherwise arranged
at Finnamr 1 2014 However the human rights therne will be
tughlighted 1n the traiming on the new Code of Conduct started
m 2013

12

1258

HR4 Total rumber of incdents of discnimination and actions taken

Yes

Thiere was one suspected case of occupational discrimination
at Finnair in 2013 The prosecutor decided 1o press charges
n the matter The case was closed by acquittal an the district
court.

HRS Qperations dentfied th which the nght to exercise freedom of association
and wollective bargaining may be at significant risk

No

The indicator 15 not essentia! because as a Finnish company 3
Finnair operates n a labour market culture in which employees
rights to organise and negotiate working conditions coflectively

are recognised fundamental nights

HR6 Operations identified as having significant risk for mcedents of child labour
and measures laken to contribute o the elumnation of child labour

Yes

Funair does not approve of the use of child labour i any

part of its valye chain With respect (o the aviation imdustry
the company has not identihied any risk for incidents of child
labour This 15 a consequence both of the general nature of the
industry and the strict official regulatign and supervision of
the industry Nevertheless the aviation industry and Finnair s
operattons do mteract with sectors in which the exploitatson of
child fabour cannot be excluded One such sector is the textle
ndustry The urforms and workwear used in the company are
acquired from supplhers that have addressed this rssue in thew
own operations

On excursions Aurimkomatkat-Suntours guwdes monitor

the operations at excursion sites and destinations for

the wse of child labour If any problems are detected the
excursion destinations and the contents of the excursions are
changed as necessary In order to prevent child prostitution
Aurinkomatkat-Suntours has a clause  its hatel contracts that
entitles the company to immediately termsnate the contract it
child prostetution s detected in the hotet

HR7 Gperations wentihed as having sigmficant nsk for madents of forced or
computsory labour and measures taken to contribute to the ehmination of forced
or compulsory labour

Yes

150
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GRT guidelines -Finnair Group Report
GRT indicator Included Page/contents Shortcomings/anomahes/justifications Global Compact
HRB Percentage of security personnel trained in the crganisatson s pohicies or Ho The Finnair Group does not have 115 own security persennel
procedures concerming aspects of human nights that are relevant to operations
HR9 Total number of maidents ot vealations mwvohang rights of edigenous people Yes No cases T T
and actions taken
approach to management of community responsibtlity Yes 122-126 124%
501 Programs related to the assessment and management of the impacts of Yes 24-25 Finnair does rot have group-level programs to assess and 5
operations on local communities manage the impact ot operations on local communities
5G2 Percentage and tetal number of busingss units analysed for nisks related to Yes All Finnair business umits run an analysis of risks related to
corruption corruption as part of the company s general risk survey
SG3 Percentage of employees trained in organsaton s antigorruphon polices and  Partly Comprehensive percentages and figures are not available o
procedures because traming s conducted mdependently by business units
and subsidiaries themselves Finnair Flight Academy has not
orgamised any ant-corruption training n 2014
504 Achons Laken in respanse te ncidents of corruption Yes No cases
505 Puthic policy positions and parlicpation in public poliry development and Yes 150 10
lobbyng
506 Tolal vatue of hnangial and @1 kind contributsons to poltical parties Yes Finnair does not support any political parties 10

507 Total number of legal actwoas for ant-competitive behawiour anti trust. and Yes No cases In 2010 the Finnish Competition Authonkty began an
monapoly practices and therr outromes investigation into Finnair Catesng Oy to assess its partscipation
In suspected cartel aperations in tax free retail at Helsinks
vantaa Arport The case was closed by the competition
authonly
S08 Monetary value of signihcant fines and total number of nonmonetary Yes No cases -
sanchions for nan- compliance with laws and regufations
Approach £o management of product responsibifity Yes 124-126

PR1 Life cycle stages in which health and safety impacts of products and services Yes
are assessed for improvement, and percantage of significant products and services
categones subject to such procedures

Finnaer continucusly develops 1ts customer service and
evaluates the operations of is business partners We have a
responsibility o the customer for the overall quality of our
operations regardless of whether we produce the service
ourselves or outsource It to a business partner

PRZ Total number of modents of non-comphiance with regulations and votuntary Yes No cases

codes concerning health and safety impacts of products and services

PR3 Type of product and service information requured by procedures and Yes 25-26
percentage of sigritcant products and services subject to such miormation

requiremeants

PR4 Total number of noidents of non-compliance with regulations and voluntary Yes
codes concerning product and service nformation and labeling, by type of
oulcomes

No cases

PRS Prachices related (o customer satisfaction. including results of surveys Yes 26-27

measunng customer satisfacbon

PR6 Programmes for adherence to laws standards and voluntary codes relatedto Yes
marketing communicatons induding adverbsing promotion and sponsorship

Finnair acts in accordance with all general rules laws
recommendations and good marketing practices relating to
adverirsmg and sponsorship The main standards nclude
marketing legisiation (most significantly the Finish Consumer
Protection Act) the Finmish Consumer Agency s guidehnes on
the marketing of Hights {based on turgpean Parkament and
Council Directive {2005/28/ECH and the prnciples refating to
goed advertising practice rssued by the Council on Ethics n
Advertising.

No known cases

R7 Total number of mcedests of :c:.ma..:m_&...nmf_g regulabons and E___Emi Yes
codes concerning marketing commumcations
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GRI gindelines ~Finnair Group Report

GRI mdicator Included Page/contents Shortcomings/anomalies/justifications Global Compact

PRE Total number of substantiated complaints regarding breaches of customer Yes No known cases

prvacy and losses of customer data

PRO Monetary valug of sgmficant fines for non-compliance wath laws and Yes No known cases T

regulattons concermng the provision and yse of products and services

Glebal Compact

The Global Compact asks companies to embrace support and enact withen their sphere
of influence a set of core values i1 the areas of human rights labour standards the

emaronment and anti-cerruption

Human Rights

Principle 1 Businesses should support and respect the protection of mternatonally

proclimed human nghts and

Prmciple 2 make sure (hat they are not comphat in human nghts abuses

Labour

Poncipte 3 Businesses should uphold the freedom of association and the effective

recogmtion of the nght 1o collective bargaming

Principle 4 the elimination of alt forms of forced and cempulsory labour

Principle 5 the effactive 2bolition ot child labour and

Principle 6 the elmination of drscrimmnation in tespect of employment and aocupalion

Environmend

chaflenges

Principle 7 Businesses should support a precautienary approach to environmental

ernceple 8 undertake initiatives to promote greater environmental responsibility and

Pranciple 9 encourage the development and diffusion of environmentally thendly

technologtes

Anti-Corruption

Prnceple 10 Businesses should work against all forms of corruption including extorban

and bribery
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Information for the shareholders

Annoval General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting of Finnarr Pic will be held on Wednesday 25 March 2014, at 1600 at
the Messukeskus Helsinki at the address Messuaukio 1, Conference Centre, Helsinki, Finland. The
reception of persons who have registered for the meeting and the distnbution of voting tickets will
commence at 1500 Coffee s served before the commencement of the AGM

The notice to convene the AGM

The notice to convene the AGM and the proposals of the Board of Directors to the AGM will be published
as a stock exchange release and on Finnair's corporate website The notice will contain the agenda for the
AGM. Shareholders are entitled to having an 1ssue put on the Annual General Meeting's agenda, provided
that such an issue requires a deaision by the Annual General Meeting according to the Finnish Comparues
Act, and provided that they request it in wnting in due time to be included in the natice

The right to participate in the AGM
Each shareholder who is registered on Friday, 13 March 2015 1n the Company's regster of sharehol-
ders maintained by the Eurcclear Finland Oy has the night to participate in the AGM

Registration for the AGM

‘The shareholder who wants to participate 1n the general meeting and exercise their voting nght can
regster to the meeting at the latest on Friday 20 March 2015 at10 a m. Registration can be done

« In the mnternet at hitp //www finnairgroup com,

« By e-mail to agm@finnair.fi,

« By phone from Monday to Friday at 9 00—16 00 in the number +358 20 770 6866,

« By fax +358 9694 0205 or

+ By mail to Finnair Plc., Reguster of shareholders, HEL-AAC/ 502 01053 FINNAIR

A holder of nominee registered shares 15 advised to request without delay necessary instructions
regarding the registration in the shareholder’s register of the company, the issuing of proxy docu-
ments and registration for the general mecting from hus/her custodian bank The account manage-
ment organization of the custodian bank will register a holder of nomunee registered shares, who
wants to participate in the general meeting, to be temporarily entered into the shareholders’ register
of the company at the latest on Fnday 20 March 2015 at 10am

‘The shareholder may participate in the meeting either in person or through authonsed or proxy
representative Possible proxy documents shall be delivered by the end of registration period to

Finnarr PIc/AGM, HEL ACC/502, 010153 Finnar, Finland.

AGM 2015 - Important dates

13 March 2015  Record date

20 March 2015 At 10 am EET deadhne for giving notice of atiendance

25March2015  At3pmEET the reception of persons registered to the AGM will commence and
At 4pm EET the AGM will commence

Board of Directors’ proposal on dividend
Finnair Plc’s distributable funds were 149,223,743 79 curos on 31 December 2014 The Board of
Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting that no dividend be paid for 2014

Financial information in 2015

In 2015, interim reports will be published as follows
+ Q1 on Thursday 7 May 2015

+ Q2 on Friday 14 August 2015

+ Q3 on Friday 30 October 2015

Financial report, financial statements and interim reports arc published in Finnish and English The
matenal 1s available on the company website Shareholders can subscribe or unsubscribe for the
releases at www finnairgroup com

Sllent period

Finnair’s silent period starts three weeks prior to publishing of its interim financials and four weeks
prior to publishing of annual financial results Finnair will not comment on 1ts business or meet with
capital market representatives during that period

Changes in contact information

Euroclear Finland Ltd maintains a list of Company shares and shareholders Shareholders wha wish
to make changes to their personal and contact information are kindly asked to contact their own
account operator directly Finnair cannot make these changes

Assessments regarding Finnalr as an Investment object

According to information held by Finnarr, at least the following analysts publish investor analyses of
the company Evli Bank, Carnegie Investment Bank, HSBC, Nordea and Pohjola Bank Finnair does
not accept any responsibility for the views or opinions expressed by the analysts
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Glossary

AEA

Carbon Drsclosure Project

CASK

First Carbon Sotutians

LATA

IEnvA

Just Cuthme

LEED Certificate

Open Skies

RASK

Skytrax

UNWTO

The Assocation of European Arimes

An wternationad not for profit orgamsation providimg a global system for compames and
rities to measure disclose manage and share vital environmental information

Cost per avarlable seat kilometre

Fiesl Carbon Solutions (FCS) s an environmental sustamability company that provides
consulting. sottware and data management Lo businesses and governments

internationa! A Transpor AssOCIAtion 3 irade association representing and serving the
amhine industry workdwide

The 1ATA Emviranmental Assessment (IEnvA) program s an evalvation designed 1o
independently assess and improve the emvironmental management of an awrhne

International Cevil Aviabion Organization an agency of the United Nations promoting safe and
otderly development of international crvil avialion

The IATA Operational Satety Audit (#05A) program is an imternationally recognised and
accepted evaluation system designed 1o assess the operattonal management and gontrol
systems of an arrkme

Orgarrsational cufture amung at assigning the consequences for an unsafe act in a fair way
based on an understanding of an mdvdial’s accountability and responsiblities within the
tontext of the systems and arcumstances that the indidual was operating

Leadership n Energy and Environmental Destgn (LEED} rs a set of rating systems for
the design construction operation and matntenance of green buldmgs homes and
neighborhoods

Open skies 15 an mternational palicy concept that calls for the bberakhsation of the rules and
regulatrons of the international awiation industry—especially commer¢ia! aviation—n order to
create a free-market emvironment for the airhne mndustry

Revenye per available seat klometre

Research company thal evaluates commercil arlines and therr services

Sustainable Travel Leadership Network

UN warld Toursm Organization
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Contact information

House of Travel and Transportation
Finnair Plc

Tietotie 9 A (Helsinki Vantaa Airport)
01053 FINNAIR

Tel 0600 0 81881 (1,25 euro/answered call + normal call charges}

www finnair com
www finnawrgropup com

www facebook com/Sinnair
www.facebook com/finnairsuomi

www.twitter.com/Finnair
www twitter com/HnnairSuomi

blogs finnair com
| fnnasr.fi
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